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EPIGRAPH

Luck can be attributed to a well-conceived plan carried out by a well-trained and indoctrinated task group.
 
-Chester W. Nimitz 
 
I am not afraid of an army of lions led by a sheep; I am afraid of an army of sheep led by a lion.
 
-           Alexander the Great
 
The only way out of the labyrinth of suffering is to forgive.
 
-John Green, Looking for Alaska
 




CHAPTER 1

OFFICE, NAVAL FORCES GREAT BRITAIN
 
0842, February 12, 1944
 
Captain John Morrison knocks and walks in, “You wanted to see me, sir?”
 
Commodore Earl ‘Duke’ Carpenter, “Yes. Come in and sit down.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
“General Eisenhower wants to see you.”
 
Morrison, “Yes, sir. Do you know why, sir?”
 
“No, and that concerns me. I want to see you when you get back. Report all the details.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
Carpenter, “How many submarines do you have now, Morrison?”
 
“Eight, including the San Francisco. Next time she pulls in, I’ll need to see her.”
 
“You want to fly all the way to Pearl?”
 
Morrison, “She’s in my squadron. I’m arranging a maintenance team from PSNS to meet her in Pearl for a maintenance availability.”
 
“Ah. I see. You want to visit your wife.”
 
“Sir, I’m not going to Bremerton, I’m going to Pearl. The San Fran is in my squadron. The trip is official business.”
 
Carpenter, “Sure. When you get back from Eisenhower, I want a report. That is all.”
 
Morrison stands, looks at Carpenter for a long moment, then exits the office.
 
KALAYUKAN BEACH, LUZON, PI
 
Major Tom Thompson walks up to SEAL Lieutenant JG Bruce Sarvis, “Lieutenant, I…I want to say how sorry I am on the loss of Lieutenant Buford. Colonel Hunt, well…they were really close.”
 
Sarvis looks over his platoon who are sitting with their packed gear and cleaning their rifles. He looks at Thompson, “Walk with me.”
 
Thompson, “I’m her dad’s XO. I’m so sorry about Buford. It keeps running through my mind… we should have gotten here earlier.”
 
Sarvis really looks at the tall Marine, “Combat’s like that. If you dwell on it, you’ll go crazy.”
 
“I met him in San Diego. John was staying at their house. He was a good guy.”
 
“Yeah. Buford was…I’m going to miss him.”
 
Thompson, “How do you think she’ll handle it? You were there.” They turn to look at Captain Hunt. She stands separate from her people, watching them load the LCACs. She’s filthy except for her face, her skin clear where she’s wiped away the tears and the grime of combat. She unloads, checks, reloads, then racks her rifle. A Filipino approaches her, she listens, and he leaves.
 
Sarvis grunts and turns back to Thompson, “I don’t know. I’ve been on her periphery, but I don’t know her that well. I do know she’s the toughest boss I’ve ever had.”
 
Thompson, “Yeah, she is.” He looks up, making eye contact with the SEAL officer, “I know this is a shit time to ask, but you’re about to leave. Do you know Dorothy?”
 
NAVAL HQ, BERLIN, GERMANY
 
0210, February 12, 1944
 
Reichsmarschall Hermann Göring, “Our enemies grow stronger. We must keep them at bay until our new technologies bear fruit. This, Herr Admiral, falls in part, to you. What is the status of our submarine forces?”
 
Donitz, “We have launched three air independent submarines. We will soon have six more. We have a further nine in various degrees of completion. We have four of our missile submarines on the ways as well, but with them,” he sighs, “there are many problems to solve.” He pauses for a drink of ersatz coffee, “Herr Reichsmarschall, we have already lost sixty percent of our existing submarines and it grows more and more difficult to get them out of the Skagerrak Strait. The bulk of our surface fleet was destroyed in the North Sea. The sub pens in France have been destroyed by aircraft. Some of our Norwegian pens still survive. I am operating six submarines from Taranto, but the facilities there…they lack much of what we need. The battle continues.”
 
“What is the range of your air independent submarines?”
 
Dönitz, “This is, as yet, untested. We believe fifteen thousand kilometers. It can hunt the eastern coast of America. Are there any other new weapons I should be aware of?”
 
Göring, “There are other systems in the process of development. When we are ready to share them, I assure you, we will. Heil Hitler.”
 
“Heil Hitler.”
 
WELL DECK, USS CAMDEN TOWN
 
1021, 12 February, 1944
 
Captain Samantha Hunt walks off the LCAC behind her people. Lieutenant JG James ‘Radar’ Cooper struggles to her against the flow of men and salutes, “Robert Maki is the CO here. He’s in charge of the amphibious group. We’re sorting our people out and getting them berthing.”
 
“What would I do without you, Radar?”
 
He cocks his head, “You’d get by, but you wouldn’t know where your socks were.”
 
“True.”
 
Cooper grins, “Yes Ma’am. Where are we going next, ma’am?”
 
“I’ve no idea.”
 
A familiar voice says, “All of you will get survivor leave.”
 
Sam, startled, looks up and sees VADM Richard ‘Dixie’ Lee, “Da…Admiral?”
 
Vice Admiral Richard ‘Dixie’ Lee nods, “Cooper, have you found her stateroom, yet?”
 
Cooper, “This way, sir.” He leads the two officers to the division commander’s stateroom.
 
When they’re inside, Dixie opens his arms, “Hi darlin’.”
 
“I’m filthy.”
 
“I don’t care.”
 
She walks into his arms. Her eyes well up with tears. “Dad…dad, I lost him.”
 
“I know, darlin’. I know.” He holds her as deep wracking sobs shake her thin body.
 
Cooper silently slips out.
 
WELL DECK, USS CAMDEN TOWN
 
CDR Robert Maki asks LCDR Oscar ‘Hamm’ Hammond, “Do you know why I have a vice admiral aboard?”
 
Hammond, “They know each other. Dixie was the CAG on the Vinson when we came back. Do you have a doctor aboard?”
 
“Yes. They flew out additional medics to tend to your people.”
 
“Good.” Hammond turns away.
 
“I was told Admiral Lee is NAVAIR. Why is he here?”
 
“Yep. Yes, sir. I’ve no idea why he ended up in PI, but he’s here because they know each other. He knows her husband was killed.”
 
“He died?”
 
“Yeah. He was defending the medical trench. If the Japs got in, they’d have murdered our wounded.”
 
Maki nods, “I need to get back up to the bridge.”
 
MESSERSCHMITT FACTORY, OUTSIDE BERLIN
 
0610, 12 February, 1944
 
Adolf Hitler and Hermann Goering walk the floor of the factory watching the Jewish and Romany prisoners working. Hitler, Are these new aircraft superior to our Soviet based designs?”
 
Goering, “As day is better than night, mein Fuhrer.”
 
They stop at a completed Me-420. Hitler, “Explain.”
 
“The engines are exactly the same as the American Tomcat’s. They are lighter, more powerful, more efficient, and more reliable than any we’ve made previously. Next, we modified the design offered to us from our Asian friends. We have more rugged landing gear so that it may land on poor airfields. We also incorporated the upper air inlets of our Mig-29s. This protects from foreign object damage on unimproved fields. Both systems add weight, so, to compensate, we reduced fuel volume. With external tanks, this aircraft still vastly outranges all of our other fighters. Finally, we’ve put in improved radar and tracking systems. This aircraft can track while shooting better than anything else we have. It can also fire all our air-to-air, air-to-ground, and anti-ship ordnance. We’ve test flown them. Their climb rate is superior to anything we’ve ever had. This aircraft has served the Japanese well. Ours is superior in every way.”
 
“Good. How many do we have?”
 
Goering, “Twenty, sir. We’re building them at four a day. It is critical that this program gets top priority for our dwindling supply of titanium.”
 
“Yes. I see. It’s a shame that the cursed Russians stopped shipments.”
 
“Yes, sir, it is. Sir, these aircraft will be capable of carrying your special ordnance when it’s ready.”
 
Hitler, “Yes, yes. For that, I prefer my vengeance weapon. Let this aircraft focus on the defense of the fatherland. What did the Americans call this in their service?”
 
“The F-15 Eagle, mein Fuhrer.”
 
“Eagle. I see. Now it is a German Eagle. How does the training proceed?”
 
Goring, “Well, mein Fuhrer. The pilots love this aircraft. Though it is complicated, they master it well.”
 
“Soon, the Anglo-Americans will land on our shores. First, they will land in Italy, then on Normandy. This our spies have ferreted out. This duplicates the history we know.”
 
“Might they do something else?”
 
Hitler shakes his head, “No. They love their plans. It will be as I said.”
 
“Yes, mein Fuhrer.”
 
As the two men walk the casting line, the prisoners in their grey striped uniforms, keep working, heads down.  Nata Fuhrmann, filing casting slag off a part, thinks, “My friend Peter was right. One shot, just one shot, and the war would end. Ah well. We survive. I hope Moses is well.”
 
KLINDT HOME, FORT HUMPHRIES, WASHINGTON, DC
 
0120, 12 February, 1944
 
The phone on the bedside table rings and FADM Craig Klindt answers it, “Klindt.”
 
“Sir, she survived. She’s on the USS Camden Town. Her husband, Lieutenant Buford was killed.”
 
“Thank you.” He hangs up the phone.
 
Julia, “Can I ask?”
 
“Samantha survived, but honey, she lost Jeremiah.”
 
Julia, “Jere’s gone? No! What happened?”
 
“I don’t know. I’ll find out in the morning.” He lays down to sleep.
 
“One of our closest friends has lost her husband in combat and you’re going back to sleep?”
 
Klindt pulls his wife close, “I love you, Julia. There is nothing we can do for her right now. They will send her home. We’ll see her then. Meanwhile, the war continues and I need to be on the hill tomorrow morning.”
 
She kisses him, “I’m sorry.”
 
“Don’t be. Your reaction is the right one.”
 
BUCKINGHAM PALACE, LONDON, UK
 
0710, 12 February, 1944
 
Prime Minister Churchill bows and approaches the king, who is eating his breakfast, “Your Majesty, thank you for seeing me on such short notice. Captain Hunt survived the Philippines. Her husband, Lieutenant Buford, was lost.”
 
“Thank you, Winston. I will send our condolences. Is there a place for her here? I would feel better about the coming invasion if she were here.”
 
“I’ll pass that on, Majesty.”
 
“Do so. How goes the preparations?”
 
Churchill quickly brings the king up to speed. He concludes, “All is well in hand, Majesty.”
 
“Thank you.”
 
NAS PENSACOLA, FL
 
0745, 12 February, 1944
 
LCDR Peter ‘Moses’ Moskowitz walks around a F/A-14C. Captain Frank ‘Thud’ Jackson approaches, “Peter, good to see you. Dixie said you wanted to retread.”
 
“I do. I need to.”
 
“Okay, give the girl a kiss and let’s get to work.”
 
PACIFIC FLEET HEADQUARTERS, PEARL HARBOR, HAWAII
 
1710, 12 February, 1944
 
Admiral Nimitz sits at his desk, studying reports, “John, we need to fly the survivors of BAT-26 to the hospital here.”
 
Commodore John Duncan, Nimitz’s chief of staff, “I’d like to send the bulk of them to the mainland. Our hospital is nearing capacity with all the wounded from PI.”
 
“Okay. Send Hunt here after her board. I want to assess her condition with my own eyes.”
 
“She’ll need time to grieve.”
 
“Yes, she’ll get her survivor leave. But my guess is halfway in, she’ll be chomping at the bit.”
 
“Revenge, sir?”
 
“No. She’s not wired that way. She’ll be bored.”
 




CHAPTER 2

CONTROL, USS MAYPORT, SS-237, OUTSIDE ALBAY GULF, PI
 
0034, 13 February, 1944
 
A radioman hands CDR Gary Mallory a message. He reads it and smiles, “We’ve been directed to sail to Sydney for resupply and reassignment. They want us to escort a convoy.”
 
LCDR Jim Giblin, the XO, “Roger that. Assuming a fifteen knot SOA, fuel will be tight, but we should have enough.”
 
“Send a message for a tanker. I don’t like being close.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
COMMODORE’S STATEROOM, USS CAMDEN TOWN
 
0050, 13 February, 1944
 
Sam walks out of the head, toweling her hair. A steward has laid out a fresh uniform. She sees her sea bag in the corner, packed and ready to go. To herself, “I think I’m going to miss the personal valet thing.” She wipes her eyes, “I have to stop crying.” There’s a knock on her door, “Just a sec.” She wipes her face, puts on her new uniform, then opens the door.
 
Hammond stands there, holding a bottle, “You got a minute?”
 
“Yeah. What’s up?”
 
He shuts the door behind him, “I…I managed a shower. Then I sat down and had me a cry.”
 
They share a look. Sam nods, “Yeah. Me, too.”
 
“It dawned on me, that for the first time in forever, we don’t have anything to do. So, I liberated a bottle of your Jack Daniels and came here.” He pours each of them a stiff drink in coffee cups. “What’s the plan?”
 
Sam sips her whiskey, “Tomorrow I sit my loss of command board. No idea how that will go.”
 
“Cooper told me the board members are Dixie Lee and Sprague. The chair is Halsey. You have nothing to fear there. I assume Davis and I will have to testify?” Hammond sips his whiskey.
 
“I expect so. Davis will have to testify for the loss of Heermann. After that, I don’t know. They might fly us out, or send us home via cargo scow. I just don’t know.”
 
SPOT THREE, FLIGHT DECK, USS CARL VINSON, CVN-70
 
0740, 13 February, 1944
 
Sam Hunt steps off a helicopter. The 1MC announces, “DESRON-26, arriving.” She walks to the island where Gloria is waiting. She gives her friend a hug, “Love you.”
 
“Love you back.” They walk down to Gloria’s CAG office.
 
“Thank you, Gloria.”
 
“I’m here for you, honey.”
 
“What’s going to happen to my people?”
 
“As you probably noticed, the amphibs you were on are back in Albay Gulf. Your people will be offloaded by LCAC at Legazpi and all of them will be flown to Hawaii, then stateside for survivor leave. After your leave, you’ll be reassigned.”
 
“The board?”
 
“It stands up in forty-five minute. They’ll be talking to your subordinate officers first. Sam, you’ll be fine. They’re calling it the San Bernadino miracle.”
 
Sam nods, “It seems like a lifetime ago.” She meets Gloria’s gaze, “I lost Jere.”
 
“I know, honey. Let’s try to avoid the waterworks until after the board, okay?”
 
“Yeah. Sure.” Sam sighs, “I got nothing to do.”
 
“What?”
 
“I’ve held command…since After England, I’ve always had a command. Now…now it’s like then, but worse. I…I feel empty and useless.” She fights back her tears.
 
“Sam, you need a break. You do.”
 
She nods, “I do.”
 
“When you get stateside, where are you going?”
 
“Montana. I need to be with the Buford’s.”
 
“It’s February, honey. Remember to pack warm.”
 
ADMIRAL’S CONFERENCE ROOM, USS CARL VINSON
 
0810, 13 February, 1944
 
Hammond walks in. Halsey, “Have a seat, Commander.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
Halsey, “I’ve read the reports. I only have a few questions for clarification. Did you ever board the heavy cruiser, Suzuya?”
 
“No, sir. We were planning to take after steering to support Commander Hathaway. As the Heermann was sinking, he boarded the cruiser.”
 
“Okay. Did you see the Roberts ram the Kitakami?”
 
“I did. Copeland’s ship was crippled, it was the only thing left for him.”
 
“Did you see the Johnston go down?”
 
“Yes, sir, I did. He was slugging it out against the light cruiser, Kiso. He put torpedoes into her and was hammering away with his five-inch guns. It looked like a heavy shell from one of the battlewagons hit him. His forward five-inch magazine blew. She lost her bow. She rolled over and sank, sir.” Hammond continues his testimony concerning of the actions of each ship involved.
 
Finally, Halsey asks, “Would you recommend any of those involved for the Medal of Honor?”
 
Hammond, “First and foremost, Captain Hunt. She did the impossible, sir. I would also recommend Hathaway, Evans, and Copeland, sir. I’d recommend the Navy cross to all the other CO’s.”
 
“Thank you, Commander. What do you want for your next assignment?”
 
“My own command, sir. Hopefully a destroyer.”
 
“I’ll see what may be done.”
 
The three admirals stand and offer Hammond their hands.
 
Halsey, “Please send Captain Hunt in.”
 
While they wait, Halsey asks Lee, “How is she?”
 
Lee, “She’s been through hell. It’s amazing that she’s functional at all. She needs time to grieve.”
 
Captain Hunt walks in and the admirals shake her hand. Halsey, “Have a seat. Do you need something to drink?”
 
“I’m fine, sir.”
 
Halsey, “Let’s begin. We have the reports and the surviving logs. We also have statements and interviews from all the surviving commanding and senior officers. We also have the award package you submitted. I do have some questions. First, why did you choose to split your command in Ticao?”
 
“I knew it was going to be a long, violent fight. I also knew my ships would need room to maneuver to survive. I felt, by splitting the command, we wouldn’t get into each other’s way.”
 
“When did you realize that Commander Hathaway was attempting a boarding action?”
 
Hunt, “My XO, Hammond, who was on the bridge, figured it out. They were sinking and it was a last, desperate gambit. A gambit that nearly succeeded.”
 
“How effective were the Harpoon missiles?”
 
“About half of all the damage we inflicted on the Japanese, were from the Harpoons. They are indispensable. The ability to make the harpoons turn was a game changer. We were able to engage the Japanese before they could get their guns to bear.”
 
Halsey nods, then asks, “Sprague?”
 
“Why did you run up and down the side of the large ships, like did the Yamato?”
 
“Their big guns couldn’t come to bear. Really, it was a factor of the chaos of the whole battle that we could get that close. Also, we destroyed their destroyers early in the battle. Again, that was the Harpoons. We were way faster and more agile. It was an advantage that will never happen again.”
 
“What took a huge battleship force to sink the similar battle group in Surigao Strait, you destroyed with a DESRON. To you, Captain, what does that say about the capabilities of battleships?”
 
Hunt, “How many ships did we lose in Surigao, sir?”
 
Sprague, “We lost four battleships. The Mississippi, New Mexico, Nelson, and Richelieu.”
 
“So, two World War I battleships and two foreign battleships. The Nelson was built in the twenties and the Richelieu wasn’t properly finished. I don’t think that gives an accurate account of how an Iowa, North Carolina, or North Dakota would have handled the fight. The Iowa and New Jersey made short work of the Yamato and suffered little damage themselves.”
 
Sprague, “Yes, but you had already damaged the Yamato.”
 
“What we did to her was irrelevant. We were fleas biting an elephant. At most, an annoyance.”
 
Sprague, “A fair point. One we will consider. Thank you.”
 
Halsey, “Lee?”
 
Lee, “Why did you choose to beach your ship?”
 
“All the hits we took damaged the life rafts and I had about half of the Heermann aboard. With those considerations, I had serious doubts that we could safely get everyone in the rafts. We were in shark infested waters. As it turned out, we had four functional life rafts. Enough to build a bridge to shore, but not enough to hold the nearly four hundred souls aboard.”
 
Lee, “Then you chose to walk north?”
 
“I had planned to get picked up by the battlewagons. Then they left. I knew a Japanese unit was closing our position. My men were in no shape for an infantry battle and I had no idea when help was coming. I chose to not engage. We were basically herded north to Bulusan.”
 
Lee, “You chose to engage at Bulusan because the LCACs were coming?”
 
“Yes, sir. And sir, the Japanese were randomly shooting civilians. I couldn’t watch a genocide happen. Attacking was the moral and tactical correct move.”
 
Lee, “I agree. When we realized the beaches were mined, it delayed the LCACs. Where did you go after?”
 
“My Filipino company commander, Mano Alvesa knew a hidden valley high on the flank of Mount Bulusan. We stayed there overnight with the townsfolk. I considered staying there, but it was a defensive nightmare. If we were found, the Japanese could toss grenades down into the valley and kill us all. I chose to escape north.”
 
Sprague, “Why did you stop moving north and dig in on Hunt’s Hill?”
 
“I couldn’t go further north because the jungle narrowed there. The Japanese recognized this choke point and held it. I was told The LCACs and Marines were coming. At that point, the Japanese knew where I was and knew I was restricted to the jungle. I couldn’t outrun them, so we picked a defensive position and dug in. It was the last thing I wanted. I had considered running for Gubat and the beaches, but the beaches weren’t ready. Getting caught on flat ground against the coast would have been a disaster. Our hill had water and a relatively flat crown where we could put medical, and HQ. It was an ideal defensive position.”
 
Halsey, “Gentlemen, any further questions?”
 
HQ, MARINE EIGHTH INDEPENDENT TANK BATTALION, GUBAT, LUZON, PI
 
0848, 13 February, 1944
 
LCOL Barker, CO of 3rd Battalion, 1st Marine Airborne Regiment, “Sir, we hold Gubat now. What’s the plan?”
 
LCOL John Hunt, “We keep a battalion here to hold our supply port and then push back across to secure Sorsogon. I want to hold the flats between these two port towns. This cuts the island. When we’re secure, we sweep south and north, cleaning out any Japanese the Filipinos know about. With the Navy patrolling San Bernadino Strait to prevent resupply, the Japs south of us and north of us will be starved out.”
 
LCOL Jacobson, CO of 1st Marine Recon Battalion, 1st Regiment, “Which of us should stay in Gubat?”
 
Hunt, “We each choose our best company. They form a combined arms battalion with the senior captain in charge. They hold the beach head. The rest of us, march out.”
 
LEGAZPI FIELD, LEGAZPI, LUZON, PI
 
1430, 13 February, 1944
 
Captain Samantha Hunt unbuckles, “Thanks, CB. Take care.” She steps off the helicopter with her seabag. Across the field she sees her people boarding C-56 jet transports.
 
An aide approaches, “Captain, General Vandegrift would like to speak with you.”
 
Hunt looks at the well pressed Marine 2nd Lieutenant, “Is he here?”
 
“In here, ma’am.” He leads her into the HQ. At a doorway, “Captain Hunt, sir.”
 
Vandegrift, “Have a seat, Captain. Juan, please fetch her some coffee.”
 
Hunt sits, her back straight, her hands in her lap, and waits..
 
Vandegrift, “I’m quite glad you survived your ordeal. How many men did you lose on your hill?”
 
“Sixty-two, sir. Sixty-two out of five-hundred and sixty-three, sir.”
 
“Sixty-two. You did very well, Captain, but you were poorly served by your higher.”
 
Hunt nods, “In truth, the navy went where General MacArthur told them.”
 
Vandegrift shakes his head, “He’s difficult. Do you understand his motivation?”
 
“Yes, sir. He is chasing fame. He needs to be the biggest hero, the biggest news story. He resents the shit out of me because people focus on me. Thing is, I don’t give a shit about any of it. I would trade it all to get every person I lost back.”
 
Vandegrift, “Are you going to share this with the newspapers?”
 
“I have no intention to say anything to the papers, sir. Might I inquire, sir, why are we having this conversation?”
 
“Much of my actions over the last several days were governed by your decisions, Captain. Your decisions and his buffoonery. You comported yourself quite well, for a fish out of water. I also wonder, why did Colonel Puller absolutely demand you be rescued. Your father, I quite understand.”
 
“Are you aware, sir, that Chesty Puller becomes a Marine Corps legend? Marine units, the world over, name their bull dog mascot Chesty. He served in Guadalcanal, New Georgia, and Guam with my father. He commissioned and promoted my father. Colonel Puller trusts my father. As for Colonel Pullers motivations, you would have to ask him.”
 
“Your father pointed out that, should the Marines rescue your unit, it’s something we can remind the navy of for eternity. And should we not, it was something the navy could remind us. When your father’s unit went haring off to save you, I was, concerned. He could have easily lost his entire unit in those hills. The only reason he didn’t was sheer dumb luck.”
 
Hunt smiles, “Audacity, sir, not luck. I thought the Marine Corps celebrated audacity. Belleau Wood, Tripoli, Montezuma. All that.”
 
He sighs, “Yes. Things turned out quite fortunately. Your people showed me what carpet bombing can do to forces in the field. Now, I wonder, what will you be doing next? I’m concerned that the enemy seems distracted by your legend.”
 
She smiles, “Sir, I take it you want me to unass your AO?”
 
“I do.”
 
“I understand, sir. For now, I’m going home. After, who knows? I know your next stop is Washington, sir.”
 
“Yes. I’ve put off the commandant position as long as I could. I needed to know what it was like out here. Will I see you there?”
 
“From time to time. I have friends there, and adversaries. To which category shall I put you, sir?”
 
“More of a curious observer, Captain. I wish you no ill. Do you know why you’re a distraction?”
 
“I think I do.”
 
“If Congress would give you a star and put you where you belong, all would be to rights. You’re a rose planted among the daffodils. If they put you were a rose belongs, all things would be set to rights. Good day, Captain. Good day, and safe travels.”
 




CHAPTER 3

CO OFFICE, SUBRON-12, GREENOCK, SCOTLAND
 
0800, 13 February, 1944
 
Carpenter storms into Morrison’s office, “Well, what did Eisenhower want?”
 
Morrison stands, “Sir, mostly he briefed me in on the barges being built on the Clyde. They’re for Mulberries to support our landings on D-Day. They’re secret, of course.”
 
“Of course. Is that all?”
 
“He wanted to know if you were still on the target selection committee.”
 
“I am. Is he wanting to kick me off that now, too?”
 
“He didn’t say that, sir. I have no idea.”
 
“When do you leave for Hawaii?”
 
“In two weeks, sir. By the way, Captain Hunt survived PI, but lost her husband over there.”
 
“She always survives, and always leaves a swath of bodies behind her. Where is she going next?”
 
“I don’t know, sir.”
 
“Her at loose ends means my job is threatened. No doubt Eisenhower wants to replace me with her. You may go.”
 
“Sir, this is my office.”
 
“Right.” Carpenter storms out. In the hallway he stops, “I need to prove myself. I need to show them I know what I’m doing.”
 
C-56, HICKAM FIELD, HAWAII
 
0715, 13 February, 1944
 
Crewmen push stairs up against the big transport plane and open the door. Lt. JG Cooper, “I got your stuff, ma’am. I know your size and will sort out your sea bag. Nimitz will want to see you, and then it’s probably the Navy hospital.”
 
Hunt, “Cooper, you were wounded, too.”
 
“I’ll get taken care of, boss. I got it handled.”
 
“Okay.” She smiles, “Radar, you’re priceless.”
 
“Yep. See you at the clinic. Once we know how long you’re staying, I’ll set you up a place.”
 
She sees a navy sedan waiting, “Looks like I have a ride. Take care, Cooper.” About half of her people are on this plane. She turns and watches them preparing to disembark, “Guys, please take care. My door is always open for you.” She walks down and heads to the car. It’s a short drive to the Pacific Fleet Headquarters building; a three-story concrete building with exterior walkways.
 
At the quarterdeck, a lieutenant says, “Welcome to Pacific Fleet, Captain. Jones, show her to Admiral Nimitz’s office.”
 
A yeoman leads her up, knocks, then opens the door, “Captain Hunt, sir.”
 
Chester Nimitz stands and offers a hand, “I’m told she likes tea, Jones.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
He smiles, “Please have a seat. I’m sorry about your husband.”
 
“Thank you, sir. I’m still processing.”
 
“It takes time. Can you talk to me about PI?”
 
Hunt, “Most of southern Luzon is secure. The Filipino resistance is helping us. We need to take care of PI after, sir.”
 
“Yes, we do. That place will never lose its strategic value and the people deserve no less.”
 
“I agree.”
 
Nimitz, “Do you have an assignment after your leave? I have a place for you here.”
 
Hunt, “Thank you, sir. I don’t know what I’ll do.”
 
“I understand. You’ll have some time. I want you to be medically evaluated here before we send you home on leave. I’ve seen your awards package. Can we talk about your crew?”
 
“I regret not getting to award my crew before they’ve been dispersed. I’d love to see Commander Hammond get his first command. All my surviving ship commanders are recommended for higher command. Especially Evans, he’s ready for his own DESRON or cruiser. Commander Davis is ready to accept an XO slot, as is Lieutenant Hutchison. The rest of my wardroom are ready for a department head tour. If there’s an assignment for a lieutenant in PI, Lieutenant Shemenski wants to be assigned there. He’d be a good fit to command a patrol boat. He’s marrying a Filipino, sir.”
 
Nimitz, “This Shemenski, do you think it’s love or him taking advantage of some poor girl?”
 
“She’s the granddaughter of Mano Alvesa and she fought with us during the whole thing. If it wasn’t love, she’d have his nuts.”
 
Nimitz’s eyes open wide. He laughs. “I see. I’ll make these happen. Any preference of command for Hammond?”
 
“He’s a ninety and knows missiles. He’s also very effective at ASW. Maybe a Stoddert class.”
 
“Is he a nuke?”
 
“No, sir. A conventional mechanic.”
 
“We’re building destroyers at an extraordinary rate. I’ll find him something. Is he married?”
 
“He’s engaged to Rita Hayworth.”
 
“Really?”
 
“Really. They met on my bond tour and fell in love. I wish them the best.”
 
Nimitz nods, “I heard what you did for John Wayne. Why didn’t he get the call sign, ‘Duke’?”
 
She smiles, “That’s not how call signs work, sir. A call sign is a legal way for your coworkers to mess with you.”
 
Nimitz nods, “I know ‘Bull’ Halsey hates his, even though it pretty accurately describes him.”
 
“You know, sir. The Carl Vinson is a Nimitz class ship.”
 
Nimitz, “I do. Someday, there will be a Samantha Hunt class.”
 
She shakes her head, “Maybe, but I won’t be alive to see it.”
 
“Was I dead when the Nimitz was launched in 1975?”
 
“I can’t recall, sir.”
 
Nimitz stands, “I’ve a meeting. If all goes well at the hospital, I’d like you to join my staff for dinner tonight at six.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
She leaves and his chief of staff, John Duncan, comes in, “What do you think, sir?”
 
Nimitz, “She needs a break, John. A healthy, relaxing break. She needs to grieve her husband. After, she’ll need another important assignment. That and by God, she needs to know she’s appreciated. We have all the reports. Can you assign someone to compile all the reasons that woman deserves a star and the CMH?”
 
“Yes, sir. I will get it going.”
 
“Thank you.”
 
OUT PATIENT CLINIC, TRIPLER ARMY MEDICAL CENTER, HONOLULU, HI
 
0900, 13 February, 1944
 
The doctor, “Captain, you’ve lost weight. Your reflexes are good. We’re waiting for your malaria test and your other blood work. Whoever treated your wounds did a good job.”
 
“They were treated by my corpsman and a Filipino nurse, then redone by a corpsman on the Vinson.”
 
“Right now, my only concern is your weight loss. Could you tell me when your last period was?”
 
“Why doctor?”
 
“Doctor Osborne has a note in your record. It says under stress and combat environments, you tend to become irregular.”
 
She nods, “I’m due next week. So far, all that’s fine.”
 
“Okay, I’ll need you to put on fifteen pounds of muscle before I’ll let you back in a jet. Other than that, you seem healthy. Oh, also, your pregnancy test came back negative.”
 
“I didn’t ask for a pregnancy test.”
 
“I added it after word of your husband. We are all sorry for your loss.”
 
She takes a breath and nods, “May I go, doctor?”
 
“Yes. I will go over your lab results tomorrow, then we can release you for leave.”
 
“Thank you.”
 
INTEL OFFICE, SHAEF HEADQUARTERS
 
2110, 13 February, 1944
 
Commodore Carpenter nods at the Army sergeant guarding the door and walks in. It’s a large room with a dozen desks and a large table in the center. He walks over to the air recon section.
 
British Army Major General Kenneth Strong walks out of his office, “A word, Commodore?” He walks back into his office.
 
Carpenter, follows him, “Yes, General?”
 
Strong, “What are you doing in Intel, Commodore?”
 
“I want more information on the air defenses in western Germany. I’m still on the target committee.”
 
“We will have fresh overflights tomorrow. It seems the SR-1 aircraft are busy in the Pacific.”
 
SLED 002, SR-1, 86,000 FEET, APPROACHING FORMOSA FROM THE EAST
 
0640, 14 February, 1944
 
Reconnaissance Officer, Captain Chuck ‘Nose’ Ring, “Cameras are on. May as well get pretty pictures of an empty ocean.”
 
The pilot, Major Ryan ‘Chewy’ Brest, “They want us looking for the Jap fleet, too, even if the main item is the Jap airfields in Formosa. All the film has to be processed. No sense not using it.”
 
“True.”
 
JAPANESE Q7He, MARITIME PATROL AIRCRAFT, 86,000 FEET, SOUTH OF SLED 002 HEADING NORTH
 
The Japanese built Amerika Bomber plods along at 200 knots. Captain Nishii, “They want us looking for the Americans. It is hoped we may vector our missile submarines toward them.”
 
Lieutenant Sado, “Could we just load bombs and destroy them ourselves?”
 
“Their fighters have missiles that can reach this high. To overfly them at this speed would be suicide.”
 
“But they can’t fly this high?”
 
“No.”
 
SLED 002, 86,000 FEET, APPROACHING FORMOSA
 
Major Brest, “Shit! Hang on!” He pulls back the stick, pushing his nose up, and clears the Amerika Bomber by twenty feet.
 
Captain Ring, “The camera blinked out for a second. What was that?”
 
“An Amerika Bomber.”
 
JAPANESE Q7He RECON AIRCRAFT
 
The sonic boom shakes the Japanese patrol aircraft hard. The pressure wave ruptures its fuel tanks and bends the fuselage, binding the control cables. Captain Nishii, “Hang on. Slow inputs. Our engines are rolling back.” The aircraft shudders.
 
Sado, “Sir, the wing is damaged. Hull is damaged. We’re leaking fuel.”
 
Nishii, “Our rudder and elevators are jammed. What the fuck was that?”
 
“I don’t know. It was like a big black arrowhead. It had to be American. Should I call it in?”
 
“Yes. I’ve got some movement in the elevators. We need to land in Formosa.” He struggles against the bound control cables.
 
Sado, “Sir, the wing is wobbling. Please stop what you’re doing.”
 
“I almost got it.” He pulls back hard and the cable frees, loading the damaged wing. It fails, folding up and back. They big plane tumbles out of the sky.
 
SLED 002, 86,000 FEET, OVER FORMOSA
 
Ring, “Thank you, Chewy, for spotting that bomber. If we’d hit it, we’d be goners for sure.”
 
“No problem. Passing over Formosa.”
 
“Targeting radar. It’s a ‘15J.”
 
Chewy Brest, “Got it. Accelerating.”
 
“They launched. Missile is tracking. I got it on the periscope. Okay, it’s out of fuel.”
 
“Thank you, Ring. We’re almost clear of Formosa. Now the long flight home.”
 
HALEKULANI HOTEL, HONOLULU, HI
 
1750, 13 February, 1944
 
Cooper opens the door for Sam, “Your stuff is set up. I’ve replaced your sea bag and had the rest cleaned. None of the uniforms are bespoke right now. Sorry.”
 
“Cooper, you’re amazing. Thank you. One thing more, Coop, I talked to Nimitz. Pin these on.” She hands him lieutenant bars.
 
“Oh wow. Wow. Thank you. Spike, have I earned these?”
 
“You have, Radar. That and more.”
 
He pins them and looks at his silver JG bars before putting them in his pocket. “I used your back pay for the uniforms and the room is gratis.”
 
“Why?”
 
“They want to say you stayed here. On the desk is the schedule for cargo and personnel aircraft back stateside. Most arrive in San Diego or LA. I think Gore Field in Great Falls Montana is closest to Missoula. I asked. You can draw a car there or take the train to Missoula.”
 
Sam, “When are you flying out?”
 
“Do you want to go to Montana alone?”
 
“I need to, yes.”
 
James, “I’ll fly out tonight, then. I’ll see you at your next command.”
 
“I have no idea where I’m going.”
 
“It doesn’t matter where you go, I’ll be there for you.”
 
“Thank you, Radar.” She shares a long look with her right hand man. She pulls him in for a long hug. “Take care.”
 
He pats her back and smiles, “Yes, Spike.”
 
ADMIRAL’S CONFERENCE ROOM, USS CARL VINSON, CVN-70
 
1234, 14 February, 1944
 
Captain Gloria ‘Hot Pants’ Houlihan sits with their intel team studying photos of Formosa, “I see Eagles, Waldos, and Karens. No new aircraft. This airport has its fuel tanks underground. Chris, are you picking up something I’m missing?”
 
CDR Chris ‘Chaos’ Hisakawa, “Security is pretty tight. Indicates the locals are hostile, or at least, unfriendly.”
 
“We already know that.”
 
“What can we do during the attack to make the underground’s life easier?”
 
HP, “Is there an underground?”
 
Hisakawa pulls out a binder, looks through it, “Nope. Nothing organized. The Japanese have held Formosa since the late eighteen hundreds. All the security is about trust issues, and not any real resistance.”
 
Johnson, “Should we let them think there is an underground?”
 
HP, “It could get a lot of people killed, but also keep them busy putting out fires. Yeah, I’ll bounce that off the admiral and let you know.”
 
BOAT SHOP, ROYAL NAVY BASE, CLYDE, GREENOCK, SCOTLAND
 
0915, 14 February, 1944
 
Captain John Morrison walks into the maintenance space. Royal Navy Chief Motor Mechanic-1 Doohan, “Attention on deck!”
 
Morrison, “Carry on. Chief, have you seen MM4 Windsor?”
 
“Yes, sir. She’s bringing up launch 23.”
 
“Thank you.”
 
“Can I ask why, sir?”
 
“A dear friend of hers just lost her husband.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
Morrison walks through the shop, where water taxis are in various states of repair, and to the marine railway where Windsor, and several seamen are hauling a twenty-two-foot motor whale boat out of the water. He watches while they use a winch to shift the boat from the rail cart to a trailer. The boat secured, Windsor turns and salutes, “Captain.”
 
“May I have a word, Windsor?”
 
Royal Navy Chief Motor Mechanic fourth class, Elizabeth Windsor, “Yes, sir.”
 
They step away from the others to a railing on the quay wall. Morrison, “Jeremiah Buford was killed in action in the Philippines two days ago.”
 
“Oh, no. Sir, does she know?”
 
“I was told she was with him. After she lost her ship and managed to get her crew ashore, he flew in to help her.”
 
Elizabeth nods, in rigid control of herself. She makes eye contact with Morrison, “Thank you, sir.”
 
“If you want, I can authorize you to take some time off.”
 
“The war continues, and we all do our duty, sir.”
 
“Of course. Carry on, MM4.”
 
PACFLT COS OFFICE, PEARL HARBOR
 
0800, 14 February, 1944
 
CDR Lyle ‘Gandhi’ Jacobs knocks and walks in, still using a cane, “You wanted to see me, sir?”
 
Commodore John Duncan, “I do. The boss wants a complete and comprehensive Medal of Honor package assembled for Captain Samantha Hunt. I know you know her. I want you to put it together. Go over her reports, the reports of her subordinates, and interview anyone you need to. Make it complete, thorough, and unrelenting.”
 
“Yes, sir. She deserves it a hundredfold.”
 
“I agree. Give it your best.”
 
HUNT’S HOME, POINT LOMA, CALIFORNIA
 
1115, 14 February, 1944
 
Sam takes Jere’s shirts out of the closet and sets them on the bed. She picks one up, holds it to her face, and takes a deep breath. His scent overwhelms her, “Jere…” She crumples to the floor, sobbing. The pain of her grief grips her, tightening her muscles and she falls to her side, shaking. After a long time, she pushes herself up and takes a deep breath.
 
“Okay. That was bad. I love you, Jere. I miss you. God, I miss you.” She gets up and continues packing his clothes into boxes. She sets them at the foot of the stairs to the attic.
 
She hears a car pull into the driveway and she goes to the bathroom to wash her face and brush her hair. There’s a knock on the front door and she runs down the stairs. When she opens the door, Rear Admiral Robert ‘Abdul’ Issa says, “Hello, Samantha. How are you?”
 
“Rob! What a surprise. Please, come in. And, I’m…I’m just here.”
 
“You know you’re not alone.”
 
“Robert, that’s exactly what I am. Alone.”
 
He puts a gentle hand on her shoulder, “No. No Sam. We are your family. As long as a SEAL still breaths, you will always have a family.”
 
“How did you know I was here, Rob?”
 
He smiles, “I’ve been looking for you. We’re doing a bonfire for him tonight. Could you please come.”
 
“Okay.”
 
“Are you going to keep the house?”
 
“Yeah, I want to. I don’t know how I’ll take care of it.”
 
Robert, “Let me do that for you.”
 
BAR-B-BAR RANCH, NEAR MISSOULA, MONTANA
 
1514, 14 February, 1944
 
A taxi drives down the long driveway to the remote ranch. Snow is piled up in the fields, but the driveway is packed down. When it pulls up, Ruth Ann Buford, dressed for the brutal cold weather, steps out of the house. Two flags with blue stars hang off the porch posts, snapping in the breeze. “Yes, sir?”
 
“Excuse me. Yuh got a telegram.” He hands it over.
 
She reads:
 
Washington DC, 0810, 2-14-1944
 
Selina M. Buford HWY-93 Missoula, MT
 
The Secretary of the Navy desires me to offer his deepest regret that your son, Lt. Jeremiah Buford was killed in action on 12 February, in Luzon, Philippines. Letter follows.
 
Nimitz, PACFLT
 
She starts shaking, “Mom. Mom!” She takes two steps, stops and turns, “Thank you, sir.”
 
The taxi driver, “We’re so sorry for your loss.”
 
She nods and walks in the house.
 
Selina, Jere’s mom, “What is it, honey?”
 
“Mom. Mom, it’s Jere.” Ruth collapses on the couch, crying.
 
Selina, “Now, no caterwauling.” She reads the telegram and screams, “No!”
 
Jere’s father, Matthew runs out of the kitchen with Jere’s grandparents, Jeremiah and Sara. “Selina, what is it?”
 
Matthew takes the telegram out of her shaking hand and reads it. He takes a breath, puts his arm around his wife, and passes it to his parents.
 
Sara reads it, purses her lips, tears welling in her eyes, “I’ll put on more coffee.”
 
HUNT FARM, NEAR STONE MOUNTAIN, TENNESSEE
 
1810, 14 February, 1944
 
Leigh, Margret, Asahi, and Fukue sit around the table, eating dinner, and listening to the radio.
 
On the radio, “News from the Pacific theater. Captain Hunt’s embattled sailors have been recovered by landing craft near Gubat, Luzon. We are told the unit that relieved her was commanded by none other than Lieutenant Colonel John Hunt, her father. Both Hunts made it through with minor injuries. Captain Hunt’s husband of nearly one year, Lieutenant Jeremiah Buford was killed. It was reported he died in his wife’s arms. We ask that all of the US mourn the loss of this fine young man.”
 
Fukue starts shaking. Asahi hugs his granddaughter.
 
Leigh gets up and goes to Margaret. She stands into his arms. They hold each other and cry.
 
BONFIRE, SILVER STRAND, NEAR SAN DIEGO
 
1900, 14 February, 1944
 
Sam parks Jere’s truck and walks toward the fire. There’s a large wooden wall shielding the fire from the sea. Captain Mark ‘Fang’ Fronczak is the first to spot her. He walks to her and hands her a bottle of beer, “How are you?”
 
“Mark, I’m exactly how you think I am, but I’m holding it together.”
 
Mark nods, “Yeah. Is this going to help, or tear you apart?”
 
“I don’t know.” Sam takes a slug of the beer, “Mark, I don’t know.”
 
They join the SEALs around the fire. Lt. Steve ‘Mac’ Cook stands, pulls his girl up and walks toward her, “Sam, I’d like you to meet my wife, Ruby. Ruby, Samantha Hunt.” Ruby offers her hand.
 
Sam smiles, “Is this who you were hiding from me?”
 
He nods, “Yeah. We weren’t sure, yet.”
 
Ruby, “He wasn’t sure. I was completely sure.”
 
Sam, “Ruby, I’m happy for you both.” She feels tears forming.
 
BM3(UDT-SEAL) Jason “Tank” McLean offers Sam a seat. She sits down, finishing her beer. “Are you okay, Tank?”
 
“No. He would want me to keep going.”
 
“Yeah. He would.” She wipes her eyes.
 
Tank, “Cry, Sam. I am.”
 
“I have to keep it together.”
 
Rob Issa, “Not here. Not here.”
 




CHAPTER 4

EAGLE 1, 36,000 FEET, 100 MILES EAST OF FORMOSA
 
1215, 15 February, 1944
 
LCDR Chris ‘Chaos’ Hisakawa, “Okay. We’re getting blips of Japanese radar.”
 
Captain Gloria ‘Hot Pants’ Houlihan, “They see us, yet?”
 
“It’s approaching threshold. Nothing is airborne, yet. Okay, we have targeting radars. Sparky-1, please engage.”
 
“Eagle-1, Sparky-1. Magnum. Magnum.” CDR Sandra ‘Weeds’ McRae fires two HARM missiles. Four other EA-14D’s fire eight more.
 
JAPANESE AIR DEFENSE CENTER, TAIPEI, FORMOSA
 
Brigadier General Wada, “They come in stupid. Why?”
 
“It is eighty aircraft, sir. Perhaps they can’t maneuver.”
 
“No. Order our stations off line. Have them randomly turn on, then fire.”
 
“Yes, sir.” He sends the order out.
 
SPARKY-1, LEADING THE ALPHA STRIKE
 
ENS Emmett ‘Maggie’ Sackett, “They shut off. Do you think the inertial back up will work?”
 
CDR Sandra ‘Weeds’ McRae, “We’ll know in a bit. Okay, I see two, maybe three secondaries.”
 
Houlihan, on radio, “Alpha strike, Eagle-1. New course 010. They’re being cagy with their radar. Let’s not make it easy for them.”
 
Maggie, “A search radar came on.”
 
McRae, on the radio, “All Sparky, Sparky-1. Dive under their radar as we close. Time to get clever.” Her pilots acknowledge the order,
 
“Weeds, Hot Pants, concur. We will circle around.”
 
Weeds, “Okay Maggie. This is where we earn our pay.”
 
Maggie, “Yep. Come to 312 for our target. It’s on the ridge.”
 
Weeds, “We’re feet dry, climbing. I see the radar.”
 
“It’s emitting. SAM Launch. Break right.”
 
She fires a quick burst from her gun, then breaks, dropping chaff and flares. A crump behind them, “That was close.” On the radio, “They have cover from heat seeker teams. Fly careful.” On intercom, “Maggie, we’re circling back.”
 
“Okay, Magnum.” He fires a HARM. It slams into another radar site to the south.
 
Weeds, “Selecting bombs. I see the launchers.”
 
“Roger.”
 
“Bombs away.”
 
Maggie, “Good kills. Good Kills. Another SAM.”
 
“Got it. Got it.” She rolls over the ridge that divides the island. “Oh shit.” A Japanese A12M Waldo screams by them.
 
Maggie, on radio, “Fast movers. Fast movers.”
 
EAGLE-1, THIRTY MILES EAST OF SPARKY-1
 
Houlihan, on radio, “Fox-3. Stay in the weeds, Weeds.”
 
Hisakawa, “Six more fast movers. Knight, Rook, engage. Fox-3. Fox-3.” The first missile screams toward the targeted Waldo. The pilot tries to climb back over the ridge. The Phoenix missile explodes against the center of the jet, fragging the engine and killing the pilot. It crashes into a rock outcropping.
 
SPARKY-1
 
Weeds, “Crossing over the ridge.”
 
Maggie, “Fuck.” He keys his radio, “Twenty-five radars. Magnum. Magnum. SAM Launch.” Intercom, “Break left.”
 
“Breaking.”
 
EAGLE-1
 
Hisakawa, “Say again, Sparky.”
 
“Eagle, Sparky. Twenty-five plus search and targeting radars on the west side of the island.
 
Houlihan, “Send the bombers home. Pull out Sparky. This is going to be a tougher nut to crack.”
 
TRIPLER ARMY MEDICAL CENTER, OAHU, HI
 
1414, 16 February, 1944
 
CDR Kyle ‘Gandhi’ Jacobs sits with Captain Copeland, CO of the Samuel B. Roberts. Gandhi, “Do you have anything else you want to add?”
 
“This is research for a CMH for Captain Hunt, right?”
 
“It is.”
 
“Commander, no one leads like her. A Jap cruiser fired torpedoes at her ship. She raced for the Kaga and caused a red on red. While fighting her own ship, she checked in on us. Do you know that when the Heermann was hit and sinking, Hathaway boarded a Jap heavy cruiser?”
 
“I do. He was put in for a CMH.”
 
“She maneuvered to support him. While fighting her already damaged ship, she maneuvered to support the Heermann.”
 
“That’s when you chose to ram the light cruiser Kitakami?”
 
“I was out of options. The Roberts was sinking no matter what I did. I was out of missiles and nearly out of five-inch. I didn’t want to leave a functional enemy cruiser afloat when we were going to be in rafts.”
 
“That was a gutsy call. Thank you, Captain.”
 
BRIDGE, USS MAYPORT SS-237, GARDEN ISLAND ROYAL AUSTRALIAN NAVY BASE, SYDNEY
 
1310, 17 February, 1944
 
Tug boats push the USS Mayport against a barge moored to an Australian cruiser on Cowper Wharf. The captain of the cruiser waves from his bridge. Mallory, “Line handlers, receive the lines fore and aft.”
 
Giblin, down below, on the 1MC, “Moored. Shift colors.”
 
Mallory, “Make us fast, guys.” The COB, on deck with his team, ties off to the barge. The cruiser lowers the brow.
 
Giblin climbs up, “Are you heading straight home?”
 
Mallory shakes his head, “I need to meet our Aussie friends first.”
 
“Nope. I’ll do that. You, Captain, should go home. Your commander in chief is waiting.”
 
Their gaze is drawn to a USN officer, carrying his sea bag and gear, climbing down the brow. Lt. Leroy Guthrie salutes the flag, then Mallory, “Request to report aboard as navigator.”
 
Mallory and Giblin return the salute, “Welcome aboard, Guthrie. Good to see you.”
 
PILOT READY ROOM, RAF BASSINGBOURN, SW OF CAMBRIDGE, ENGLAND
 
0630, 17 February, 1944
 
Commodore Carpenter walks in, “Is Colonel Putnam in?”
 
Major Robert ‘Andy’ Morgan, studying the map of France, “He is sir. May I ask who you are?”
 
“I’m Commodore Carpenter, Major. I’m Yankee.” He walks into Putnam’s office.
 
Col. Claude E. Putnam, the 91st Bombardment Group commander stands, “Can I help you, Commodore?”
 
“I want to help you. How is your bombing campaign going?”
 
“We’ve eliminated the German industry and anti-air in France and the low countries. The weasels are progressing against Germany. We’re making progress.”
 
“So, no raids against Germany itself?”
 
“According to intel, Germany has the best air defense system ever made. It will be a tough nut to crack.”
 
“I see. The intel weenies are holding you back. Thank you, Colonel.”
 
RANDOLF COTTAGE, BALMAIN, WEST OF SYDNEY
 
1545, 17 February, 1944
 
Gary’s taxi pulls up and he gets out, carrying a bag and a dozen red roses. Amy’s mother, Judy comes to the door, shouting, “Amy! Amy, he’s here.”
 
“Who’s here, Mum?” Amy calls out from her bedroom where she’s changing Samantha’s diaper.
 
Gary, “I’m here.”
 
Amy, “Crickey. Oh heavens. Just a second.”
 
Judy, “I have her, my dear.” She takes over diaper duty and Amy runs into Gary’s arms, her face ablaze with joy. She puts her arms around his neck and pulls his head down. Their kiss lasts a long time.
 
Murmuring against his lips, Amy sighs, “You need to meet your daughter.” She takes Samantha Grace Mallory from her mother’s arms and hands her to Gary.
 
Gary takes his 15-month-old daughter into his arms with easy confidence, “Hi, little one. I’m your Daddy.”
 
Samantha holds her arms out to Amy, “Mama.”
 
Amy, “She’s teething, darling.”
 
Gary, “That’s okay. Do you have one of those teething things?”
 
Amy, “A teething ring? Of course.” She fetches the Bakelite plastic ring.
 
Gary, “Hmm. Nothing softer? When my boys were little, they had these soft plastic rings we could put in the fridge.”
 
Judy, bringing tea, “That would be lovely, but they haven’t been invented, yet.”
 
He smiles, “Sorry. Where’s Andrew?”
 
Amy, “Da’s at work” She gazes at him as if he’s going to disappear. “ God, I love you.”
 
Gary grins at her over Samantha’s head, “I love you, too.”
 
JAMES R. BROWNING FEDERAL COURT HOUSE, SAN FRANCISCO, CA
 
0850, 18 February, 1944
 
Albert Kishimoto waits outside a judges office with his attorney. A court clerk walks out, “The circuit court has agreed to hear your case, Mister Kishimoto.”
 
Kishimoto, born in Sacramento; his parents born in San Francisco, smiles, “Thank you, so very much.”
 
He and his young, white lawyer stand. They walk out to a small gathering of protesters being held back by a line of police. A car pulls out into traffic near the building. The protesters scream at the older Japanese-American and throw rotten fruit.
 
The attorney waves for a taxi, but the approaching car gets there first. A rear suicide door opens and a Tommy gun is fired from inside the car. Mister Kishimoto and his attorney drop to the pavement, blood pooling around them.
 
The protesters cheer.
 
GORE FIELD, GREAT FALLS, MONTANA
 
1940, 18 February, 1944
 
Sam Hunt carries her bags down the plane’s stairs into a bitterly cold wind. She’s wearing her winter khaki and heavy watch coat. The crew on the C-56 left her alone. No one is waiting, because no one knows she’s coming. She walks into the terminal and is hit with warmth from a wood fired stove.
 
An Army Air Force sergeant behind the counter, “May I help you, ma’am? Oh shit, you’re Captain Hunt.”
 
A faint smile, “I know who I am. I need to get to Missoula. How do I get there?”
 
“The train runs through regular. I can get you a ride to the station. Well, as late as it is, maybe an overnight at the transient barracks.”
 
“Thank you.”
 
“Why are you out here in the back of beyond, ma’am?”
 
“My husband’s from Missoula.”
 
“Oh. Sorry about that, ma’am.
 
She nods.
 
“Ma’am, did you read what Ernie Pyle wrote about you?”
 
“I didn’t.”
 
“Here.” He hands her a paper. She reads the story headlined on the front page.
 
TRAGIC LOSS OF A HUSBAND AND HERO
 
Captain Samantha Hunt’s loss is a loss for us all.
 
Captain Hunt made the hard decision to beach her sinking destroyer. She and the crews of the destroyers Hubler and Heerman were trapped ashore on the island of Luzon. Her husband and  his combat swimmer team came to help her. I’ve written about the miracle of San Bernadino Strait. Captain Hunt was ordered to hold the strait against the Yamato Battleship group. Her destroyer squadron sank all but the big battleship itself. After such a superb action, one would easily assume that the Navy would quickly recover those crew stuck ashore or floating in the shark infested waters.
 
One would be wrong.
 
General of the Army MacArthur ordered the Navy to leave her behind. The US Army General resents her popularity. She is a leader we have all learned to trust. She earned it over Tokyo in 1942. She earned it in Britian. She earned it defending New York and Chicago. She earned it defending Los Angeles. She earned it supporting invasions all through the Pacific. She earned it protecting the invasion beaches on Luzon. In that far off jungle, MacArthur couldn’t be bothered to rescue her and her people.
 
Abandoned by General MacArthur, she held her people together. She avoided engaging with the Japanese patrols in southern Luzon while desperately seeking extraction by sea. In the end, they were pinned down on what is now called Hunt’s Hill. Her sailors fought for their lives. The combat swimmers with her fought. The Marines moved heaven and earth to come to their rescue.
 
General MacArthur brought a lieutenant colonel to relieve her of her command. He attempted to force her to abandon her people, to leave them with an unknown army leader in the middle of a fight for survival.
 
She refused.
 
Lieutenant Jeremiah Buford, Hunt’s husband of one year, defended the infirmary trench. She fought a dozen feet away, defending her command trench. She fought with rifle, pistol, and hand to hand. She picked up a Japanese sword and fought with that. I was there.
 
I saw Jeremiah fall. I saw her run to her husband’s side. She held him as the medic desperately tried to save him. She held him as he spoke his last words to her.
 
His loss is a tragedy. His loss amplifies all of our losses in this war. All that is left to us is to pray and fight on.
 
Sam gives back the paper, fighting tears. She takes a deep breath, “Thank you.”
 
MORRISON HOME, BREMERTON, WA
 
2010, 18 February, 1944
 
Captain Elizabeth Morrison sits, waiting on the phone. An operator connects the call, and she hears FADM Craig Klindt on the other end, “Hello?”
 
Liz, “Craig, I hope your well. When is she going to be in Montana?”
 
“She flew out of San Diego late this morning. Her flight took her to Gore Field in Great Falls. Are you going to see her?”
 
“I want to.”
 
“Your leave is approved, Liz. I understand she has lost weight, and has minor wounds. Please let me know how she’s doing.”
 
“I will. Thank you, Craig.”
 
EAGLE-1, 150 FEET, 100 MILES NORTH OF FORMOSA
 
1300, 19 February, 1944
 
The F-14s and EA-14Ds of the Carl Vinson are hitting Taipei on their fifth attack mission. Captain Houlihan, “Chris, do you think this will work?”
 
Chaos, “It’s the best move. We have to take out the SAM sites. We have to.”
 
HP, “Weeds is the best we have at this. Really, she should be teaching it.”
 
SPARKY-1, 150 FEET, 80 MILES SOUTH OF FORMOSA
 
Weeds, “Ready?”
 
Maggie, “Yes. Pop.” Weeds climbs. Maggie, “Magnum. Magnum.” On intercom, “Down.”
 
Three EA-F-14’s to the west and east pop and fire. The HARM missiles do not emit  electromagnetic radiation. They guide on radar transmissions.
 
JAPANESE AIR DEFENSE CENTER, TAIPEI, FORMOSA
 
“Sir. Five aircraft inbound at high Mach. We have them on radar, flying blind.”
 
Brigadier General Wada, “Good. Good. Launch SAMs against them. Launch the alert 5.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
“Oh no! They were missiles. Sir, we lost four radar stations.”
 
Another radar operator, “Six more missiles incoming.”
 
Wada, “Turn off all the radar. Launch fighters.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
EAGLE-1, 500 FEET, 60 MILES NORTH OF FORMOSA
 
Houlihan, “We have to get lower.”
 
Hisakawa, “Roger. I got the recon pictures memorized. This is a good plan.”
 
They hear again, “Magnum. Magnum.” The EA-14D’s continue circling in the south and firing HARMs every few seconds, forcing the radars off.
 
They hear on the radio, “All units, Sparky-1. I have airborne radars. They’re Eagles. Diamond wingmen, pop and engage.”
 
DIAMOND-1, WITH THE SOUTHERN GROUP
 
CDR Sean ‘Lobster’ Fitzgerald’s RIO, Lt. JG Agnes ‘Taco’ Walters, on radio, “Roger. Wingmen, pop.” Their wingman climbs and fires an AIM-54A Phoenix missile. Five other Blue Diamond Tomcats fire one Phoenix each. Taco, “Good hits. We splashed all four.”
 
Lobster, “They only launched four eagles? Don’t make sense.”
 
Taco, “More are coming.” On radio, “We have four more fast movers launching out of a southern airfield. Fox-3.” Taco, “Splash 4.” On intercom, “Boss, I’m an ace now.”
 
“Focus. We don’t want to be dead aces.”
 
EAGLE 1, 100 FEET, NEARING TAIPEI
 
Houlihan, “G’s”
 
Chaos, “I see our target. Right ten. Two taking off. Set to auto-drop.”
 
Hot Pants, “I see it. I see them. They’re climbing away.” The jet lurches up as four runway penetrating bombs release. Hot Pants, calm, “Fox-2. Fox-2” AIM-9 Sidewinders twist toward the two F-15’s climbing in front of them.
 
The right jet is hit above both engines, fragging them. The jet cobras and tumbles to the ground.
 
The left jet rolls and the missile runs right against the left engine and explodes. The blast shreds the left elevator and vertical stabilizer. The jet rolls inverted, still flying.
 
Houlihan, “G’s. Guns.” A fifty round burst stitches the wounded F-15J across the wings. It fireballs and tumbles from the sky. “Eject, dumb ass. G’s” She rolls and pulls into a minimum distance turn. “No chute. Okay, we escort south.” The four northern airfields are pock marked and burning.
 
Hisakawa, “I’m picking up a lot of ground-based radars.”
 
WIZARD-1, WITH THE NORTHERN GROUP
 
CDR Hank ‘H.D.’ Stettler, CO of the Wizards, VAQ-133, Northern Group, “Starting the music. Missiles are no factor.”
 
EAGLE-1
 
Hisakawa, “Roger, Wizard. Thank you.” They fly south over Formosa, destroying airfields and missile sites.
 
GERMAN AIRFIELD NEAR FRANKFURT, GERMANY
 
1400, 19 February, 1944
 
Reichsmarschall Goering, “This is your answer for the survivability of our Luftwaffe?”
 
“Yes, sir. We use a rail and rocket assist to launch the jets, then a road to land them.”
 
“Why the 163?”
 
“It’s the lightest fighter in our fleet.”
 
“Will it get airborne in this short of a track?”
 
“With the rocket assist, it will, sir. With the parachute, we can land it on a roadway. We refuel, rearm, use a crane to reinstall each fighter on its rail for the next mission. With ten trucks we can keep four jets in the air for three, perhaps four flights.  The launchers can be concealed. Should our airfields be destroyed, we will still have a viable defense. And, sir, the system is inexpensive to use.”
 
“Good. Very good.”
 
TRAIN STATION, MISSOULA, MONTANA
 
0810, 19 February, 1944
 
Sam steps off the train into the bitter cold wind. Across the road and a half block west, she sees the Double Front Café. Shouldering her bags, she walks toward it. An old man picking up an older woman at the station, “Would you need a ride, ma’am?”
 
Sam smiles, “Is the Double Front open? What I need is a meal.”
 
“Yep. She sure is, and the grub’s mighty good.” He pauses, “Excuse me, but are you, Captain Hunt?”
 
“I am.”
 
“Joe Morgan.” He offers his hand. She takes it. “Ma’am, I read in the paper that they’ll be doing a memorial at the Methodist Church on 14th street today at noon. It’s just a short jaunt south from here.”
 
“Thank you. Thank you very much.” She walks to the café. A bell rings when she opens the door.
 
A young woman smiles, “Welcome to the Double Front. How can I…ma’am, are you Captain Hunt?”
 
“I am.”
 
“Please. Please come in. I’m Molly Mangan. My sister went to high school with your husband, ma’am.” She seats Hunt and hands her a menu, “Our backstrap, biscuits and gravy are really, really good.”
 
“That will work, Molly. Eggs over easy. Could I have a cup of coffee, please?”
 
“Yes, ma’am.” Molly pours her a coffee, “Ma’am, begging your pardon, but our whole town, well, ma’am, we’re all so sorry.”
 
“Thank you.”
 
Molly walks into the kitchen, “Dad. Dad, we have Captain Hunt in our café. She’s got her bags like she just got off the train.”
 
Bob nods, “Good. It’s good she’s here. Now, honey, she’s folks. Treat her just like she’s folks. Don’t go goggling at her. What did she order?”
 
“I’m sorry, Dad. The backstrap, eggs over easy.”
 
“Let her know about the memorial and be sure to tell her we’ll get her there.”
 
METHODIST CHURCH, 14th STREET, MISSOULA, MONTANA
 
0921, Saturday, 19 February, 1944
 
People are filing into the old clapboard church as the Buford family arrive in their 1938 Chevy Suburban Estate. The air is cold and dry, a winter sun presiding over the event. Ruth, sitting in the third seat, is the last to get out.
 
Becky McRaven, a classmate walks up, “I’m so sad for you, Ruthie.”
 
Ruth meets her gaze, “I wish Samantha could be here.”
 
Becky, “I read what happened in the paper. Do you suppose he’d have lived if he wasn’t with her?”
 
Grandma Sara, overhearing, “Hush that talk, Rebecca McRaven. You just shut it.”
 
“Yes, ma’am.”
 
Selina looks at Becky, then her mother-in-law, and starts crying again. Matthew pulls her into a hug. As is his habit, after years on the range, he is always looking around. He sees a taxi with a blond woman in the back pull up. Sam gets out and hands the driver a dollar, “Thank you, sir.”
 
“Begging your pardon, ma’am, but I’ll not take a copper penny from you. Not while driving you to your husband’s funeral. God bless you, Captain.”
 
“Thank you.” At the restaurant, she’d managed to change into her dress blue uniform. She looks over the gathered people and realizes they are all looking at her. She spots Matthew Buford, and recognizes the resemblance to Jeremiah. She walks to Matt, “Would you be the Bufords, sir?”
 
Matt nods, then, “Yes, Captain.” He offers a hand and she takes it. “This is my wife, Selina, my father Jeremiah, my mother Sara, and my daughter Ruth. We’ve a passel of other family and friends here, but I don’t want to overwhelm you.”
 
“Thank you.”
 
Selina offers her hand to Sam, “I would think you’d wear a black dress.”
 
“I don’t own one. I lost all my civilian clothes on my ship.”
 
Sara takes hold of Selina’s left arm, but she continues, “But not your uniforms and fancy medals?”
 
Sam looks at Selina’s tear-stained face, “I see. I’m sorry.” She stiffens, then turns and walks away.
 
Sara, “Please, Captain. Please stay.” Stone faced; Sam turns back.
 
Matthew draws his wife away, “She’s family, Selina. What would Jere say about how you’re treating her?”
 
“I don’t care. She’s the reason he’s gone.”
 
He stares at her. “That isn’t right. It’s the war. We’re all hurting. Can’t you see that the captain is, too?”
 
“Why doesn’t she wear a mourning dress?”
 
“She told you. She doesn’t have one. Think, woman. Think of all she’s lost.”
 
Selina’s lips tighten. “I don’t care. She’s the reason he’s gone.”
 
Sam doesn’t hear Selina as she walks into the church with Sara and Ruth. She sits with the Buford’s in the front row.
 
Reverend Oakley begins the service, “Welcome family and friends. Welcome Captain Hunt. Jeremiah Buford was a cowboy, a football and track star. He was a friend to all who knew him. In 1942, he graduated from the University of Montana with a degree in agriculture. Jeremiah proudly accepted a commission in the US Navy in nineteen-forty-two. He was accepted into the combat swimmer units where, we’re told, he excelled. He was promoted to lieutenant and the position of squadron commander in 1943. He married Samantha Hunt in nineteen-forty-three on a beach in Hawaii. His wife, Samantha, is here with us today.
 
We lost Jeremiah, in battle, in the far-off Philippine Islands. I know we all mourn the loss of Jeremiah. We all miss his light, which shined so brightly in our community. Shall we pray.”
 
Jere’s grandfather holds his head high, calmly looking forward, and clinging to his wife’s hand. Sara’s face is still, tears tracing down her cheeks. Jere’s mother, Selina, bends forward, her head in her hands, crying. His father, Matthew, puts a hand on his wife’s back and holds the hand of daughter, struggling with his emotions. Ruth whispers, “Dad, you’re hurting my hand.” He looks at her and nods, relaxing his grip. Ruth wipes her eyes. Sam looks down, hiding her face.
 




CHAPTER 5

FLIGHT LINE, NAS PATUXENT RIVER
 
1200, Saturday, 19 February, 1944
 
Captain Frank ‘Thud’ Jackson walks around a FV-8. It is bare aluminum with the orange wing tips of a test aircraft. Two, Harrier like, forward nozzles are pointed down. In the rear, the single engine exhaust can articulate down like the Japanese aircraft they reverse engineered. Unlike the Japanese jet, or the Harrier, the forward nozzles exhaust into a duct when aligned for conventional flight.  He touches one of the end-of-wing thrust nozzles, “How responsive are the nozzles, Shotgun?”
 
Marine Colonel Louis ‘Shotgun’ Mossberg, “It’s as quick as a control surface and works variably depending on input. It took us almost a month of tether testing to get them right.”
 
“What made the difference?”
 
“We added three fly-by-wire computers with independent gyros, to increase stability in hovering flight. It makes the landing cycle easier. It’s still one of the hardest things I’ve done. It is twitchy as we slow to a hover. When it’s in linear flight, the computers let you fly with less stability, allowing the jet to be agile.”
 
Thud, “Harder than a night landing?”
 
“No. Nothing is harder than a night landing. Dealing with a wind gust in hover is challenging, though.”
 
“Okay. Does it want to weathervane?”
 
Shotgun, “It wants to roll over and kill you.”
 
“In a fight, can you work the thrust lever to add to your turn rate?”
 
“Absolutely. However, if you drop the nozzles while in afterburner, it drops the engines down to full military. The forward nozzles have to be aligned to add their thrust to the rear in order to reheat.”
 
Thud, “What’s special about the glass cockpit?”
 
“It’s configurable to make it easy to read radar, and instruments. There’s a low light camera in the nose. It transmits the ground picture onto the multifunction screen. The A-10’s are getting similar systems to help us with target identification and engagement at night. The Weasel and Tomcat E already have it in the back seat.”
 
Thud, “That works. What did McDonald name this bird?”
 
“The Wraith.”
 
Thud, “Cool. Top speed?”
 
“One point five Mach at thirty thousand. One point one at sea level.”
 
“Can it carry ordnance in full VTOL?”
 
Shotgun, “Yes, but it can carry more as STOL or C-TOL. We want to issue these to the amphibious carriers so they can have indigenous fighters that can support the A-10 ground role.”
 
“All for Marines then?”
 
“So far.”
 
Thud, “Open it to the Navy and I’ll get a couple squadrons assigned to our ASW carriers. Also, the Brits will salivate over these.”
 
“Will do. Are you ready to fly?”
 
“I am.” Thud mounts his assigned bird and a groundcrew hooks him up. They start engines and taxi to a take-off point.
 
Shotgun, on radio, “Patuxent Tower, Rough Rider Flight. Request to vertical takeoff and climb out at 090 for angles twenty, direct to Echo.”
 
“Rough Rider cleared for vertical takeoff, 20, for Echo.”
 
Shotgun, “Nozzles down. Throttle for lift rate and stick for hover. We try not to stay in hover for more than a few minutes.”
 
“I read the manual. Let’s make it look sharp. Climb to a fifty-foot hover on my mark.”
 
“Roger.”
 
Thud, to himself, “You’re in it now, Thud. Make it smooth.” On the radio, “And, mark.” He rolls on the power and feels the aircraft get light, wobble, and correct. It’s a little wobbly as he climbs to fifty feet, then turns in a slow circle. To himself, “Okay. Okay. It’s like balancing on a ball. Like trying to hover a rocket. You got to stay ahead of it. I don’t like the computer inputs on the controls. I feel like I need to fight it. Okay, a hover. Let’s turn this.” He splits the engine nozzle control and slowly spins the aircraft. He turns to 090 and slowly rotates the nozzles aft while increasing power. As the wings bite the air, he rolls back the power a little and climbs to twenty-thousand feet. “I need to talk to Mossberg about making the computer corrections transparent to the pilot. If a new pilot fought the inputs, they could auger in.”
 
METHODIST CHURCH, 14th STREET, MISSOULA, MONTANA
 
1045, Saturday, 19 February, 1944
 
Reverend Oakley, “…Amen. The church is providing lunch in the community hall. Please join us.” He steps from the podium and walks to Sam, “Our community mourns with you, Captain.” She nods, smiling through her tears, “Thank you.”
 
As the congregates file out, a black-haired female Navy captain, in dress blues, walks in. She steps to the side and looks around. She spots Sam and walks up, “Hey, whiney-britches.”
 
Startled, Sam looks up and sees her friend, Liz Morrison, “Hi…hi Liz.”
 
“Hi back. I’d ask how you are, but I already know.”
 
Sam hugs Liz. “Liz, I’d like to introduce the Buford’s; grandfather Jeremiah, grandmother Sara, father Matthew, mother Selina, and sister Ruth. Everyone, my friend Liz Morrison.”
 
Liz offers a hand and is pulled into a hug by Sara, “Welcome to the family, Liz.” They walk into the community hall.
 
Sam pulls Liz aside, “How did you find me?”
 
Liz smiles, “It ain’t that hard. I work about a third of my time in Idaho at INEL. Honey, I didn’t want you to go through this alone.”
 
Ruth, “She isn’t alone, ma’am. She’s with family.”
 
Liz, “I see that.”
 
“Did you know my brother, ma’am?”
 
Liz, “Just Liz, okay. I’m adopting Sam’s view on ‘ma’am.’ I met him at Keyport when he was doing cold water training, but I didn’t know him that well. My husband new him much better.”
 
Ruth, “I…I struggle to believe this is even real. Could he just be missing?”
 
Sam, “I was there. I was right there. I’m sorry, Ruth.”
 
Ruth wipes her eyes, “It’s hard.”
 
Sara walks up, “You need to eat. Come on. All this crying takes energy.”
 
CATTLE YARD, ATHENS, TENNESSEE
 
1430, Saturday, 19 February, 1944
 
The bell above the door rings when Leigh Hunt and Asahi Koizumi walk into the store. Gus Foster, who runs a butchery outside Knoxville, spots them, “Hey Leigh, I never took you for a Jap loving race traitor.”
 
Asahi avoids eye contact, but Leigh looks right at him, “Gus, you shouldn’t be writing checks with your mouth that your ass can’t cash.”
 
“Well, we all know you got these Japs living with you. They’re having their Jap babies and trying to take over our whole town.”
 
Leigh shakes his head, “One baby and you’re convinced they outnumber you? You never were any good at math.”
 
“You know what happened in Frisco. They’re using the courts to take our land. They’re going to take over the whole damn country. You just watch.”
 
Asahi, “Mister Gus, who owned that property before the war, sir?”
 
Gus, “What does that matter?”
 
Asahi, “If you stole my land, would I be wrong to use the courts to get my property back? All the man was doing was asking the courts to have his own property, which was stolen, returned to him.”
 
Gus, “But I read that the new owner paid taxes on that land.”
 
Leigh, “Sure. I’m sure he did. Now, Gus, if I paid your property taxes on your farm, would that mean I could claim it as my own?”
 
“Well, no. No Leigh. You know that ain’t how it works. Just, those Japs. They are enemy combatants.”
 
Asahi, “The man who was murdered was born in the United States. His parents on both sides were born in the United States. Please tell me, Mister Gus. How many generations must a family live in the United States before they are considered citizens?”
 
Gus, “Well, now. That ain’t the point.”
 
Leigh, “Then what is the point?”
 
Gus, “Well, y’all are double teaming me, here.”
 
Asahi, “Mister Gus, do you support the men who shot that poor man on the very court house steps?”
 
Gus bristles, “I don’t endorse murder, Jap. For all that, y’all would be better off in those camps. I tell you, there will be more blood in the streets if you Japs keep trying to pretend it ain’t your kin ‘cross the sea killin’ our boys. It’s like them Hatfield’s. Seen one, seen ‘em all.” 
 
Leigh, “August Benjamin Foster, I’d suggest you address Mr. Koizumi with a little more respect. It’s his grandson who’s out there fighting in the war. What are your sons doing?”
 
“I’m too old and my boys…my boys are doing their bit.”
 
Leigh, “Both my boys and my granddaughter are serving. John’s a colonel in the marines. Your Jebadiah and Beau are driving cattle trucks for you.”
 
“You know, Leigh, I don’t need your business.”
 
Leigh smiles, “Well, then, perhaps I need to start my own butchery. As a patriotic duty, I should run it at a loss for the first year. If I cut your prices in half, do you suppose the folks around here might buy their meat from a Japanese man?”
 
Gus, “You couldn’t.”
 
Leigh smiles, “Good day, Mister Foster.” Leigh and Asahi walk out.
 
Asahi, “Is this what you will do? Build your own butchery?”
 
Leigh, “I’ll not have you be disrespected.”
 
Asahi, “I think Captain Hunt would approve a donation to help the ethnic Japanese regain their properties.”
 
Leigh nods, “I think she would. I’ll need to write Samantha and speak with an attorney. That’s a great idea, Asahi. Meanwhile, lets run this load down to Atlanta.”
 
USS MAYPORT, GARDEN ISLAND RAN BASE
 
1016, 20 February, 1944
 
CDR Gary Mallory, carrying his daughter, leads his wife and her parents into his wardroom, “Well, that’s the nickel tour.”
 
Andrew Randolph, “This is a very impressive ship.”
 
Gary, “Thank you. I’m proud of her. I never even dreamed command could be in my future.”
 
Amy, “Honey, the other ship you were on, when we met, was it also a submarine?”
 
“Yep. I can say now that it is the USS San Francisco. Greg Backes has it right now.”
 
Judy, “And the Japanese officer who attended your wedding?”
 
“John Morrison. He was XO then. He’s half Japanese and half Irish. He commanded it for a while, then was promoted to Captain and given a submarine squadron. The female officer, Liz, is his wife. She’s a captain and commands a school and ship production unit.
 
COMBAT, USS CARL VINSON, CVN-70
 
1141, 20 February, 1944
 
Halsey, studies the digital map of Formosa, “How long will it take them to rebuild the fields?”
 
Houlihan, “We couldn’t take out all the infrastructure. A few days. If the Army Air Force keep hammering them from high altitude, they can keep them off line. The Japanese could fly a cap from Okinawa, but they would have to burn a lot of fuel to support that.”
 
“Are you thinking we should head north and hit Okinawa? Nimitz wants us to island hop again before returning to Pearl.”
 
“We own the air over PI. I want to enter the Philippine Sea and hit the oil fields in Borneo.”
 
Halsey, “I like it. Let’s make a plan.”
 
BAR B BAR RANCH, SOUTH OF MISSOULA, MONTANA
 
0810, Sunday, 20 February, 1944
 
Sam wearing boots, jeans, shirt, and heavy coat borrowed from Ruth, sips a cup of coffee. Liz sits at the table with her cup, wearing a wool dress.
 
Grandpa Jeremiah, “Sam, can I introduce you to our horses?”
 
“I’d like that. Liz, would you like to join us?”
 
“Nope. I’ll hang out in the house where it’s warm.”
 
Sam and Jeremiah walk to a large, monitor style, clapboard cedar, bank barn with a three-sided basement for the cattle in the cold months. Grandpa opens a man-door and they walk in. The stalls are on both sides of a long packed earth aisle and every stall holds a horse. On the far end are large double doors. All the horses have poked their heads out over the stall doors and are looking at them with intense curiosity. A tall dapple grey mare whinnies and tosses her head. Grandpa chuckles, “That’s Ash. She was Jere’s favorite.”
 
Sam walks up to the beautiful mare and Ash puts her head down and nuzzles Sam’s check. Sam smiles, firmly stroking Ash’s neck, “He told me. Hi Ash.” Grandpa hands her a brush and she goes into the stall and brushes the horse down. “Has she foaled yet?”
 
“Yes, last winter. We like to give them two years or more to recover.”
 
“I agree. My favorite is Sprinkles. She’s a dapple grey Irish hunter. Can I borrow your pick?’
 
He hands her his hoof pick, and she cleans Ash’s hooves. “It’s bitter cold out, but would you like to ride a bit?”
 
“I would, Grandpa.”
 
He leads them toward the tack room and points at a saddle, “Use Jere’s saddle. If you have problems with the western tack, let me know.”
 
“I’ve ridden western.” She smooths Ash’s back, then expertly saddles her. Sam puts the bit under her arm to warm it.
 
Grandpa smiles, doing the same for his mount, “You know your way around a horse.”
 
“Thank you. I’ve never tried to rope.”
 
“No one’s perfect.” He smiles, “We can teach you.”
 
She swallows, fighting to keep her tears from coming, “You know, Grandpa, I dreamed of riding out here, but I thought it would be Jere teaching me.”
 
“I know, honey.” He leads his mount outside, then steps in the saddle.
 
She follows him out. She puts her boot into the stirrup and Ash sidesteps. Sam quickly swings her leg over the saddle and settles in, laughing, “There will be none of that, young lady.” Ash blows an acknowledgement. They ride out into the snow.
 
Grandpa smiles, “Like any horse, she doesn’t want to go out in the snow.”
 
“How many horses do you have?”
 
“Ninety-six. We make our living raising beef stock.”
 
“Where are the cattle?”
 
“In the winter, we keep them close in at our barns. The freshened cows are kept here. We have two other barns where we keep our steers and our one bull.”
 
“Do you have any hands?”
 
“I do. My brother’s boys live across the way. My Segundo is a Blackfoot Indian named Tom Crow. He and his extended family work for me. His grandpa was hired by my grandpa.”
 
“Jere didn’t say your ranch was this big.”
 
“The scale of agriculture is different out west. In the east you can afford to put multiple head per acre. Out here, we need multiple acres per head to make a living. A long, cold, snowy winter can near wipe us out.” They ride up the hill behind the ranch house. Down in the creek bottoms and on the hills behind the homestead she sees trees. On a barren knob, he stops to rest the horses. Grandpa smiles at her, “You sit a horse well.”
 
“I was raised on one. This is a beautiful place.”
 
“I like it up here. Mind, it would be a terrible homesite. About half the winter, the wind howls through here. Still, the view’s nice.”
 
“Where do your lines end?”
 
“We have about a mile into the timber behind us. Beyond is national forest land. We have the land between the creeks north and south of us, all the way to the Bitterroot River.”
 
“I’m adjusting. Jere made it out like yours was a small outfit. I don’t know why.”
 
“He probably figured your folks’ place was small and didn’t want to come off as big hat, no cattle.”
 
“I guess. I’m feeling like I didn’t know him nearly as well as I thought.”
 
Grandpa moves his horse sideways, closer to Sam, “You weren’t given enough time. Not enough time by half. Please know, as big as we are, we’re not even in the top ten of Montana ranches. Not even the biggest on the Bitterroot.”
 
She smiles, tearing up, “It’s not the details of this...” She wipes away her tears, “I think he wanted to surprise me. He…was like that.”
 
“Yes, he was. Do you know what you want to do after the war, my dear?”
 
“I would like to stay in the navy for a career, but congress wants to kick all the females out after the war. I have a friend who wants to start a life flight company, using helicopters to get people quickly to the hospital.” She looks at him, “I don’t know, Grandpa. I don’t know if I’ll survive. I…I just don’t know.”
 
He puts his hand on her shoulder, “For now, just rest. Let Sara put some meat back on your bones. We’ll teach you to rope and make a cowgirl out of you. Whatever happens, we’re your family.”
 
“Thank you.”
 
“See those clouds scudding along? They’re coming in fast. We have a blow coming in. Let’s get off this nob.”
 
BALBOA NAVAL HOSPITAL, SAN DIEGO
 
1810, 20 February, 1944,
 
CDR Kyle ‘Gandhi’ Jacobs sits with CDR Oscar ‘Hamm’ Hammond, still in his hospital robe. Gandhi, “Thank you for talking with me.”
 
“Sure, Gandhi. If you can get her the CMH, we would all be thankful.”
 
Gandhi smiles, “We all know she deserves it. What can you tell me about Lieutenant Jackson?”
 
Oscar grows quiet, “She was wounded. A round hit her in the hip and blew up her ammo. They medevacked her to the hospital ship. You know she’s black, right?”
 
“I’ve met her, yes.”
 
Hamm nods, “Gandhi, the medics blew her off. She had to demand care. I’m sure the command there would call it triage, but they were triaging her down because of her skin color. Anyway, once they patched her up, she flew back to us. She handled comms with air support. Shit’s blowing up all over and she stayed calm on the radio. In the end, as Spike was holding her…her husband, and Jere…he was…” Hamm wipes his eyes, “As Jere was dying, a Jap got into the command bunker. Calm as all get out, she shoots him dead. A hand grenade fell from his hand and she kicked it under some flack vests that had piled up. When we medevacked folks, their body armor kinda accumulated. Anyway, she kicked it under the vests and dived on top. Fucked up her legs some and one of her arms. We put her in for a CMH, too, not that she’ll get it. Bloody and wounded, she stands up and gets back on the radio like nothing happened.”
 
“Did you know she’s friends with Pin Up?”
 
Hamm, “Didn’t you dump Mical?”
 
“I was an idiot.”
 
“Yep, you were. Were, I you, I’d move on.”
 
“I should interview Lieutenant Jackson.”
 
“Interview Hutchison. He was in the bunker during the grenade thing.”
 
BETHLEHEM STEEL, FORE RIVER SHIPYARD, QUINCY, MASSACHUSETTS
 
1200, Monday, 21 February, 1944
 
Captain Maki watches the keel for the USS Seattle, CLGN-112, being laid by a crane. Rather than the traditional beam, this is a modular section of the lower hull, destined to be number one engine room. The construction manager smiles, “There she is, Captain. The first piece of your new ship, well and truly laid.”
 
Maki, “Yes, sir. Fair warning, Mister Zigler, I’m going to be a pain in your ass on this project. This ship requires exacting compliance.”
 
“You’ve said as much, sir. Our shipyards have built more warships than any other yard. We know our business.”
 
“That’s why you’re building it and the two destroyers. If I thought you couldn’t, I would have gone elsewhere. Now let’s walk through modules nine and twelve. They’re the reactor compartment foundations.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
BAR B BAR RANCH
 
0119, 21 February, 1944
 
Liz wakes to the whisper of a sound. She’s sleeping on a cot, in Jeremiah’s old room. Sam, in Jere’s bed, is tossing her head and straining her muscles, sobbing. She whispers, “No. No. No.”
 
Liz slips into bed with her, “It’s okay, honey. It’s okay.”
 
Sam wakes at her touch and wraps her in a hug. She cries herself to sleep.
 
HOLLYWOOD HEIGHTS, HOLLYWOOD, CALIFORNIA
 
0910, 21 February, 1944
 
The taxi driver, “Commander, you sure this is where you want me to drop you off?”
 
Commander Oscar ‘Hamm’ Hammond, “I’m sure.”
 
“Now a commander in the navy, don’t get me wrong, that’s a big thing. But up here, my friend, movie stars live up here.”
 
“I know. This is the address. Thank you.” He hands up a couple dollars.
 
“This house is where Rita Hayworth lives. Are you sure?”
 
“I’m sure. Thank you.” Hammond gets out and grabs his sea bag and garment bag. He walks up the short circular drive of the large Spanish style house.
 
Rita, barefoot, runs out of the house squealing. She leaps into his arms and kisses him. They cling to each other for a long time.
 
Shaking his head, the taxi driver drives away.
 
FACTORY, FRANKFURT FIELD, GERMANY
 
1917 21 February, 1944
 
Reichsmarschall Goering, “Explain again. Why do we want to use these small rockets?”
 
“They are gyrostabilized and designed to fly straight for twelve kilometers. When fired on by the allies, these will take the hits to spare our aircraft.”
 
“I see. Proceed with the test.”
 
They watch a Me-420 (F-15) fly by at three hundred feet, fire the drones and turn away.
 
“I see that they fly. How do they attract radar better than our aircraft?”
 
“In the nose is a radar reflector for that purpose.”
 
“Good. Build as many as you can.”
 
EIGHTH MARINE ITB, CITY HALL, SORSOGON, LUZON, PI
 
1112, 22 February, 1944
 
LCOL John Hunt’s tankers, integrated at the platoon level with airborne marines, hold Sorsogon. LCOL Baker, CO of First Battalion, First Marine Airborne Regiment gets out of his jeep, “Sorsogon is ours. It was a good plan.”
 
Hunt, “Thank you. Most of it was your guys and Rafael’s. It feels good that the Filipinos like that we’re here.”
 
His gunner stands in his hatch, “Sir, Admiral Lee and General Vandegrift are inbound by helicopter.”
 
Hunt to Baker, “Have your guys lay out panels.”
 
“Oorah.”
 
LCOL Kenneth D. Bailey, CO of 1st Recon Battalion joins them, “What’s up?”
 
Hunt, “Lee and Vandegrift are inbound.”
 
A few minutes later, a CH-60 helicopter hovers and lands in the city hall parking lot. Vandegrift and Lee unass and walk to the three officers. In a combat zone, no one salutes.
 
Hunt, “We control Sorsogon and Gubat. We own the land in between. My next move is to Sawanga Bacon to cut off the north-eastern peninsula.”
 
Vandegrift offers his hand, “Well done, Colonel. Well done. You took and held these flats, so the Bacon Hills are completely cut off. That’ll shorten the time to defeat the Japs hiding out in the hills.”
 
Hunt, “Sir, are your units integrating with the Filipino resistance up there?”
 
“Yes, of course. I’m concerned about resupply for your unit.”
 
“LCAC, sir?”
 
Lee, “They’re too weather dependent. I’ve assigned some Sea Bees to you. They’ll be preparing your port and an air field.”
 
Hunt, “An air field, sir?”
 
Lee, “Yes. We own the land. Let’s exploit it.” He looks at Vandegrift and smiles.
 
General Vandegrift, “I’m being sent back to Washington, DC. I’ve put off the commandant promotion as long as I can. Before I go, I recognize that your success has caused a bit of a problem.”
 
Hunt, “I don’t understand, sir.”
 
Vandegrift, “Well, we have you commanding three battalions. With Sea Bees, port logistics, an air field, and a couple helicopter squadrons, that expands your command to five units. That’s not a lieutenant Colonel’s command.”
 
Hunt, “Shall I prepare to turn over to a colonel, sir?”
 
Vandegrift grins and looks at Lee, “Do you suppose he’s combat fatigued?”
 
Hunt, “No, sir. No sir, I’m fine.”
 
Lee, “I wish his daughter were here, or better yet, his wife.”
 
Hunt, looks at Lee, then Vandegrift, “Sir?”
 
Vandegrift hands Hunt the eagles of full colonel, “Your unit is now called the sixteenth Marine Combined Arms Regiment. Who do you want to take your tank battalion?”
 
“Major Thompson, sir. My XO.” Hunt puts on his rank devices. “I can steal some of my staff from my battalions, but I’ll need some people.”
 
Vandegrift, “They’re coming along with a company of light artillery. Your unit is an experiment. I want to see if this type of combined arms unit can function more efficiently.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
Lee, “Where do you want your port?”
 
“I’m in no way qualified to design a deep-water port. I’ll leave that to the Sea Bees.”
 
Lee nods, “Smart.” Lee turns to Vandegrift, “Can you give us a moment?”
 
“Of course.”
 
Richard leads John away, “This is the first time we’ve met, Colonel. I knew your daughter long before we came back in time.”
 
John, “I know who you are, sir. My family told me about you visiting the farm.”
 
Rick nods, “I know I’m sticking my nose in your role, but I consider her a daughter.”
 
John nods, “I’ve heard. That’s fine, sir.”
 
“Just Rick, when we’re in private. That or my call sign, Dixie.”
 
“Are you related to the General, si…Rick?”
 
“I doubt it. Lee’s a pretty common name. Are we good?”
 
John smiles, “She’s ten years older than me. It’s not like I can really mentor her or anything. I’m glad she has you in her life.”
 
“What are your plans after the war, John?”
 
“I want to take my wife and son home and get my degree. I’ll probably have to leave the service to do that. I might decide to go back in after. I just think a senior officer should have an education.”
 
“I agree. After the war, there’s a huge reduction in force. In a few years, the corps will be looking for experienced officers, if that’s what you want. John, Craig and I are building a cadre of officers whom we mentor and look out for. People who care about shaping a better future for all of us. I’d like to include you.”
 
“I take it Samantha is part of it?”
 
“Yes. She’s one of our first.”
 
“I’d be honored, sir.”
 




CHAPTER 6

PROPERTY, RAVENS POINT, MORRISON BAY, WEST OF SYDNEY, AUSTRALIA
 
1230, 22 February, 1944
 
Gary Mallory uses a machete to clear brush as he walks around a plot of land. The home on the property was destroyed in a fire years ago. He tramps toward the water, “There’s a bank, but it’s reasonable.” He walks back to where his family and the estate agent waits, “What will the owners accept, sir?”
 
“Well, Commander, this is waterfront, and a likely piece of land. A fine place to build and raise ya a family.”
 
Mallory, “Yes, sir. That doesn’t answer the question. What’s their bottom line.”
 
“Bottom line?”
 
“What’s their minimum price. I don’t have the time to dicker for days. During the war, they’re not likely to have a lot of buyers. I want property, but I don’t need property.”
 
Agent, “Well, mate, if yer pressed for time and not inclined to dicker, the list price is nine thousand.”
 
“If I bid, how long must I wait for an answer?”
 
“I’ll be back with you today.”
 
Mallory, “Please give us a moment.” He walks away with Amy, “You’ve saved two grand, darling. I’ve wired for two more. If I can get it for seven, that would give us a mortgage on three grand. Is that something we can do?”
 
Amy nods, “I could manage the five grand mortgage. Honey, did you pick this place because that’s the bay where you proposed?”
 
“Yeah, and I like it. The lot is big enough for a good-sized two-story home and a work shop. And, it once had a dock.”
 
Amy smiles, “Is this where you want to grow old?”
 
He hugs her, “It is.”
 
“What are you going to offer?”
 
“Seven.”
 
FLAG POLE, RNB CLYDE, GREENOCK, SCOTLAND
 
0800, 22 February, 1944
 
Commander Tommy ‘Wingnut’ Urland, in dress uniform, stands beside his pregnant wife, Victoria. She’s holding the hand of their three-year-old, William. Her father, Ernie stands behind them. All the available officers, enlisted, and civilians are standing in ranks.
 
General Eisenhower approaches the formation and someone says, “Ten-hut!” They all come to attention. Eisenhower joins Morrison at the front. Morrison, “Master Chief, please read the award.”
 
The command master chief, “The President of the United States grants to Commander Tommy Urland the Medal of Honor for services as set forth in the following citation.
 
“From 23 September to 8 October, 1943 during the defense of the United Kingdom against the German invasion, then Lieutenant Urland, after being wounded in an air battle, volunteered to serve as a forward air observer with the British Army. While placing himself in direct jeopardy, behind enemy lines and in direct engagement with the enemy, Lieutenant Urland coordinated the destruction of over two hundred tanks and thousands of German soldiers, providing critical time to allow the evacuation of British civilians.
 
“When a German SS tank battalion managed to maneuver around the left flank of the allied line, with a direct and unopposed line of attack to Royal Air Force Base Kenley, the primary fighter base for the defense of the UK, Lieutenant Urland singlehandedly exposed himself to fire in order to delay the German advance. In that confrontation, while severely wounded, he killed the German SS commander, a man responsible for murdering hundreds of British civilians, in single combat. His actions purchased vital time to strengthen the defense of Kenley and bring air power to bear. His actions were instrumental to the success of the entire battle.”
 
General Eisenhower places the Medal of Honor around Urland’s neck, “Thank you, Commander.”
 
Urland works to maintain his composure, and fails, blinking back tears, “Yes, sir. We lost so many.”
 
“Yes, we did.”
 
TRAIN STATION, MISSOULA, MONTANA
 
1108, 23 February, 1944
 
Sam, hugs Liz, “I’m going to miss you. Thank you for coming. I…I needed…” She fights back tears.
 
“You bet. I’ll miss you, too. You’ll be okay. Have fun playing cowgirl.”
 
“I will. When you see Swede and Scott, tell them hi.”
 
Liz, “I will. Time to go.” Her train stops.
 
“I love you, Liz.”
 
“Love you, too. Ta.” The train pulls out and Sam watches it go. She turns back to Matt, “I need some riding clothes.”
 
“Yes, you do.”
 
CAFÉ OUTSIDE BETHESDA NAVAL HOSPITAL, BETHESDA, MARYLAND
 
1613, 23 February, 1944,
 
Three men sit in the café. CDR Kyle ‘Gandhi’ Jacobs and LCDR Brian Hutchison are speaking, while an Army physical therapist, Lt. David Cassel watches. Gandhi, “So, you would recommend Hunt for the CMH?”
 
Hutchison, “Hell yes. I’d recommend her for at least two. The first for England. I understand you flew with her?”
 
“I did. I flew until Guam. I lost some lung and gained a third leg there.” He lifts his cane.
 
“Yeah. That was a rough bit of business.”
 
“A change of subject. Would you also recommend Lieutenant Jackson for her CMH?”
 
“She jumped on a grenade. That’s literally the definition of CMH stuff. She came back to us after her hip wound. That’s medal stuff, too. I was there when she jumped on the grenade. I saw her kick it under the vests and jump on them. She saved my life.”
 
“Thank you.”
 
BRIDGE, USS POINT MAGOO, PMC-26, SAN BERNADINO STRAIT, PI
 
0716, 24 February, 1944
 
LCDR Jack Kennedy stands beside the helm in the enclosed bridge of his PMC-26. She’s a 180-foot, Cape Hatteras class, high-speed, vessel with an enclosed 40mm Bofors forward, individual fifties aft of the bridge wings, and enclosed twin fifties aft. On each side, laid out similar to the torpedoes on his old PT boat, there are four Harpoon missiles in individual elevating mounts.  
 
His XO, Lt. Shemenski points at a wrecked and beached destroyer off the starboard bow, “That’s what’s left of the Hubler over there.”
 
“I bet you would have liked a squadron of these with you. I lost my PT in Surigao Strait when this battle took place.”
 
Shemenski, “You mean you were swimming in Surigao Strait, right?”
 
“Yep. So, you were with Hunt on the Hubler?”
 
“I was.”
 
“Why didn’t you take leave?”
 
“Because my wife is here.”
 
“My gain. What do we have here?” Ahead, near Capul Island, two small boats are sailing across the strait.
 
Shemenski, “It’s broad daylight. They’re probably Filipino.”
 
Kennedy picks up the 1MC, “Man the guns. Man, the guns. Muster the boarding party on the fantail.” To the helm, “Make our course 184. Ahead standard.”
 
They see one person steering each single masted vessel. Forward of the helm is a large pile of gunny sacks. The forward forty is trained at the closer boat. Kennedy, “Mount 40-1, cover the distant boat. Put the fifties on this one. Helm, bring us alongside Starboard side to.” He walks out the starboard bridge wing, drawing his sidearm.
 
Shemenski shouts in Tagalog, “Hands! Show hands!”
 
They slow and come alongside the narrow, 40 foot vessel. The boat’s helmsman is motionless, hiding his face behind a reed hat. Kennedy studies the pile of bags. Most are empty and just tossed over the cargo. He notices a hand holding a gun at the edge the bags. He makes a quick estimate of where the person’s head likely is and he fires his 1911. The bags are suddenly pushed aside and twenty Japanese soldiers jump up, weapons raised. His fifty calibers open up. The Japanese don’t get a shot off. He shifts his attention to the Japanese helmsman and shoots him twice in the chest. In seconds, it’s over.
 
He picks up the sound powered phone, “Mount 1, fire warning shots at the other boat.”
 
His helm, “Captain, it’s running.”
 
Kennedy, “Ahead flank.”
 
The three idle gas turbine engines spool up, adding their horsepower to three running diesel engines. The three screws chew the water. The stern falls into its own bow wave as the straked hull climbs and the vessel accelerates up to forty knots.
 
ENC Doohan climbs up to the bridge, “Sir, temps are good. The hydraulic clutches locked up correctly.”
 
Kennedy, “Good. Thank you, CHENG.”
 
“We chasing supply boats?”
 
“These have Japs in them.”
 
Doohan, “They could be drawing us into artillery range. Why don’t we sink the fucker and get back on task?”
 
Kennedy, “Good call.” He picks up the sound powered phone, “Mount 40-1, engage the Tango.” The 40mm chugs off twelve shots. There’s massive secondaries and the boat goes away. “Well, they weren’t carrying pigs.”
 
Doohan, “That’s why we’re here. Keeping the Japs from resupplying their troops on Luzon. Of course, it would be nice to cook us a big fat pig when we get back to Legazpi.”
 
Kennedy smiles, “One thing at a time, CHENG.”
 
SQUADRON OFFICE, 363RD FIGHTER SQUADRON, RAF KENLEY
 
0900, 24 February, 1944
 
Commodore Carpenter walks in, “Welcome back from Africa, Colonel. May I have a word?”
 
LCOL Tom ‘Chuckles’ Roots stands and offers a hand, “It’s good to be back, sir. How may I help you?”
 
“You’re a ’90, right?”
 
Roots pours coffee for them both, “I am.”
 
“Did you ever watch the old, World War II movies like ‘12 o’clock High’ and ‘The Dam Busters?’”
 
Roots smiles, “My dad was Air Force. Of course, we did.”
 
“We?”
 
“My sister, Holly, is flying for the Navy in the Pacific.”
 
“I see. What did your dad do in the Air Force?”
 
“Avionics, sir. He convinced us both to go Air Force. Why are you here?”
 
“We need to hit the Germans like we did back then. We need to send in massive raids to level their industry and break their will to fight.”
 
“Bombing doesn’t break a people. You know that as well as I, that was proven in our World War II. We need to weasel them to create safe corridors and hammer their defenses first. When we did that in France and the low countries, we lacked the forces to include Germany. Now Germany has the best air defense network in the world. If we attack in mass, we will bury our force.”
 
“You overestimate the Germans.”
 
“You overestimate us, sir.”
 
“We can do it.”
 
“We? We? Are you flying this suicide mission?”
 
“I’m a commodore. I can’t fly it.”
 
Roots, “You just have to play the general’s game, moving pawns on the board and watching them die. Are you at least willing to write the letters, sir?”
 
“Why would I?”
 
Roots picks up a paper from his desk, “Dear Mrs. Smith, we regret to report that your son Johnny died because I was stupid.”
 
“You’re out of line, Colonel!”
 
“Oh shucks. Now I’ve ruined my career. What will I do?” He meets Carpenter’s eyes, “If you push this mission through, then you strap on a jet and roll the dice like the rest of us.”
 
Carpenter’s face flames red and he clenches his fists, “Fuck you, Roots! Just, fuck you!” He storms out.
 
RIFLE RANGE, LITTLE CREEK AMPHIBIOUS BASE, VA
 
1000, 24 February, 1944
 
SEAL Team 2 Platoon 1, led by Lt. Paul “Grunt” Bruce, is on the two-hundred-yard rifle range, for a fam-fire. They are shooting various German rifles recovered in Britain. Lt. Ryan Hazlitt, a tall, athletic woman is firing a Mauser K98k, the standard German service rifle.
 
Commodore Robert ‘Abdul’ Issa walks up to Captain Mark ‘Fang’ Fronczak, “How’s your intel officer working out?”
 
Fang salutes, “She’s completed everything we’ve asked of her. Her language skills are solid, and the guys like her.”
 
Abdul returns the salute, “Can she shoot?”
 
Fang grins and picks up a MG 42 and a box of ammo. “Hazlitt, I want you to put as many rounds as you can on target with this.”
 
Lt. Hazlitt, “Aye, Captain.” She lays the full auto only machinegun on her ground mat, opens the loading door, checks the action, then loads and charges the machinegun, “Ready on the line.”
 
Fang, “You may fire.” Most of the SEALs stop to watch.
 
Hazlitt settles the sites on target and fires a quick, three-round burst. Her second trigger pull fires two rounds. The next four shots she fires one round each. Her target drops and the range operator indicates all rounds hit the target.
 
Fang, “She hasn’t had to unlearn how to shoot.” She safes the MG and Fronczak puts it back on the table. “Thank you, Hazlitt.”
 
Ensign Chris Rogers, Grunt’s assistant team leader beams at Hazlitt.
 
CORRAL, BAR-B-BAR RANCH, SOUTH OF MISSOULA, MONTANA
 
1614, 24 February, 1944
 
Sam rides Ash, wearing gloves and her new jeans tucked into new cowboy boots. Matthew, Jere’s father, walks his horse alongside her, “Here’s your rope. Ash trusts you and she’s accustomed to rope work, so you don’t need to worry about her being skittish. Shake out a loop like I showed you.”
 
“Okay.” The rope is stiff with a bowline knot on the loop. She puts the knot about a quarter around and hangs the loop halfway to the ground. She can feel Ash shifting her weight in anticipation. “You like this, don’t you, Ash?” Ash tosses her head.
 
Ruth releases a steer into the corral. Matt, “Now just let her work.”
 
Sam leans forward slightly and Ash launches into a gallop. The steer runs the length of the corral and tries to double back. Ash turns sharply after it. Sam, “Oh shit.” She gets the rope spinning in the air, but it’s flopping all over the place. When she tries to throw it, it hits the steer’s rump. Ash snorts, slowing so Sam can gather the rope.
 
Sam, “You don’t have to laugh at me, Ash.” She shakes out the rope again. It takes four more tries before she drops the rope over the steer’s head. Ash immediately stops, digging in her hooves. Sam quickly wraps the rope around the pommel, “Fingers clear.” Ash backs up and the rope goes taut.
 
Ruth applauds, “Way to go, Sam!”
 
Smiling, Sam leans forward and pats Ash on the neck, “I know it’s hard to teach me how to do this, Ash. I’ll try to make you look good.”
 
Matt joins her, “Ash, she is a vain one. She works hard and wants everyone to know it. It’s almost time for dinner. Tomorrow you’ll ride the fence with Tom. He’s got plenty more to teach you.”
 
“Sure.”
 
FLIGHT DECK, USS CARL VINSON CVN-70, 300 MILES WEST OF NORTHERN BORNEO
 
0750, 25 February, 1944
 
Houlihan salutes and puts her hands on the controls. The shooter fires the catapult and they’re launched into the air. “Cleaning up. Settling at a thousand feet. On course.”
 
LCDR Chris ‘Chaos’ Hisakawa, “Are you worried, HP?”
 
“No. Not really. We know they have Eagles out here. We know how critical the oil around here is. It’s a good plan.”
 
“I don’t like refueling this low.”
 
Hot Pants, “I get it. We’ve practiced it. Also, anyone who needs will have the fuel to bail if they have to.”
 
BLACK-1, IN THE ALPHA STRIKE, TURNING SOUTH WEST
 
LCOL Greg ‘Pappy’ Boyington, “Okay, Jolly, we’re closing the coast. We’re about to zoom. Eyes out.”
 
1st Lt. Joe ‘Jolly’ Fellows, “Roger, Pappy. Eyes are out.”
 
“G’s” Pappy pulls back on the stick and their jet launches ballistic. He spins so the cockpit is oriented toward the coast. What do you see?”
 
“Okay. Clouds over the coast. Radar warning. They got search radar. Not seeing any jets.”
 
JAPANESE AIRFIELD, JESSELTON FIELD, NORTHERN BORNEO
 
Colonel Tanaguchi, “Run! Run! Man your planes.” His pilots sprint to their jets and he boards his F-15J. Calmly, he starts engines. The ready five is already roaring down the runway and clawing into the sky. Tanaguchi, to himself, “One rolling. Cross over. Two rolling. Stay calm, Calm.” He looks to the side, salutes his ground crew, and taxies.
 
BLACK-1, ALPHA STRIKE, 35,000 FEET, APPROACHING BORNEO
 
Jolly, “Okay, we have Eagles airborne out of North Borneo. Sixty miles. They’re climbing out of angels two. SAM launch. SAM launch.”
 
SPARKY-1, WITH ALPHA STRIKE
 
ENS Emmett ‘Maggie’ Sackett, “Starting the music. SAMs are no factor. These missiles have a heat seeker terminal phase.”
 
On radio, Houlihan, “How can you be sure they’re no factor?”
 
LCDR Sandra ‘Weeds’ McRae, “Boss, we’re spoofing the search radar. Everyone, maneuver to stay four miles from the SAMs.”
 
Maggie, “I have a fix, Weeds. Magnum. Magnum.” Maggie, the WSO fires two HARM missiles at the search radar.
 
Weeds, “Is the bomb computer locked onto the site?”
 
“Yes. No crazy movements.”
 
Sixteen EA-14D’s engage the SAM defenses.
 
JAPANESE SAM SITE
 
Operator, “What is this? There can’t be eight hundred targets.”
 
Officer, “Shut off the radar. Shut off the radar! They’re shooting at us.”
 
SPARKY-1, WITH ALPHA STRIKE
 
Maggie, “Can you straighten out, boss. Okay, they shut off the radar. Providing course corrections. I see the site. Good hits. They have a back-up radar. Designating for the Red Tails.”
 
Weeds, “Good job.”
 
On radio, “Sparky-1, Red Tail-1. We have the target on our map. What are we looking at?”
 
Maggie, “A radar for a SAM sight. Expect heat seekers.”
 
“Roger, Sparky. We’re in.”
 
RED TAIL 1, 100 FEET, APPROACHING NORTHERN BORNEO
 
The CO, CDR Byron ‘GQ’ Standley, “Okay, set for auto-drop. Make our course 087.”
 
Ensign Peter ‘Justin’ Case, GQ’s pilot, “087. One hundred feet. Closing the coast. Okay, feet dry.”
 
GQ, “Drop. Drop.”
 
“I see the radar. Bombs away.”
 
“I got airborne radar at 115.”
 
Justin, “Okay, Shifting to air to air.”
 
“Four fast movers. Sixty miles. They’re firing.”
 
Justin, “G’s. Notching and diving.”
 
GQ, “Good. A mad dog shot could have forced them to break lock.”
 
“Sorry. Chaff. Chaff. Turning back east in this valley.”
 
GQ, “They missed. Their look down shoot down isn’t that good.”
 
Their wing plane, on radio, “Fox-3. Fox-3.”
 
RED TAIL-677, BEHIND AND ABOVE RED TAIL-1
 
Lt. Annette ‘Patsy’ Alphonso, “G’s. Hang on.” She pulls hard into a notch position.
 
Her RIO, Lt. JG Pippa “Heart” Valentine, “They haven’t fire…They fired, Patsy.”
 
“I knew they would. Watch our missiles in.”
 
“Okay. Okay. Good hit.” On the radio, “Splash one.”
 
SUNBURST-1, JAPANESE F-15J, APPROACHING THE RED TAILS
 
Colonel Tanaguchi, “Fucking Americans! They cost me my wingman. It will cost them their lives.”
 
JESSELTON JAPANESE AIRFIELD, NORTHERN BORNEO
 
Colonel Himara, “We are still launching aircraft. Keep the enemy at bay.”
 
Radarman, “We’re trying, sir.”
 
“Well, try harder. Our emperor demands it.”
 
KNIGHT-1, APPROACHING JESSELTON FIELD FROM THE SEA
 
CDR Holly Roots, “I’m going right down the runway. Climbing to two hundred.”
 
ENS Gus ‘GG’ Gundersen, her RIO, “Roger, Boss. I have auto-drop set. Thank God, our bombs are retarded.”
 
Square, “The polite phrase is learning impaired.”
 
“What?”
 
“G’s Almost there.”
 
GG, “What did you mean?”
 
“Focus. Guns. Guns.” Two F-15Js are accelerating down the runway. She brings her guns to bear on both in a smooth rudder movement. The Japanese jets tumble back onto the runway. Their Tomcat lurches up as the runway penetrators are released, one after another.
 
“SAM launch. Sam launch!” Five MANPAD heat seekers are roaring after them.
 
Square, “Hang on.” She inverts, firing off flares, idles her engines and descends to just above the waves. As she rolls level, heading south of west, her right wingtip chops the crest off a wave. “Fuck.”
 
GG, “Damn. That’s close. The missiles missed.”
 
Square, “Good. Slowly climbing. Time to clear datum.”
 
On radio, “All units, Eagle-1. I see good strikes from here. Check in by squadron. If you have unexpended air to ground ordnance, find a target.”
 
GG calls in, “Knights are Winchester.”
 
EAGLE-1, WEST OF ATTACK GROUPS
 
The E-2D, on radio, “Eagle-1, Ghost Rider-1. We have forty plus fast movers four hundred miles at 172 and angels forty.”
 
Hisakawa, “Ghost Rider, Eagle. Roger. Alpha strike, RTB. Descend to the north as briefed.” On intercom, “If we had the fuel, we could fuck up forty fighters.”
 
Houlihan, “I know. We eat this elephant one bite at a time. I want to destroy airfields more than I want to kill jets.”
 
“We just killed five fields. How many do you think they have?”
 
“The SR-1 photos showed seven in Borneo and six more in Malaysia, Singapore, and Sumatra. They have two that we know of in Thailand. It’s going to take us a few days to hammer them all. Meanwhile, we have to defend our ships.” She takes a slow breath, “Chaos, I hate all the killing, but we got it to do.”
 
“If we’re to make an omelet, we must break eggs.”
 
“That’s a Karl Marx quote.”
 
Chaos, “Yep. In warfare, he’s right.”
 
JAPANESE AIRFORCE HEADQUARTERS, TOKYO, JAPAN
 
1006, 25 February, 1944
 
“Sir, the Americans strike our airfields in Borneo. They have destroyed five fields in northern Borneo.”
 
Chief of the Imperial Japanese Army General Staff, Field Marshal, Hajime Sugiyama, “Calm. They are sending their aircraft south from the Philippines. Their landings there are a disaster our army must resolve. We rebuild and shift our defenses to the north. We need radars on Palawan to provide warnings.”
 
“Sir, should we not fly our airborne radars?”
 
“Yes. Yes, of course, Colonel, but that consumes fuel. Fuel is precious.”
 
“Do they attack our oil fields?”
 
“They are further south. Our oil fields and terminals should be out of range.”
 




CHAPTER 7

FENCE LINE, BAR-B-BAR RANCH, SOUTH OF MISSOULA, MONTANA
 
0710, 25 February, 1944
 
Tom Crow riding his paint horse, studies the ground. He’s in his thirties, small, whip cord strong, with a gaze that sees everything. He looks over at Sam, “Do you want silence on our ride? I’ve not heard two words out of you.”
 
Sam meets his gaze and strokes Ash’s neck, “I’ve nothing to say.” She touches her new grey pinched crease Stetson and revels in the warmth of her wool lined canvas jacket. It feels good having her own clothes and boots.
 
He smiles, pushing his hat back on his head, “You’re a different type of woman. Most can’t stop talking. They’d out talk a chicken.”
 
Sam grins, “And most Native-Americans won’t say two words unless they need saying.”
 
He grins, “True. Very true. Now that we know you aren’t most women and I’m not most Indians, maybe we can actually converse. I’m ten years older than Jeremiah, kind of his big brother. It hurts. I miss him.”
 
She nods, “I’m sorry. Everywhere I look, I see him.”
 
“Yeah. Me, too. There’s a clog down below in the creek. Let’s have a look.” He leads her down a whisper of a trail.
 
They approach and see several stumps chewed through, “It’s not a clog, Tom. It’s a beaver.”
 
“Yep. What would you do about it? As he dams up the stream here, it will back up and make us a pond about here and cause a bit of a cascade below.”
 
Sam, “Leave it be. The pond will be a nice watering spot, and beavers have to live, too.”
 
“It will change the plant life in the field near the pond from grassland to fen. It’ll take a few years, but she’ll change. You see, the beaver knows what he’s about. The juniper they’re falling likes fairly dry feet. We’ll put in some black cottonwood to give the place some shade and keep things stable.”
 
Sam looks at him, “There’s a lot more to this then feeding cows, isn’t there?”
 
“There is. This land cares for us. We need to care for it in turn.”
 
“Jere’s degree was in agriculture.”
 
“Mine, too.” He takes notes in a pocket tally book and they ride on.
 
COMBAT, USS CARL VINSON, WEST OF NORTHERN BORNEO
 
2250, 25 February, 1944
 
Captain Houlihan walks in.
 
“CAG in Combat.”
 
Captain Patterson, XO of the Carl Vinson nods, “We have the Pirates on CAP south and east of the carriers. Ospreys flight 1 and 2 are on CAP to the west. The Seventh Air Force has hit Formosa again. We got word that the Theodore Roosevelt has departed Hawaii on her way to join us.”
 
“Who has the boat and who’s flag is on it?”
 
“It’s Forrester’s boat. Oyster’s the CAG. No idea who the admiral is.”
 
“Okay. In ten minutes, I’ll brief our next strike. The Japanese are out there looking for us. When they find us…”
 
Patterson, “When?”
 
Houlihan, “Yes, when. When they find us, they will make a maximum effort to sink us. They must attack us, because we have them by the throat. After this next strike, we shift focus to defensive operations. Smaller attacks. No more alpha strikes until we identify their counter attack.”
 
“I’m worried about submarines.”
 
“We should be. Thing is, we have the San Francisco to our north and six Groton’s covering the southern approaches. We know there were three subs in Singapore when the SR-1 overflew it, and four destroyers.”
 
Patterson, “Where are their bigger ships?”
 
Houlihan grins, “Most of them are artificial reefs. The new Japanese navy will need glass bottoms if they want to look at the old Japanese navy.”
 
GARDEN ISLAND ROYAL AUSTRALIAN NAVAL STATION, SYDNEY, AU
 
2321, 25 February, 1944
 
Gary Mallory hugs his little girl, “I love you, Sammy.” He kisses his daughter’s forehead, then hands her to his mother-in-law, Judy. He turns to Amy, “I love you, honey. God, I’m going to miss you.” He pulls her into his arms and holds her tight. She leans back and pulls his head down, kissing him deeply. They hold each other for a long moment, then open their embrace and look deeply into each other’s eyes.
 
Amy, “I know you can’t say what your mission is. I understand that. My love, I’ll wait for you as long as I must. I’ll wait for you to the end of this awful war. I’ll wait for my strapping sailor to come home.”
 
Gary smiles, “I will come home to you, my love. I will. Do you think…”
 
“I do. I do think, in nine more months, Sammy will have a brother or sister.”
 
He grins, “She’ll be a girl. For some reason old nukes only make girls.” He touches her stomach. “I have to go, love.”
 
“Go, then. Go end this war and return.”
 
EAGLE-1, 200 FEET, 400 KNOTS, WEST OF SOUTHERN BORNEO
 
0035, 26 February, 1944
 
Chaos, “No airborne radar.”
 
Hot Pants, “Good. We have two more fields to destroy. Descending to one hundred.”
 
“Okay, I see a Waldo climbing out of Changi Field. Five miles at our front. Two of them.”
 
Houlihan, “Fox-2. And…Fox-2.” Two sidewinders twist through the air.
 
SHARK FLIGHT 1, JAPANESE WALDO
 
Captain Nakamura, in the lead A12M spots the missile exhaust and turns toward it, shielding his exhaust and idling his engine. “No radar. This is a heat seeker.”
 
The first missile explodes under his wingman’s engine exhaust. The nose of the STOL jet lifts into a stall and crashes tail first into the ground.
 
Nakamura beats the heat seeker aimed at him and turns to face the threat. He can see the F/A-14 closing. He pulls hard on his stick, at full throttle, willing his nose to align, “Climb. Climb.” There’s a sparkle from the left side of the big navy fighter’s cockpit and his jet shatters around him. “No. No, this can’t be.” He pulls his ejection handle. Nothing. His jet slams into the ground, belly first, at three hundred knots.
 
EAGLE-1, OVER CHANGI FIELD, SINGAPORE
 
Chaos, “Bombs away. Two penetrator bombs dropped.”
 
Houlihan, “Turning toward the new field. Power lines.” She applies power and pulls back the stick to clear high voltage lines. The tail of her jet gets too close to the exposed conductors. They hear a loud, “Bang.”
 
Chaos, “Shit. What was that?”
 
HP, “Still flying. She’s feeling loose. Call that we’re RTB.”
 
Chaos, on radio, “All units, Eagle is damaged and RTB. Square, the raid is yours.” He waits for a reply and hears nothing. “HP, no radio. Running diagnostics.”
 
“Okay, we’re feet wet. Sorry, Chris.”
 
“No worries. We’re still flying. Radar is warmed up and looks good. TACAN is down. IFF is down. I think our radar warning sensors are dead. We’re flying mostly blind.”
 
Houlihan, “Okay. She’s flying okay. A little loose in pitch and roll.”
 
“Frosty is still on our wing. I’ve signaled a loss of radio. What do you think happened?”
 
“I spotted the electrical wires too late. I’m pretty sure I cleared them, but they might have been high voltage. That’s all I can think of.”
 
“If it was electric shock, why didn’t we lose everything?”
 
“The bird’s engineered for lightning strikes and EMP’s. Just our antennas are vulnerable.”
 
Chaos, “Break! Break!”
 
Gloria rolls on afterburners and cranks her jet left. “Where is he?”
 
“Seven, high. It’s a fifteen.”
 
“Grunt, Chris, grunt.” Pulling nine G’s, she forces the big jet into a tight right turn.
 
Chaos, “He’s shooting. You’re ahead of him.”
 
“Popping.” She pops into a cobra.
 
Chris, “We’re too low.”
 
“I got it.” Her jet flops on its back and she fires at the overshooting Japanese F-15, stitching it diagonally across the engines. Both engines on the F-15 explode and the jet pitches down into the water.
 
Gloria rolls level, falling from the sky at zone five. Slowly, she gains airspeed.
 
Chris, “We’re too slow. It’s time to go.”
 
“No, Chris. I got it. I got it. At ten feet, her jet settles into ground effect. She manages to pick up speed and they slowly climb out.
 
Chris, “Frosty got the wingman. We’re clear. Thank you, Gloria.”
 
“No problem, brother Chris.”
 
KNIGHT-146, WITH EAGLE-1, NORTH EAST OF SINGAPORE
 
Lt. JG Marion ‘Frosty’ Morrison, “That was too low. Too low by half.”
 
Lt. Daniel ‘Frenchy’ Marcella, his RIO, “The boss knows what she’s doing, Frosty.”
 
“Dan, she’s going to get herself killed. If she does, we’ll have to deal with her husband. I understand he has a wicked right hook.”
 
“I’ve flown with her since England. She knows what she’s doing.”
 
Morrison, “Why are you still a lieutenant?”
 
“They’ve offered me squadron XO elsewhere, but I want to stay here.”
 
“That’s foolish.”
 
Frenchy, “Duke, are you wanting to leave the Knights?”
 
“No, but I’ve only been here six months. You’ve been with the Knights for two years.”
 
“Well, the normal first tour is three years.”
 
Frosty, “Yep, but we’re at war, and a squadron out there is being denied a combat leader.”
 
“Okay. I’ll talk to Square. You’re right.”
 
WARDROOM 3, USS CARL VINSON
 
0619, 26 February, 1944
 
Gloria sets her tray down and sits at a table in the corner. She lowers her head for a brief prayer. Under her breath, “God, I nearly fucked up. I nearly killed myself, and my RIO. I know I’m good, but…no one is good every day. Please don’t give me a stupid, meaningless death.” She takes a deep breath, “Amen.”
 
LCDR Eric ‘Puck’ Hawke sits down across from her, “Sit, adjust, pray, attack.” He smiles at his friend, then his smile drops, “Gloria, what is it?”
 
She looks away, “We have a lot of fighting in front of us.”
 
“I know. That wasn’t the question.”
 
“What, Eric?”
 
“How do you feel, Gloria? Come on, you’re not Spock.”
 
“Eric…why do you need to know how I am?”
 
“You did a cobra at six hundred feet and used ground effect to pull out. Some would see that as amazing flying. We both know it’s scraping the edge. You can only roll that dice so often before you die. We both know it. Now, how are you doing? You’re my friend and I want an answer.”
 
Her eyes down, her hands in her lap, she closes her hands in fists, then she takes a slow breath, “I…” She meets his gaze and lifts her hands, spreading her fingers. Her hands are trembling. “I’m wiped out. I’ve had one break from flying combat since we came back. Puck, I know I have to stop, but five air wings depend on me.”
 
“Five?”
 
“The Theodore Roosevelt is on its way.”
 
“A CAG doesn’t have to fly.”
 
“Yeah, but I have. I have for years and everyone expects me to.”
 
“Fuck them. Gloria, ground yourself. Just do it. Explain it to Halsey. He’ll understand. Nimitz pulled him away to recover. He’ll understand what you need.”
 
“You’re right. I hadn’t considered that.” She feels some of the weight come off her shoulders, “Thank you, Puck.”
 
CONTROL, USS MAYPORT, SS-222, 100 MILES NW OF SYDNEY
 
0815, 26 February, 1944
 
“Settled at 60 feet, sir. Snorkel is up.”
 
“Commence snorkeling.”
 
“Commence snorkeling, aye, sir.”
 
CDR Gary Mallory picks up the 1MC, “Good afternoon, Mayport. It’s time to share our orders. We’re going north to hunt in the North China Sea. We’re also directed to sneak into the Sea of Japan to hunt in a Japanese lake. No previous submarine has attempted our new hunting ground. It will be dangerous and it will demand the best of us all. That is all.” He hangs up the mic, then meets the gaze of his XO, Jim Giblin.
 
Jim follows him into the CO’s tiny stateroom, “Gary, no submarine has gone there because they patrol the fuck out of it.”
 
“I know. We’ll wear a slow freighter for a hat. It’s probably the only way in.”
 
“Okay. When we start sinking his ships, Tojo is going to be pissed.”
 
Gary, “We keep eight torpedoes for fighting our way out if needed. We need to double our reserve fuel for contingencies.”
 
“That gives us about eighteen days on station. That works. Can we ditch the eight mines early in patrol?”
 
“Yep, that’s my plan. I do want to hang onto two of them in case we find a carrier in port. They’re captor mines, so they’re a little safer.”
 
“Roger that. We can work around two. Eight is a pain.”
 
“Agreed.”
 
CREEK BOTTOM, BAR B BAR RANCH
 
0916, 26 February, 1944
 
Sam rides Scarlet, a chestnut paint. She and Tom are working the lower area of the ranch, near the Bitterroot River. They hear the desperate bellows of a young steer and ride toward the sound. The steer is trapped in snowy mud with four coyotes circling it. Sam pulls a Winchester 1894 from her saddle scabbard, “Do they scare?”
 
Tom, “They’ll shy away, but wait and watch to see if we can help it.” As they approach, the coyotes run away, but stop on a hillock and watch. “Shake out a loop and drop it over his horns.”
 
Sam, “Shouldn’t you do the rope work?”
 
Tom smiles, “You have this, Sam. Scarlet knows what she’s about. Go ahead.”
 
She shakes out her loop. Scarlet grows tense and excited, standing stock still. Sam’s first toss misses when the steer moves his head. Scarlet snorts. Sam draws in her rope, “He moved, Scarlet. No need to laugh at me.”
 
Her second toss has a larger loop and it falls around the steer’s head and horns. Sam quickly wraps the rope around her pommel and Scarlet pulls. Slowly, the steer scrambling, they pull it out of the mud. The steer finds firm ground and tries to run, but Sam keeps her rope taught, “Tom, we should check for injuries. He seems to be favoring his left rear leg.”
 
“I see that.” He shakes out a loop and with a quick underhand toss, he has the steer’s leg pulled off the ground. He then hops off his mount with his canteen. A couple splashes of water to clean off the mud, and he can see the wound, “The coyotes must be hungry this year. They usually eat small game like rabbits. They only pursue cattle when desperately hungry.” He looks at Sam, “The steer didn’t wander into the mud and attract the coyotes. The coyotes drove him into the mud.” He applies a pine tar poultice on the wound.
 
When he’s done, Tom signals and his mount, Punkin, eases up the rope tension, allowing the steer to put his leg down.
 
Sam, “Do we need to cull the coyotes so the remainder have enough food?”
 
He nods his head and sighs, “Yeah, it’s the right thing to do.”
 
16th MARINE COMBINED ARMS REGIMENT, BACON, LUZON, PI
 
0200, 27 February, 1944
 
John Hunt, on radio, “Lift the barrage. Eighth, general advance at a walk. Raiders, halt your advance. Tell your boys to dig in Mano.” Bacon is just west of the Bacon Hills on the Albay Gulf.
 
Mano Alvesa, on radio, “We are dug in solid and ready, my Colonel. We have made contact with the local mayor, sir. He is being helpful.”
 
“Good, Mano. Good.”
 
“1606, 106. We have the Japs in a pocket. They tried to run north like you thought.”
 
Hunt, “Good. They want to join the others in the Bacon Hills. Dig in and hold. The Japs will come to you. Sixteenth Arty, drop on direction from 106.”
 
“Arty sixteen, wilco.”
 
A Navy Sea Bee lieutenant commander walks up to his track, “Are we cleared into Bacon, Colonel?”
 
Hunt, “You are, but there might be snipers.”
 
LCDR Albert Pascal, “Roger that, sir. Do you want the port temporary or permanent, sir?”
 
“If we give them a permanent dock, that will make the locals happy. My daughter taught me the rule of three. Temporary or permanent, I need it good and fast. Do you understand?”
 
“I do, Colonel. That’s language I understand.”
 
“Carry on, Commander.”
 
BAR B BAR RANCH
 
1528, 27 February, 1944
 
Selina Buford sits down next to Sam on the couch holding a large photo album. She opens it, looking at Sam. “This is Jeremiah on his first horse. Her name was Misty. Jeremiah’s about five here.”
 
“He’s a cute kid.”
 
“Do you have any pictures of you as a child?”
 
Sam, “I gave some to my family. I lost most of my stuff on my destroyer.”
 
“I hope you’re done with all that fighting, Samantha. You need to settle down and leave the fighting to the men.”
 
“The war’s not over, Selina.”
 
Selina, “Well, yes, but surely, it’s over for you. We all know Jeremiah wouldn’t want you going back into combat.”
 
Sam shakes her head, “Please, excuse me.” She heads for the coat closet.
 
Selina raises her voice with a satisfied smile, “You know I’m right. Really, I don’t understand how you could even consider going back to the service. It’s all unnecessary. If you’d have stayed home, we might have some grandchildren to remember him by.”
 
Ruth walks in with more coffee, “Mom?”
 
Sam puts on her jacket, keeping a tight rein on her emotions, “I’ll just take a walk.”
 
Ruth, “Mom, you’re awful. That was a terrible thing to say.”
 
“It was the truth, darling. Because she has decided to be this…this, war hero, she’s denied us grandchildren.” She sniffs, tears in her eyes, “If…if only she could be a proper wife and lady.”
 
“Mom…mom, you’re being selfish. She lost Jere, too!”
 
Selina looks up at her daughter, shocked, “What did you say? How dare you! You listen to me, young lady.”
 
“NO! You listen to me. My brother loved an…an amazing, loving, caring, kind, strong, powerful, woman and you’re treating her like she’s a bad person. You should be ashamed of yourself. I’m ashamed for our whole family.”
 
“She’s just going to get herself killed. There’s no reason why we should make such a big deal of her. Really, Ruth. Watch your tongue.”
 
“Go to hell, Mom.”
 
STABLE, BAR B BAR
 
Sam saddles up Ash, “I know it’s cold darling, but I need out of here.” She wipes away tears as she walks Ash out the door and through the gate. She mounts and turns Ash toward the hills. The sky is overcast and the temperature just below freezing. She gives Ash her head and they climb higher into the hills.
 
After a time, she finds herself in a valley with a stream crashing over rocks on its way to the Bitterroot River in a winter scape of rugged, snow-covered hills. Sam looks up into the grey sky, “She’s right. If I had stopped, I could have had children. Why must I be this hard ass fucking warrior? Why? Why is this my path?” Tears chill on her cheeks.
 
Ruth walks out onto the packed snow in the yard and looks around her, “Where did she go?” She does a slow 360, “Dad is riding fence and grandma and grandpa had to go into town. Where would she go? Where would I go?” She walks into the stable, “Ash’s gone. Yep, she’s riding. She’s out there, probably with no water or supplies. I got to fix this.” She saddles up Moose, a Morgan-Percheron mix, then walks back into the house. Back in the kitchen, she quickly puts together a bag of food, fills four canteens, and a thermos of coffee. She grabs a frying pan, small camp coffee pot, and other camping supplies. She loads her saddle bags and heads back out.
 
Selina walks out on the porch and watches Ruth load her saddle bags and tie them in place. “Where are you going, Ruth?”
 
“After what you said, Sam took Ash for a ride and it’s looking like snow.” She mounts up.
 
“Ruth, get yourself back in this house. I’ll not have you dying out there chasing out after that woman.”
 
“Mom, that woman is my sister and you’re the one who upset her and started this whole mess.”
 
“But,…you don’t’ understand.”
 
“I understand plenty. I’ll find her and come back. Mom, you owe her an apology.” Ruth taps the flanks of her horse and walks it out of the yard. She takes it slow, looking for Ash’s tracks.
 
GOLD CREEK NEAR WILLOW MOUNTAIN, BITTERROOT NATIONAL FOREST
 
Sam is still deep in thought heading south along Gold Creek. She reins in Ash when a snow flake touches her cheek, “Oh, shit, Ash. What did I get us into?” Looking around, she realizes she’s in a small canyon cut by a creek. On either side are tall slopes of loose rock and trees. What way is north?” She looks at her watch, then at the sky, “I’m heading mostly south. That means the ranch is to my left and probably north.”
 
She turns Ash, following her tracks north. “I let my fucking emotions control my fucking judgement. I’m sorry Ash. I’m sorry.” Ash tosses her head, shaking the snow out of her mane.
 
OVERLOOK EAST OF BAR B BAR
 
Ruth stops Moose. Now, five hundred feet above the ranch, she studies the trail. “Okay, she’s going toward Gold Creek. Moose, we best make time before we lose her trail in the snow.” At a fast walk, they continue down the trail.
 
An hour later, she gets to Gold Creek. She dismounts. Heavy snowfall is beginning to cover the trail. Studying Sam’s tracks, she sighs, “She went south.” A sigh, “Damn. There’s a service road just a mile and half north of here. South it is.” She wipes off her saddle, mounts, and rides on.
 
GOLD CREEK
 
“How are you doing, girl?” Sam dismounts and leads Ash through the snow. As the temperature falls, the big flakes fall faster. Ash tosses her head and Sam pats her neck, “I know. I know. I could be riding you, but I need to move if I’m going to stay warm.”
 
She continues at a walk through now three inches of new snow, “I know I turned right when I came into this valley, but I can’t see my tracks.”
 
Grandpa Jeremiah walks into the back porch and stamps his feet, “Matt, we’d be fools to go riding out after them. It’ll be dark soon and no way will we see any tracks.”
 
“I know, Dad. It just doesn’t seem like Samantha to just ride out like that. She has a level head.”
 
Selina, “She’s a fool, Matthew. A fool who won’t listen to sound advice.”
 
Matthew Buford, “Selina, why did Samantha ride out into a snow storm, and why did Ruth go riding after her?”
 
Selina, “It wasn’t snowing then.”
 
Matt, “What happened? I see you brought the pictures out. Was it a photo that upset her?”
 
“No.” Selina looks away, “I…I told her she should have given us grandchildren rather than being a warrior queen.”
 
Matt shakes his head. “And then she left?”
 
“I suppose.”
 
Sara, “Can I see you in the kitchen, Selina?” She walks back in the kitchen and goes to the stove, stirring the stew. “What’s wrong with you?”
 
“My son is dead. How can you ask that question?”
 
“Do you think for even a second that Samantha doesn’t love him?”
 
Selina, “Then why? Any man could do what she does. Why not make Jeremiah a home? Why not give him children?”
 
“No one can do what she does. What will the world think of us, what will the world think of you, should she die out there tonight?”
 
“If she dies, it’s because she made foolish choices. Why would we be judged?”
 
“Because, she’s our guest. This isn’t her country. See beyond your grief, Selina.”
 
“I…I can’t.”
 
“Then you’re useless, Selina. All that you have left is a ball of rage and pain. Instead of accepting the hand offered in love, you slapped it away. I pity you, Selina.”
 
GOLD CREEK
 
Sam finds a sheltered clearing. Using a fallen branch, she clears the snow from under the trees. She finds twigs, branches, and, miracle of miracles, an old bird’s nest. She places stones in a circle and prepares a fire. She snaps a few larger branches into shorter pieces and makes a criss-cross base. Then, she lays on the twigs, and tiny pieces. She breaks off a piece of birds nest and sets it in the middle of the pile, under the twigs.
 
Ash nudges her.
 
“Darling, we need to warm up. I’m getting foggy, that means hypothermia.”
 
She strikes a match. It flares and goes out. “This is the only time in my life that it would benefit me to be a smoker.” She strikes a second, cupping it in her hands, and it stays lit. Carefully, she lowers it to the nest materials. It catches fire, flaring a bit, and sets the twigs on fire. She waits until she’s sure it’s well and truly caught, then slowly adds more twigs, then a few larger branches.
 
“Okay, SERE lessons. Two numbers. 98.6 and three. Warm up a bit. I need to warm water for Ash. Well, for me, too. I need a container. My hat’s all I have.” She scoops clean snow into her hat and sets it on a rock near, but not in, the fire. “Okay, I can last three weeks without food, three days without water, three hours without shelter, three minutes without air and three seconds without hope. When we’ve warmed up some, I’ll get more fuel and get started on a lean-to.
 
As the light fades, she’s managed to place a cross bar between two trees and place several green branches against the bar, creating a back wall for her shelter. She ties them in place with piggin strings and weaves pine needle laden branches between the vertical ones. She’s using the living branches of the trees where she can, making a lean-to big enough for her and Ash, with some room to spare. “Good thing I have my rope and strings.” Then she cuts smaller evergreen branches and weaves them in, creating a wind break.
 
She puts Ash inside the lean-to and stacks dead-fall branches for the fire. “God, I’m cold.” Shivering, she doggedly stacks the wood. Barely able to feel her hands, she drops a branch. “Damn. More wood on the fire. Yes.” Her teeth start chattering. “Not, no…” Sam continues to build the fire and huddles close, finally feeling some warmth creeping into her body. “I could just let go, right now. I’d be with Jere. God, I miss him.” She feels the tears well up and stops fighting them. Ash puts her head on Sam’s shoulder and blows in her ear.
 
“I love you, Ash. Thank you. Damn. I just miss him so much. It’s so hard to keep on.”
 
Ash’s head comes up and she look down the trail and whinnies. Sam startles and looks up. She sees a dim form coming toward them out of the snow. For a minute she thinks…then hears, “I’m okay, honey. Keep going.”
 
The form resolves to a person riding a huge horse. Ruth, “Hello the camp.”
 
Sam shakes her head, “What? Oh. Come on in, Ruth. I’m sorry.”
 
Ruth slides down and ground hitches Moose, “Not your fault, Sis.” She finds some rocks and stacks them by the fire to make a reflector.
 
Sam, “Good idea. I’m warming water for the horses, but I don’t have any food.”
 
“Your hat? That’s practical.” Ruth checks the temperature, adds a little snow, checks again, then brings the hat to Ash, “Here you go, girl.” She pulls her bags off Moose and fills the coffee pot with water. She strips the tack off both horses, arranging it in the lean-to. “It’s a good shelter. We need a bed of bows.” She takes the thermos of coffee out of a bag, “Here, this will warm you.” She grins. “What a mess.”
 
“I have a pile for a bed. Is there room for both horses?” She takes the thermos and pours a cup of the hot liquid. She takes a long sip. “Yes, thank you.” She closes her eyes and takes a deep breath, then another sip. She hands the cup to Ruth and turns back to weaving fresh evergreen boughs into the back wall of the shelter in the flickering firelight.
 
“Yeah. It’ll be cozy, but we’ll be warm.” Ruth pours the now hot water into Samantha’s hat, cools it with snow, and gives it to Moose. “I can make some warm mash for our good girls.”
 
Sam hauls more boughs around the shelter, “Thank you, Ruth. Thank you.”
 
Ruth sets up a tripod over the fire with a camp pot, “No problem, Sam.” She stands and hugs Sam, “I hope you understand that you are my sister, now. My forever sister.”
 
“Really?”
 
Ruth meets her gaze, “Do you think I would go riding out into a snow storm for someone I didn’t love?”
 
“But, your mom…”
 
“My mom is an idiot, Sam. She’s like a cougar with a sore paw. In her grief, she’s lashing out at you. Hell, she’s been lashing out at all of us. When we get back, she’ll be blubbering about how sorry she is.” She takes the pot off the fire and pours the mash in. A stir then she checks the temperature. She splits the mash into two feed bags and hangs them on the horses.
 
“Ruth, how do you know that?”
 
Ruth smiles, “I’ve dealt with her my entire life, sis. Sometimes she pisses my dad off so much I think he’s going to divorce her, but then she always apologizes and walks it back. She drives grandma crazy.” She uses snow to clean out the pot and adds more snow and puts it back on the tripod.
 
“Why are they still together?”
 
“She takes good care of the house, doesn’t ever hit anyone, and, well, I don’t know.” She shaves slices of dried meat into the heating water, then pulls out potatoes.
 
Sam, “I can do the potatoes.” She washes them with snow, then uses her knife to cut them up, so each slice falls into the pot.
 
Ruth peels then quarters an onion, then adds barley, salt and pepper. She stirs the stew and adds more branches to the fire, “Can you tell me about meeting my brother?”
 
“Sure. It was in England. His team was there for a mission I can’t talk about. I was completely oblivious. To me, he was another good-looking sailor I had to manage. He admitted to me, he was, well, in love from the moment we met. I generally don’t believe in love at first sight. Later, when a sniper tried to shoot me, he…well he pulled me to the ground and took a bullet in his vest protecting me.”
 
“Did you know then?”
 
“No. I was still oblivious. Sometime later, when he returned from the mission, he told me he loved me. He wouldn’t let me avoid it.”
 
“What did he do?” Ruth stirs the stew as it comes to a boil, trying to keep her tears out of the pot.
 
Sam struggles to speak through her own tears, “He wouldn’t accept no. He…he burrowed through my defenses, right to the core of who I am.” She makes eye contact with Ruth, “He understood me like no one ever had. When we went on our first date, my whole command conspired to give me a night out. Mostly, mostly, Ruth, he understood me.”
 
Ruth digs in a bag and brings out bread and a chunk of cheese. “This will keep us going until the stew is ready.” She breaks the bread into pieces and cuts the cheese with her hunting knife. “That sounds so much like my brother. Did he tell you he never had a girlfriend in college or even high school?”
 
“Thank you. Never has bread and cheese tasted so good. No, he didn’t talk much about his childhood.”
 
“He called them all mindless ticks. He told me, ‘Ruth, don’t you ever be like the mindless ticks, sucking the blood off some man.’ He said, ‘No matter how much you like each other, he will never respect you.’ He wanted me to find my own way and find a guy to walk beside me. That was Jere.”
 
“Have you found that guy?”
 
“No. Not in little Missoula, Montana. Do you know someone?”
 
“I don’t know, Ruth. I’m terrible at match making. What are doing after high school?”
 
“I’ve been accepted at Vassar in New York.”
 
“What do you want to major in?”
 
“Letters. I want to be a writer and historian.”
 
“Ruth, without Jere, who will inherit the ranch?”
 
“I will, Sam. Women have always been able to own property in Montana. As long as Grandpa lives, he owns it. When he and grandma die, dad will own it. My uncles and cousins will always be allowed to live here as long as they help work the ranch.”
 
“Can I ask why your uncles have no claim?”
 
“It was all set up by great grandpa Jasper Buford. The ranch can grow, but never be divided for an inheritance. It always goes to the oldest child just like those old European estates. If something happens to me before I have kids, it will go to my Uncle Paul, then down through my cousins. To sell any portion of land, all adults in the family must agree.”
 
“That sounds really smart.”
 
“Yeah. Grandpa Jasper was a smart man. His dad, Missouri Beau Buford, fought in the war between the states. We’re told he was a cavalryman in Missouri.”
 
Sam, “That whole thing was a mess.”
 
“Yeah, like a lot of people, after the war, he went west. He had a few farms and a business, but ended up here.”
 
“So, he wasn’t a gunfighter?”
 
“I doubt it. Just a farmer turned rancher.”
 
“Why was he Missouri Beau?”
 
“We don’t know. Just, grandpa says that’s what he was called. Are you warm, now?”
 
“Yeah. Warm enough.”
 
“Okay, the stew is ready.” She dishes it up.
 




CHAPTER 8

CIC, USS CARL VINSON, 500 MILES NE OF SINGAPORE
 
1130, 28 February, 1944
 
Captain Houlihan sits in her chair studying the maps. A phone talker, “The Alpha strike on Singapore is formed up and southbound.”
 
Houlihan, “Okay.” To herself, “We’ve fucked up their oil fields. We’ve destroyed their air fields. We sank all the shipping we could find. Still no response from the Japanese.” She looks at the map, “They have to know how we got in here. We have to assume they know how we must leave. I would group submarines for a mass missile attack. We only have six Vikings up.” She picks up a sound powered phone, “PRIFLY, CAG. Launch all available Vikings with ASW loadouts.”
 
“Yes, ma’am. We got sixteen supporting the Alpha.”
 
“I know. Launch everything else.” She changes phones, “Signals, CAG. By blinker, order the other carriers to launch maximum ASW defenses. Order our cruisers ready for missile defense.”
 
“Yes, ma’am.”
 
The TAO, CDR Oscar, “Ma’am, what do you see?”
 
Houlihan, “It’s not what I see. It’s what I don’t. They now know we’re out here. We’ve given them time to respond and they haven’t.”
 
Admiral Halsey walks in, “Report.”
 
Houlihan, “I’m preparing for a sub launched missile attack, sir.”
 
TAO, “They tried to attack us by aircraft, ma’am.”
 
Houlihan, “I know that. All they have left are submarines. Four carriers, all working together, is far too tempting a target. At an SOA of ten knots, they, could have a dozen or more submarines out there.”
 
“We’re searching, ma’am.”
 
“Yep, in predictable patterns.”
 
Halsey nods, “A good call. Let’s go over the map.”
 
They hear on radio, “Eagle, Sea Fisher 276. We have a positive MAD hit one hundred miles north of the fleet. It’s single screw. Please confirm hostile.”
 
Houlihan, “Weapons tight, Sea Fisher. The San Francisco is out there.”
 
CONTROL, USS SAN FRANCISCO SSN-711, 100 MILES NORTH OF THE FLEET
 
“Captain in Control.”
 
CDR Greg Backes walks in, “What do you have?”
 
Lt. William Harvey, “We have a submerged contact on the continental shelf.”
 
ST1(SS) Gilbert Gordon, “Conn, Sonar. Second submerged contact at 210, designate Sierra 2. She’s twin screw and low speed. Her diesels just started.
 
Backes nods, “Get us to periscope depth.”
 
Harvey, “Yes, sir.” He issues the orders and the deck tilts up.
 
Gordon, “Third submerged contact at 218. Designate Sierra 3. They sound like those missile boats escorted by attack boats. Fourth contact. It’s like they were trolling on battery and are now snorkeling together.”
 
Backes, “Very well. Cutting.” He walks to his small cabin.
 
LCDR Craig Cutting, the XO, “A wolf pack?”
 
“I would. We have four carriers in a relatively small bath tub. How would you handle it?”
 
“We have ASROC’s now. I would report in, then hammer them.”
 
Backes, “Agreed. We need to deconflict with the ASW aircraft they have up.”
 
“They know the fleet is going to steam through the gap between Formosa and PI. That’s about two hundred miles wide. That’s where I would set up an attack.”
 
“Maybe they’re impatient. Lord knows we’ve pissed them off.” They feel the submarine tilt as they circle before finishing the climb to periscope depth.
 
ARMY HEADQUARTERS, TOKYO
 
1219, 28 February, 1944
 
Tojo, “This is why we must hold the Philippines. Your Navy failed us, now our oil fields burn.”
 
Yamamoto, “Sir, the tide has turned. They grow more powerful, while our construction slows. I have a picket line of submarines to engage the carriers. With luck, we will sink one or two.
 
“With luck? We have had no luck against the Americans. They deploy women and still we are defeated. What is your answer to their numeric superiority?”
 
We have ten of the air independent German designs being built. Four of them are missile boats.”
 
“And our carriers?”
 
“We launched Unryu and Amagi. They will be ready this fall. That will give us three large carriers and two smaller carriers. The twelve missile cruisers will be a strong defense. Like the Americans, we’ve installed anti-ship and anti-air missiles on our destroyers.”
 
Tojo, “We know the Americans are building carriers as well. How many will they have by fall?”
 
“Likely six to eight. We will be outnumbered. My staff and I are making plans to divide the Americans so we can destroy their carriers in series.”
 
“We must use our carriers to defend Formosa and Okinawa. They will land there next.”
 
“Prime Minister, they mass their carriers for landings. We need to separate them, so we outnumber them in the battle. Only then can we be victorious.”
 
“If you succeed in this, what will you do after?”
 
Yamamoto, “I will search down the remaining carriers and we will reverse the dynamic. We will raid the Philippines, Hawaii, Wake, Sydney. I may even attack the American Pacific coast. As I act the pirate, I will need you to negotiate a quick settlement to end the conflict before they replace their losses.”
 
“Yes, and we will be negotiating from strength. I know we can negotiate separately with the Russians. They negotiated separately with Germany and they have been helpful to us. Should we divide our enemies, all the better. Admiral, prepare and bring this plan to me.”
 
AMERIKA BOMBER, 85,000 FEET, 525 MILES NORTH OF CARL VINSON
 
1304, 28 February, 1944
 
Lieutenant Higashi, “Radar coming back up. I have the American ship formation to our south. It’s over fifty ships, sir.”
 
Lieutenant Colonel Inaba, “Good. Our timing is excellent. Thank you, navigator. What do you see of combat aircraft?”
 
“Four have turned toward us. It’s time to leave, sir.”
 
“Very good. Transmit our data to the submarines.”
 
“Yes, sir.” The colonel smoothly turns back to the north east.
 
BLACK-1, 38,000 FEET, 300 MILES SOUTH OF THE AMERIKA BOMBER
 
LCOL Greg ‘Pappy’ Boyington, “Okay, at most economical, we’ll be under it in about an hour. We’ll need refueling.”
 
His RIO, LT Joe ‘Jolly’ Fellows, “Yes, sir. It’s turning to 010. We can cut the corner a little at 353.”
 
Boyington wiggles his wings to warn the other pilots, then comes to the new course.
 
COMBAT, USS CARL VINSON, 300 MILES WEST OF BRUNEI
 
Halsey, “What’s the range of a Phoenix missile against one of those Heinkel’s?”
 
Houlihan, “About twenty-five miles, sir.”
 
“Good, set the refueling birds in train and let’s splash this fucker.”
 
Houlihan smiles, “Yes, sir.”
 
Halsey, quietly, “It was a ballsy thing, pulling yourself out of combat.”
 
“It was the right thing. I can’t ever forget that I’m setting the example.”
 
“True. We all are. We know we face a gauntlet of subs while we head north. What do you think about running the task force through the San Bernadino Strait?”
 
Houlihan, “The whole task force, sir?”
 
“Yep. We won’t be able to maintain formations, but we can organize a defense. We have the air fields at Legazpi, Bicol, Tacloban, and Guiuan. We fly off all our fighters and use the fields to cover us until we’re in the Philippine Sea.”
 
“Yes, sir. That’s a damn fine idea. I’ll put together the logistics. I should fly ahead and set this up.”
 
“I agree. Take your bird and fly into Legazpi. Vandegrift is gone and the new commander is General Smith. When your units are on the ground, make them available to support the advance. It’s only right.”
 
“Yes, sir. Should I arrive by COD?”
 
“Fuck no. I agree with you handling combat from here, but in the air, I want you to have teeth.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
BLACK-1, 50,000 FEET, APPROACHING THE AMERIKA BOMBER
 
Jolly, “Twenty miles. Well within range.”
 
Pappy, “Good. One Phoenix to see what defenses they have.”
 
Jolly, on radio, “Fox-3.” On intercom, “I have good lock. Okay, they’re jamming. Shifting to optical guidance.”
 
Pappy, “I’ll keep us steady.”
 
“Sorry, Pappy. I missed.”
 
“It’s not an easy shot. I’ll circle back. We got enough fuel for one more shot at this. Next go, we shoot the load.”
 
AMERIKA BOMBER, 85,000 FEET, 650 MILES NORTH OF CARL VINSON
 
Lieutenant Colonel Inaba, “We jam and fly north. The jammer will protect us.”
 
Lieutenant Higashi, “Yes, sir. They’re circling around.”
 
Inaba, “They will take one more shot, then leave. We go once more into the breach.”
 
“The breach, sir?”
 
“It’s from Shakespeare’s Henry the Fifth, Higashi. As an officer, you need to read.”
 
“But the English are our enemies.”
 
“Yes. It’s best to know your enemy.”
 
“They’re firing again. This time, they fire all their missiles.”
 
BLACK-1
 
Jolly, “Guiding optically. The missiles are updating. Good kill!” Two missiles hit, the first in the right engine. The second explodes where the wing spar crosses the fuselage. Both wings fold and the large aircraft falls like a leaf on the wind.
 
CONTROL, USS SAN FRANCISCO, 120 MILES NORTH OF THE FLEET
 
CDR Greg Backes, “Fire one and two.”
 
The submarine shudders. “One fired. Two fired, sir.” The Anti-submarine rockets are launched inside a canister. They’re balanced and weighted to shoot up to the surface. Once the canister broaches the surface, the rocket fires. Gyro’s keep it on target as it arcs through the air.
 
“Slug tanks refilled.”
 
CDR Backes, “Fire three and four.”
 
“Three fired. Four fired.”
 
LCDR Craig Cutting, the XO, “We’ll have to fight our way out of here.”
 
Greg just nods.
 
COMBAT, USS CARL VINSON, 300 MILES WEST OF BRUNEI
 
Radioman, “Sir, San Francisco is firing ASROCs at Sierra one through four.”
 
Halsey, “Good. Very good.” He turns to Houlihan, “Your thoughts, please. Do we send the San Francisco around or through the straits?”
 
Captain Gloria ‘Hot Pants’ Houlihan, “With us, sir. If we send him around, he would have to transit too fast to be effective at hunting.”
 
“I agree.”
 
SIXTEENTH MARINE COMBINED ARMS REGIMENT, SORSOGON CITY, LUZON
 
1519, 29 February, 1944
 
Colonel John Hunt sits at a desk in his headquarters building. Ederly Shemenski knocks and opens the door, “Colonel, sir, a brigadier general is here to see you.”
 
“Thank you, Mrs. Shemenski. Send him in.”
 
Brigadier General Alfred H. Noble walks in and offers a hand, “Good to see you, Hunt.”
 
Hunt stand and shakes his hand, “And you, sir.” Ederly Shemenski brings in a coffee service and pours for both men.
 
“I come with orders. You’ve secured south Luzon. The Bacon Hills are pretty much mopped up. We want to move your regiment north to support the push into Manila.”
 
Hunt, “Roger that. Will I keep my units together?”
 
“That’s the plan. Right now, we’re about seventy miles south-east of Manila. The Japs are putting up a fierce resistance around Mount Banahaw. We want to use your unit in a flanking landing. We were thinking about a landing at Batangas directly south of Manila.”
 
“Sir, all my supplies would have to come through San Bernadino for a landing there. How about I land at Infanta on Lemon Bay. That puts my resupply on the same side of the island.”
 
“That’s about fifty miles from the front.”
 
“Yes, sir. That’s only an hour by LCAC. It’s sheltered by Polillo Island. I’d rather not put my tanks in an urban environment. Batangas is a pretty big town.”
 
“Infanta is surrounded by some pretty rugged country. Could you push through there with just a Regiment?”
 
“Sir, I thought the point was to relieve the front? I was thinking I’d secure the flat area and raid the hills to begin with. The Japs would have to send units from the front to deal with us. Besides, if that spot is undermanned by the Japanese, we can use helos supported with artillery and A-10s to secure hill tops and force the Japanese back.”
 
“Let’s compromise and land you at Mauban. That’s only a few miles from the front. It will directly support us and not stick you out there all alone.”
 
“That works, sir. These rivers look navigable by LCAC for quite a distance.”
 
“I see. Well, come up with your plan and get your people ready to move.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
TRAIN STATION, MISSOULA, MONTANA
 
1413, 29 February, 1944
 
Sam hugs each of the Buford’s. She holds Ruth in a tight hug, “Love you, sister.”
 
“Love you, too.” The train slows to a stop. “Be careful out there. There’s a lot more of Montana I want to show you.”
 
“I will.” Sam turns back to Sara, Jeremiah, Selina, and Matthew, “Thank you for everything.”
 
Sara, “After the war, you come back for Ash. She’s yours, darling.”
 
“Thank you, I will.” She carries her sea bag and garment bag onto the train.
 
BRIDGE, USS CONWAY DDG-122, SAN BERNADINO STRAIT, PI
 
1012, 1 March, 1944
 
Captain Arleigh ’31-Knot’ Burke, commander of the Little Beavers, DESRON-23, on board the Conway, the first ship of the task force through San Bernadino Strait, points at a grounded destroyer on the shore, “There’s the Dwayne Hubler. What’s left of her.”
 
CDR Guttenberg, CO of Conway, “Yes, sir, and over there is the tops of the Yamato.”
 
Burke, “Can we man the rails and salute the Hubler as we steam by?”
 
“Yes sir.” Guttenberg steps inside and puts out the order. The order also goes out by blinker. As each of the nine ships in the squadron steam by the wreck of the Hubler, the crews man the rails and render a hand salute.
 
BRIDGE, USS ALASKA, CCG-1, FOLLOWING DESRON-23
 
The OOD, “Sir, a blinker signal passed back from DESRON-23. He wants all his ships to render honors to the Hubler as we pass.”
 
Captain Shawn Hughes, “Absolutely. We should do it, too. Pass it back.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
BRIDGE, USS CARL VINSON, APPROACHING SAN BERNADINO STRAIT
 
Captain Johnson, “OOD, as we pass the Hubler, render honors.”
 
“Sir, is it still in commission?”
 
“That ship led the attack that destroyed a battleship group. Honors, please.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
SET OF MOVIE, ‘COVER GIRL’, HOLLYWOOD, CA
 
1300, 1 March, 1944
 
Gene Kelly walks up to CDR Oscar Hammond and looks over his ribbon rack. Kelly, “How did you meet my leading lady?”
 
Oscar’s eyes are on Rita as she goes over a scene, “On Captain Hunt’s bond tour.”
 
“You know Captain Hunt? Really?”
 
Hammond looks at him, “Mr. Kelly, Captain Hunt has personally saved my life a number of times. I’ve served with her at most of her assignments since we came back in time.” Hammond’s gaze drills into Kelly’s eyes, “I’ll not have my word questioned.”
 
Shaken, Kelly nods, “That wasn’t my intention.”
 
Hammond smiles, “Yes it was. I don’t blame you at all. There’re probably millions of pretenders who try to use her name to get ahead. I was in the Royal Black Knights in England, and I was her XO on the Hubler.”
 
Gene Kelly swallows, “Are you okay with me being your girl’s love interest in this film, Commander?”
 
Hammond smiles, “This is her job. If you think about what actors do, it’s a damn strange job, but it’s what she does. I accept that just as much as she has had to accept that I, all too often, serve in combat.”
 
“But you’re a naval officer. It’s not like soldiers who shoot the enemy.”
 
Hammond looks away, “I was with Hunt in PI, Mister Kelly”
 
Again, Kelly swallows, “I see.”
 
“Do you, now? I wonder if there will ever be even one movie that captures both the terror of combat and the sheer boredom.”
 
“Boredom?”
 
“Yep. Doing routine, boring things while waiting for the balloon to go up. It’s ninety five percent boredom and five percent utter terror. That sort of thing doesn’t lend itself to good story telling.”
 
Rita joins them, “Are we all getting along?”
 
Gene, “Your boyfriend hasn’t killed me yet. I take that as a positive sign.” Hammond laughs and shakes his head.
 
“My fiancé, Gene.” Rita wraps her arms around Oscar. They hold each other and silently gaze into each other’s eyes.
 
Oscar, “I shouldn’t mess your makeup.”
 
Rita smiles, “Thank you, my love.” Quietly, “Are you okay watching?”
 
“Sure, my love. This is your world. Here, you’re a power, a larger-than-life person. I love that you have that. It’s a good balance for us.”
 
She nods, “It is. You know, most of movie making is waiting around.”
 
He grins, “The same is true in combat.”
 
Gene, “Will I get an invite?”
 
Oscar, “It’s in your office right now.”
 
Gene, “Did you invite Captain Hunt?”
 
Oscar, “I did. She politely declined.”
 
Gene, “Why?”
 
Rita shakes her head, “She doesn’t want to overshadow the bride, Gene. She’s thoughtful like that.”
 
An AD approaches, “Mister Kelly, Miss Hayworth, you’re needed on set. You too, Commander.”
 
“Me?”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
Oscar follows them onto the set. The director, Charles Vidor looks up, “Commander, I want you to be an extra. Your uniform is fine, in fact, it’s perfect.”
 
Oscar, “I’ve never done anything like this, but, okay.”
 
COVERED SLIPWAY, NEPTUNE SHIPYARD, ROSTOCK, GERMANY 
 
0819, 2 March, 1944
 
Hitler climbs out one of the hatches and looks over the new submarine, “Will it actually submerge with two hulls?”
 
Admiral Doenitz, “As you know, Herr Fuhrer, the Japanese already have many of these submarines, but of a somewhat different design. We need to test these, of course, but it will submerge and will operate. We expect the range to be near that planned.”
 
“These missile launchers down the center between the hulls. Will the exhaust damage the hull?”
 
“They shouldn’t. The missiles will float to the surface in a canister. We’ve been firing missiles underwater this way for some time. These are much larger, but we have confidence that it will work. Mien Fuhrer, when the rocket fires, the submarine will be protected by the water above it.”
 
Hitler, “Yes. Yes, but then the water will fill the missile launcher and sink the submarine.”
 
“Not at all, sir. The missiles are quite heavy. The water in the tube will weigh somewhat more, but the difference isn’t too large.”
 
“Good. Good. You will use these to destroy the Americans. We force them into a defensive war, and they will have no energy for the attack.”
 
Doenitz, “How accurate are the missiles, sir?”
 
“They will be accurate enough. They need only hit a city.”
 
“Don’t we want these to damage their war infrastructure, their industry?”
 
“That, Admiral, is my concern, not yours. Thank you.”
 
Doenitz salutes, “Heil Hitler.”
 




CHAPTER 9

NAVAL AIR STATION, CAPE CANAVERAL, FL
 
0922, 2 March, 1944
 
FADM Craig Klindt and Commodore Scott Richardson walk through the assembly building. The shell is complete, and the interior nearly finished. Outside, a crew is testing a rocket transporter. Klindt, “You’re making good progress. Your layout is well thought out and I see it includes room to grow.”
 
“Thank you, sir. Captain Severn is coming down soon to look it over as well. Right now, she’s working on the SM-6 and Tomahawk programs.”
 
Klindt, “I know. We need the SM-6 for its anti-ballistic missile ability. Our intel puts Germany ahead of us in rocketry. They already have a solid fuel V-2.”
 
“How do we know it’s solid fuel?”
 
“You and I aren’t supposed to know the how. Just know that Von Braun is a rocket genius. That’s why the SM-6 is priority one.”
 
Richardson, “Will it be able to take down their high-altitude bombers?”
 
Kindt smiles, “The Amerika Bomber is a much easier target.”
 
“What are you going to use for a test target for the Six, sir?”
 
Klindt levels a long look at him, “We need a ballistic missile to shoot at. When will you be ready to test a missile?”
 
“I have North American finishing the first stage and Chrysler building the second. It will be Hydro-lox.”
 
“Not solid fuel?”
 
Richardson, “No sir. Liquid fuel lets us transport a shell. Much safer. I have the LOX and liquid hydrogen plants finishing assembly. It will be a couple weeks before they’re on line. By then, I should have my first rockets for testing. The testing program will take time, sir.”
 
“Time is our most precious commodity. When’s the soonest you think you can have a successful test?”
 
“Three weeks, maybe a month, sir. Is Denton working on the satellite?”
 
Klindt, “He is. What he has right now is too big and without sufficient resolution. We’re working on it.”
 
“How’s Sam?”
 
“I don’t know. She should be arriving in Tennessee today.”
 
Richardson, “I know I have deadlines, Craig, but I’d like to visit her.”
 
“Go. You have a good bunch here and they can handle you being gone for a week. Scott, she wanted to be an astronaut. She might want to come down and give you a hand.”
 
Scott smiles and meets Craig’s gaze, “Thank you, Craig.”
 
“After your visit, please let me know how she’s doing, okay?”
 
“Am I allowed to ride a horse?” He grins, “If I can’t ride one of her horses, I’ll never know how she’s doing.”
 
Craig nods his head, “Just don’t fall off.”
 
“Roger.”
 
HUNT FARM, OUTSIDE STONE MOUNTAIN TENNESSEE
 
1133, 2 March, 1944
 
A taxi pulls into the driveway and an exhausted Captain Samantha Hunt climbs out of it. Margaret Hunt walks out onto her front porch, drying her hands. She runs down the steps to her granddaughter, “Samantha!” She wraps her up in a hug, “How are you, honey?”
 
“Tired, Grandma.” She pays the driver, picks up her bags, and they walk into the house.
 
“You look like an overtightened wire fence. Sit yourself down and we’ll get some food into you.”
 
“I’m…”
 
“Just sit, honey. Here’s a cup of coffee. You’re home now.”
 
Fukue quickly puts hot soup into a bowl and puts it in front of Sam.
 
“I…” She lowers her head into her hands and begins to bawl; great gut wrenching sobs.
 
Margaret helps her up and holding her, moves her to the living room couch. Fukue follows with a handkerchief. Sam curls forward, head on her knees, and struggles to stop crying.
 
Leigh and Asahi quietly walk in. Fukue goes back into the kitchen. Leigh walks over to his wife and granddaughter, “I love you, Samantha. We love you.” Sam, face wet, eyes red and swollen, looks up, tries to speak. She drops her head into her hands. He puts his hand on her shoulder, exchanges a meaningful look with his wife, then goes into the kitchen.
 
Fukue finishes preparing their lunch, “How could she stay okay until here, Leigh.”
 
He takes a breath, “She held it in. She kept it bottled up until she knew she was safe. Our Samantha is home, and now she can begin to grieve and begin to heal.”
 
Samuel David Hisakawa fusses in his bassinet. Fukue checks on him, then checks the bread in the oven. She pulls it out and sets it before the men. “He needs his lunch.” She sits at the table and pulls the bassinet to her, picks up the four-month-old baby and using a tea towel for modesty, nurses him.
 
Leigh stands, dishes up a bowl of soup, cuts a piece of bread and butters it and puts a slice of cheese next to it. He puts it in front of Fukue. “You need to eat, too.”
 
In the living room, Margaret asks, “Are you ready for lunch, darling?”
 
“I’m a mess.”
 
“That’s okay. I’ll show you to your room.” Margaret leads Sam into the new wing of the house. It was built on the back wall of the house. On the main floor there’s a large open library-sitting room. Beyond the library, there’s a hall with a door to the right and the new back door on the end. It has a separate stairway up. Margret leads her upstairs to a master suite.
 
“Margaret, this is nice.”
 
“It’s yours, honey. We made it for you.”
 
“All of it?”
 
“Well, we all like the library. There’s a small bedroom up her next to yours and an office for you down stairs.”
 
“Thank you.” She walks into her bathroom and washes her face.
 
HQ, 67TH ARMOR REGIMENT, 2ND ARMOR DIVISION, TRIPOLI
 
1800, 2 March, 1944
 
LCOL Steve Gains walks into Colonel Beaker’s office, “You wanted to see me, sir?”
 
Colonel Beaker, “I do. You’ve had your battalion for two weeks. What’s their status?”
 
“We’re sorting out the new M-11’s. Training is going well, sir.”
 
“What do you think of the new tracks?”
 
Gains, “I love them, sir. They’re well laid out. The 105 millimeter gun is fantastic. The mechanical layout is superb. Did you know we can brew coffee right in the track?”
 
“I do. How long until you’re ready to fight with it?”
 
“I’d like a couple months, maybe three.”
 
Beaker, “Good.”
 
“Do you know our next move, sir?”
 
“I don’t. My guess is Italy.”
 
Gains, “Works for me. I like Italian food.”
 
HUNT FARM, OUTSIDE STONE MOUNTAIN TENNESSEE
 
0810, 3 March, 1944
 
Wearing jeans, riding boots, a flannel shirt and a heavy coat, Sam walks into the barn, “How can I help, Grandpa?”
 
“Saddle up Coco. She needs some exercise.”
 
“You don’t need help mucking or something?”
 
“Nope. Asahi is finishing the milking right now. I’ve fed our four-footed friends. The horses still need exercising and training today.”
 
“Okay.” She walks into the stable, then walks back out, “Grandpa, when did we get draft horses?”
 
“We have gas restrictions. It’s easier to use a wagon for feeding and chores, so we bought four Percherons.”
 
“Are they saddle trained?”
 
“Nope. Asahi and I have discussed cross-breeding the mares with our hunters. We haven’t had the time to gentle them for the saddle.”
 
“Okay. When I ride Coco, I’ll take out one of the Percherons on a lead.”
 
“Sure. Their names are Lady, Missy, Star, and Rascal.”
 
“Why Rascal?”
 
“You’ll see.”
 
Sam goes to Coco, a chocolate brown hunter. “Hello Coco. Are you ready to ride?” The horse sniffs her. She carefully brushes her down, then saddles her. She walks to the large stall, with Coco on a trailing lead, where the Percherons are kept, “Which one of you is Rascal?” A horse in the back lifts his head. “Okay Rascal.” She walks to him with a lead rope. The gelding turns his head away, then walks forward, getting between Sam and the door. Sam catches his hackamore, “Hey, Rascal.”
 
Rascal tries to toss his head, but she holds him tight, attaching the lead. Rascal rolls his eyes.
 
“Don’t you get attitudinal with me. Come on.” She leads him out of the stall and mounts up on Coco. Rascal walks up alongside, causing a jam at the stable door. Sam smiles, “I want you behind us, Rascal.” She gets Coco through the door and stops. Rascal comes up alongside again. “Your used to working as a team, right? Okay. Let’s see if you pay attention.”
 
She signals Coco to step sideways. Rascal looks at her, then follows. Sam, “Okay, you’re paying attention.” She continues with the dressage moves and Rascal keeps up. Sam smiles, “You’re not a pain. You just need to be challenged. Okay Rascal, let’s ride.”
 
She rides the fields for about an hour. On her way back, she sees a government car pull into the driveway. “Hopefully, that’s for me.” Before she makes it to the house, Commodore Scott Richardson gets out of the car. “Hey, Scott.”
 
He puts his hands in his Ike jacket pockets, “Um, hi.” He grins.
 
Sam dismounts and pulls Scott into a hug, “Good to see you.”
 
He hugs her back, “Yeah, you, too. I’m so sorry about Jere.”
 
“Scott, I just managed to shut off the water works. Let’s leave them off for now.”
 
“Right.”
 
CONTROL, USS MAYPORT SS-237, KOREA STRAIT
 
2240, 3 March, 1944
 
LCDR Jim Giblin, “It feels weird using a cargo ship for a hat.”
 
CDR Gary Mallory, “It’s the safest way through the strait into the Sea of Japan. The rattle trap above us is so noisy, there’s no way the destroyers defending the strait can hear us.”
 
“Are we going to sink it?”
 
“No. We head straight for Hakata Bay to plant our mines. If we don’t find the carrier there, we check ports, working our way north until we do.”
 
“Roger that.”
 
FLIGHT DECK, USS CARL VINSON, CARRIER PIER, PEARL HARBOR
 
1213, 3 March, 1944
 
Captain Gloria ‘Hot Pants’ Houlihan reads her orders, “From Naval Personnel Command to Captain Gloria Houlihan, turn over Carrier Airwing Nine and report to Naval Air Systems Command as Vice Commander of Naval Air Systems.”
 
Captain Frank ‘Thud’ Jackson reads his orders, “From Naval Personnel Command to Captain Frank Jackson, relieve Captain Houlihan as Commander Air Wing Nine and stand-up Naval Air Division One.” He turns to Houlihan, salutes, “I relieve you.”
 
Houlihan returns the salute, “I stand relieved.”
 
They return to their places and Halsey walks to the mic, “We’ve been using the concept of a Super-CAG for several months. One commander who is in charge of all the wings and who reports to the task force commander. The folks in Washington have noticed. First, we had Captain Hunt as Super-CAG, then Captain Swedenborg, and, finally, Captain Houlihan. With the stand up of the dual rolled CAG and commander air division, this role has become official. I want to thank Captain Houlihan for all her outstanding work. She has ably led our forces in many battles. Master Chief, could you read her awards?”
 
The master chief reads the citations for two Navy Crosses, a Distinguished Service Medal, four Flying Crosses, and the Legion of Merit with a V device.
 
Halsey pins each medal on, then, “Thank you, Captain.”
 
The chaplain says the prayer. The officers of Air Wing 9 stand as Vice Admiral Halsey walks down the aisle, “Task Force 3, departing.”
 
Next, Captain Johnson walks down the aisle, “Carl Vinson, departing.”
 
Captain Jackson, “Air Division One, departing.”
 
Finally, Captain Houlihan walks down, “Captain, United States Navy, departing.”
 
CLYDE’S SMITHY, STONE MOUNTAIN, TENNESSEE
 
1044, 4 March, 1944
 
Sam hammers the iron as it cools. She’s tapping a tear drop shaped piece of wrought iron with a ball peen hammer, hitting where Clyde Turner directs. Clyde, “Enough.” He puts the iron back in the fire. “Drink some water.” He puts a T-shaped tool into the hardy hole.
 
Sam, covered in sweat, drinks from a jug and pours water over her head.
 
Clyde, “How’s Wes?”
 
“He was fine when I left.” She takes a breath, “He saved a lot of lives.”
 
“I’m sorry about...”
 
Sam sighs, “I hate this…this talking about it.”
 
“You need to.”
 
“I do. Yeah, I do.” She looks Clyde in the eye, “We were pinned down on a hill. It was the best defensive location all around. We had water, clear fields of fire and a fairly flat crown. Up to that point, I’d been running and avoiding. The landing craft were delayed by a storm, so I was out of options. They knew we were there. We couldn’t outrun them and we had no place to go that was even half as good.
 
“We dug in, distributed the night vision gear, and prepared to defend ourselves. Jason set up his machinegun to be crew served.” She looks at him, “Wes worked outside, stabilizing wounded to be moved to our medical trench. We had two Filipino nurses and our corpsman in the medical trench. We fought for a day and a half. I lost a quarter of my people dead, or seriously wounded. Almost all of us were wounded.” She sniffs. “Sorry.” He puts his arm around her shoulders.
 
Sam takes a deep breath, “They came in waves. There were little battles all over the hill. I defended the communication trench, just fifteen feet from Jere. He defended the medical trench. We were fighting so hard. I realized he was down. Of all things, he was run through by a Japanese officer’s sword. Jere and Puck killed the Japanese officer. I was there. I was there as Wes tried to save him. He was desperate to save him. He tried so hard. But, Jere had a yard of steel in his chest.” Her head drops and she stops fighting the deep sobs.
 
Clyde wraps her in his arms. After a long moment, they continue to hammer out a bouquet of lilies.
 
MADIGAN ARMY MEDICAL CENTER, NEAR TACOMA, WA
 
0934, 4 March, 1944
 
Lt. Sheigh Jackson lays in her hospital bed, no longer hooked to an IV, but her left arm and both of her legs bandaged. CDR Kyle Jacobs knocks and walks in, “Can I have a word, Lieutenant?”
 
She looks him over, “About what?”
 
“I was assigned by Admiral Nimitz to put together a CMH package for Captain Hunt. I would like to interview you about your experiences serving under her.”
 
“Is that what you want?”
 
“Yes, it is.”
 
“Okay. Where do you want to start?”
 
“How about the beginning?”
 
“In the beginning, there was darkness…”
 
“I get it. Please, when did you first meet Captain Hunt?”
 
“On the Hubler, when we fished her out of the water off Tokyo.” Jackson spends over an hour sharing her experiences serving with Captain Hunt, concluding, “The boys added another verse to that song after PI.”
 
Gandhi nods, “How is Pin Up?”
 
Sheigh shakes her head, “I’ve no idea. I haven’t seen her for months. Is she still alive?”
 
“Yeah, she is. Do you know why she doesn’t want me back?”
 
Jackson, “Talk to her about it, Commander. It’s between you two and isn’t none of my affair.”
 
“But you know?”
 
“Drop it, Commander.”
 
He nods, “Right. Thank you.”
 
HOSPITAL POINT, OAHU, HI
 
1610, 4 March, 1944
 
AD1(EAWS/ESWS) Greg ‘Duck’ Newberg walks with his wife, Lt. JG Lori ‘Sass’ Givens, “Greg, it’s okay that you’re not an officer. I don’t care.”
 
“I do care. It will hurt your career if I’m not an officer. People are already pissed that we’re on the same ship.”
 
“But why BUDS?”
 
“I don’t want to fly planes. I don’t. Maybe I could be a surface warfare officer, but Lieutenant Jeremy said I would be a good SEAL. Lori, he’s a legend. He is.”
 
“I know who he is. He did operations for the commodore in England. Why does he think you could be a SEAL?”
 
“He knew about the Stoddert. He knew about England. Why would he know about that stuff if he didn’t think I could do it.”
 
She stops and meets his gaze, “Is it what you want to do?”
 
Greg takes a breath, “It is. I filled out the forms for the BUDS officer program. Honey…Lori, you do scary, crazy, pilot stuff all the time. I want to do this.”
 
“Okay, honey. I’m sorry, but I was worried.”
 
“I know. It would be weird if you weren’t, really.”
 
Lori smiles, “You goof, I love you.”
 
“I love you to, honey. I love you.”
 
NAVAL ORDINANCE PIER, WEST LOCK, HAWAII
 
0800, 5 March, 1944
 
Greg ‘Duck’ Newberg, in his PT gear, gets off the bus with a half dozen sailors. They join another group of men also in PT gear. The only men in uniform are a senior chief and a second class. Both wear the coveted Budweiser on camouflaged pattern BDU’s.
 
HM2(UDT-SEAL) Doug “Deedee” Dougherty, “Your name?”
 
“AD1 Newburg.” The others call out their names.
 
Dougherty, “Okay, that’s everyone. I’m Deedee, a corpsman. I’m here to take care of you if any of you get into trouble. Don’t get into trouble. We’re grading your judgement as well as your health.”
 
RMSC(UDT-SEAL) Lawrence “BJ” Carbone looks over the sailors who volunteered to be tested, “I’m Senior Chief Carbone. Today, we’re going to conduct the BUDS entrance exam. For all of you who are striking for enlisted you’re required to complete a thousand-meter swim with fins in under twenty minutes, at least seventy push-ups, at least ten pull-ups, at least sixty sit-ups, and a four-mile run in under thirty-one minutes. You should give your best on each exercise, not just the minimums. Newburg, you’re striking for officer. I expect you to be among the best in each exercise. Before we start, a word, Newburg.”
 
They walk away from the others. Newburg, “I’m in pretty good shape, Senior.”
 
“You’ll have to be. What command are you with?”
 
“The Royal Black Knights.”
 
“Hunt’s old unit. When did you report?”
 
“December 20th, 1941.”
 
“Where were you before?”
 
“The Benjamin Stoddert. That was my first ship.”
 
“So, you were in England?”
 
“Yes.”
 
“Did you do any fighting during the invasion?”
 
“We all did. What’s this about, Senior?”
 
“Why did you pick SEAL, and why officer?”
 
“I picked SEAL because…” He looks Carbone in the eye, “I need to prove to myself I can do the hardest jobs and do them well. Lieutenant Jeremy recommended I try for the officer program because of my background.”
 
Carbone, “What does Triage know that I don’t?”
 
“Me, Hamm, and Mouth, shot down a ME-262 with Browning Automatic Rifles. Mouth lost his leg to twenty-mike. I helped stop a battalion of SS soldiers in Epsom. I’ve been in combat and I did my bit. Lieutenant Jeremy said I was steady and the teams can use me as an officer. Also, my wife is a naval flight officer. This way, I can catch up with her.”
 
“Okay. It’s yours to lose.”
 
“I know that.” They join the others. Carbone has them stretch before they start. Newburg swims the course in seventeen minutes, does over a hundred push-ups, thirty-five pull-ups, one hundred and fifty sit-ups, and runs the four miles in twenty-four minutes. About half the of the group pass.
 
SWEDENBORG HOUSE, PENSYLVANIA AVE, BREMERTON, WA
 
1113, 6 March, 1944
 
Captain Gloria Houlihan climbs out of an Army sedan, “Thank you, Sergeant.”
 
“I’ll get your bags, ma’am.”
 
“That’s okay. I have them.” She pulls her gear off the back seat. She watches the car leave, then tries the door. The key Swede sent her works. Gloria takes a breath, “A free ride from McCord. Benefits of rank.” She looks around the house. It’s a two-bedroom, one bath craftsman home, and way smaller than their house in California.
 
“Jesus Christ, a monk lives here.” There’s a simple table with two chairs in the kitchen, one easy chair and one wood office chair in the living room, and a twin bed in one bedroom. The second bedroom is empty. She puts her bags on the bed, “Well, he’s probably at school. That’s down the hill.” She opens the cupboards, “He’s eating out or starving himself.” “I know he has the car down at the school.” She rifles through the phone book, “There. Bremerton Taxi. First, the school, then I need to shop.”
 
She calls and a taxi arrives in ten minutes. Gloria, “I need to go to a Navy school, but, well, the school is classified.”
 
“The engineering school, ma’am. That’s what they call it. It’s just down the hill.”
 
“Thank you.”
 
“Say, are you Captain Houlihan?”
 
“I am.”
 
“What ship do you command, now, If I can ask. We’re building ‘em fast as can be.”
 
“I’m between commands right now, thank you.”
 
“Here she is.” The school is a large, three story, brick building with three outlying, two story barracks, and security guards.
 
Her ID gets her through the gate and to the quarterdeck. “I’m here to see either Captain Swedenborg or Captain Morrison.”
 
The ensign on watch, “Just a moment, ma’am.” He calls and Captain Elizabeth Morrison walks out of her office, “Gloria! I thought you were still in the Pacific?”
 
“I’m being reassigned to Lee’s staff.”
 
Liz leads Gloria into her office, “Is that what you want?”
 
“Yes, it is. I need a break.”
 
As they walk through the outer office, Liz says, “Tea, Monica.” They sit in comfy chairs and her yeomen serves them. “Stephan is in class.”
 
“When does he get out?”
 
“Classes end at sixteen-hundred. The students get two hours for dinner and study hours start at eighteen hundred.”
 
“When do study hours end?”
 
“It depends on the student. Anywhere from nineteen hundred to zero two. It restarts tomorrow at seven.”
 
“Does anyone really stay ‘til two?”
 
“His class has finals in a little over a month. Most of the class will be studying until midnight or later.”
 
“How’s Steve doing?”
 
“Very well. I’m sorry, but you won’t see much of him.”
 
Gloria smiles, “I’ve seen none of him for six months. Seeing a little bit of him is an improvement. I’ll do my best not to disrupt his training. I noticed his fridge is as empty as a college student’s. Where does he usually eat?”
 
“During the week, he eats at the gally or the O-Club on base. Sometimes I cook us a meal at my place.”
 
“Thank you. I’ll have dinner ready for him at sixteen-hundred. Two hours of domesticity sounds divine right now. How do I let him know I’m here?”
 
“The bell will ring in a few minutes. Let’s go see him between classes.” They walk out of Liz’s office and down the hall arriving outside the class door as the bell rings.
 
The class is a mix of officers and civilians. Swede is one of the last people out the door, carrying a bag of books and a binder of notes. He takes three steps into the hall before seeing the two women.
 
Gloria, “Hi honey, I’m home.”
 
Stephan, “Um…uh.”
 
Liz cracks up, “God.”
 
Gloria takes him in her arms and kisses him, “I’ll see you at home for dinner at sixteen hundred.”
 
His face lights up as he realizes Gloria is really there, “Yes, ma’am.”
 
CALAMBA, SOUTH OF MANILA, PI
 
0310, 7 March, 1944
 
Colonel John Hunt watches his men guide eighty LCACs forty miles up the river from Batangas. The first of the LCACs are already moored in Laguna de Bay, the huge lake south of Manila.
 
BGEN Noble walks up beside him, “With all this racket, there’s no way the Japs don’t know what you’re doing.”
 
“Probably. But when the infantry land in Manila and we hit them in the back, there will be nothing they can do about it. Who knows, they may pull back to north of Manila because they know we’ll trap all their forces south of Manila with this move.”
 
“They won’t.”
 
“If they don’t then they die, sir. That works too.”
 
“When will you be ready to hit them?”
 
I’ll be ready tonight. I’ll hit them early morning as the Army lands in Manila.”
 
“How many trips to land all of the first Marines with you?”
 
“To bring all they’ll need, five trips. That will take five hours.”
 
“Good. I want you to land in Manila half an hour before the army. Be the first in Manila.”
 
“Why?”
 
“Fuck MacArthur. That’s why.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 




CHAPTER 10

TRAINING RINGS, HUNT FARM, STONE MOUNTAIN, TENNESSEE
 
1530, 6 March, 1944
 
Leigh is teaching Scott, on Sprinkles, how to ride English. Sam, in the other practice ring, works with Rascal. She has him on a lunge line trotting in a circle. She brings him in and pats his neck and back. She touches him firmly so it doesn’t tickle, “Are you ready for the saddle again, Rascal?” She brings the saddle blanket over and lets him smell it.
 
Leigh and Scott stop to watch her.
 
Rascal is still, letting her put the blanket on his back. She repeats each move many times, helping him grow comfortable with how it feels. He’s becoming so accustomed to being handled, he barely flinches.
 
She brings over the saddle and lets him smell it. She pats and rubs his neck, “Good boy. Good boy.” She settles the saddle on his back. He flinches and takes a step, “That’s okay. That’s okay. You’re doing good, Rascal.” She leaves it loose on his back and continues to caress Rascal, her voice soothing and calm. “You’re a smart one, aren’t you?” Slowly she works through each step of saddling the gelding.
 
When he’s comfortable with the saddle on his back and the belly strap is tight, Leigh says, “He knows what you’re doing, honey. You’ve been working with him for a while now, and you saddled him yesterday. Put some weight on him. I think he’s ready for you to ride.”
 
“Okay, Grandpa.” She looks Rascal in the eye, “I’m going to put some weight on you. It’s okay, Rascal. It’s just me.” Holding the reins, she steps into the stirrup and leans her weight onto the saddle. He stands still, then shakes his head. Sam walks to his head, “You don’t have to laugh at me, Rascal.” He pushes his nose against her cheek and blows.
 
“Okay, honey, let’s do this. She steps to his side, “Rascal, stay still for me.” She steps into the stirrup and leans her weight onto his back. She holds there for a moment, then swings her right leg over, and mounts. Rascal stays still, proudly lifting his head. Then, he looks back and walks forward in a tight circle.
 
Sam, “Woah now.” She gently reins him in and leans back. Rascal stops. “Good boy. Good boy.” She pats his neck. Over the next hour, she works him through the reining and body signals. She dismounts and walks Rascal over to Leigh and Scott, her gaze triumphant.
 
Leigh nods, “That was a fine piece of riding, honey.”
 
“Thank you. Rascal acts out because he’s bored. I’m betting we could train him to do anything a Lipizzaner could do.”
 
Leigh grins, looks at Scott, and shakes his head, “I wouldn’t take that bet.”
 
Scott, “I’ll bite. What’s a Lipizzaner?”
 
Sam, “They’re trained show horses. They come from war horse stock from Eastern Europe. The Spanish Riding School in Vienna made them famous with their airs above the ground. It’s a jumping war horse move.”
 
“Oh.”
 
Leigh, “Scott’s doing well. I’ll take care of Rascal. Why don’t you take Hera and the two of you walk the pastures. Check on that snag in the lower creek.”
 
Sam, “Okay, Grandpa.” She dismounts and walks to Hera, checks her cinch, then mounts up. She leans down to open the gate, they ride through into the pasture, and she closes the gate.
 
Scott, “I think I could get used to this. I’ve never ridden English before. I’m not sure if it’s better than Western, or not.”
 
“They’re both good. They just have different uses. In either, the horse must trust you, and you must trust the horse. Scott, I’m glad you’re here. Hmm. You know, when I was in Montana, Liz came out to check on me. Is Craig or Rick scheming this?”
 
He smiles, “Sam, a lot of people care about you.”
 
She nods and turns Hera down a path just as it starts raining.
 
He follows, “I got permission from Craig to take some leave.”
 
She walks Hera under a huge oak tree, “Big Navy wants to know if their prize mare will still perform for them?”
 
“Uh, no. No, Sam. I’m your friend, not your keeper.”
 
“I’m…I’m sorry, Scott. It’s still raw.”
 
“Yeah. I get that. Can you talk about it?”
 
“I don’t want to.”
 
“That’s not what I asked, Sam. Do you trust me enough to let down your guard?”
 
Sam’s lips tremble, then she folds forward and strokes Hera. Sobbing, she looks up, “Yes, Scott.” Slowly, she begins. He brings his horse alongside Hera and puts a hand on her shoulder. Then, he puts his arm around her. “And that is what happened. I know that talking it through is supposed to help, but, my God, it hurts. Sorry, I’m a mess.” She straightens up and wipes her face.
 
“You have to be, Sam. The only way across is through.”
 
“How did you get so smart, Scott?”
 
“I’ve lost people, too, Sam. I had a great teacher in my mom. Sam, Do you know what your next assignment is?”
 
Sam, “Dad said it was up to me. I don’t know.”
 
“Why don’t you join me at Canaveral? I recall you wanted to be an astronaut.”
 
“Isn’t it still a swamp?”
 
Scott laughs, “No. The facility is nearly complete. I’m already building liquid fueled rockets. The engines are still giving us problems. We’re hoping for a test launch soon.”
 
“What fuel?”
 
“LH and LOX.”
 
Sam, “What kind of cycle?”
 
“Open.”
 
“Closed is more efficient.”
 
Scott, “I know. It’s also more complicated. If we’re going to get up there during the war, simple is best.”
 
“Who’s building the engines?”
 
“Goddard is chief designer. He’s working with Pratt and Whitney.”
 
Sam, “Same engine for the second stage?”
 
“Yeah, just a vacuum bell.”
 
“It doesn’t sound like you need my help.”
 
Scott meets her gaze, “Your input would probably cut six months off our construction time. The President gave us a high priority, as high as the Manhattan Project. Really, we’re part of the Manhattan Project.”
 
“Thank you for distracting me with rocket stuff. I’ll ask dad.”
 
“Thank you. I do need your help.”
 
“Scott, have you built a solid bunker down there, so the Admirals won’t freak out when something explodes?”
 
He grins, “Yes. I’m assuming at least five failures before we get off the pad.”
 
“If the engines are solid and reliable, it shouldn’t be that bad. Has anyone been campaigning for ICBM’s yet?”
 
Scott, “No. The Air Force doesn’t know we exist yet, and we still hold the devices within the Navy.”
 
“It’s going to happen.”
 
“I know. How are your investments going?”
 
Sam, “They’ve completed the LCAC orders. Meacham has a contract for superstructure parts for naval ships. We’ve cleared our debt. We’re gearing up to shift to domestic appliances after the war.”
 
“Not cars?”
 
“That’s not our specialty. Appliances will take off. Boat building will die.”
 
Scott smiles, “I can make a deal to build your electronics. My main focus will be in computing.”
 
“Military?”
 
“All of the above. I have US Semiconductor registered and stood up. Sam, the company is worth nearly a hundred million.”
 
“Hoverboat is worth about half that. Scott, all this money can do a lot of good.”
 
“I know. I’m just afraid of it. You know how the person closest to a problem is generally the best to make decisions about it?”
 
“Yeah, of course. That’s why Craig bypasses the chain for his people.”
 
“Well, the kind of money I have will insulate me way too much. No matter how I try, I won’t know how to help people.”
 
“Scott, Craig taught us what to do. We build stove pipes to the people who do know.”
 
“You’re right.”
 
16TH MARINE COMBINED ARMS REG. MANILA, PI
 
1742, 7 March, 1944,
 
Colonel John Hunt, “Stop Track. Coax at 10 o’clock.” His tanks stop in a defensive formation and his infantry search the buildings on the street.
 
“Sixteen-Six, Two-Oh-Six. We’re taking accurate artillery fire from the Neilson Airfield. Sending coordinates.”
 
Hunt, “Coordinates received. Four-Oh-Six, Sixteen-Six. Can you counterbattery?”
 
“Negative, boss. We’re on the move.”
 
Hunt studies the map, “Gunner, indirect fire mission. Elevate our tube to nineteen degrees. Turn to 14 degrees relative. Is the bore direction clear of obstruction?”
 
The loader, PFC Leroy Booth, looks through the barrel looking for trees or buildings, “Clear, sir.”
 
Hunt, “Load HEAT. Ten rounds. Maximum fire rate.”
 
Loader, “Up.”
 
The gunner, SGT Jerome Black, “Away.” The tank recoils.
 
Loader, “Up.”
 
“Away.”
 
Sergeant Major Keen, on the radio, “Sir, what are you shooting at?”
 
Hunt, “Artillery on the air field. Nineteen degrees, 348 degrees actual, HEAT.” His three command tanks join his and pour rounds on the airfield.
 
JAPANESE ARTILLERY, NEILSON FIELD, PI
 
The HEAT rounds fall around the guns, detonating ammo trailers and killing men. The artillery commander, “Move! We must pack up!” No one can hear him, but they’re well trained. The first tube hooked to its tow truck is hit. The plasma jet from the HEAT round melts the breach, ruining the gun.
 
“Move!” He looks up. He sees a tiny, motionless dot grow bigger. The round lands at his feet and explodes.
 
HQ, 16TH MARINE COMBINED ARMS REG.
 
Hunt, on radio, “All Sixteen, Sixteen-Six. Advance to the field. Five-Oh-Six, land One at the tower and periphery.”
 
“Five-Sixteen. Wilco. Twenty minutes out.”
 
“Roger.”
 
On the divisional net they hear, “Sixteen, SACSPA. Stay off the airfield. Sixth Army will take the field.”
 
Hunt ignores it. On the regimental net, “Sixteen, move out.”
 
MEETING ROOM, RAF KENLEY, SOUTH OF LONDON
 
1020, 7 March, 1944
 
General James Doolittle, “We must continue smashing the German air defenses in preparation for a massive bombing campaign.”
 
Commodore Carpenter, a smug smile, “General, we haven’t really tested their air defenses. Not with a major raid. Instead, we’ve kept France clean and picked at the periphery for months. We destroy a missile site and they replace it. They can’t be expecting a major attack. Not now. What we need to do is use our Weasels and jammers to good effect and slam in and out with a thousand bombers and fighters. We destroy their industry, their transportation, and their electric grid. We should focus on their industry and their hydroelectric dams. That would cripple them.”
 
Doolittle, “That’s a hell of a role of the dice.”
 
Carpenter, “It’s an audacious plan, sure. This nickel and dime stuff is getting us nowhere. It’s high time we hammer them, damn it.”
 
Air Marshal Dowding, “You’re talking about gambling our whole force on one raid.”
 
“I know I am. It’s past time for us to take this chance.”
 
Doolittle, “Why do you think this crazy plan would work, Carpenter?”
 
“It will work because no one expects it. D-Day is coming. We have to destroy the Luftwaffe to assure we control the air over the beaches. To destroy the Luftwaffe, we must threaten Germany. Nothing else will  draw the Luftwaffe into a fight. We need to fly in and out at high altitude, above where their heat seekers can reach. Jamming will eliminate the threat of the other SAMs. It will be decisive. Is there a better plan?”
 
HQ, 16TH MARINE COMBINED ARMS REG.
NEILSON FIELD, MANILA, PI
 
1930, 7 March, 1944
 
Hunt unasses his track in front of the Neilson Tower. Keen unasses his track, “Did we do this to piss off MacArthur, sir?”
 
“No. We need the field, and we were taking fire from here.”
 
Keen shakes his head.
 
Hunt adds, “Fuck MacArthur and his grandiose dreams.”
 
“This used to be his HQ.”
 
“So. Where was he during Hunt’s Hill. I don’t give a rat’s ass about him. Is the field secure?”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
Hunt climbs up his tank, dials the regimental net, “Sixth Battalion, Sixteen. Commence clearing the runway and restoring the field for use.”
 
LCDR Albert Pascal, the Sea Bee battalion commander, “Wilco, sir.”
 
On the divisional net, MacArthur, “Colonel Hunt, this is SACSPA Actual. I told you not to liberate the air field!”
 
Hunt smiles, “Sorry, sir. I got tired of the Japs here killing my men. I assure you; I have no intention of keeping it.”
 
“Report to my HQ for replacement.”
 
General Holland ‘Howling mad’ Smith comes up on the net, “Sixteen, continue as briefed. SACSPA, I will report to you. Disposition of Marine units is mine to determine.”
 
LOWER FIELDS, HUNT FARM
 
0816, 7 March, 1944
 
Sam on Coco and Scott on Sprinkles, ride to the bottom field. Sam, “This was one of my favorite spots growing up. The huge oak trees offer shade. There’s a swimming hole in the stream, and I could be alone and imagine what it would be like to be in a brand-new world.”
 
Scott, “It’s beautiful here.”
 
“Thank you, Scott, for coming.”
 
“Sam, I knew you needed a friend.”
 
“Yeah. I did.”
 
“What did Lee say?”
 
“He’s giving me a month of TAD for now. He told me he expects I’ll get bored and want back in the war. Right now, I just can’t.”
 
“Can’t?”
 
“Scott, he died in my arms. I …I lost so much. I did everything I could to avoid the fight, but I couldn’t. I lost my ability to maneuver. They knew we were there because a Filipino ratted us out.” She meets his gaze, “Scott, I need time to process Jere. To process Jere and everyone else that died. Right before all the PI stuff, was the sea battle.”
 
“They’re calling it the Battle of San Bernadino Strait.”
 
“Yeah. I lost all but one ship. I lost my whole command. There was nothing else I could do.”
 
Scott, “They’re calling it the most lopsided victory since Salamis.”
 
“That doesn’t bring anyone back, Scott. It doesn’t help the guilt. It doesn’t fill the gaping hole in my heart. I’ve still lost Jere.”
 
SACSPA, FORT SANTIAGO, MANILA, PI
 
0010, 8 March, 1944
 
General Smith walks from his helo. An aide leads him into a building, stops in front of a door, knocks, then opens it. MacArthur is sitting at a table, drinking a glass of brandy and studying reports. He doesn’t stand.
 
Smith, “Reporting as ordered.”
 
MacArthur continues reading for a few beats, then says, “Sit.”
 
Smith, “I’ll stand, sir.”
 
A flash of anger, “Why won’t you relieve that fool for not following orders?”
 
“I can, General, I’ll be sure to let the press know you’re firing Captain Hunt’s father because he’s an effective leader.”
 
MacArthur slams a fist on his desk, “You’ll do no such thing!”
 
“Why not, General? It’s the truth. After Pyle’s last Hunt report the media should eat this up.”
 
“Don’t cross me, “Smith.”
 
“Or what, sir? You’re being a shallow minded egotistical fool. If you continue to meddle in my command, I will make it my mission in life to fucking destroy you. Do you understand, General?”
 
MacArthur sits, “I do. Why do you care about Hunt?”
 
“If you don’t understand, no words from me can explain it.”
 
“Get out of here.”
 
SUPREME HEADQUARTERS ALLIED EXPEDITIONARY FORCE, ENGLAND
 
1534, 7 March, 1944
 
Lt. Gen George Patton, “My divisions have transitioned to the new M-11 Buford. Dwight, they fucking love this new tank.”
 
Eisenhower, “Good. How long until they’re ready to fight them?”
 
“It’s the logistics train, Dwight. My boys understand how to use them as tanks. They need to shoot accurately. I need to have forty rounds per track for training and still have all the rounds we need to deploy. The supply weenies think a tanker can fire once and be ready to fight.”
 
Eisenhower, “Lee, he’s right. Get him his practice rounds.”
 
Lt. Gen. John C. H. Lee, “General, how many does he really need? Forty is excessive.”
 
Patton bristles. Eisenhower, “I told you how many he needs. He needs forty rounds per tube. Get them, understood?”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
CONTROL, USS MAYPORT SS-237, OUTSIDE OF KITAKYUSHU, JAPAN
 
0042, 8 March, 1944
 
ST1SS Ernie Neighbors, “Sir, there’s a lot of racket from the port, but I can still hear the carrier. Four screws. Sir, it just dropped its anchor.”
 
CDR Gary Mallory, “Very well.”
 
LCDR James Giblin, “We wait?”
 
Mallory nods, “Yep. That carrier is our primary mission. While we wait, we gather intelligence.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
Mallory, “Care for a cup of coffee, Jim?”
 
“Sure.” They walk back to the wardroom. Jim asks, “Would you rather be out chasing convoys?”
 
“We’ve done well, thus far. I want to get the flat top.”
 
Giblin, “Should we look at sneaking in?”
 
“Kanman Strait is busy. If we watch and track the traffic, we can figure out where the mine field is. With that mapped, we can get in and use wire guidance to avoid distractions.”
 
“I like it.”
 
ITALIAN MILITARY HEADQUARTERS, ROME
 
2005, 7 March, 1944
 
Marshal of Italy Ugo Cavallero, the Military Chief of Staff, “Sir, we have word that the Americans and British in Africa prepare to attack us.”
 
Benito Mussolini, “No. No. I cannot have this. We are humiliated in Africa. Our navy is dismissed by our friends and enemies alike. Even the enemy failed to invade us in 1943, as I’m told they did. Hitler is apoplectic at our failures. Everywhere, there is deception. Tell me how we can defeat this invasion?”
 
“Sir, our surface-to-air systems are very effective. Even Heir Hitler has said so. We will deny the sky and destroy any attempt to land with massed artillery. Even their new tanks must fall to artillery.”
 
“Yes. We will deny the beaches and destroy their capital vessels with our Decima Flottiglia MAS (maritime special forces) and sortie the fleet from Taranto. We will sortie all that can go. We must be victorious.”
 
“Yes, prime minister. Sir, could the units in Africa be planning to land in southern France?”
 
“No. The south of France is still nominally Vichy. Anyway, it’s too far to go when they can land in Normandy and quickly reach Paris.
 
NAVY SEDAN, AIRFIELD, NAS CAPE CANAVERAL
 
1015, 13 March, 1944
 
Sam, “How long is the runway?”
 
Scott, “Fifteen thousand feet. It’s long enough to handle any aircraft in our current inventory, or on the drawing boards. It should even land a space shuttle.”
 
“Are you planning that far ahead?”
 
“Why not? I have the budget. Do you see anything wrong with the plan?”
 
Sam, “The design of the space shuttle was fucked up. By putting it beside the fuel tank instead of above it, the vehicle was vulnerable to debris from the launch. Every launch had debris falling off and hitting the heat tiles.”
 
“Is that what happened to the Challenger?”
 
“No. That was a bad O-ring. It was too cold the day they launched.”
 
“I’ll keep that in mind.”
 
“Your assembly building needs to be tall enough to put the shuttle on top of its tank.”
 
“I based the assembly building on the Apolo missions, not the space shuttle. I also fudged bigger. It’s five hundred and seventy-five feet high and eight hundred feet to a side. We’ll go there next.”
 
“You said you were close to a test rocket?”
 
“I am. If the engines complete testing without further problems, we should be able to launch in about a week.”
 
“Do you think it will work?”
 
“I hope it will work and think it’ll blow up on the pad. This is, after all, rocket science.”
 
She laughs, “Right.”
 
CONTROL, USS MAYPORT, APPROACHING KITAKYUSHU, JAPAN
 
1911, 19 March, 1944
 
Gary Mallory, “Back one third. Release both captor mines.”
 
“Back one third, aye.”
 
“Captors released from tube one and two.”
 
Mallory, “Very well. Right standard rudder.”
 
“Right standard rudder, aye. Rudder is right standard. No new course given.”
 
Mallory, “All stop.”
 
“All stop ordered and answered.”
 
“Very well. Left five-degree rudder. Come to new course 084.”
 
“Left five-degree rudder for 084, aye. Rudder is right five degrees.”
 
The USS Mayport swings onto its new course right behind a freighter.
 
LCDR Jim Giblin, “So we follow the Kobayashi Maru here into the port.”
 
Mallory, “Yep. Lord knows, the Japanese captain will know where the mine field is.”
 
“That small boat we heard. You think it was a pilot?”
 
“I do.”
 
“I like where we dropped the captors. That’s where all the heavy ships pass over. The next four screw ship will get fucked up.”
 
BRIDGE, MASUDA MURU, AHEAD OF USS MAYPORT
 
The pilot, “You make the turn too soon, Captain! Back down your ship! Back it down immediately!
 
Captain Hoshana, “Helm, reverse the engine. Quickly, now.”
 
SONAR, MAYPORT
 
ST2(SS) Blunt, “Control, Sonar. Tango-16 is reversing engines. I can hear scrapping against her hull. Explosion, sir. Two hits, captain.”
 
Mallory walks in, “What hit them?”
 
“No prior noise. It must be mines.”
 
Mallory nods and walks into control, “Back two thirds. We need to back down our previous course. Calm now.”
 
BRIDGE, MASUDA MURU
 
Pilot, “You fool. You have damaged your own ship.”
 
Second officer, “Sir, we have fires in the first and second hold.”
 
The captain nods silently.
 
Pilot, “What do you store there?”
 
“Aviation supplies, mostly missiles and bombs.”
 
“Flood the holds.”
 
“Yes. Yes, we should.” A massive explosion in the forward section of the ship blows out all the bridge portholes and peels the overhead back. The bridge crew die instantly. The explosion shatters the next two bulkheads aft, and rips the hull apart. The ship settles at the bow, as it quickly fills with water.
 
CONTROL, USS MAYPORT
 
The concussion of the explosion shakes the entire submarine. Mallory, “Damage report?”
 
Helmsman, “Sir, my gyrocompass tumbled.”
 
Mallory, “Shift to magnetic. Our submarine is designed to survive near misses with depth charges in way deeper waters then this.”
 
The explosion unmoored some of the old Japanese direct contact mines. Continuing to back down its course, a mine floats into the submarines path and hits her single screw. The explosion drives the shaft violently forward, rupturing the shaft seal, and rupturing the skin of the rear ballast tanks.
 
Mallory is thrown into the chart table and misses hitting his head by a hair. His men struggle to their stations. Giblin comes up from behind the chart table holding his head, a large bruise starting on his left temple. The Groton class sub rapidly takes on water, settling astern.
 
Mallory, “Emergency blow aft.” The valves open, forcing high pressure air into the ballast tanks. With the tops of the tank ruptured, the air flows up, and out the holes. The submarine continues to settle astern.
 
“Conn, Maneuvering. We’re taking on water from a ruptured main shaft seal. Main engine shifted forward in its mounts. Sir. It’s locked up.” They all feel a lurch as the stern touches bottom.
 
The bridge crew is looking at Mallory. Mallory, “Diving officer, flood the forward trim tank to reduce our up angle. CHENG, inflate the emergency shaft seal.”
 
“Inflate emergency seal, aye.”
 
“We’re down to a four degree up angle, sir.”
 
“Good. Have EN1 Locke suit up for a dive. Commander, a word.”
 
Giblin nods and they both walk forward into Mallory’s tiny stateroom. Giblin, “You want to send Locke out to attempt repair of the rear ballast tanks?”
 
“Evaluation first, but yeah. We’re in a fix. If we can get ballast control, we can float her and limp to Guam on our outboard. In Apra Harbor, we can affect better repairs and maybe make it to Pearl.”
 
Giblin nods, “Roger that. Best plan I can think of. Meanwhile, we have about seventy-five percent battery and we’re on the bottom at a hundred and five feet.”
 
Mallory, “We haven’t lost anyone. I don’t aim to.”
 
The CHENG knocks then opens the door, “Sir, the seal has the leakage down to a trickle.”
 
“Good. Start working on a plan to fix our rear ballast tank. Hopefully, it’s just the valves stuck open.




CHAPTER 11

LAUNCH TOWER 1A, NAS CAPE CANAVERAL
 
0850, 19 March, 1944
 
Sam, “The static fire worked?”
 
Goddard, “It did. We had to adjust the throttle controls so each engine gives close to the same thrust. I’m worried that the throttle adjustment rate is too slow, but we won’t know that until it’s launched.”
 
Sam nods, “You have to light the candle.”
 
Goddard, “Begging your pardon?”
 
“It’s astronaut slang from the 80’s. Launching the rocket is lighting the candle.”
 
“I see.” He smiles, “A tad understated, but I like it.”
 
Richardson, “If all is ready, let’s return to the command bunker so we can start fueling.”
 
MAIN CONTROL, USS MAYPORT SS-237
 
2300, 19 March, 1944
 
The diver, EN1 Locke, “Sir, the seam that connects the two ballast tanks has bent and folded. The whole stern telescoped in about two feet. The ballast tank valves are further forward and appear shut.”
 
Mallory nods, “Can we put a temporary patch inside the ballast tanks, so they’ll hold air?”
 
“I…I think so. I think, if I had enough materials and time, I might stuff mattresses against the hole and wedge them in with table tops and shoring materials. It would be easier with someone else.”
 
Mallory, “I’m dive qualified. I’ll go out with you. Warm up and get something to eat. I’ll see what we can scare up for shoring materials.”
 
Locke walks aft and Giblin motions and they walk forward into Mallory’s office. Giblin, “Do we have the air and battery power to go through a whole shoring operation under water?”
 
Mallory shrugs, “We have no choice, Jim. It’s that or be captured. We have one more emergency blow in the tanks. If that one fails, we have to evacuate.”
 
“Yeah, I know.”
 
“Can you think of anything else?”
 
Giblin takes a breath, “If we have to evacuate, we could steal a cargo ship. Make the run to Vladivostok.”
 
Mallory, “Vladivostok in a stolen ship is an idea. If we go there with our boat, we’re giving the Russians our technology.”
 
“I agree. Boss, you best get ready to go swimming.”
 
CONTROL BUNKER, NAS CAPE CANAVERAL
 
1040, 19 March, 1944
 
Sam smiles, watching a totally focused Commodore Scott Richardson looking out the armored window of the bunker. They’re a mile from the launch pad.
 
The talker, “Power transferred to the vehicle. Fifteen, fourteen…”
 
Scott looks at Sam, “Did you ever think?”
 
She shakes her head, “No.”
 
Talker, “…four, three, two, one, ignition.”
 
The bottom of the platform disappears under a huge expanding cloud of smoke.
 
Engine Level Controller, “Thrust is good.”
 
Guidance Controller, “Guidance is good.”
 
The top of the rocket spins counter-clockwise as a huge bright flash erupts at the pad.
 
Richardson, “What just happened?”
 
Sam, “It was a rapid unscheduled disassembly.”
 
The technicians laugh.
 
Richardson smiles, “What happened, specifically? What do we know?”
 
Network Desk, “Camera two reported the oxidizer tank failed.”
 
Propulsion desk, “Engines went rich and shut down.”
 
Richardson nods, “Safe the launch pad. Let’s put out the fires.”
 
Launch Pad Engineer, “All safety valves shut.”
 
Launch Systems Engineer, “All breakers are tripped.”
 
Robert Goddard, the Launch Director, “We’re clear for ERT entry, sir.”
 
Richardson, “It’s your show, Rob. Send them in.”
 
Robert, “Send in the ERT.”
 
Emergency Response Coordinator, “Roger. Sending in the fire fighters.”
 
Hunt, “What do you think happened?”
 
Richardson, “I’m more concerned with the process of determining that, then I am in guessing.”
 
“Can I help?”
 
“Absolutely.”
 
UNDER THE STERN, USS MAYPORT
 
0008, 20 March, 1944
 
Mallory and Locke fight to turn the bolts on the starboard ballast tank grill. Locke holds the socket on and Mallory, extremely strong, turns the breaker bar. The last bolt falls free and the grill stays in place. Mallory puts all his strength into the pry bar, and it moves. Shifting the pry bar, he tries again. Four attempts and the grill is free.
 
He looks up. The sparkling waters show that it’s daylight. Mallory rolls on his back and squeezes in. Inside, he studies the overhead, using a light. When the stern telescoped, the overhead cracked and ruptured in a dozen or more places.
 
Locke squirms in beside him.
 
Mallory counts to himself, “…five, six, seven, eight, maybe nine mattresses. Fucking A.” He touches Locke and they swim back to the hatch.
 
Inside the submarine, Mallory, “Okay, we can only access the starboard tank. The port grill is against the rocks. By blowing the starboard tank, we’ll have enough ballast to surface. The mattresses will be way lighter than the water. We will need to weigh them down until we get them into place. We tie the tables to them. We will bring in rope to tie the mattresses up to the overhead.”
 
Lt. Neal Bucklin, the CHENG, “Sir, will the tables fit out the hatches?”
 
Giblin, “The smaller enlisted tables will fit. We only have six, but we’ll make it work.”
 
Mallory, “Prepare the tables and mattresses. I’ll cycle out, you load all the patches, then Locke will cycle out.”
 
Bucklin, “Sir, we’re also losing air and battery power every time you cycle. I estimate three more cycles, and then we will have just enough air and energy to cycle the crew out.”
 
Mallory, “Understood. Locke and I will cycle out with the rope and the mattresses. While we put them in place, you cycle out the rest. We will put all we can in place, then cycle in. If…when we make it to the surface, we can shift to low pressure blow and continuously blow as we exit.”
 
Giblin, “No time to waste, then. Make it happen, boys.”
 
LAUNCH PAD 1A, NAS CAPE CANAVERAL, FL
 
1321, 19 March, 1944
 
With the fire fighters and engineers, Hunt and Richardson walk the debris field. Sam, “Scott, have you ever done this before?”
 
“Blown up a rocket?”
 
She laughs, “No, an aviation incident report.”
 
“No, but I’ve done plenty of nuclear incident reports.”
 
“With a plane, the first thing is to find the corners. With a rocket, you find the edges of the debris field.”
 
Scott, “Okay. It looks like the greatest energy came from the south west side.”
 
“I agree.” She walks directly away from the rocket pad in the south-west direction. “Scott, what is this?” She bends down, studying a shredded piece of stainless steel.
 
Scott and Robert Goddard join her. Goddard, “That’s part of the bottom skirt of the rocket.”
 
Samantha points, “See the deformation? This is ductile failure. Which is the top and which is the bottom?”
 
Scott, “The most twisted part is the bottom.” He stands and stretches his back, “We need to study the metallurgy, but it looks like the engine pressure pealed apart the apron which ruptured the O2 tank above it.” He looks at Goddard and Hunt.
 
Goddard nods, “Yes.”
 
AFT STARBOARD BALLAST TANK, USS MAYPORT
 
0446, 20 March, 1944
 
Mallory braces himself, pushing the last mattress against a hole as Locke ties the mattress into place weaving a line in and out of the holes. They’re diving tanks are running low. A final knot and the two swim out the grate.
 
They can hear the thrum of ships entering and leaving port. The current is a bitch. It’s easier to pull yourself along the sub than to swim. They enter the engine room escape hatch and cycle through. Both gasp for air when their helmets are removed. Mallory, “That’s it. The best we can do.”
 
Giblin, “Why don’t you clean up and get into some dry clothing. We should wait until around midnight to make the attempt.”
 
“Right. Not good to bob to the surface in broad daylight.”
 
SEAL TEAM TWO HEADQUARTERS, LITTLE CREEK, VA
 
1430, 19 March, 1944
 
Captain Fronczak walks into his outer office, and sees Lt. Hazlitt, “Thank you for coming. A word.” He walks through into his inner office.
 
Lt. Ryan Hazlitt follows him in, “Yes, sir?”
 
“I need you to go to the war department intel shop and review everything they have on the defenses in France. I want the best intel on what my swimmers will face on those beaches. I don’t want it translated through a bunch of pencil heads who have no idea what we need. This is what I needed you for.”
 
Hazlitt smiles, “What access will I have?”
 
Fronczak hands her a letter, “The secretary sent this out.”
 
She reads the letter. The key point is one sentence, “The below list of Naval Special Operations Intelligence personnel have full and complete access to all physical, optical, human, and intercept intelligence in their areas of interest.” Her name is included on the list. “Wow.”
 
Fronczak, “You know what we need. I need to know how aggressive the Germans security is on the beaches. Most security people get bored.”
 
“I’ll give you my best.”
 
“I know you will.”
 
BRIEFING ROOM, RAF BASSINGBOURN, SW OF CAMBRIDGE, ENGLAND
 
1510, 20 March, 1944
 
Major Robert ‘Andy’ Morgan sits with his copilot, Captain James ‘Jay’ Verinis, bombardier-navigator Captain Charles ‘CB’ Leighton, and his engineer-defensive systems operator, Sgt. Danny “Danny Boy” Daly. The briefer drones on, “…The 324th will approach Schweinfurt from the south west at forty thousand feet and Mach 1.8. You will precision drop on these seven ball bearing plants within Schweinfurt, then depart northward, before turning west for the return leg.”
 
Verinis, “He’s an optimist.”
 
Morgan, “He’s not going.”
 
LCOL Richard W. Wietzenfeld, their squadron commander, “Quiet, you two.”
 
The briefer continues, “The 401’st will approach from the west at thirty-nine thousand feet, hit the rail yards and the refinery beside the river, then withdraw to the south. Schweinfurt is home to about fifty thousand people so keep your bombing accurate. That is all. Colonel.”
 
Col. Claude E. Putnam, the 91st Bombardment Group commander steps to the podium, “I’ll be leading this one in. My call sign will be Stingray. 322nd will be Pike. 323rd will be Shark. 324th will be Barracuda. 401st will be Marlin. Gentlemen, this will be an all-out effort. Today, we cripple Germany’s industry. We will be escorted by the 117th Fighter Group all the way in and home. We’ll have more fighters than bombers. We will use our own jamming pods to avoid SAMs. There will also be four Weasels below us to engage the missile sites. We have nearly a thousand aircraft on this raid, hitting industrial and logistics targets all over Germany, so traffic deconfliction is critical. Stay in your lanes. Questions?”
 
He’s met by silence. He nods, “Mount up’”
 
WARHORSE-1, B-46, RAF DEBDEN, NE OF LONDON, ENGLAND
 
1541, 20 March, 1944
 
Copilot RAAF Flight Lieutenant Jeff ‘Mummy’ Guiles, walks out to his B-46, “This is the craziest plan I’ve ever heard.”
 
His pilot, RAAF Group Captain Howard ‘Dip Stick’ Holmes, “We have plenty of fighter cover. It should be good.”
 
Their NAV-BOMB, Flying Officer Travis ‘Pie’ Piper, “The weather’s supposed to be clear over the dams.
 
Their plane captain greets them with a salute, “All is in readiness, Group Captain.”
 
Dip Stick, “Good. Let us mount our steed.”
 
SCORPION-1, F/A14E, RAF KENLEY
 
1600, 20 March, 1944
 
LCOL Tom “Chuckles” Roots, CO, 363rd Fighter Squadron, call sign Scorpion-1, leads his squadron in the elephant walk, “There’s going to be a lot of aircraft flying around. I’ll need you to keep your eyes out more than normal.”
 
His RIO, Captain Arnold “Opry” Portnova “Nearly a thousand aircraft in one sortie. This is fucking crazy.”
 
“Yep. Crazy is the plan. We cover the big boys over Schweinfurt, and back. I’m worried about traffic.”
 
“Me, too.” Opry, on radio, “Kenley, Scorpion-1. Standing by.”
 
“Scorpion squadron, Kenley tower. You are cleared for takeoff. Climb out at 165 for assembly point Yoke.”
 
CONTROL, USS MAYPORT
 
0021, 21 March, 1944
 
Commander Mallory, “Emergency blow aft tanks.
 
“Blow aft, aye.” The COB flips the switches. “Aft blow activated.” They can hear air rush into the ballast tanks.
 
Mallory. “Blow forward tanks.”
 
“Blowing forward tanks, aye.” The COB flips the switches, with more air noise. The sub grows light and lifts off the bottom. The greater air pressure in the ballast tanks holds the mattresses against the holes in the hull, keeping most of the air in. The sub lists to port due to the unrepaired damage in the aft port ballast tanks.
 
Giblin, “What bell?”
 
Mallory, “Let’s wait until we surface and start the diesel.”
 
“Roger.” The ballast tank is now full of air. When submerged in water, the mattresses were buoyant. In the air, the water soaked into them makes them heavy. As they sag, they let some air out.
 
The COB, THCS Holford, “We’re settling astern. Ten-degree up angle.”
 
Mallory, “Don’t bother trimming. We can do that once the diesel is running.” The sub rolls in the waves as it nears the surface. It broaches with a fifteen degree up bubble. “Start the diesel. Commence low pressure blow.”
 
COB, “Eighteen degree up angle.”
 
“Starting diesel.”
 
COB, “Twenty degree up angle. Sir, we’re losing it.”
 
Mallory, “Blow stern again.”
 
COB, “Blowing astern.”
 
The diesel starts its rhythmic thumping. Fresh air blows through the submarine, drawn in by the diesel. The emergency blow tanks are nearly out of air for this third blow. The new air can’t lift the heavy mattresses against the holes. It just leaks out with the rest. The low-pressure blow does the same. The submarine slips astern, back under the waves.
 
Mallory, “Secure the diesel. Rig for dive.”
 
“Secure the diesel, aye. Diesel secured. Rigged for dive.”
 
Mallory and Giblin share a glance. Mallory, “Twenty degrees up on the dive planes. Let’s try to use our motion to level us out.” The submarine settles on the bottom.
 
Mallory, “Prepare to abandon ship. Initiate the emergency destruct bill.”
 
IMPERIAL JAPANESE DESTROYER ASHI, FIFTEEN MILES FROM MAYPORT
 
Sonar, “Sir, at 295, I heard what sounded like a diesel start, then a crash.”
 
Watch officer, “That is near the Masuda Muru. Perhaps you heard additional damage caused by the current. Still, we should check it out.” He dials a phone and explains to the captain. “Make our course 295. Be aware of the mine field.”
 
ROOSTER-788, EA-14D WEASEL WITH 324TH BOMBARDMENT SQUADRON, OVER WESTERN FRANCE
 
1818, 20 March, 1944
 
1st Lieutenant Josip ‘Joey’ Sterman, the WSO, “This is absolutely nuts. Why the fuck are they having all of us fly at altitude? It allows the Krauts to target us for way too long.”
 
Captain Kyle ‘Zoo’ Zurkowski, “I know. The bosses assume they can outrun missiles at high altitude.”
 
“The boss is wrong. The German high-altitude SAMs fly at Mach-3. They don’t work that way.”
 
“We might get lucky.”
 
Sterman, “No, sir-y Bob. Instead of getting lucky, most of us are going to get dead or captured today.”
 
Zoo, “You’re such an optimist.”
 
MEMPHIS BELL, SHARK-721, 40,000 FEET OVER NORTHERN FRANCE
 
1840, 20 March, 1944
 
‘Andy’ Morgan, “We’re closing the German border. Any threats?”
 
Danny Boy, “Oh yeah. Radars are lighting off all over Germany.”
 
“Okay. I’m worried about collisions up here. We’re pretty high for a SAM to reach us.”
 
SOUTH WEST AIR DEFENSE SECTOR, GERMANY
 
Oberst Verner, “Schnell! They come! They come!”
 
“Missiles are ready heir Oberst.”
 
“Fire. Fire, damn it. I must report.”
 
MEMPHIS BELL, B-46 BOMBER, 40,000 FEET APPROACHING GERMANY
 
Danny Boy, “They’ve launched. Starting the music.”
 
Andy “Okay. Calm down people. Stay in formation.”
 
Danny Boy, “Andy, I see over forty missiles launching.”
 
They hear Colonel Putnam on the radio, “All the fish, Stingray. Accelerate to 1.8.”
 
Andy rolls forward the throttles, “This is getting hairy.”
 
CB, “We’re on track. Fifteen minutes until we’re over target.”
 
SOUTH WEST AIR DEFENSE SECTOR, GERMANY
 
Operator, “They are jamming. Switching to home on jam.”
 
MEMPHIS BELL, 40,000 FEET OVER GERMANY
 
Danny Boy, “Stop the music. Tell them to stop the music.”
 
Andy, “What?” He sees the plane next to him in formation get hit. Then another drops out of formation, spinning out of control. “What the hell? What is it, Danny?”
 
“There missile tracking radar shut off. Either they have terminal heat seekers or they home on jamming.”
 
Jay, “Stingray, Shark 119. The SAMs have a home on jamming feature.”
 
“Stingray is down. Pike-1 is the lead.”
 
Another volley of SAMs, then, “Pike-1 is down. Shark-1 is lead.”
 
Jay, “Good job, Danny Boy.”
 
Andy, “We could walk to Berlin on all the missiles.
 
CB, “I have our target. Bomb’s away.”
 
They hear on radio, “Fighters, two o’clock high.”
 
SCORPION-1
 
Opry, “Fox-3. Fox-3.” On intercom, “Tigers. They’re engaging the bombers.”
 
Roots, “Climbing.”
 
“You’re putting us between the missiles and bombers!”
 
“That’s the gig. Chaff and flares.”
 
“They missed us. Splash one.”
 
“G’s” Roots pulls over the top, pointing toward the enemy, “Fox-1.” He fires an AIM-7D missile at the nose of a closing FU-279. The missile explodes under the cockpit, and the aircraft heaves up and tumbles. “What’s this?” He rolls and turns to meet another German plane, “Fuck me. They have Eagles.”
 
“What?”
 
“Fox-1. G’s.” Roots fires his last AIM-7D at an enemy FU-420. The missile flies into the right intake and explodes, fragging the engine and rupturing the fuel tank. It rolls and flops into a high negative G roll, sheds a wing and spins, a fireball falling to earth.
 
MEMPHIS BELLE
 
CB, “Good hits. Factory is reduced to rubble.”
 
Andy, “Good. Now, we’re flying for ourselves.” The B-46 next to them explodes, shaking their jet hard.
 
Danny Boy, “Fighters. I’m jamming their missiles. Chaff and flares.”
 
Andy, “Could they have that home on jam device?”
 
Danny Boy, “They missed. They don’t seem to.”
 
WARHORSE-1, RAF B-46, APPROACHING SORPE DAM
 
Flight Lieutenant Jeff ‘Mummy’ Guiles “Sir, we’ve lost half our unit.”
 
Group Captain Howard ‘Dip Stick’ Holmes, “I know. Let’s make this count.”
 
The bombardier, “I have the target. Illuminating. Bombs away.” The jet lurches up as the bombs fall.
 
Dip Stick, “Turning north. Fighters.”
 
Mummy, “I see them.”
 
Flying Officer Travis ‘Pie’ Piper, the bombardier, “Good hits. We blew the dam.”
 
Flight Sergeant Dwight ‘Porky’ Parker, the defensive systems operator, “Targeting radars. Starting the music.”
 
Dip Stick, on radio, “Warhorse-1, nap of Earth.”
 
His remaining aircraft call in.
 
MEMPHIS BELLE, 324TH BOMBER SQUADRON, 40,000 FEET, WEST OF SCHWEINFURT
 
Jay, “Shark-1 is down. Andy, we’re it. We got the lead.”
 
Major ‘Andy’ Morgan, “Okay. We need to form back up for the run home. We go as fast as the slowest jet and maintain altitude.”
 
SCORPION-1, F/A-14E, BELOW 324TH BOMBER SQUADRON
 
LCOL Tom ‘Chuckles’ Roots, keys the mic, “91st Bomber Group, Scorpion-1 actual. Make best descent rate to NOE and come to 283. Let me escort you out of here.”
 
Andy, on radio, “Scorpion-1, Shark-1. Our orders are to exfil at altitude.”
 
“Fuck your orders. Follow me if you want to live.”
 
MEMPHIS BELLE, SHARK-1
 
Andy looks at Jay. They both nod. Andy keys the mic, “Wilco, Scorpion-1. Shark, descend to NOE. Shift to echelon formation.”
 
Of the forty-eight aircraft that flew into Germany, sixteen surviving jets report in.
 
WARHORSE-1, RAF B-46, CLIMBING AWAY FROM DAM
 
An FU-279 screams past, firing his gun. His rounds hits the B-46 next to Warhorse-1,  fragging its starboard engines. It rolls right, barely missing the plane next to it, and its nose drops as it falls into a spin.
 
Group Captain Howard ‘Dip Stick’ Holmes, “ Damn. Another one down. Where the hell are our fighters?”
 
Flight Lieutenant Jeff ‘Mummy’ Guiles, on radio, “Texas-1, Warhorse-1. Where are you?”
 
On radio, “We’re 2 mikes out and closing. We kicked over a hornet nest. Please stay on the deck.”
 
Dip Stick, on intercom, “Duh. Of course, we have to stay on the deck.  God, I hate flying nap of earth.”
 
E-DSO Flight Sergeant Dwight ‘Porky’ Parker, “Sir, I’m picking up radars. These are new German radars.”
 
Mummy, “How do you know they’re German?”
 
“Sir, I know every airborne radar we have. It must be German.”
 
Mummy, “Power lines.”
 
Dip Stick, “I see them.” He eases over the power lines.
 
Porky, “Incoming fire.” They can feel the shudder of the tail gun firing.
 
Dip Stick fires off chaff and flares.
 
Porky, “It’s guns, sir. Shit, sir. The German sucked a flare. Their right engine just blew.”
 
Mummy looks out his side window, spotting a German Me-420 auger in. “What the hell is that?”
 
Porky, “That’s the new radar, sir.”
 
Dip Stick, “Pie, give me a steer.”
 
“Two eight five, sir.”
 
Porky, “They’re coming around. Our fighters are engaging.”
 
TEXAS-1, IN THE MIX OVER WARHORSE
 
Wing Commander Richard “Mister” Maugham, “Grunt.” He wrenches his F/A-14C toward a German Me-420.
 
His RIO, Flying Officer Shannon ‘Tootsie’ Todd, “He’s giving us the one circle. His wingman augured in.” She wrenches her head around, searching for threats.
 
Mister pops up into a yoyo, drawing lead on the German. The German fighter fires two heat seeking missiles. Each tracks a different Hustler bomber.
 
Mister fires his gun. The stream of shells stitches through the wing root, igniting the fuel tanks, and the Me-420 explodes.
 
WARHORSE-1, RAF B-46, NOE
 
Porky, “Chaff and flares. Please give me a turn.”
 
Dip Stick pulls back on the controls and puts the big bomber into a turning climb as the countermeasures hammer out of his jet. Climbing is a mistake. It allows the missile to contrast the heat of the engines against the cold of the sky. The heat seeker smashes into the rear of the bomber, destroying the center two engines, and igniting the fuel tanks.
 
Mummy, “Shit. Oh shit. We’re on fire. Pulling two and three.
 
Dip Stick continues to climb, “Controls are getting mushy. Leveling out at five hundred.”
 
Pie, “Can we save it?”
 
Mummy, “I pulled two and three. We’re still on fire.” Engine 1 fails in a puff of flame.
 
The big bomber rolls left and drops its nose toward the ground. Dip Stick, “Losing it. Eject. Eject.”
 
Pie pulls the handles that begin the ejection sequence. All their straps tighten. Their feet are pulled off the controls. First, Pie, who’s seated behind the pilot, ejects. The roof of the plane is blown off by charges and the seat is expelled by a pneumatic charge before the rockets fire.
 
Next, Porky, sitting behind the copilot, leaves the plane. These two ejections take a little over one second. Before the pilot and copilot can eject, the big jet hurls into the ground, exploding. The biggest parts left are the main landing gear.
 
TEXAS-1
 
Shannon ‘Tootsie’ Todd, “Warhorse-1 augured in. Boss, you’re the senior pilot.”
 
Mister, “Any immediate threats?”
 
“Not that I can see.”
 
“Where are the Americans?”
 
Tootsie, “West of us, exiting at NOE.”
 
“We follow their route out of here. The SAM sites they overfly will either be destroyed or out of missiles.”
 
Todd gets on the radio and sorts out the remaining British aircraft, getting them into formation to follow the Americans out of Germany.
 
MEMPHIS BELLE, SHARK-1, NOE, OVER WESTERN GERMANY
 
Captain James ‘Jay’ Verinis, the copilot, “SAM launch, five o’clock, close.”
 
They feel the thud of something hitting their aircraft, but it doesn’t explode.
 
Major Robert ‘Andy’ Morgan, “No explosion. Still flying.”
 
Bombardier-Navigator Captain Charles ‘CB’ Leighton, “I checked the TDS. Andy, we lost over three-quarters of our force.”
 
Andy shakes his head, “With victories like this, we’ll lose the war.”
 
Engineer-Defensive Systems Operator, Sgt. Danny "Danny Boy" Daly, “Do you think they’ll call this a victory?”
 
Andy, “I do. Danny, can you go back and check the fuselage? It’s flying funny.”
 
“Yes, sir.” He releases his safety harness, crawls back, opens the pressure hatch to the rear of the cockpit, and climbs into the bomb bay. He’s crawled around in here hundreds of times. He spots what’s wrong immediately. There is an unexploded German heat seeking missile sticking halfway into the fuselage.
 
He freezes, then approaches the weapon. The aluminum of the hull is bent inward, making it impossible to push back out. He plugs in his cranial, “Sir, we have a heat seeker stuck in the hull.”
 
Andy, “German?”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
“Can you safe it?”
 
Danny Boy, “The safety pin is still in it. That’s why it didn’t explode.”
 
“Then it shouldn’t have fired either.”
 
“Yeah, I know.”
 
Jay, “What should we do?”
 
Andy, “What would you do if you had a rubber with a hole in it in one pocket and a rattlesnake in the other? I don’t know about you, but I wouldn’t fuck with either of them. Danny, chock and brace it in place and we’ll fly home with it. No doubt, we have folks that would like to see it.”
 
Danny, “Roger. I’m using my coat and kinda tying it in place.”
 
Andy, “That works. Thank you, Danny.”
 
SCORPION-1, 200 FEET, EASTERN BELGIUM
 
LCOL Tom ‘Chuckles’ Roots, “Circling back in.”
 
His RIO, Captain Arnold “Opry” Portnova, “Are you mad? We’re one of the last out, and we’re Winchester and bingo.”
 
“I know. I still have five hundred twenty-mike. Illuminate. What do we have?”
 
“Twenty aircraft climbing out of Leipzig. Nothing close.”
 
“Are they coming for us?”
 
“Right now, they’re just climbing.”
 
“Okay. Let’s go home.” He turns back to the west. “Can you count up our losses. I have to report in to Doolittle.”
 
“Why you?”
 
“I think I’m the senior guy to make it out.”
 
“Texas-1 made it out.”
 
“Yeah, but he’s a Brit.”
 




CHAPTER 12

ENLISTED MESS DECK, USS MAYPORT
 
0216, 21 March, 1944
 
The entire crew is crowded into the mess. Mallory, “Okay, we have to abandon ship, but that doesn’t mean we float around waiting to be captured by our enemies. This is the plan. Before we go up, I need all of you to put your dog tags in your pants pocket. I want nothing metal above your waist. Metal reflects radar. On the surface, our asses, in our rubber boats, should be below wave height and undetectable. I need everyone to dress as warm as you can. Wear all the wool stuff you have, especially socks. Wool will keep you warm, even when wet. It’s fucking cold out there. We will take food, tools, and all our small arms.”
 
THCS Holford, “What’s the plan, sir?”
 
Mallory, “We’re out of good options. My plan is to find a nice merchant ship, take her, and sail her to Vladivostok. When we’re in the boats, keep a low profile. We’ll need to improvise oars. We time our exit for the rising tide. We know the current is strong. It should drive us toward the port. I’ll pick one of the ships.”
 
They hear the thrum of screws through the hull. ST1 Neighbors, “Sir, that’s a destroyer. Probably Momi class.”
 
Mallory nods, “We got some fresh air. It’s probably best to wait a day before we implement. It gives us time to make oars and finalize plans. Once we pick a ship, we’ll board her, take control of her, raise steam, and steam out. When we’re on the ship, engineers go immediately to the engine room and prepare to get underway. Cheng, that’s your show. Take whatever tools you think you may need. Your crew will get some of the small arms. We need to know how much fuel we have. The rest of us will subdue the crew and take the bridge. Any questions?”
 
TMCS Holford, the COB, “Sir, we have fifty-eight people and only ten guns. Can we take a merchant ship?”
 
Mallory takes a breath, “Do any of you have an idea what a Japanese internment camp will be like?”
 
Giblin, “We’d get terrible food. Best case, two-thirds of us die from food and water born illnesses, assaults from the guards, and deliberate torture. After a guard sharpens his sword, he cuts a prisoner in half to check it. The Japanese despise people who surrender. To them, a surrendered sailor is worse than a coward. They killed prisoners because they were bored. They raped men, because women were unavailable. Conjure up your worst nightmare of an open-air prison and multiply it by five. That’s what surrender looks like.”
 
Guthrie nods, “We will take the ship.”
 
Mallory, “Yes, we will. I’m sorry, folks, but it’s our only option.”
 
The crew look at each other. As one, they nod, “Yes, sir.”
 
MEMPHIS BELLE, NEAR RAF BASSINGBOURN, SW OF CAMBRIDGE, ENGLAND
 
1823, 20 March, 1944
 
Major Robert ‘Andy’ Morgan, “Danny, can you check on our accidental cargo?”
 
“Yes, sir.” He crawls through the rear hatch and back to where the missile is stuck in the hull. He plugs in, then reports, “Sir, it’s looser than before. The aluminum has dug into the missile’s side, making it wobbly.”
 
“Can you steady it?”
 
“You want me to hold onto a bomb while you land? Hell. Sure. Why not.”
 
“Thank you, Danny.”
 
Danny, “I’m going to cuddle this thing like she’s my girl. If it goes off, I don’t want to survive.”
 
Captain James ‘Jay’ Verinis, “You’re too damn pretty to die like that, Danny. Too damn pretty.”
 
“Why, thank you, Jay. Damn, this thing is loose. The fuselage is tearing.”
 
Andy, “How about the strength members?”
 
“I don’t know, sir. One is bent. There’s a hydraulic leak here. I think it’s for the gear.”
 
Jay exchanges a look with Morgan. Without keying the intercom, “We have shrapnel holes and a missile hanging out of us. This is going to have to be a smooth landing.”
 
Morgan just nods, “Call in the tower. We don’t have the fuel for a fly by.”
 
“Okay.” Jay keys the radio, “Bassingbourn Tower, Shark-1. We have shrapnel damage and an unexploded SAM sticking out of our side. Request landing clearance.”
 
“Shark-1, Bassingbourn. We have you on short final. You’re cleared to land on runway 07. Wind is 14 knots at 210. We’ve rolled the emergency vehicles.”
 
Jay, “Runway 07. Rolled the trucks. All that’s left is prayer.” He looks at Morgan, who’s fully concentrating on the landing.
 
Morgan, “Flaps, twenty.”
 
“Roger. Flaps are twenty.”
 
“Drop the gear.”
 
Jay takes a breath, “Dropping gear. Two down. Left main is hung.”
 
They hear Danny, on the intercom, “I got it.”
 
Danny, still holding the missile, reaches for the manual release. He manages to give it a firm pull and the wheels drop partway down. Now the bomb bay is roaring with wind. He pulls out the hand crank. Struggling with the missile and trying to put as much of his strength into the crank as he can, he realizes the missiles has moved. “Um, Andy. The safety pin fell out of the missile.”
 
“Uh, roger, Danny Boy. Do you still got it?”
 
“Yeah. It’s loud in here. I can barely hear you. I ain’t got nothing to stuff in the pin hole.”
 
Andy, “Just get the gear down. It’ll be what it’ll be.”
 
Danny gets back to cranking left-handed and bracing the missile with his right hand. He sees the countryside flash by as they get close to the field. They pass over Barrington, with its pubs, then the river Cam. Farm fields, then the outer perimeter.
 
Andy, “Danny, we don’t have the fuel to go around. How are you doing?”
 
“Almost there.” He feels the gear lock just as the end of the runway flashes by. He hangs onto the missile as Andy flares the jet. The big jet touches down with a chirp of the tires. The nose wheel comes down gently and the big jet rolls smoothly down the runway. Andy turns the plane onto the taxiway and brings her to a stop. 
 
Danny feels the missile move, and clutches it with all of his strength. An EOD guy says, “We got it, sir. Please let go.”
 
FLIGHTLINE, RAF BASE KENLEY
 
Roots, “Opry, tend to the bird. I need it ready to launch again ASAP.”
 
“Got it.”
 
Roots unasses, spots a jeep and runs to it, “Take me to my office.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
In his office, Roots bellows, “Call Doolittle for me.”
 
An airman connects the call and hands it to Roots. “General, this is Roots, sir. The raid was an unmitigated disaster. I don’t know all the numbers yet, but I lost a third of my force. I think the bombers lost much, much more.”
 
“I haven’t heard from most of the units yet. What went wrong?”
 
“Every-fucking-thing, sir. Can I come down?”
 
“Please do.”
 
ARNSBERG, GERMANY, DOWN STREAM OF THE SORPE DAM
 
1931, 20 March, 1944
 
Sonia Mentz scrambles through debris and mud, clinging to her six-month old baby boy, “Heidi! Heidi!”
 
She barely hears a weak voice, “I’m here mommy. I’m in the tree.”
 
“Oh, thank God in heaven. Come down darling.”
 
Slowly, the little girl works her way down the tree, “I’m scared, mommy.” She reaches Sonia, who holds her tight. “Where is our house, mommy?”
 
“It’s gone, Leibchen. We will go live with grandpa.”
 
They struggle out of the devastation that was their town. “Mommy, there’s Anna?” The little girl points to another child sitting on the porch staircase of a destroyed house. The child’s face is blank, her eyes vacant. “Anna. Anna.”
 
Anna’s head slowly comes up. “Heidi! Frau Mentz! I can’t find my momma, my brother!” The little girl begins to cry.
 
Sonia looks around at what’s left of Arnsberg. There’s nothing left. She has lost everything. She realizes Anna has truly lost everything. She looks down at her daughter and son. “I have so much. Anna, come with us. We’re going to my father.”
 
“But, my momma, Hans. Where are they?”
 
Sonia bites her lip. How does she tell this child that her mother and brother are gone. “Anna, you are not safe here. Come with us. You’re mutter will find you.”
 
Anna sighs and follows them out of the town to the only road not destroyed. They begin the walk to the next town.
 
HQ SHAEF
 
1900, 20 March, 1944
 
Doolittle walks into Eisenhower’s operations room, “A disaster. A fucking disaster. Why the fuck did I listen to that crazy Navy motherfucker?”
 
Eisenhower hands him a cup of coffee, “What happened?”
 
“We lost three quarters of my force. Half of the planes that made it back are full of holes.”
 
Eisenhower, “Did they hit their targets?”
 
“Yeah. Yeah, they hit their targets, but I lost nearly four hundred bombers and over three hundred fighters. Damn near two thousand men dead, captured, or running for their lives. Ike, it’s a massive failure. It will take months to replace what we lost.”
 
Eisenhower nods, “Yes, it will. Meanwhile, see to your men and put together a report. Don’t forget awards. Medals are poor compensation, but they are a compensation.”
 
“How can I go on?” Doolittle stands straight, “Sir, please accept my resignation.”
 
“Like hell I will. Your raid was a success. An expensive success, but still, a success. Doolittle, put yourself together. Carry on.”
 
HITLER’S SECRET BUNKER, BERLIN
 
2025, 20 March, 1944
 
Reichsmarschall Hermann Goering, “They lost nearly all the aircraft they flew against us. We have American and British aircrew being rounded up by the hundred. We set back their war plans six months today.”
 
Hitler screams, spittle flying, “They attacked us! Berlin could be a glowing cinder right this moment! You could have killed your Fuhrer! How did you...how could you let this happen?”
 
“It is a victory, mein Fuhrer. Now is the time to strike their airfields and destroy what little survived the attack.”
 
“When I sleep in Buckingham, that will be a victory. Killing jets after they drop their bombs…”
 
“Many were killed before…”
 
“Silence! Halt die klappe! You must control the air space over Germany. Protect my head, Reichsmarschall.”
 
“Yes, mein Fuhrer.”
 
“There will be no attack on Britian. You must defend our skies.”
 
“Yes, mein Fuhrer.”
 
BUCKINGHAM PALACE
 
2000, 20 March, 1944
 
Prime Minister Churchill bows, then walks into a sitting room where King George VI is sipping tea, “Your Majesty.”
 
The king stands, clasps his hands behind his back, and looks out the window, “How many of my people were lost in this disastrous attack?”
 
“Seven hundred and twenty-two, Majesty. We know that at least two-hundred died in their aircraft. Of the rest that reached the ground, we think most of them have been captured. We hope a handful get to the underground and escape.”
 
“How many Americans and other nationalities?”
 
“Thirteen hundred, seventy-four, Majesty.”
 
“How many women?”
 
“Seventy-eight, Majesty. All are commonwealth subjects.”
 
“Do we know the camps where they will be held?”
 
“Most of them have been identified. We will be able to detect the change in population with aerial reconnaissance, Majesty.”
 
“Can we free them?”
 
“I have no idea, Majesty. I will investigate.”
 
“Do so. Our skies are vulnerable. I do hope we are taking measures.”
 
“The remainder of our forces stand ready.”
 
“Good. What idiot proposed this plan?”
 
“I am told it was proposed by Commodore Carpenter, Majesty.”
 
“I grow weary of him. I want him assigned…somewhere appropriate for his skills. Of course, his harem should stay.” The king turns, meeting the prime minister’s eyes, “When will our Commodore return to repair this mess? I understand she is between commands.”
 
Churchill, “I have made requests, Majesty. I have no idea what her assignment shall be.”
 
“Her assignment? Her assignment will…shall be Yankee. She again shall be in charge of our commonwealth air forces and that of the Americans. Only she can repair the damage done. Only she can inspire a hope for better in our future. She must come here and she must be placed in authority.”
 
“I quite agree, Majesty.”
 
“Once she sorts this mess, I will grant her the Thistle. Prepare for it.”
 
“Yes, Majesty.”
 
“I would grant her a peerage if the Americans would not object.”
 
“I shall make inquiries, Majesty.”
 
The king nods, “How fare’s my daughter?”
 
“I understand she has learned to operate the air cushion landing craft, Majesty. She is doing well in Scotland. Captain Morrison is treating her as her rank dictates, which was your desire.”
 
“Good. Please meet with our Commodore once she arrives. Arrange suitable quarters and staff. You know what she’ll need. Thank you, Prime Minister.”
 
“Yes, Majesty.” He bows, and exits, walking backwards.
 
MAYPORT CREW, KANMON STRAIT, JAPAN
 
0510, 22 March, 1944
 
In the outer roads there are many ships at anchor. Mallory spots a ship on the quay wall that’s building steam. To himself, “If it already has steam, we can escape faster.” He paddles for that one. Under the stern, he can barely make out the name. It’s written in Cyrillic.
 
His men gather their small rubber rafts under the bows. Most have noticed the name. Mallory climbs a ladder up the pier and quickly shifts to one of the mooring hawsers. Immensely strong, it takes moments for him to climb aboard. He secures and drops knotted ropes over the side and slowly, his crew climbs onto the ship.
 
White lights shine from the bridge halfway down the ship. Mallory quietly opens a hatch to the anchor chain locker and guides his crew to hide below. Giblin whispers, “What the hell is a Russian ship doing here?”
 
Mallory whispers back, “Probably captured. The Russians should be happy to get it back.”
 
Giblin, “Why are we hiding in the anchor locker?”
 
Mallory, “It’s an insane place to hide. We wait until we’re well out to sea and the pilot is off, then take the ship. That way, no one can alert the Jap Navy.
 
Holford pokes his head out of the hatch, “We’re all aboard, sir. There’s a hatch to a tween deck that we can open.”
 
Mallory, “Move the crew into there.”
 
Giblin, “I’m small. I’ll dog this hatch and hide topside.”
 
Mallory grabs the shoulder of his XO, “Take care.”
 
BOW SS MOROZOV, DEPARTING KANMON STRAIT, JAPAN
 
Russian crewmen walk forward and check that all the hatches are closed. Giblin, hiding in the cable house of a deck crane, can see and hear them. He doesn’t speak Russian, but he knows it to hear it. One of the Russians climbs into the crane to check it’s secured for sea. He doesn’t look into the cable house.
 
SUPREME HEADQUARTERS ALLIED EXPEDITIONARY FORCE, ENGLAND
 
01813, 21 March, 1944
 
Eisenhower reads through reports on his desk. He picks up his phone, “Kay, call for Commodore Carpenter to report to me. Have his staff pack up his personal effects for transfer.”
 
WAC Lieutenant Kay Summersby, “Where are we transferring him, sir?”
 
Eisenhower, “Admiral Lee’s staff pending disposition. Thank you.” He looks through his phone book, then dials a number in Washington, DC.
 
“Vice Admiral Lee’s office. This is a nonsecure line. How may I help you, sir or ma’am?”
 
“This is Eisenhower. Is the admiral in?”
 
“He is. One moment, sir.”
 
“Lee.”
 
“Richard, this is Dwight. I have a problem. Your Commodore Carpenter pushed through a plan for high altitude bombing of Germany. It cost us seven hundred and seventy-two aircraft and crews. The King wants him gone, and so do I. I’m sending him to you. I need him to receive an assignment commensurate with his skills.”
 
“Just a second.” He can hear Lee flipping through pages, “The Navy can’t send someone to Alaska to count trees. I’ll find a place for him. For now, put him on my staff.”
 
“Good. I’ll note it on his transfer. Next, I need a new Naval Forces UK. When will Hunt arrive?”
 
Lee takes a breath, “I promised to never give her temporary Commodore again.”
 
“Well, sort it out. I need her ASAP. My aircrews have subterranean morale. Only she can fix that, and the King wants her back. I’ll need her help on Sovereign as well.”
 
“Okay. I’ll get her to you.”
 
“She deserves the promotion. We both know it.” Eisenhower sighs, “Just get her here, okay?”
 
“Will do.”
 
“Thank you.”
 
NAVAIR OFFICE
 
Lee dials Hunt’s office at Canaveral, but it isn’t picked up. To himself, “When she hears, she will call. Better let Ashley know she’s coming. He calls home, “Honey, we will have Samantha at home later tonight.”
 
“Okay. Love you.”
 
“Love you, too.” Lee hangs up, looks at the phone, then grabs his coat. In his outer office, “Joe, I’m going to see Klindt.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
Klindt’s office is in the NAVAL SEA SYSTEMS COMMAND headquarters building. He walks in and upstairs. “Phil, does Craig have a moment?”
 
“He’s finishing up a meeting, sir. It’ll be, perhaps, five minutes.”
 
“I’ll wait.”
 
“Coffee, sir?”
 
“Please.”
 
In four minutes, the conference room doors open and French Admiral of the Fleet Darlan and Captain Mark Fronczak, in his guise as Admiral Franks, walk out. Darlan, “Admiral Lee. What a pleasant surprise.”
 
“It certainly is, Admiral.”
 
“I would love to discuss aviation matters with you sometime very soon. Perhaps dinner at our embassy this Friday?”
 
“That would be wonderful, sir.”
 
“Very good. Please, of course, include your lovely wife.”
 
“We would be honored.”
 
Darlan smiles, “Very good. Good day.”
 
Lee, “Admiral Franks. Good to see you.”
 
Fronczak offers his hand, “And you, sir.”
 
They leave and Lee follows his friend into his office, “What was that about?”
 
“The French found out we’ve built six ships for the Australians. They’re insisting we give them a dozen.”
 
“The Aussies paid for their ships.”
 
“I know, but they’re La France.”
 
“What do they want?”
 
“A carrier battlegroup. Isn’t going to happen. I do see us doing more technology transfers. Now, how can I help you, Rick?”
 
Lee takes a breath, “I need some advice. Carpenter put his name on that disastrous raid and ventilated his career. Ike is sending him home. No criminal charges. Just a ‘pack your shit and go.’ I was thinking about sending him to Boeing. I’m not doing much there.”
 
Klindt shakes his head, “I don’t think so. Keep him in your office. He needs a short leash.”
 
“Okay. Thing is, Ike wants to give Samantha NAV-FOR-UK again. I can’t give her a permanent promotion to Commodore and I promised to never give her another temporary promotion. What do I do?”
 
Craig, “She’s down in Florida right now?”
 
“Yeah. As soon as she gets the word about what happened, I expect a call. How did the launch go?”
 
Klindt, “Blew up on the pad. However, the engines fired and most systems worked. Baby steps. Rick, you have her come here first and talk to her. In fact, I should have John and Liz come out. I think it’s a good time for a family reunion. Lord knows Sam could use one.”
 
“You get the Morrisons. I have Gloria. I’ll get Samantha.”
 
“What’s Gloria doing?”
 
Lee, “I just gave her Vice NAVAIR until I give her PCO of the Kitty Hawk. After the Washington, she deserves a carrier.”
 
“I agree.”
 
MOUSETRAP BAR, COCO BEACH, FL
 
1945, 21 March, 1944
 
Sam sips her whiskey, “Scott, thank you for asking me down here. I needed the challenge.”
 
Scott Richardson sips his beer and nods, “Space might still be in your future.”
 
“Even if it isn’t, I enjoy this. What are we going to name these rockets?”
 
“I’ve been thinking about that. Do you have any ideas?”
 
Sam smiles, “They used a lot of gods, Titan, Thor, Atlas, Mercury, Apollo, what have you.”
 
Scott chuckles, “No godesses?”
 
“Nope.”
 
“I’ll name it Artemis. The rocket and the program. As I recall, Artemis was the goddess of the hunt.”
 
Sam looks at him, turns away and nods, smiling, “That works.”
 
Another patron asks the bartender, “Can you turn up the radio?”
 
“Sure.” He turns it up and they hear:
 
“The combined air forces of the allied powers in Europe launched a one-thousand aircraft raid into Germany yesterday. It was reported that they succeeded over every target, damaging Germany’s war industries, power production, and transportation hubs. However, General Doolittle, commander of the Eighth Airforce, is calling it a costly success. He reported that nearly three quarters of all aircraft involved were lost. I ask all of my listeners to pray for those lost and those families grieving today.”
 
Sam and Scott look at each other. At the same time, they say, “Oh my God.” The rest of the bar goes silent.
 
Scott starts to say something and Sam puts a finger to his lips, “Not here.” Every person in the bar turns and looks at her. She puts money on the table and they walk out.
 
Scott, “What are you going to…”
 
She interrupts, “Not here.”
 
“Okay.”
 
She exceeds the speed limit back to base. When they get into their office, she picks up a phone and dials, telling the operator the number she needs.
 
Ashley, “Lee residence.”
 
“Hi mom. Is dad in?”
 
“No, dear. He’s at the office.”
 
“Okay, love you.” She hangs up and dials again.
 
“NAVAIR, this is a non-secure line, how may I help you, sir or ma’am?”
 
“This is Captain Hunt. I need to speak with Admiral Lee.”
 
“He’s expecting your call, ma’am.”
 
A click, then, “Hi honey. I know what’s on your mind and we need a face to face. Grab a flight to Washington soonest.”
 
“I’ll take a T-16 up tonight, Dad.”
 
“Good. Land at Bolling and come home. We have a lot to talk about.”
 
“Okay, bye, Dad.”
 
“I love you, Punkin.”
 
“Love you, too.” Sam hangs up the phone, “We have a T-16, right?”
 
Scott shakes his head, “You had whiskey. I just turned on a C-38 Globestar. It’s a small personnel transport. I also sent the staff to pack you up.”
 
“Scott, I can fly.”
 
“Not after whiskey, Sam. I’m not running NASA that way, astronaut candidate Hunt.”
 
She grins, “Yes, sir.”
 
THE BUNKER O-CLUB, RAF KENLEY, UK
 
0118, 22 March, 1944
 
The Bunker is built in a WWI ammo bunker. Inside, it’s decorated with memorabilia from the second Battle of Britain. Major Chuck ‘Right Stuff’ Yeager sits at the bar, a mug of beer in front of him. Tears stream down his cheeks. He wipes his face and downs the beer in one drink. He taps it and the bartender refills it.
 
The surviving air crews are silent. LCOL Tom ‘Chuckles’ Roots walks in, spots Chuck and joins him, “The Germans never came.”
 
Chuck acquires Tom and glares, “They could come at any time.”
 
“They won’t, Chuck. They’re still afraid of us.”
 
“Why? Why should they be. Tom, they fucked us up. They…they broke us.”
 
Roots, “Nope. No, Chuck.” He puts a hand on Chuck’s shoulder, “Grieve tonight, friend. Tomorrow, get back to work. When Spike comes, we need to have our shit together.”
 
Yeager straightens up, “She’s coming?”
 
“I haven’t heard anything official. I did hear that Carpenter is being relieved. Who else would you assign?”
 
“No way we’ll be that lucky.”
 




CHAPTER 13

APRON, NAS BOLLING, WASHINGTON, DC
 
2255, 21 March, 1944
 
The navy C-38 comes to a stop and Sam stands and grabs the smaller of her three bags. An AB3, “Ma’am, we got your bags, ma’am.”
 
“Thank you.”
 
“It don’t look right, Captain carrying her own luggage. Begging your pardon.”
 
Sam smiles, “I understand. Thank you.” She walks off the plane. Waiting for her under an awning is Captain Gloria ‘Hot Pants’ Houlihan. Sam’s face lights up, “Gloria!”
 
“Hi, Sam.” She hugs her friend, “How are you?”
 
“Maybe a little better than you think I am, but not much. How’s Swede?” They walk together through the terminal.
 
Gloria, “Good. He’s finishing up nuke school. I’m glad I’m not going glow worm. That school is brutal.”
 
“Yeah, I heard. Who relieved you as CAG?”
 
“Thud. He’s standing up Naval Air Division One. Super-CAG has gone official.”
 
Sam, “Who has the training wing?” They get into the rear of a Navy sedan and the enlisted men load her bags in the trunk.
 
“Walker. Thorn is standing up a squadron for the Lincoln and it seems we’re all being moved around.”
 
“How are you?”
 
Gloria, “I’m good. You know, you’re really good at making the conversation about anything but you.”
 
Sam, “What’s your next assignment?”
 
“Sam, how are you? Can we talk about Jere?”
 
“Gloria, please don’t pull off that scab. I’m starting to function again.”
 
“Function is a poor definition for living.”
 
Sam sighs, “I know, honey. Can we talk about it later, please?” They pull up to Lee’s home in Arlington, Virginia.
 
Gloria, “I’m going to hold you to that.”
 
The driver unloads Sam’s luggage and brings it in the house.
 
Ashley, “Samantha!” She walks down the stairs, opening her arms.
 
Sam walks into her arms, “Hi, Mom, I’m home.”
 
“I love you. You have your old room. We moved Charlotte in with us and gave Gloria her room.”
 
Sam grins, “Gloria, aren’t you a little big for a crib?”
 
“I am, but the lullabies are great.” Gloria laughs and follows them into the living room where baby Charlotte is sleeping in a bassinette.
 
Ashley, “Coffee or tea?”
 
Sam, “Tea if you have it.”
 
“I do. Coming up.”
 
“Where’s dad?”
 
“Still at the office. He’ll be here in a few minutes. Get comfy. Are you hungry, Sam?”
 
“I ate before I flew.”
 
BRIDGE, SS MOROZOV, 10 KNOTS, 60 MILES NORTH-WEST OF KITAKYUSHU, JAPAN
 
1145 22 March, 1944
 
Merchant Captain Novikov, “We’re well clear of Japan. I hate our time in Japan, Vassili. I constantly fear betrayal.”
 
His first officer, Vassili Orlov, “They get the titanium they want. We get the jet engines and rice we want. Why would they betray us?”
 
Novikov, “Because, technically speaking, we are at war.”
 
Orlov smiles, “Well, yes, technically speaking.”
 
Mallory, a huge man in blue US Navy coveralls, holding a Colt 1911 in his hand like it’s a toy, enters the bridge. In English, “Well, what do we have here?” Three of his men, carrying rifles follow him in and spread out.
 
Novikov has been to America many times before the war, “Who the fuck are you?”
 
Mallory, “What were you doing in Japan, Captain?”
 
“Who are you?”
 
“I’m Commander Mallory, US Navy. What were you doing in Japan, Captain?”
 
Novikov, “None of your business, Commander!”
 
Mallory, “Men, tie them up. When the ship is secure, take them to the mess.”
 
Novikov, “Fuck you.”
 
ST1SS Ernie Neighbors grabs the Russian and spins him around to the back wall, “I was a boy scout Captain Motherfucker. You ain’t getting out of this.” Novikov struggles to get free and Neighbors puts him on the deck, tying his hands behind his back.
 
Novikov, “I will, fucking murder all of you for this! You will never survive!”
 
Mallory, “Now, Captain, that’s decidedly unhelpful. Understand, the easiest thing for me to do would be to kill you all and dump you at sea. Now, I ask again. What were you doing in Japan?”
 
Captain Novikov remains silent. 
 
LCDR James Giblin joins him, “Sir, the ship is secure. No casualties. The crew is being held on the mess decks as ordered. There’s twenty-two, plus these guys.”
 
Mallory nods, “Very well. Watch team, man the bridge watch. Make our course 042.”
 
BALL BEARING FACTORY, SCHWEINFURT GERMANY
 
0610 22 March, 1944
 
A staff car stops in front of a group of civilians milling around in front of the plant. A German Army Oberst steps out, “What is left of the ball bearing plant?”
 
“Almost nothing, sir. Foundations. The kiln survives. The attack was devastating, sir.”
 
“Yes. I will have men from the camps brought to clean up and rebuild. Remember, the Jewish filth I will bring is to be treated as the vermin they are.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
HQ, EIGHTH AIRFORCE, RAF DAWES HILL, BUCKINGHAMSHIRE, ENGLAND
 
0710, 22 March, 1944
 
LCOL Tom ‘Chuckles’ Roots knocks, then walks into the General’s office, “You wanted to see me, sir?”
 
Lieutenant General Jimmy Doolittle stands and offers his hand, “Have a seat.” He pours them both coffees, “You’ve done very well in squadron command, Colonel. You took charge when your boss was lost and escorted the surviving bombers out of Germany. I want to give you the 65th Fighter wing. I know you’re a ninety. I’m new in theater. How would you assess our last operation?”
 
“It was stupidly conceived by a weak officer who desperately wanted to appear strong. He based his intelligence on Hollywood fictions about a war that will never, ever happen. We own the sky over France and the low countries, but Germany is a different matter. We need to weasel the fuck out of Germany, before we go there again, sir.”
 
Doolittle, “How would you do that? How would you weasel them?”
 
“There’s no one way. The wild weasel dances with the SAM sites. They change and we change, then they change again. War is evolution, like Darwin said, the side that evolves fastest, generally wins.”
 
GUEST ROOM, KLINDT HOME, FORT HUMPHREYS, WASHINGTON, DC
 
1636, 22 March, 1944
 
Liz holds John to her, “Thank you, my love.”
 
Recovering his breath, he smiles, loving the feel of her in his arms. “I love you, Liz. I wish we weren’t half the world apart all the time.”
 
“I do, too. Do you know what Craig is up to?”
 
“I assumed it’s to support Sam. You know I knew Jere, right?”
 
Liz, “I…I assumed you met.”
 
John releases Liz, lying beside her, “I was there when he lost his first swim buddy. I was there for other missions as well. He declared his love for her after a mission on my boat. I was at their wedding.” He turns his head and looking at her, “It’s nothing to Sam’s experience, but I lost a friend, too.”
 
Liz turns to him and wraps him in a hug, pulling his head onto her chest, “You did.”
 
“Jere was a good man. His moral code was unshakable. He wore his heart on his sleeve. He and Sam were perfect for each other.” He looks at Liz, “If she ends up in England, I’ll do my best to keep an eye on her from Scotland.”
 
“Thank you, love.”
 
There’s a knock on the door and FADM Craig Klindt says through the door, “Lee and his family will be over in about a half hour. You might want to be presentable.”
 
Liz laughs, “Thank you, Craig.” Never taking their gaze off each other, they shower and dress. A few minutes later, they join Craig and Julia in the living room.
 
Klindt chuckles, “I’m sorry to cut your reunion short.”
 
John, “I understand. Can I ask why you sent for me?”
 
“All will be explained over dinner.”
 
THE FLIGHTDECK BAR, PENSACOLA, FLORIDA
 
1650, 22 March, 1944
 
LCDR Julie “Mouse” Mulligan walks in and spots CDR Ashley ‘Rose’ Thorn. She walks up to the table, “You wanted to see me, ma’am?”
 
Ashley smiles, “Have a seat, Mouse. I’d prefer just Ashley or Rose.”
 
“Okay, Ashley.”
 
“What do you want to eat or drink?”
 
“Um, a house beer is fine, m…Ashley.”
 
Ashley motions to a waitress, “I understand Captain Hunt commissioned you.”
 
“Yeah, she did. She needed a RIO for Commander Cash. Cash was a lieutenant then.” The waitress puts two mugs of beer on the table and Thorn pays.
 
“So, you fought in England, transitioned back to sea, and fought through the Pacific until a few days ago. Your record shows seventy-eight kills. Most were with Commander Cash.”
 
Mulligan, “Why does this feel like an interview?”
 
Thorn smiles, “It is and it isn’t. You already have the job. You’re relieving Lizard as CO of a training squadron, the Vagabonds, in a couple days. The thing is, I’ve been asked to stand up VFA-21 for the Lincoln and I need a new instructor here for a very special class. Can you tell me about your Navy Cross?”
 
“That was in Guam.” Mulligan takes a breath, “Why do you need to know, ma’am?”
 
“I was a guest of the Gestapo for about six months. I’ve learned to speak about it. Julie, I’m no longer afraid of it.”
 
“I was a guest of the Japanese for only two days. It…it was hard.”
 
Thorn nods her head, “I set up a class on being captured as a female. I graphically discuss what capture means for a woman. I need you to take over the class for me. That means I need you to graphically discuss what happened to you. Can you, do it?”
 
Mouse sighs, “Right. It was a low-level ejection. I managed to get a call out before ejecting, so I knew higher was aware. I was captured as soon as I hit the ground. No chance to evade because I basically landed on top of them. I was hauled into a tunnel system. They stripped all my gear off me and stripped me. I think an officer was first. “I’m not sure. Anyway, I was gang raped off and on for hours. You have to crawl yourself into your head. You have to separate your soul from your body. I used mental focus exercises to keep sane. It wasn’t creative torture, just a line of guys fucking me. I was given water and cast aside. They never attempted to interrogate me. Later, they brought in three captured marines. The Japs got off on raping me in front of the marines. It pissed the marines off which made the Japanese laugh. All of it was for entertainment.”
 
Rose nods, “I was rescued by the British MI-6, and then the SEALs. What about you?”
 
“The Japanese shot the marines and left. Anyway, for the first time, I was left with one inept guard, like in those James Bond movies. I kicked his ass, got his rifle, slung the surviving marine over my shoulder, and escaped. I went south, because I knew that was where the lines were. A TARPS bird spotted me. Hunt had an A-10 fly over south to north and drop flares. I knew they spotted me. Not hard to spot a naked white chick carrying a guy over her shoulder. Anyway, I realized they wanted me to go north, so I did and was retrieved by helo.”
 
“How were you able to kick his ass?”
 
“My dad decided his sweet little girl wasn’t going to be a push over and took me to karate classes. We did karate together for eight years when I was in middle school, high school, and college. I have a black belt.”
 
“Are you willing to turn your story into a curriculum and teach it to every female student?”
 
Mulligan nods, “How do the students react to the training?”
 
“About ten percent drop the program. Hopefully, the rest learn the necessary coping skills.”
 
“Ashley, did you end up pregnant?”
 
“Yes. On the submarine, I received an abortion. I owe a lot to Captain Morrison for allowing that. How about you?”
 
“I’m on the pill. No.”
 
“Good, you’re a lesson on using the pill, too.”
 
“Yeah. It’s now available for all females in the Navy.”
 
Ashley, “The Catholics and orthodox religion-nazi’s hate it. I don’t care.”
 
“Agreed. I know Thud has the training wing. How’s he to work with?”
 
“He’s the new super-CAG. Captain Walker is the new training wing commander. He’s decent. His wife is really nice. Don’t ever assume Walker doesn’t know the most minor technical detail. I think he’s memorized every manual for every bird.”
 
“I can work with that. Hell, I love competence.”
 
“Good.”
 
KLINDT HOME, FORT HUMPHRIES, WASHINGTON, DC
 
1705, 22 March, 1944
 
Sam is the last to walk in. The house is warm and filled with light. Julie pulls her into a hug, “Samantha, I’m so glad to see you.”
 
Sam smiles, wearily, “It’s great to see you too, Julie.” She whispers in her ear, “What’s going on?”
 
Julie steps back and looks Sam over, “You look good.” She hugs her again and whispers back, “You started a game of musical chairs. We’re trying to make sure everyone has a chair.”
 
“How did I start it?”
 
“You’re going to England. Frank relieved Gloria because she realized she needed a break. We realized Liz and John need changes as well. The dominoes are falling, so we’re trying to be certain everyone gets what they want.”
 
Sam shakes her head, “John is leaving Scotland?”
 
“We’re sorting that out tonight.”
 
A sigh, “Okay. Thank you.” Sam joins her friends in the living room.
 
Craig is handing out cocktails. He lifts his, “To a better future.”
 
They drink. Gloria joins Sam, “Have you heard Carpenter has been relieved. Sam nods. “Is your plan to take Yankee and NAVFORUK again?”
 
“What?”
 
“Sam, are you even listening? Are you interested in taking Yankee again? It would mean putting on another temporary star.”
 
“You’ve already started your job, haven’t you?”
 
Gloria smiles, “I guess I have. Hon, this whole thing wraps around what you want. If you want your star again, it’s yours.”
 
“I know they will need me to sort out the mess after the raid. I can do that working for Eisenhower, or even for Doolittle. Wait, why is Carpenter being relieved?”
 
“It was his plan, honey. Carpenter wanted to relive ‘Twelve O’clock High.’ I guess he cast himself as the villain.”
 
“Why would they want me to be Yankee? There isn’t any Navy air there anymore. What does Yankee do?”
 
“I don’t know.” She pulls Sam over to Craig and Rick, “Guys, what is Yankee in charge of now?”
 
Craig, “It’s a region command with a sub base, surface base, aviation ASW, and the special weapons program.”
 
Sam, “Who has that mission?”
 
Lee, “Colonel Roots. He commands 65th Fighter Wing. He’s a ninety.”
 
Sam, “I know who he is. He and his sister, Holly, escaped from Germany to Switzerland. I got them out by C-130. If all that Yankee has is a couple small bases, why can’t a captain command it?”
 
Lee, “We’ve already started, Craig. We might just as well lay it all out.” Craig nods and Lee continues, “We have a tentative plan for all of you. Before it’s executed, we wanted buy in from each of you.”
 
Craig, “Liz, your command has grown bigger than anyone can manage and needs to be split up. It also needs a commodore over it. I want you to have an at sea command before we hang a star on you. Tenzar has agreed to accept a star and nuclear construction. Captain Neyhi has enjoyed two years commanding a light cruiser. I’d like to give him nuclear power school. He needs to requalify in the next couple years anyway. I want to give you the Long Beach.”
 
Liz, “Okay. What about John?”
 
Craig, “John, we cut you short on the San Fran. I’d like to make you PCO of the Virgin Islands. It’s the fourth Alaska class.”
 
“Who will take navy base Clyde and SUBRON-12?”
 
Craig, “Your XO, Tommy Urland will take Clyde and Greg Backes will take SUBRON-12. Naval Forces, UK will be over both.”
 
John, “Who will take the San Francisco?”
 
Craig, “Steve Miller.”
 
John nods, “Okay. He’s ready.”
 
Liz looks at them, surprised, “Are you nuts. No. No, John can’t be assigned a command of forty-ones. He’d get fragged. Do remember my husband is half Japanese.”
 
Craig and Rick look at each other. Lee, “Hasn’t the Navy outgrown that kind of prejudice?”
 
Houlihan, “No, it hasn’t. The outrage over Japanese Americans suing to get their property back is actually making it worse.”
 
Craig, “How is Chris doing?”
 
Houlihan, “We kind of kept him sheltered. Thud and I had a long talk about him when I left. Chris was assaulted in Hawaii. He chose not to press charges. John, how has it been in Scotland?”
 
John smiles, “They all know what we did and are doing against the submarines. I’d be fine helping Sam over there.”
 
Craig, “Okay. John stays for now. Later, I want him here on my staff. As nuclear construction grows, I’ll need him.”
 
Houlihan, “Will Maki get a command?”
 
Craig, “I’m working on that. Right now, I need him where he is.” He looks at Lee.
 
Lee takes over, “Gloria has already accepted my Vice NAVAIR role for now. In a few months, I’m giving her PCO of the Kitty Hawk. It’s due to launch in July. She’s already the first woman to command a carrier. I want her to enjoy it.”
 
Houlihan, “I’ll be ready, sir.”
 
Rick chuckles, “You’re never really ready for command, but you’ll do fine. That leaves Samantha. I’ve already talked to Ike. Samantha, I know you want to unfuck the UK. We originally had a spot at Eisenhower’s Navy planning desk. If you’re willing, I’d like you to assume Naval Forces UK and Yankee when you get there. It means putting on your temporary star again.”
 
“Why does it have to be a star. When I was there, I commanded everything the navy owned in theater and every aircraft that flew, regardless of nationality. Now it’s two navy bases and the ASW. I can manage that as a captain. For that matter, Give John NAVFOR and me Yankee. Then all I have is the special ordinance, S-3’s, and helicopters. I don’t need a command to train the air force.”
 
Craig, “You don’t want the star?”
 
“It opens an old wound, Craig. It will put pressure back on congress to promote me, pissing everyone off. Give the temporary star to John.” She smiles, “You know, as a captain, I can still fly now and then. A captain should maintain proficiency.”
 
John steps back, “Me?”
 
Sam looks at him, “Yes, you. The temporary star lacks the same sting it has with me. Maybe someday, I’ll get a permanent star. Meanwhile, I’m happy where I am.”
 
Craig nods, “I’ll continue putting pressure on Congress, regardless. King called their bluff about six months ago and submitted your name. They shot down the whole slate as they said they would.”
 
Sam, “I’m not surprised. I hope the rest of the promotions were resubmitted and approved.”
 
Craig nods, “Yes. It’s bullshit, but there you are.”
 
Lee, “Okay. We split Yankee and NAVFOR. Give John NAVFOR with the star and give Samantha Naval Air Division Two. The landing at Marseille is going to require three super-carrier wings with the amphibious carriers. I’m sure Ike will approve the split, and be happy she has the air battle.”
 
Sam nods, “Super-CAG is still a captain slot.”
 
Lee, “It is, honey. I want you to have some kind of command while you’re on Ike’s staff. I’m not sure why, but it feels important.”
 
Sam nods, “Okay, dad. I want my presence there quiet. No news reports. Having the media all over me will embarrass the Air Force and make my job harder.”
 
Craig, “Agreed. Samantha, tomorrow, Truman’s committee wants to talk to you about PI. It’s voluntary and closed. Can you handle it?”
 
Sam nods.
 
Lee, “Feel free to throw MacArthur under the bus in the session. It’s high time the bloom fell off that particular rose.”
 
Sam smiles wanly, “He has a lot of friends.”
 
Craig, “So do you. You have power chips in that game. Feel free to cash some out.”
 
Sam shakes her head and looks at Craig, “He has five stars and I have none. It would come off as ungrateful and mean spirited.”
 
Liz, “That’s not how to destroy Dug Out Doug, Sam. You can’t criticize him. What you do is praise him for doing the wrong thing. You phrase your criticism as praise. Let the senate draw their own conclusion.”
 
Craig smiles.
 
Lee, “Liz, have you ever used that technique?”
 
“Sure. I got the engineer on my first ship fired that way. He was cooking the training books and when we had the OPPE inspection team aboard, I praised his plan as innovative. He went away.”
 
Lee’s eyes widen, “Remind me to never piss you off, Liz.”
 
“You’re a good man and a good leader, Rick. It would never work on you. However, when someone has skeletons in their closet, it’s the best technique to force that closet door open.”
 
John shares a smile with his wife, “About those Senators who shot down your promotion, Sam. It’s an election year. We could hand that information to their opponents.”
 
Rick, “It’s providing information they have a legal right, too. If you want, Craig, I’ll handle it.”
 
Gloria, “No you won’t, Rick. I’ll grab me a drink in the right bar and drop the bomb. Julia will know where. I can claim ignorance and you can’t. Rick, Keep in mind, it impacts me, too.”
 
Sam, “Gloria, don’t get yourself in trouble.”
 
“Me?” She affects a southern accent, “Little ol’ me? Pshaw.”
 
MASTER CHIEF BOND’S HOME, MARYLAND
 
1756, 22 March, 1944
 
Lieutenant James ‘Radar’ Cooper, “Fluffy, you and I both know she’s going to England. Do you have any idea what command she’ll be assigned to?”
 
AOCM Bruce ‘Fluffy’ Bond, “I don’t. Craig and Dixie are sorting that out right now.”
 
James, “I need orders there. She’ll need a whole support team.”
 
“What do you think will happen?”
 
“Whatever her command is, it will be in England. She’ll be fixing the Air Force’s mess, which means she’ll be flying. We need to get her Tomcats with ground and air crews.”
 
Fluffy, “Why?”
 
“Do you want the news to show her unassing an Air Force bird?”
 
“I don’t.”
 
Radar, “Me, neither. Do you have a phone number for Lizard? He’s between commands. They want him to stand up a new squadron in a month and a half. I want him to fly with her. LCDR Alcott is getting an XO spot. She and BS have around sixty kills.”
 
Donna Bond walks into her husband’s study and give the two men beer, “Are we solving the world’s problems, boys?”
 
Bruce hugs his wife, “Radar is hashing out how to support Samantha in England.”
 
“Is she even going there?”
 
The men nod. Bruce, “The chair force fucked up. She’ll need to clean up the mess and get people’s heads straight. James, why do you want aces for her wingmen?”
 
James, “They will be training tools. She can’t be the only one to embarrass the Air Force. And, when she flies combat, they know exactly how to cover her ass.”
 
“I agree. We have a day to set all this up. I’ll get the birds.”
 
“Thank you, Fluffy.”
 
SENATE COMMITTEE ROOM
 
0915, 23 March, 1944
 
Senator Carl Vinson, “Isn’t it unusual for a five-star general to involve himself in the fleet dispositions for the landings. I would think that would be a naval matter.”
 
Hunt, “Senator, General of the Army MacArthur didn’t involve himself in all the fleet dispositions. He was concerned with the San Bernadino Strait and Ticao Pass. As I understand it, he personally chose my unit to be positioned in Ticao Pass so we were far enough from the landings to effectively defend the strait and pass.”
 
“I understand you were involved with the planning for the operation. I take it he was concerned that an enemy surface group may attempt to force the strait?”
 
“No, sir. He dismissed those concerns. He didn’t believe the Japanese would repeat their plans.”
 
Vinson asks, “Was he aware of the history of this operation?”
 
“Yes, sir. I briefed him on it personally.”
 
“So, if he wasn’t worried about a surface attack, why was he concerned about Ticao and San Bernadino?”
 
Hunt, “He was concerned that the Japanese may attempt to resupply by sea.”
 
“The Japanese held all of the islands. Couldn’t the Japanese resupply from other directions?”
 
Hunt smiles, “Yes, sir. They could.”
 
“In fact, didn’t the Japanese attempt to resupply Leyte from the south.”
 
“Yes, sir. Their units were engaged by aircraft.”
 
Vinson, “The resupply effort you engaged, could it have been sunk by aircraft?”
 
“It could, sir.”
 
“Captain, who commanded the combined air groups during the liberation of Guam?”
 
Hunt, “I did, sir.”
 
“You commanded from your destroyer, correct?”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
Vinson, “Who commanded the combined air groups during the landings on the Philippines?”
 
“Captain Houlihan, sir.”
 
“Why didn’t you reprise your roll?”
 
Hunt replies, “I wasn’t in position to do so. Captain Houlihan was in the air and better positioned for that role. I would add that she did very well.”
 
“So, MacArthur deliberately placed your unit where you could not support the air defense of the fleet and landing beaches?”
 
“That was his decision. Yes, sir.”
 
Vinson, “Was he aware of that consequence when he made that decision?”
 
“Yes, sir. I made him aware that I couldn’t support the air battle from Ticao.”
 
Vinson, “Thank you. I yield my remaining time to the chair.”
 
Senator Harry Truman, “First, I want to offer my condolences on the loss of your husband.”
 
“Thank you, sir.”
 
“How would you describe your relationship with General MacArthur?”
 
Hunt, “Sir?”
 
Truman, “Do you get along well with the general?”
 
“Sir, he’s a senior officer. I don’t understand what you’re asking?”
 
“When was the first time you spoke to MacArthur?”
 
Hunt smiles, “Over PI during our operations there in 1941, sir. We communicated via radio. Admiral Ren asked me to make contact.”
 
“When did you first meet?”
 
“It was during a planning meeting in March of last year, sir.”
 
Truman, “How did that go?”
 
Hunt smiles, “He was very assertive, sir, as a General should be. As you might recall, we toured several ships with Admiral Nimitz.”
 
Truman, “Yes. It was your idea as I understand. A public relations ploy to cover an argument between Nimitz and MacArthur, as well as a physical altercation between you and MacArthur. Please describe for us that physical altercation.”
 
Hunt is silent for several seconds, “Yes, sir. It was just a misunderstanding. He assumed I was comfortable with physical touch from behind. He assumed I was like a civilian woman and would respond passively to such touch. I do not allow myself to be manhandled. When he grabbed me, as he would, say his wife or daughter, I responded by taking control of the situation. He wasn’t harmed and neither was I.”
 
“Was he okay with your response?”
 
She smiles, “I don’t imagine he had any choice in the matter. As I said, it was a mere misunderstanding.”
 
Truman, “Basically, we want to understand why he put your unit where he did. Was it because it expressed some military need, or was his decision personal?”
 
“Sir, I can’t put words in his mouth.”
 
Truman, “We’ve been briefed on your history of MacArthur. I’ve personally read American Caesar. We know about why I relieved him during the Korean conflict. We know he tends toward grandiosity and holds a larger-than-life image of himself. Based on your interactions with the man, why do you believe he placed your unit there?”
 
“Sir, have you read Admiral Lee’s report on the matter?”
 
Truman, “We have.”
 
“Sir, he was my superior officer. It’s not appropriate for me to criticize my superior officer. Also, had he not put me there, the invasion beaches in Albay Gulf would have likely fallen. Thousands of marines, soldiers, and sailors would have been lost.”
 
Truman, “Yes, it all worked out. We’re wanting his state of mind.”
 
“Sir, after the war, he’s very successful in rebuilding Japan. With anyone else in charge, it would likely go much worse.”
 
“As you understand it, Captain, what was his intension?”
 
She lowers her head, then looks at him, “Sir, I do not now, and have never cared one iota about publicity, popularity, or press. I do my job as best as I can and ignore all that. After the failed invasion in the UK, I’ve become somewhat well known. General MacArthur is a very different person. To him, image and press are very important. He seemed to want me away from the action. He didn’t want me in the headlines. As Captain Houlihan was more than capable of handling the combined air wing, and the interdiction mission was rational and reasonable, there was no reason not to comply. Also, he was not the person who ordered me to hold. That was the TAO on the Essex. It was the correct call.”
 
Truman, “Would you be comfortable serving under his command in the future?”
 
“I hold no animosity against General MacArthur, sir. If so assigned, I would continue to do my duty. I believe it would be in his interest to treat me fairly.”
 
“Why is that?”
 
“Sir, anything else would generate bad press.”




CHAPTER 14

NAVAIR OFFICE, WASHINGTON, DC
 
1100, 23 March, 1944
 
AOCM Bond knocks then walks into Lee’s office, “I’ve ordered four Tomcats for Spike. Grumman is painting them up.” He hands a stack of requisitions to Lee.
 
Lee, “What?”
 
“Boss, as Radar pointed out, do you want the press showing her climbing out of a chair-force bird?”
 
Lee sits back, “The press isn’t supposed to know she’s there.”
 
Fluffy grins, “After she leads them over Germany, the world will know.”
 
“You’re right. That will require a ground crew and air crews.”
 
“I already have Lizard to fly behind her. BS, Square, and Lizard are flying to Grumman right now. I’m looking for four more aircrew who are experienced aces that can help her teach. They’ll have to fly over later. Meanwhile, Master Chief Geller is putting together a ground crew.”
 
“You talked him into going?”
 
“He begged me. Sir, how should we paint up the birds?”
 
“Air Division-2. Give the nose a dragon mouth. Have them continue with that theme and knock themselves out. Make them all show birds. As for the other two aircrews, I know who to send.”
 
Bond grins, “Yes, sir.”
 
CAPITAL MALL, WASHINGTON, DC
 
1141, 23 March, 1944
 
Sam and Gloria walk together. Gloria, “So, your committee interview went well.”
 
Sam, “Truman has read the book on MacArthur, literally. Right now, they’re trying to figure out what to do with him.”
 
“He should be demoted to private and sent to cleaning shitters. The guy’s an ass. Did Liz’s advice help?”
 
“Yeah, it did.”
 
Gloria, “When are you going to allow yourself to grieve, Sam?”
 
Sam looks over at her friend, then looks away, “I have. Montana, home. I can’t here.”
 
Gloria grabs her shoulders and turns her, “Hey. Not enough. I can tell. So, why not here?”
 
“We’re in public, Gloria.”
 
“You don’t think the world will give you room to grieve, honey? Sam, get off the cross. We need the fucking wood.”
 
“I am grieving.”
 
“No, you’re bottling up your pain. Sam, you’re talking to me now. You’re not talking to some clueless civilian. I know you. I know your mind almost as well as I know my own. I know you’re bottled up. Honey, it’ll come out. Trust me, it will whether you like it or not, it’s going to come out.”
 
“Gloria, it’s an empty void. A bottomless well. If I look down it too long, I’ll fall. I…I can’t imagine my life now, not without him in it.”
 
“I know, honey.” She leads her into a copse of trees on the Mall.
 
They sit on a bench. Sam puts her face in hands, fighting back tears. “I can’t see a future. I knew it could happen. We both did. But…but Gloria, he died in my arms. I was right there. He said he loved me and then he was gone. He was looking right at me. I was pleading and he just said, ‘Sorry kiddo.’ He was there, and then he was gone.”
 
Gloria holds her friend. Two teenage boys with a pack of cigarettes, sneak into the copse of trees and Gloria waves them away.
 
ADMIRAL LEE’S OFFICE, NAVAIR SYSTEMS COMMAND
 
1215, 23 March, 1944
 
Commodore Carpenter is led into Lee’s office, “You wished to see me, sir?”
 
Lee sets down the papers he was reading and meets the Commodore’s gaze. He silently stares. Finally, “Do you know what the worst sin of leadership is?”
 
“Um. No sir.”
 
“It’s not you keeping two women at once. It’s not your drinking. No, it’s failure. Your plan cost the war more than you can seemingly understand. You took an exceptional command and ran it into shit.”
 
“You mean Hunt’s command. Everyone knows she’s your special little girl.”
 
Lee measures him with a cold gaze, “Carpenter, I don’t need you in government service. I don’t need you at all.”
 
“If you kick me out, the Army Air Force would snap me up.”
 
Lee slams his flat hands on his desk, “The army just dismissed you! No one wants an incompetent officer. Now, I’ve been studying on what I can do with you, maybe figure out a redeeming role somewhere, but you obviously have a chip on your shoulder. You have sixteen years in uniform. Are you going to throw that away?”
 
Sweat beads on Carpenter’s face, “I can fill a useful role, sir.”
 
“Can you, now? I think I need to keep you close to me. I’m pulling your security clearance and putting you in my Unfunded Proposals Office.”
 
“What proposals, sir?”
 
“It’s a small basket of money for evaluating unfunded projects.”
 
“What projects, sir?”
 
“I get hairbrained ideas across my desk every day. You can sort which are achievable and which might actually be useful. I’ll set you up an office down the hall. Understand, this town is covered in intelligence pukes looking to make their career by destroying a flag officer. Everyone is watching you. If you get out of line, even a little, you will be dismissed from the service and may get to enjoy a few years in Leavenworth. You may go.”
 
OFFCER’S CLUB, HICKHAM FIELD, HAWAII
 
1744, 23 March, 1944
 
CDR Steve Miller hoists his beer to Captain Greg Backes, “To a pleasant and quiet tour.”
 
Backes returns the salute and sips his beer, “It won’t be.”
 
“How do you figure?”
 
“Well, I have you working for me, Steve. That will be issues enough.”
 
“Ah, well I’m a monk and you’ve given me a great boat. It should be a quiet ride for you. Our subs are the best in the world.”
 
DULAG LUFT, OBERURSEL NEAR FRANKFURT
 
0510, 24 March, 1944
 
Luftwaffe Oberstleutnant Erich Killinger walks down a line of US Army Air Force officers. He stops, “Colonel, what was your target?”
 
Colonel Putnam, “I am a US Army Air Force officer…”
 
Killinger hits him in the stomach with a club, “Dispense with your nonsense. What was your target?”
 
Putnam, bends down, but remains standing. He gasps, “Go to hell.”
 
“Tsk. Tsk. If you do not wish to be helpful, perhaps I may influence you. This man beside you. Your copilot, no?” Putnam is silent. Killinger draws his luger, and points it at the captain’s head, “What was your target?”
 
Putnam, sweating, remains silent.
 
Killinger, “You don’t like him. Shame.” He pulls the trigger, scattering brains and gore over the standing men. He points his gun at the next in line, “What was your target?”
 
RAF KENLEY, SOUTH OF LONDON
 
1012, 24 March, 1944
 
Lieutenant James ‘Radar’ Cooper walks down the stairs of a C-56. Carrying his bags, he walks through the rain into the passenger terminal and sees RAF Warrant Officer Amanda Cooper. Her golden-brown hair is pulled back in a harsh bun. Her blue eyes shine.
 
He drops his bags and she rushes into his arms. After a long kiss, he says, “I missed you, love.”
 
“I know. I missed you, too. I have the week off, so let’s go.”
 
His eyes are on her, as she drives them off base. She looks over at him, “What?”
 
“Where are we staying?”
 
“I rented a room at a farm house. At first, the land lady grumbled. I had to show her our marriage license.”
 
“Have you heard anything about where she’ll be stationed, yet.”
 
“If she’s part of the general’s staff, she’ll be at Beckenham. If she’s NAVFORUK, she’ll be in Greenock, Scotland.”
 
“Like she was for Halsey, she will be dual hatted. Ike’s staff and Yankee. They’re calling it NAVAIRDIV-2.”
 
“What’s Naval Air Division Two?”
 
“It’s what they’re calling super-CAG now. I think she’ll be put in charge of, at least, the fighters. Maybe the whole show.”
 
“Doolittle is Eighth Airforce. Will she be in charge of him?”
 
“No, I doubt it. He best listen to her, though. What happened with the raid?”
 
“Carpenter got afraid that Captain Hunt was going to replace him, so he planned a massive raid. He pushed past everyone else’s misgivings. It was a disaster.”
 
“I’m so behind on the gossip here.”
 
She pulls up to a farm house and shuts off her car. “I’ll catch you up later.” They exit the car and he carries his bags into the house, “Our room is upstairs.” She leads him up to the room, where he sets his bags down in a small bedroom with a twin bed and a window looking over the garden and the farmlands beyond.
 
He wraps her in a hug. After a long kiss, she says, “Sailor, you’re overdressed.”
 
FLIGHT LINE, NAS BOLLING, WASHINGTON, DC
 
1455, 24 March, 1944
 
Gloria parks her Invicta, smiling.
 
Sam, “What are we doing, Gloria?”
 
“Come with me, honey.” They walk through a guarded gate and around a hanger. In front of the hanger are two brand new F/A-14E Tomcats. The nose of each has a snarling dragon mouth breathing fire. The ventral fins are painted blue with gold NAVAIRDIV-2. The vertical stabilizers are blue with a gold dragon’s wing. On the left canopy rail are hers and Lizard’s name along with her kill flags.
 
“Why Lizard?”
 
CDR Shawn ‘Lizard’ Todd walks out of the hanger, “Because I’m flying with you.”
 
“Shawn! What? Why?”
 
He grins, “Do you really think I would let you unfuck the Air Force without me. We need to show them how it’s done.”
 
“But you could have your own squadron?”
 
“I will, later. We’ll be flying with you for now.”
 
A jeep pulls up and Lt. Abigail ‘BS’ Jackson and LCDR Margret ‘PI’ Alcott get out. Abby says, “Hi Sam.”
 
Sam, “You, too?”
 
PI, “Someone has to watch your back. You’ll need divisional staff anyway. Also, this keeps Abby from serving under her husband.”
 
Sam nods, “Okay.” She grins, “Is Duck going to handle the ground crew?”
 
Lizard, “Nope. That will be Bobby. He insisted.”
 
Sam, “Where’s Radar?”
 
CDR Oscar ‘Hamm’ Hammond walks out of the hanger, “Hi, Spike. Cooper is laying the groundwork for us in England, and getting some well-deserved time with his wife. I have Master Chief sorting your ground crew. I want to be your chief of staff.”
 
“Oscar, you could have your own command.”
 
“I know. Look Spike, I’m white and male. I can get a command even after the war. If D-Day is going to work, you’ll need me over there running your ground game.”
 
“Okay, Oscar. Wow. You guys thought of everything.” She turns to Gloria, “Did you set this up?”
 
Gloria laughs, “Don’t give me so much credit. This was Fluffy and Cooper.”
 
Sam nods, “Lizard, you’re in charge of the birds and you’re going to double as my intel officer. PI, you have logistics and electrical systems on our birds. BS, you have mechanical systems and ordinance. Radar will have admin and personnel. Questions?”
 
Her people grin at her, and in chorus, “No ma’am.”
 
Hunt, “Okay, Oscar, when will Bobby be here with our people?”
 
Hamm, “0730, tomorrow morning.”
 
Hunt, “Good. PI, turn on a C-56 for our folks. Set the departure time for zero seven day after tomorrow. That gives the crews time to prep our birds and get any last-minute items. Find out how many tons of gear we need to ship and get it moving. I need to approve any private vehicles. I expect we’ll need government vehicles. We’re going to be stationed at Kenley.”
 
PI, “Yes, ma’am.”
 
Hunt, “Remember, we’re supposed to keep things quiet.” She looks at the flashy jets, “I love them, but we need to paint them subdued.”
 
Hamm, “Nope. Everyone knows you don’t like flashy. The birds won’t matter.”
 
Hunt, “Okay, then. Lizard, put together the flight plan. We leave 0700, 26 March. Here to Kenley with aerial refueling. We fly with the transport carrying our people. That way, if someone needs to divert, we have ground crew on hand.”
 
Todd, “Yes, ma’am.”
 
Hunt, “Sort out your uniforms. Once the world knows we’re there, we’ll be hobnobbing in high circles, so we best be squared away. That means dinner dress and pig stickers. Questions?” They just grin at her. “It feels good to be brown shoe again. Muster is here, zero seven hundred tomorrow. Dismissed.”
 
They get moving. Hammond walks up to Sam and shows her his wedding ring, “We wanted it to be small.”
 
Sam hugs Hammond, “I’m so happy for you.”
 
“Thanks, Sam. Any idea what we’re walking into?”
 
“Morale will be subterranean. They’re getting new air crews as fast as they can be trained, so most will have minimal ACM skills. D-Day is coming and we will need to own the sky, or the whole effort will fail.”
 
“So, no pressure then?” He grins.
 
“Nope. Easy-Peezy.”
 
SHAEF HQ, BECKENHAM, UK
 
0814, 25 March, 1944
 
Lt Cooper walks down a first-floor hallway. An Army major asks, “May I help you?” He reads Cooper’s medal rack that starts with a Silver Star and includes the Navy Meritorious Service Medal with a V device, and Purple Heart. Cooper is also wearing the royal crown device he earned with the Black Knights. The major shakes his head, “Who are you?”
 
“Lieutenant Cooper, sir. I’m with Captain Hunt’s staff.”
 
“Ah. I take it you were with her in PI?”
 
“I’ve been with her from the beginning. I’ll follow her where ever she goes, sir.”
 
“I see. Please come with me.”
 
“Your name, sir?”
 
“Major Hartly, Lieutenant.” He leads Cooper into his office, “She’ll sit Ike’s Naval Air Planning desk. Do you know anything about naval planning, son?”
 
“Sir, I was here, supporting her throughout her time in England, as a yeoman. On the Hubler, she decided to commission me. I’ve been trained by her. Also, she knows more about naval operations than anyone in any service on any side of this war.”
 
“That’s a bold statement.”
 
“Sir, she destroyed the Yamato battle group with a destroyer squadron. Can you name me any other naval leader with a similar achievement?”
 
“You were there?”
 
“I was, yes.”
 
“She lost her unit. What did she do wrong?”
 
“What did Leonitus do wrong at Thermopylae, sir? What did Themistocles do wrong at Salamis? What did Julius Caeser do wrong at Alesia? What did King David do wrong against Goliath? Sure, our DERSON was destroyed. That was inevitable when an ARMY general ordered her to hold the line against a vastly superior force. Now, if you have the time, sir, I can discuss the errors of one General MacArthur all day.”
 
Major Hartly smiles, “You don’t like the army?”
 
“Sir, where was the army when five hundred sailors fought alone on Hunt’s Hill? The marines came. Hell, I love the Corps. Those guys had our back. The army? MacArthur put us in that pass and ordered us to stay. He denied us the support we needed, and when we were on that hill alone, MacArthur sent a fucking lieutenant colonel to relieve her, so she wouldn’t steal his press. Eisenhower is a stand-up guy. I’ve met him several times, but MacArthur can go fuck himself.”
 
“What do you see as your role here, Lieutenant?”
 
“I will take care of all the administrative minutia so she can focus on the war fighting. It’s what I’ve done for her since we came back in time.”
 
“I see. That’s my job for General Bradley. Do you know why your Captain hasn’t received a star?”
 
Cooper smiles, “That, sir, is a great question. I suggest you write a letter to your congressman and ask that exact question. They’re the only ones who can answer.”
 
“You’re pretty salty for a lieutenant.”
 
“I’ve earned my salt, sir. Captain Hunt has, too.”
 
“Is she going to be a pain in the ass?”
 
“She’s amazing to work for and with, as long as you’re competent, do your job, and don’t try to stab her in the back. Office politics pisses her off. Also, sir, don’t ask about her kills.”
 
“I see.”
 
“Good. Any chance you could have one of your folks show me our desks? I need to sort where she’ll be staying.”
 
NAS BOLLING, WASHINGTON, DC
 
0635, 26 March, 1944
 
Sam hugs Rick and Ashley. She kisses Charlotte on the forehead, “Thank you both so much.”
 
Rick, “We have your back, honey. Now and always.”
 
Tears threatening to roll down her cheeks, she gives them another hug and walks to her jet.
 
Ashley holds Rick’s arm, “I’m going to miss her.” The APU on Spikes jet whines to life.
 
“Me, too, baby. Thing is, she’s back in her element. She’s back where she belongs.”
 
“She was an amazing destroyer commander.”
 
Rick, “I know. She excels wherever she goes, but commanding in the air is where she belongs. The Air Force is going to hate some of what she does, but it will work.” The left engine spools up.
 
“Why will they hate it?”
 
“Because they don’t have a Spike and they refuse to let women serve.”
 
Ashley, “Is she the only leader who can fix this?” The right engine spools up.
 
“Nope. The Army has leaders who could do it, but no one comes with her reputation. Her presence alone will make a difference. The Army has no one like that.”
 
“Is she going to fly combat?”
 
Rick, “Yes, she will.” Sam trips the brakes and starts taxiing.
 
Ashley points at the 151 German and Japanese kill flags, “That’s her flags?”
 
“Yep. A hundred and fifty-one, and the ships she’s sank.”
 
“Were some from when she was on the Hubler?”
 
“No. Those kills count for the ship but not for her.”
 
“A year with her destroyer and she’s still the ace of aces?”
 
“She is.”
 
“Counting kills is barbaric, like taking scalps.”
 
“I agree, but it’s what’s expected.”
 
YANKEE-1, OVER THE ATLANTIC
 
0922, 26 March, 1944
 
Lizard, “We haven’t had time to talk for a while.”
 
“I know. How’s your Congressional friend?”
 
“That didn’t work out. She wanted a secret fling and not a relationship. Oh well.”
 
Spike smiles, “Were you in Corpus Christy or Pensacola?”
 
“Corpus Christy. Lots of pretty Texas girls. No problem finding girls who wanted to marry a flyer. Not a one of them wanted me.”
 
“That sucks.”
 
“Sorry, Spike. After all you’ve been through, you don’t need to hear relationship whining from me.”
 
“Oh, I don’t mind, Lizard. If I focused on all the…the losses, I would be non-functional. Boy-girl stuff feels refreshingly domestic.”
 
“I heard the future queen is in the navy?”
 
“Are you thinking about dating Elizabeth?”
 
He turns red, “No. Oh, no. Nope. Doesn’t she marry a prince or something?”
 
“Yeah. Prince Phillip. They’ve already met. He’s a descendant of the King of Greece.”
 
“I thought Greece was a democracy?”
 
Spike, “It’s complicated, Lizard. There are places where the monarch is elected. I know that sounds weird.”
 
“What kind of government do you think they should have?”
 
“The kind they want. A dictator, no matter how benevolent, is still a totalitarian leader. Some folks, who benefit from the leader’s behavior, will praise him. Others, who are hurt, will hate him. Eventually, the latter people outnumber the former and put down the dictator. That, or the leader dies, causing a time of chaos, as his lieutenants fight each other for control. I prefer a government with limited power, the way democracies create checks and balances. Some folks don’t like those either, because it forces them to be responsible for themselves and their world.”
 
“What do you think of Heinlein’s Starship Troopers?”
 
“The government in Starship Troopers is a tiered military hegemony. Only veterans can vote and hold office. It seems like a profascist propaganda book. Heinlein wasn’t profascist, but he was definitely promilitary. Lizard, I don’t think any system is, or even can be perfect. I love Star Trek, but its utopia is, in itself, totalitarian.”
 
“What do you mean?”
 
“In Star Trek, how can you tell how valuable a person is?”
 
“Their rank, I guess.”
 
“In the military, yes. For civilians, it’s your role, your job, your power over others. A person whose ideas are out of fashion or too early is condemned; those folks have their lives destroyed because of politics. The thing about utopias is their only utopias for those on top.”
 
“Then what’s the right way?”
 
“Learn that leadership and governance are always messy. Accept the contradictions and chaos of it. At all ages, teach people to think critically. Some won’t, but as long as enough continue to think critically about their world, the system will continue trundling on, correcting its worst abuses and celebrating its biggest successes.”
 
“That’s a lot to think about.”
 
“Yeah. Well, think about it. What we do during and after the war is going to set the trajectory of the world.”
 
GENERAL EISENHOWER’S OFFICE, SHAEF HQ, BECKENHAM, UK
 
1430, 26 March, 1944
 
Cooper is led into the office by Kay Somersby, “Lieutenant Cooper, sir.”
 
Ike, “Thank you, Kay. Coffee?”
 
Kay, “Yes, sir.”
 
Ike, “Have a seat, Lieutenant.”
 
“Yes, sir.” Kay comes back in and serves both officers.
 
“Have I met you before?”
 
“Yes, sir. I was with Captain Hunt in England before. I was her yeoman. My wife is an RAF warrant officer.”
 
Eisenhower nods, “Good. Then you’re somewhat familiar with the situation here. What was your last assignment?”
 
“Admin Officer on the Dwayne Hubler, sir. Captain Hunt’s flagship.”
 
“I see. Then you were there in the Philippines?”
 
“I was.”
 
“Was MacArthur half the ass the papers are portraying him as?”
 
“Twice the ass, sir. Perhaps even three times. Every decision he made regarding Captain Hunt was an attempt at restricting her involvement. He even sent a lieutenant colonel to relieve her of her command while we were fighting for our lives.”
 
“She worked for an admiral. Surely, the admiral would handle naval personnel.”
 
“Yes, sir. Admiral Sprague refused to relieve her or entertain any of General MacArthur’s more extreme measures.”
 
“I will expect the army and navy to function better in my theater.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
“Quarters have been arranged for Captain Hunt on Kenley. Talk to my admin officer about finding quarters for the rest of her staff. I’m told there is a limited supply of accompanied quarters. You’ll be working closely with my air operations staff.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
“Arrange anything or anyone else you need via General Smith’s office.”
 
“Yes, sir.” Cooper stands, understanding that was a dismissal.
 
NAVAL PROPULSION SCHOOL (NUCLEAR), BREMERTON, WA
 
1040, 26 March, 1944
 
Captain Neyhi salutes, “I relieve you.”
 
Captain Elizabeth Morrison returns his salute, “I stand relieved.”
 
A chaplain offers the benediction, and Fleet Admiral Klindt is the first to walk out, “Wartime Production, departing.”
 
Next, Captain Neyhi leaves, “Naval Engineering School, departing.”
 
Liz is last, “Special Production, departing.”
 
They gather in the CO’s office. Craig Klindt asks, “Are you selling your home?”
 
Liz shakes her head, “Renting it out. After all, this is the home port of the Long Beach.”
 
“True. She got out of the yards in January of ’43. She’s getting a maintenance availability in Pearl right now. Unless damaged, it will be around the end of the war before she needs the yards again. With her next, she gets Aegis.”
 
“Thank you, Craig.”
 




CHAPTER 15

BRIDGE, SS MOROZOV, 10 KNOTS, 150 MILES SOUTH OF VLADIVOSTOK, RUSSIA
 
0200, 27 March, 1944 
 
CDR Gary Mallory, “Right standard rudder. Make our new course 055.”
 
Helm, “Right standard rudder for 055, aye.”
 
Giblin, “We have enough fuel to get from here to Duch Harbor if we can slip through the La Pérouse Strait between Hokkaido and Sakhalin Island. That’s a big if, boss.”
 
“The Japs control both sides of that strait. What about running up the other side of Sakhalin?”
 
“We won’t make it. That adds nearly a thousand miles to the trip. Also, it would be much easier to patrol. The gap is only three miles at its narrowest point. Pérouse is twenty-four miles wide.”
 
“Okay, then. That’s our pass. While we’re steaming that way, I want our men to rearrange the bags of rice in the hold into a hiding place.”
 
“What are you thinking?”
 
“The Russians have no idea how big our crew is. If we’re caught, only I, and the ten the Russians have seen, need to get captured. The rest of you can escape to Russia.”
 
Jim, “Nope. They’ve seen and will remember me. If you go, I go.”
 
Gary looks at his friend, “You understand what you’re signing up for?”
 
“Yep. If you go, I go.”
 
“Let’s hope no one goes.”
 
VILLA MONASTERO, LAKE COMO, ITALY
 
2032, 26 March, 1944
 
Dino Grandi, 1st Count of Mordano, “Majesty, you must depose Mussolini. He is overcome by drugs and has completely failed us in the war.”
 
King Victor Emmanuel III, “Then we become vassals of Germany and I… I become a historic footnote as my house falls in disgrace. No, we must negotiate first with the allies. They have not landed on our shores as it was said they would. They lack interest in our nation and when they are victorious, as I’m certain they will be, what becomes of me, then?”
 
“I can speak to them through the Vatican. What would you have me say?”
 
“They will never say when or even if they will land on our shores. They must assume my house is a sieve of leaks to the Germans. They now hold all our lands in Africa. We tell them that we will support their landing and aid them in expelling the Germans.”
 
Grandi, “But, your Majesty, how will we do this?”
 
The King smiles, “After we depose the tyrant, our army will take control for us. They will support the allied landings.”
 
Grandi, “Your Majesty, we do not know that the army will follow your orders.”
 
“Oh yes. This I know. Negotiations take time. We must find within the army those who are loyal to us and those completely loyal to the prime minister. We need to know if the Carabinieri are loyal. Meanwhile, we make a beginning.”
 
RAF KENLEY, SOUTH OF LONDON
 
2006, 26 March, 1944
 
The ground crew unstraps Captain Hunt and she slowly, stiffly climbs out of her Tomcat. Cooper watches her, smiling. “Hard flight?” He salutes.
 
She returns it, “Long flight. How are you?” 
 
Cooper, “Great. Okay, your quarters are here. I have a car waiting. You can freshen up before meeting with Ike and Doolittle. There expecting you. Quarters are set up for all our staff here on Kenley.”
 
“Thank you, Cooper. How’s your wife?”
 
“Good. We’re trying to get her moved down here.”
 
“Do you want me t…”
 
“We got it, ma’am. Here we are.” It’s a five-minute ride to a large brick home on the base. Cooper, “It has four bedrooms, one has an ensuite bathroom. The British have provided a staff.”
 
“Cooper, put you and your wife in one of the other bedrooms. If they want, put Oscar and Shawn in the other two.” She walks into the house.
 
An older man stands in the hall with two young women, “Welcome home, Captain Hunt. I am Arnold Thresher, your house manager. This is Susan Loyd, your cook, and Thelma Reed, your housekeeper.”
 
“Um. Thank you.” She looks at Cooper, then back to Thresher, “Thank you so much. I would like to go to my room and freshen up. Cooper, with me.” They walk upstairs. Her clothes are already put away. Cooper, “How much are they costing me? I don’t have access to my money here.”
 
“The King provided them. They’re costing you nothing.”
 
“Okay. Thank you, Cooper. How did you set this up?”
 
“I didn’t, ma’am. The King did.”
 
She nods, “Damn. Okay, have the car ready, I’m going to shower, then report to Eisenhower.”
 
GENERAL EISENHOWER’S OFFICE, SHAEF HQ, BECKENHAM, UK
 
Wearing her greens, Hunt walks into Eisenhower’s outer office, “Hello, Kay. Is the General in?”
 
“He’s in a meeting with the air leadership.”
 
“Good. Which conference room?”
 
“The big one, Captain.”
 
Sam walks in, “Sorry I’m late, General.”
 
Eisenhower, “Just in time. May I introduce James Doolittle, who has the eighth; Frank Armstrong, who has his first Division; William Kepner, who has his second division; and Earle Partridge, who has the third division. Gentlemen, I’m certain you know who Captain Hunt is. Hunt, I believe you’ve met our Royal Air Force friends.”
 
After shaking hands with the American officers, she shakes hands with Chief of the Air Staff, Charles ‘Peter’ Portal, Air Chief Marshall Arthur ‘Butch’ Harris, and Air Chief Marshall Hugh ‘Stuffy’ Dowding. She sits down and directs her attention toward Eisenhower.
 
Brigadier General Partridge asks, “General, what is the captain’s role here?”
 
Eisenhower, “We’ve split Yankee and NAVFORUK. She is Yankee and Naval Air Division-2.”
 
Kepner, “But we already have a second division. It’s mine.”
 
Portal, who commands all of the Royal Air Force, clears his throat and Kepner quiets, “Yankee will assume operational control of all Royal Air Force combatant units in theater. I would suggest, Doolittle, that you do the same.”
 
The three division commanders shout their disapproval at once.
 
Eisenhower nods at Hunt. She clears her throat as they continue shouting. She raises her voice, “GENTLEMEN! Stand down!” Startled, they quiet, “Thank you. I was asked here to restore morale and improve training and efficiency throughout all your commands. I have no intention of assuming your positions. If I did, I would have no idea who to root for in the Army-Navy game.”
 
Ike chuckles.
 
She smiles, “To recognize your people’s deficiencies, I’ll need to drive the bus for a time. I’ll also lead them back into combat. We all know they need back on the horse that threw them. Through all of this, each of you will maintain your positions and maintain your authority. Right now, the Navy wants my presence here to be secret. As far as the press knows, you’re still doing your job. Moving forward, I will have complete control of my curriculum, and how I train. I’ll report to you on my progress. I will also be reporting to General Eisenhower and Chief Portal. I know this means I’ll step on some toes. It means I may recommend some officers be reassigned where their skills can better serve. This will be difficult for us all. If you want to stop planting your men, let me do my job.”
 
William Kepner, “We will control the bombing tactics that you train to.”
 
Hunt sighs, “General, do you presume to know my job better than I do? On the side of my plane are a hundred and fifty-one reasons why you don’t.”
 
Kepner, “You’re not a bomber pilot.”
 
Hunt, “Please, General. They put an A after the F on the Tomcat for a reason. I believe General Rommel would disagree with your assessment, sir. I control tactics while I’m driving the bus. I lead them into combat to prove my tactics. When that’s done, I’ll be happy to step aside. It’s on you if you fuck them up after that.”
 
Portal, “Captain, you will have our complete cooperation.”
 
“Thank you, Chief. Questions?”
 
Doolittle, “Can I have a word with you after this?”
 
She nods, “Of course, sir.”
 
Eisenhower, “She has my full and complete trust in this. If you ever doubt that is true, remember, her voice is my voice.”
 
There’s a ragged, “Yes, sir.”
 
Eisenhower, “When you’re done speaking with James, swing by my office for a cup of coffee.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
BREAK ROOM, SHAEF HQ
 
2114, 26 March, 1944
 
Doolittle, “You were a little harsh with my men.”
 
Sam smiles, “General, if they can’t handle an assertive woman, they can’t handle combat.”
 
“I just didn’t expect you to be…”
 
“To be an asshole, sir? Be honest. If I was all polite in there, one, they would have walked all over me, and two, they wouldn’t listen to me. Now they know they have no choice but to listen. When I’m done, they’ll be glad they did.”
 
“Why are you such a pain in the ass?”
 
“If they want to see happy me, they have to earn happy me. Same goes for you. It’s your command and you lost three quarters of it.”
 
“The plan came from the Navy.”
 
“General Doolittle, you had command. You could have told Carpenter no. Grow a spine or get the fuck out of the way. I have no time for nonsense.” She walks away.
 
Doolittle shakes his head, “I thought I knew who she was.” A breath, “Well, she lit a fire. I best tend to it.”
 
GENERAL EISENHOWER’S OFFICE
 
Ike stands and offers his hand, “I think you have their attention, Spike.”
 
She nods, grinning, “What was the meeting supposed to be for?”
 
“I knew you were here. I was planning to tell them what you just did.”
 
“Thank you. I’ll need my key card.”
 
“Of course.” He unlocks his safe and pulls out a nuclear release card, “We replaced Carpenter’s with new codes.”
 
She puts it around her neck, “Who are the other two?”
 
“Morrison and Colonel Roots. Until you got here, I was the third.”
 
“Thank you, sir. By the way, are you aware that the king gave me a household staff?”
 
“I am. I’m hoping the news never finds out.”
 
“I can afford to pay them with personal funds if that will help.”
 
“It shouldn’t matter. Really, as a captain, you would have a staff on a ship. The king wants to see you for tea when you have time.”
 
“I’d like that.”
 
He stands, “Welcome back, Captain. One more thing. I’ve written congress about your star. Your job here would be easier with one.”
 
“With a star, I couldn’t fly.”
 
“Point taken. Good luck.”
 
“Thank you.”
 
RETURNING TO KENLEY
 
“Cooper, do I have my own helo’s?”
 
“You have three squadrons of S-3 Vikings here and four in Ireland. Two squadrons of Sea Hawks. One is at RAF Portreath in Cornwall and the other is in Stornoway on the Isle of Lewis. All the squadrons are administratively under you, but functionally work for Western Approaches. You also have the two helo squadrons and three S-20 Hunter squadrons on the Hancock. They also work for Western Approaches, but they belong to you.”
 
“Okay. That, and the gadget. I have my key card.”
 
“Yes. I know.” They get out and he leads her to her office. The outer office has desks for him and a handful of yeomen, a coffee and tea service, a book shelf, and several locked file cabinets. There are two inner offices, Oscar’s and hers. Her inner office has a nice wooden desk with three chairs, and two comfy chairs with a table. There’s a telephone on the desk.
 
“I need to see all my people and also all the Air Force and RAF people. Turn on a helo and set up an efficient plan. I also need to see Oscar.”
 
RESTAURANT NEAR VATICAN CITY
 
2306, 26 March, 1944
 
Dino Grandi seats Eva Recci, a beautiful young woman, and sits across from her. The two Gestapo officers following him sit nearby. He spots his contact, Father O’Toole.
 
The waiter comes and Grandi orders wine. Eva “Are you always followed, my Lord?”
 
He smiles, “Often, it seems. Our friends from the north have trust issues.”
 
“I see. Will you excuse me.” She picks up her small purse, palming the tightly wrapped paper in her hand, then walks to the restroom. The pass is so smooth, he can’t see it. The Germans are admiring her caboose and see nothing.
 
MEETING ROOM, EAGLE’S NEST, AUSTRIA
 
0844, 27 March, 1944
 
Heinrich Himmler, “Mien Fuhrer, in the other history, our Italian friends changed sides. We are receiving some information indicating that the reason this has not happened is because the Americans have not landed in Italy. However, should they land on Italy in the near future, we should anticipate that the King will dismiss their prime minister and change sides.”
 
Hitler, “I see. We must not give up our southern front to the enemy. We know this invasion comes soon. We know we must repel the enemy at the beaches. I cannot give up divisions to defend the south. Heinrich, I need you to send someone you trust to prevent this treason. Put your people in place to see that it cannot succeed. Identify the traitors and destroy them.”
 
“Mein Fuhrer. I will identify the traitors and establish what, exactly, their plans are. I will let them plot and plan. When they plan to strike in the morning, sir, I will wrap them all up the night before.”
 
Hitler, “Don’t play with your food, Heinrich. Destroy them and be done with it.”
 
“Yes, mein Fuhrer.
 
FLIGHT LINE, RAF BASSINGBOURN, SW OF CAMBRIDGE, ENGLAND
 
1010, 27 March, 1944
 
Her helicopter, an SH-60B, lands and she and Hammond step out, holding their hats. Fourteen B-46 Hustlers are lined up on the mostly empty apron. It’s raining, so the men are gathered in a hanger. She walks through them to the front where a platform has been built on some white gear.
 
Colonel Robert ‘Andy’ Morgan offers his hand, “Captain.”
 
She pauses, “Is your bird the Memphis Belle?”
 
He grins, “It is. It’s after my fiancé.”
 
“I know. In my history, your bird is one of the first to complete your twenty-five missions. You become famous.”
 
“I’m not famous now.”
 
She smiles, “Nope. Not yet.” She steps up on the stage and walks to the microphone, “I was asked to come to England and prepare all of you to destroy the Nazis. I thought it best to meet you first. Now, I know many of you might be asking why your air force brass would invite a broad from the Navy to perform such a task. They didn’t ask me because I’m Navy. They asked me because I’m Samantha Hunt. I’m supposed to remind all of you that my presence in Britain is still a secret, so please keep it quiet. I’ve fought the Germans before, and beat them. That was quite a while ago, though, so I’m hoping you can teach me what the Krauts have been up to. So, the floor is yours. I know what your mission profile was. What was it like?”
 
A pilot, “We could’ve walked from Bremerhaven to Berlin on SAMs. A fucking wall of them. Begging your pardon.”
 
“I’m a sailor, Captain. They say, ‘cuss like a sailor’ for a reason. Did you face SAMs all the way?” More hands go up. She points, “You.”
 
“Naw. There was about a fifty-mile belt, then it was fighters. Once we reached our targets, we faced more SAMs.”
 
Spike picks another pilot, “Which was worse, the fighters or the SAMs?”
 
“The SAMs, ma’am. Three quarters of our losses was due to SAMs. The Tomcats did their best against the fighters and fared pretty well.”
 
She nods, pointing at someone else, “I’ve faced the F-15 before. How did it perform in German hands?”
 
“It climbs like…like nothing I’ve seen. But the Tomcat can turn with it. I don’t know about electronics.”
 
She smiles, “We’re figuring that out.” The question-and-answer session lasts for an hour and a half. She has a brief meeting with the commanders, then it’s back to her helo.
 
In the helo, Oscar asks, “Pretty much the same information we heard at all the other bases, Boss. Why are we doing this?”
 
“So, the men know I give a shit, Oscar. This isn’t at all about gathering information. This is about morale.”
 
“Oh.”
 
OVAL OFFICE
 
0844, 27 March, 1944
 
William Donovan is led into the office. Admiral Leahy, Fleet Admiral Klindt, Fleet Admiral King, and General of the Army Marshall are waiting with the president. Roosevelt, “Welcome Bill. Have a seat. Coffee?”
 
“Please.” An aide comes in and serves, coffee.
 
Roosevelt, “Well, what brings you from New York?”
 
“A very interesting letter from Dino Grandi. He’s the 1st Count of Mordano in Italy. Historically, he’s been a supporter of Mussolini. However, in this letter, he’s representing King Emmanuel. In short, he’s proposing that the king will depose Mussolini and change sides.”
 
Roosevelt, “Can the king depose Mussolini?”
 
Donovan nods, “He has the authority to do so in accordance with their constitution. Whether he would survive such an action is an entirely different question.”
 
Klindt, “In our history, he did exactly that in 1943. At that time, we controlled most of southern Italy. He’s likely held off because those landings didn’t happen.”
 
Roosevelt sits back, “What would it take for him to succeed right now?”
 
Marshall, “He would need solid control of his army and the police. He would need the backing of most of their Parliament.”
 
Roosevelt, “The parliament is an ineffectual rubber stamp for fascism.”
 
Klindt, “Yes, sir. But without Mussolini, they will again have importance. In toppling a leader, you have to plan for his replacement.”
 
Roosevelt nods, “This is good. Very good. I take it, he wants to start negotiations?”
 
Donovan, “Yes, sir.”
 
Roosevelt, “Can we talk to this Grandi directly or are we dealing through some intermediary?”
 
“I’d rather not divulge sources, sir.”
 
Roosevelt stares at him, “Bill, I don’t want the source. I want to know if the source is ours or belongs to someone else.”
 
“Someone else, sir.”
 
“Can you set up a direct route and begin negotiations. Find out what we can do to support this.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
Marshall, “Do we tell Eisenhower, sir?”
 
Roosevelt, “Not yet. We need to limit his distractions. For now, it’s a long shot.”
 
SMALL BOAT WORK SHOP, CLYDE RIVER, SCOTLAND
 
1430, 27 March, 1944
 
Captain Hunt walks through the workshops. the British and USN sailors stand at attention at their posts. Royal Navy Leading Motor Mechanic Elizabeth Windsor smiles as Captain Hunt approaches. Hunt, “How are you finding duty here?”
 
Windsor salutes, “Leading Motor Mechanic Elizabeth Windsor, ma’am. I’m proud of my service here.”
 
“And well you should be. I see we have four LCACs.”
 
“Yes, ma’am. We’re using them as vehicle ferries across the Clyde.”
 
“Good. Very good. Have you worked on them?”
 
“I have.”
 
“Thank you, Windsor.” They share a smile and she walks down the line.
 
FAN TAIL, USS BEAVER AS-5, HOLYLOCK, SCOTLAND
 
1650, 27 March, 1944
 
Greg Backes salutes, “I relieve you.”
 
John Morrison, “I stand relieved.”
 
Captain Hunt comes to the podium, “SUBRON-12 plays a critical role in the war. Submarines are singularly the most effective antisubmarine weapons. Captain Morrison, you stood up this command and built it into the most successful in the Navy. Captain Backes, I expect you will continue in the traditions your friend has started.” She looks over the tender and submarine officers attending, “We have a great deal of hard fighting in front of us. We can never become stagnant. We must evolve our capabilities every day. In warfare, the side that evolves fastest, wins.” She looks at John Morrison, “Captain, I wish your wife could do this.” She pins the stars of commodore on him, then renders him a salute. “Congratulations, Commodore.”
 
A chaplain performs the benediction and the ceremony ends.
 
Later, in Salty’s Pub, John asks, “How are you doing?”
 
“Establishing my new curriculum.” Samantha sips her beer, “How’s it going here?”
 
John, “The Germans have a kind of air independent propulsion. It’s somewhat noisy, but they’re getting quieter. When the Nautilus and Norfolk are commissioned, I’m going to move SUBRON-12 to the Pacific and stand up another SUBRON here. It was crazy to have boats in two oceans. Sam, how are you doing?”
 
“I…I’d rather not have that conversation.”
 
“I get that. Samantha, who else can you talk to here? The King?”
 
She smiles and lets a tear slip down her cheek, “I want Jere back.” She sighs, slugs down what’s left of her beer, and wipes her eyes. She looks at John, “The war will end. It must end. If I survive, I can process all of my shit then.”
 
John shakes his head, “If you don’t process it now, it will impact you from here out. Samantha, you need to get to a more functional place.”
 
“I know. I know. I need to spend my allotted thirty fucking minutes to grieve for my loss forever and move on like nothing fucking happened. Just, I fucking can’t. I don’t work that way.”
 
John nods, “You know we love you, Samantha.”
 
She blows her nose, “Yeah, I know. That love is all that makes life worth living.”
 
They are silent for a time, then Sam asks, “John, do you believe in heaven? I mean, do you really, truly believe?”
 
He shakes his head, “I don’t know. I believe in facts. I believe the sun will rise tomorrow. I believe the tide will rise and fall. I believe winter follows fall.” He looks at her, “I believe, somehow, all this killing, all this death, all this pain, must be for some good.”
 
“It isn’t, John. After the war, women will be fired and expected to be good house wives. Black people will be forced back into the ghettos and denied rights. Hispanics will be sent back to the fields. Rich people will get richer, and the poor will continue to suffer. The arc of the moral universe may bend toward justice, but it only does so because good people suffer for every bend.”
 
“Your example might change that.”
 
“John, nothing I do will change that. I will suffer...” She swallows, “I will hurt, I will fight, and I will do so all of my life, whether it ends today, or when I die at a hundred. I will fight and I will fall, and maybe, just maybe, your great granddaughter might have a slightly better chance.”
 
John touches her hand, “Or you might find yourself in control of that very machine. You might be the one to tear it down.”
 
“No woman will ever have the controls, John. You either. Only good, white, male, protestants. Audrey Lorde once said, ‘the master’s tools will never dismantle the master’s house.’ No one will ever give me those tools, that power.”
 
“She wasn’t a carpenter.”
 
“Neither am I. I’m not ever going to have kids, now. I’ve lost that, too. John, I got one thing to hold onto. I know I’m loved. I know it, and I can’t let it go. The future will be whatever it will. Today I know people love me and would be hurt to lose me. For that alone, I hang on.”
 
“It will get better.”
 
“I can’t see that far. I can’t.” She wipes her eyes again and tosses down what’s left of her third beer, “I got to go, John. Thank you for listening.”
 
FARM HOUSE NEAR ROME, ITALY
 
1044, 27 March, 1944,
 
An old man leads a younger shabbily dressed man into the small one level stone farm house. A beautiful woman wearing a gingham dress pours them coffee. The shabby dresser, Captain Francis ‘Spooky’ Torrey smiles, and sips his coffee. In accented Italian, “Thank you.”
 
The old guy, Dino Grandi, 1st Count of Mordano, “The young lady is a friend, sir. Who are you, and who do you represent?”
 
Torrey smiles, “That is always the question in our circles, isn’t it, my count. Who I am matters not. I represent allied interests.”
 
The young woman, Matilda Eva Recci, sits with her own coffee. She smiles a smile that would disarm the coldest man, “Is that allied with a capital A?”
 
Spooky smiles in return, “It is, indeed.”
 
Dino, “You’re American.”
 
“I am. I was led to understand that we have a mutual friend in New York.”
 
“Indeed. What do you need?”
 
“I need the lay of the land. In the other history, the Allies landed in southern Italy last year. The invasion of England has disrupted time lines.”
 
Dino nods, “Yes. Italy, as always, is complicated. The Stinker is becoming more and more extreme.”
 
“Yes. Mussolini is self-destructive. What of the king?”
 
“Ah, the king…”
 
FANTAIL, USS LONG BEACH CLGN-9, PIER SIX, PEARL HARBOR NAVAL STATION
 
1440, 27 March, 1944
 
Captain Elizabeth Morrison salutes Captain Edwin James Tenzar, “I relieve you.”
 
Tenzar returns it, “I stand relieved.”
 
Admiral Halsey promotes Tenzar to Commodore, the ship’s chaplain gives a benediction, and the change of command is over. The officers retreat to the wardroom ahead of a rain squall.
 
Halsey, “Captain Morrison, have your staff get with mine. I’d like lunch with you tomorrow.”
 
Morrison, “Yes, sir.”
 
Halsey leaves, “Task Force Three, departing.”
 
Tenzar, “Can I talk you into a beer at the O-club?”
 
“Sure.”
 
They walk to the officer’s brow. The rain has slowed to a drizzle. When Tenzar salutes and walks ashore, “Power Production Office, departing.” When Liz salutes and walks ashore, “Long Beach, departing.”
 
The duty driver holds the door for them and drives them to the club. Once seated, Tenzar asks, “How’s your husband?”
 
“He’s busy being NAVFORUK.”
 
“I thought that was Sam?”
 
Liz, “She has Yankee and NAVAIRDIV-Two. They split them. They wanted to give him an Alaska, but I nixed it. Japanese-American officer in command of ‘41’s? He wouldn’t survive.”
 
“I would hope we would have grown past that. The Alaska’s are prestige ships. It’s kind of the same as commanding a battleship.”
 
Liz, “I agree. Maki is working on a nuclear version.”
 
“I hadn’t heard that. Maki has exceeded everyone’s expectations.”
 
“He has.”
 
“Did you know he started here as a second class?”
 
“I didn’t. How many people are left aboard from back then?”
 
“A few. Your XO, George Sulu, started in weapons, then moved to CHENG, followed by a CO tour on a DE. He’s competent. Your CHENG is Tony Chatman. He started enlisted on the Vinson and worked himself up. He served with Hunt in England.”
 
“What did he do, there?”
 
“All I know is he earned the Bronze Star, and a Meritorious service medal with a V. Beyond that, I could neither confirm nor deny.”
 
“Got it.”
 




CHAPTER 16

FLIGHT LINE, RAF KENLEY, ENGLAND
 
0710, 28 March, 1944,
 
Captain Samantha ‘Spike’ Hunt walks around her F/A-14E. ADCM Robert ‘Bobby’ Geller stands beside it, smiling. “How are you, Bobby?”
 
“Good, ma’am. I’m still single, still onery, and here to help.”
 
Spike laughs, “Thank you.”
 
CDR Shawn ‘Lizard’ Todd walks out from under the jet, “Two, six, two, Boss. I pulled the tags.”
 
“Okay.” She gives a thumbs up to Lt. Jackson, “Let’s mount up.”
 
Once the intercom is up, Lizard says, “Old times. Today is a two V four, facing greenies from 363 and three other squadrons. Should be fun.”
 
“Yep. Okay, Lizard, sterile cockpit. Take off check list. Starting APU.” They work the list and taxi to the end of the runway.
 
“Yankee-1 and 2, Tower. You are cleared to take off on runway two zed. Cleared to twenty at three, one, five.”
 
Lizard, “Cleared to twenty at three, one, five. Yankee.”
 
Hunt goes to full military, then trips the brakes, “Rolling. V-1. V-2. Rotate. Gear up. Positive climb.” She takes a breath, “Angels, five. Steady on three, one, five.”
 
Lizard, “Group eleven, Yankee flight. Three, one, five for area Juliet.”
 
Air Group 11, “Yankee, we have you. Continue, to three, five direct to exercise area Juliet.”
 
“Three, five direct to Juliet, Yankee.”
 
On radio, “Spike, Stuffy. Good to have you over British skies again.”
 
Spike keys the radio, “Are you airborne, Stuffy?”
 
“I’m Kansas-1, Spike.”
 
Spike, “Roger, Stuffy.” On intercom, “Passing ten.”
 
Lizard, “Spike, isn’t Stuffy, Lord Dowding?”
 
Spike smiles, “Yes, Stuffy is Air Chief Marshal Dowding. He’s flying against us today.”
 
“But, he commands all the British fighters.”
 
“I know. We’re at angels three, five, approaching Juliet. Locking wings to forty-two degrees. We are now an F-15. Lizard, find out where Scorpion Two is. They’re first.”
 
“I have them on radar. They’re at 312.”
 
She wags her wings and turns. BS and PI pull alongside. Spike quickly indicates the plan with hand signals. They meet the four fighters head-to-head.
 
Lizard, on radio, “Fight’s on.” BS goes ballistic and Spike rolls and climbs into a slanted Immelmann.
 
SCORPION-2
 
1st Lt. Marvin ‘Starvin’ Shields, RIO for Major Chuck “Right Stuff” Yeager, “They’re climbing. Let’s get up there.”
 
“G.” Yeager climbs, going to zone-5. Their wing man, Snake, trails behind.
 
Starvin, grunting, “Buckle’s element is after the lower one. We got the top.”
 
Right Stuff, “I see them. High bird is inverting. G’s. I’m following.”
 
Starvin, “Can’t see the low bird. I think they’re in a two circle.”
 
On radio, they hear Lizard, “Guns. Guns, higher trailing bird.”
 
Starvin, “Fuck, where’d they come from. The Low bird’s on us. Break!”
 
“G’s.” Yeager rolls left and pulls into a nine ‘G’ turn.”
 
On radio, Snake’s RIO, “Acknowledge guns.” Then, on radio, they hear PI, “Guns. Guns. Low, trailing bird.”
 
Starvin, “They got Bubba. Fuck! Shit, they’re yoyoing.”
 
On radio, Lizard, “Guns. Guns. Lead bird. Knock it off. Join our wing.”
 
YANKEE ONE
 
They come up on her wing. She key’s her mic, “Not bad folks. However, when you split, you assumed the other two would handle the other jet. Do not lose situational awareness. Our plan was to set each other up and it worked. “I’ll see you at debrief.”
 
Lizard, “That was fun. We just kicked Chuck Yeager’s ass.”
 
“We did. Where’s Stuffy’s flight.”
 
Lizard checks the DTS map, “175, and angels thirty.”
 
“Got it, Coming around.”
 
Lizard, “Kansas-1, Yankee-1. Meet us left to left. Fights on at the merge.”
 
Spike gives her hand signal plan to BS. The jets flash by. Spike rolls level and climbs, going ballistic. BS climbs at an angle.
 
Lizard, “Lead El climbing. El-2 circling.”
 
Spike, “Grunt.” She idles her engines, opens her speed brakes, and pulls the stick straight back bleeding speed and cranking over the top, barely in controlled flight. She shuts the brakes, and pushes into zone 5. They quickly accelerate toward the second element that is still turning.
 
KANSAS-422, RAF F/A-14C, IN MINIMUM DISTANCE TURN
 
RIO, Malcolm ‘Bones’ Dyer, “She rolled over the top. She’s diving into our circle. Break!”
 
“Grunt.” Stuffy rolls level and pulls, climbing toward her. As briefed, his wingman stays in the circle.  
 
YANKEE-1
 
Spike, “Nope. She changes the plane of flight, flies straight for two seconds. When Kansas-1 reacts, she inverts and pulls out of her dive into a minimum distance turn.
 
The wingman pulls into her sights and Lizard calls, “Guns. Guns. Two-two.”
 
Element-2, Plane-2, on the radio, “Acknowledge kill.”
 
Lizard, “Stuffy’s on BS. Lead is diving on us. They switched.”
 
“Grunt.” She climbs to meet the two adversaries.
 
BS inverts into a dive. Spike, “Back on Stuffy. He’s coming down.” She rolls and changes her climbing plane slightly. This puts her in his blind spot. She pulls straight back into another dive, “We’re in the scissors now. I have him.”
 
On the radio, they hear PI, “Knock it off. Kansas Two-two, you’re losing fuel.”
 
Stuffy, on the radio, “Kansas 2-1 and 2-2, RTB.” He comes up on Spike’s wing.
 
“2-1, 2-2 back to the barn, roger.”
 
Hunt keys the mic, “Stuffy, Spike. The trap you laid was a good one. Had I gone after your wing, you could have pounced me. Well done.”
 
Stuffy, “Five more seconds and you would have had me. I noticed that you often change your attitude plane when we can’t see you.”
 
Spike smiles, “It’s a survival strategy. We’ll talk more on the ground.” On intercom, “Lizard, who’s next?
 
LAKE COMO, NEAR VILLA MONASTERO, ITALY
 
1310, 28 March, 1944
 
US Army Captain Francis ‘Spooky’ Torrey sits in a row boat, fishing. As he casts in the Italian style, he studies the Villa. All the guards are Italian, but the Germans control the road in and out. The guards are alert. Sound carries well over the water.
 
GERMAN ROADBLOCK NEAR VILLA MONASTERO
 
Italian soldiers climb out of their Lancia 3Ro army truck. They’re in their dress uniforms for the royal security detail. Capitano Lucia stands before the German SS-Oberscharführer, screaming, “How dare you guard the road to our King! We! We Italianos will guard our king! We! Only we!”
 
SS-Oberscharführer Bartel calmly replies, “I am ordered to be here. I will remain. I note, Captain, I am ordered to inspect your troops and your truck before you proceed.”
 
“We are allies, Sergeant! We are allies! You do not dictate to the Italian Army what it is we will do! I would as soon shoot you all right here! Be gone!”
 
“Your king is plotting to betray our Fuhrer. We have placed him under house arrest. You may proceed, but without weapons.”
 
Capitano Lucia, “We proceed to our duty, Sergeant. If you fire on us, the Italian people will scream for your blood.” He orders, “Form up in ranks of two. March.”
 
Spooky holds his camera against his chest, taking photos of the confrontation. The Italian soldiers are twenty feet from the Germans when the Gestapo open fire. The sound of the StG-44 assault rifles echo’s off the hills surrounding the lake. Several Italians manage to get their rifles off their shoulders, but none get even one round off.
 
Spooky hides his camera in the false bottom of his fish basket and rows away.
 
HUNT’S OFFICE, SHAEF HQ
 
1722, 28 March, 1944
 
Captain Hunt, in her flight suit, walks in with a stack of papers, “Cooper, could you file these.”
 
“Yes, ma’am.” He accepts the file and turns. In the doorway stands Captain Byron ‘GQ’ Standly, “Hi, Spike, Radar.”
 
Sam hugs her friend, “GQ, what are you doing here?”
 
“I was led to believe you needed combat instructors. Me and Pin Up figured we’d lend a hand.”
 
“Don’t you have a CAG slot?”
 
“I’ll stand up CAG on the Kitty Hawk when it’s ready. Meanwhile, I talked Admiral Lee into TAD orders here. He sent me, Pin Up, Trollop, and Chaos. We flew over with McRae’s squadron.”
 
Hunt turns to Cooper, “Did you know they were coming?”
 
“I got the message while you were in your meeting.”
 
She takes a breath, “I’m very glad to have you, GQ. I have something I need to get done. I’ll meet all four of you in the O-club in about an hour. Thank you.”
 
CHARLEY CO, 100 BATTALION, 442ND REGIMENT, US ARMY BASE, SOUTHERN ENGLAND
 
1800, 28 March, 1944
 
Sergeant Riku Nakamura and his squad have disassembled their Garand rifles and are meticulously cleaning them. His company commander, Captain Masayuki Matsunaga walks in, “Sergeant, you have a guest at the HQ building.”
 
“Yes, sir.” He quickly reassembles his rifle, checks the action, and hands it to a corporal. Riku walks over to the wood HQ building. The only thing that distinguishes the HQ from the other white clap board buildings is the US flag in front. He enters via the back door and walks through to the front. He sees his battalion commander, Lt. COL Rogers speaking to a black-haired man wearing navy winter khaki.
 
Rogers, “Here he is, Commodore. Commodore Morrison, Sergeant Nakamura. Nakamura, Commodore Morrison. Please feel free to use my meeting room.” He walks away.
 
John, “Hello, Grandfather.”
 
Riku, “It is you? You? Hmm. The meeting room is over here. Would you wish coffee, sir?”
 
John follows him into the room, “Did grandmother let you know about me?”
 
“Yes. I know about you, Commodore. Still, I didn’t believe we would meet here.”
 
“I’m assigned to Scotland. I’m also on Eisenhower’s planning staff. I just found out your unit was in theater. Can we sit?”
 
Riku, “Of course, Commodore.”
 
John smiles, “This is a family meeting, not a military one. Please call me John, Grandfather.”
 
Riku shakes his head, “But you are a naval officer. You have a star, like a brigadier general. I’m just a sergeant.”
 
“Behind closed doors, I am merely your grandson.”
 
“Himari sent me your letter. Kinuko is too young for me to think of her as a mother.”
 
John, “She is, but she and Mitch make a cute couple.”
 
“I understand she married a different man, your birth father.”
 
“Yes. Grandfather, please understand what happened before will likely not repeat. You have as much chance to survive the war as anyone. Mom could live to be very old.”
 
Riku nods, “I’m told we have you to thank for ending internment?”
 
“I played a part. Unfortunately, the prejudices of many Americans cannot be overturned so easily.”
 
“True, but it is a beginning. Himari and Kinuko are very happy with the Morrisons. Himari said wonderful things about your wife. I don’t understand why you let her serve?”
 
John, “Our world changes very much after the war. Women should continue to serve in all but infantry positions. They may eventually serve there as well.”
 
“What of children?”
 
“She doesn’t want children.”
 
Riku, “But what of your line. It will die with you.”
 
“Grandpa, Mitch and Kinuko are welcome to keep that line going. I support my wife’s choice. After the war, the population of the US is going to explode. They’ll call it the baby boom. Liz and I don’t need to add to that.”
 
“But I die.”
 
“As I said, your odds are no better and no worse than anyone else’s. My history has no bearing on it. I will say your unit comes to be known as the Purple Heart Battalion. Over half of your unit died in Italy. That included you. As I recall, about twenty some soldiers survive from your company. The thing is, Grandpa, this time you’re not landing…you’re not landing in the same place, or same way. This time, you might survive.”
 
“You know where we’re landing?”
 
“I’m on Eisenhower’s staff. You know I can’t say, but I do know.”
 
“This I understand. Do you have any advice for how we should prepare?”
 
John is silent for a time, then says, “Learn to work well with aircraft and shore bombardment units. Know how to talk on the radio with them so that they can understand. Wherever you go, that is important.”
 
“I’ve taken these classes. Will you be out there directing fires?”
 
“Who knows? Right now, that’s not my mission. I’m in command of the Navy forces in the United Kingdom.”
 
“I heard from Himari that you served in submarines. She said you sank about a hundred enemy ships.”
 
“I’ve adopted Samantha Hunt’s philosophy on kills. I don’t talk about them. Grandpa, will this be your first landing?”
 
“No. We landed with Patton’s 3rd Division in Africa.”
 
John smiles, “Wow. How was it?”
 
“You probably know that the navy talked the French into changing sides.” Noticing John’s smile, Riku asks, “Did you have anything to do with that?”
 
John grins, “I can’t talk about it.”
 
RADIO BROADCASTING BOOTH, ROME
 
1932, 28 March, 1944
 
Italian Army Lieutenant Maurizio Giglio speaks on the radio, “The Germans killed our beloved king’s guard. They are holding our king in house arrest. The Germans are taking over our nation as if we were not allies. Our Prime Minister is inept and neutered by the oppressing Germans.”
 
Through the window, he sees Gestapo men enter the office part of the studio. He continues, “They have entered our radio offices. They are coming for me. People of Italy rise up! We must throw off the yoke of Germany and stand as full and free men! We must overthrow Our German oppressors!” Then, there is only the sound of gunfire.
 
READY ROOM, RAF KENLEY
 
1845, 28 March, 1944
 
Spike stands at the front of the room, “Very good. Fortunately, we now have more instructors. You need to bring these lessons to your squadrons. That is one reason why they’re being recorded. Each of these presentations will be compiled to form a curriculum for new ACM students. Any unfired shots?” When the class is silent, she says, “Very well. This is only the first in these training sessions. Thank you.”
 
Air Chief Marshal Dowding waits as everyone else flows out the door, “How are we going to hit Germany?”
 
“We need more Weasels. I just got an experienced squadron to train what’s coming over. Tomorrow, I go for a ride with one of our bomber crews. I want to see how it rides at NOE.”
 
“Do they have terrain avoidance like the Tomcats?”
 
“They do. Why did you decide to fly?”
 
“I wanted to prove to the young men that the old man still has it. Samantha, I’m glad you brought in more trainers. The clock, as they say, is ticking and the training is going slowly.”
 
“How goes the strategy lessons?”
 
“Actually, very well. We’re calling it Spike University.”
 
Sam laughs, “Oh my. Thank you, Stuffy. I need to get over to the O-Club. I need to greet our new instructors.”
 
“Who are they?”
 
“Cash, Standley, DeGraaff, and Hisakawa. They’re aces many times over. Most fought here before.”
 
“Excellent.”
 
THE BUNKER, RAF KENLEY O-CLUB
 
1910, 28 March, 1944
 
Across from her residence is The Bunker. Samantha walks in through the winding concrete entrance and pulls open the heavy steel door. Across from the opening they still have the vertical stab from Getz’s MiG-29. Attached to the ceiling is her perforated wing. Around the bar are little memorials to the fallen. Someone stuck a baby picture of James Holtz Jr. in the corner of his father’s picture. Oscar waves her over to their corner booth, then raises a finger to the waitress. The four new air crew slide out. Sam pauses, “Hi guys.”
 
GQ gives her a hug, “Hi guys? Sam, it’s us.”
 
“I’m a little overwhelmed. Do you understand what you’re buying into?”
 
CDR Pauline ‘Trollop’ Cash, “Spike, most of us flew here before. What we’re doing now is a hell of a lot easier.”
 
Sam, “How are you, Pauline?”
 
“I’m fine. I just got a little wet. Mouse had the rough go there and she’s okay. She’s teaching at RIO school right now.”
 
Sam nods, “Good. Chris, I saw Fukue and Asahi the other day and they’re doing fine.”
 
“I know. I managed a week at home on my way through.”
 
“Are you okay with me flying with Lizard?”
 
“Sure. Sam. We’re here to help, not to be a pain.”
 
She nods, accepts her beer and sits down, “I take it Cooper has sorted out your berthing?”
 
Oscar, “It’s arranged. We put the ladies in your garage and the guys in the wood shed.”
 
She smiles, “Of course. GQ, you’re my equal in rank. Do you want your own command or at least chief of staff?”
 
GQ waits until she meets his gaze, “Absolutely not. I’m here to help. I hate paperwork. Oscar and I will work fine together.”
 
Hunt nods, then looks at each in turn, “You all know we’re taking it to them, right.”
 
Cash, “Hell yeah. Us dragons will fuck them up by tooth and claw.”
 
Hisakawa, “And don’t forget our dragon breath.”
 
GQ, “Sam, can we take the name Dragons for our unit?”
 
Sam closes her eyes, “That was my DESRON’s name.”
 
Mical, “We know, Spike, but you’re the Dragon Lady. By giving us some of that shine, it reminds everyone that knows that we are all lethal.”
 
“Shouldn’t I scatter you to leaven the new pilots?”
 
GQ, “Fuck no, Sam. Lee wants us at your back and that’s where we’ll be. All of us but BS fought here before. We’re all proficient. Hell, we finish each other’s sentences. Together, we are a force multiplier.”
 
Sam takes a breath, “Okay, we are the dragons and we have returned.”
 
PRIME MINISTER’S OFFICE, ROME, ITALY
 
1016, 29 March, 1944
 
Mussolini slams his hand on his desk, “You must! You absolutely must release our king from house arrest. You anger the people with your foolish antics. You are an imbecile, a fool, an incompetent blowhard. Remove your soldiers immediately!”
 
SS-Gruppenführer Heinrich Müller, “You blow your mouth loud, Prime Minister, but your King would have you deposed.”
 
“Yes. Yes, I know this. This, Group Leader, is an internal Italian matter. Your bumbling only makes the people love our king even more. We are allies, not subjects.”
 
“What will you do about your king?”
 
“That is for me to determine. Do know, Group Leader, that every politician serves at the consent of the governed. My people fear me, of course, but I do nothing to earn their hate. Should I earn their hate, they will hang me and choose another.”
 
“Then what will you do about your king?”
 
“I will demand, publicly, that the Germans leave my nation. You won’t of course, but your men will lay low and some will leave. I will then bring the king out of hiding and force him to, once again, align with me. I will then QUIETLY, wrap up his co-conspirators. Meanwhile, I demand you make a hasty and public exit.”
 
“I was told you were indisposed due to drugs.”
 
“Don’t believe all you hear. Good day, Group Leader.”
 
“Good day.”
 
The SS officer leaves and Mussolini stands, wobbly on his feet, “Doctor, something to steady my nerves.”
 
“Yes, my leader.”
 
FLIGHT LINE, RAF BASSINGBOURN, SW OF CAMBRIDGE, ENGLAND
 
1232, 29 March, 1944
 
Colonel Robert ‘Andy’ Morgan walks around the Memphis Bell with Captain Hunt. Hunt asks, “Why don’t you carry external ordinance?”
 
“We can. We have four hardpoints built in for defensive, or, I guess, offensive missiles. We carry our bomb weight internally.”
 
“I see. Have you run the course we’re doing today?”
 
“No. It’s smart that you split up the courses to mimic the land we’ll be flying over.”
 
“It’s sensible. Are you ready?”
 
“I am.” They mount up with Oscar and Lizard in the back seats. Hunt is the copilot and Morgan the captain. They take off and fly west. After an hour of familiarization, they descend over the Irish sea, then turn east. Morgan, “Your plane, Captain.”
 
Spike, “Engaging the terrain avoidance system. Setting the ride at rough. Autopilot engaged.”
 
Morgan, “Does the Tomcat have this?”
 
“It does.” They go ashore near Workington and scream across the waist of northern England at 550 knots and 100 feet. Crossing over the North Sea at Ashington, she shuts of the autopilot and flies the jet. “Well, that went pretty well.”
 
Hammond, “Fuck, that was terrifying.”
 
Lizard, “This bird is a little mushier than the Tomcat. Probably the weight.”
 
Morgan, “You’re calmer than I was the first time. Are we ready to fly the second leg?”
 
Hunt, “I am.”
 
Morgan, “We have the fuel. Ship checks green.” He keys the radio, “Thirteenth sector, Shark-1. Request clearance to enter course five east to west.”
 
“Shark-1 standby.” They circle to set up on the next course.
 
They hear another bomber clearing the course, “Thirteen, Raven-433. We are clear of course five. Ready for RTB.”
 
“Raven, Thirteen. Climb to angels 6 and make your course 205 for Alconbury.”
 
“205 at 6, 433.”
 
“Shark-1, Thirteen. You are cleared into course five east to west.”
 
Morgan, “Shark-1 cleared for five.”
 
Spike turns toward the entrance of the course and sets up the autopilot.
 
Morgan, “Oops, the autopilot broke.” He grins at her, and shuts off the fully functional autopilot.
 
Spike smiles, “This is going to get bumpier.”
 
Morgan, “Your ceiling is a hundred and fifty feet AGL.”
 
Spike, “Got it. What would you do if you lost your autopilot on the actual mission.”
 
Morgan, “No matter when it was lost, we’d fly it. As long as the bird can get there and back, we fly the mission.”
 
Spike, “Sterile cockpit.”
 
They start the course over Whitby. This path is much hillier. Sam screams down valleys and rolls over hills, giving her passengers a rough ride. They exit the course over Blackpool. Spike climbs to enter the holding pattern.
 
Oscar, “Holy shit! I thought the first run was hairy. What the fuck, Spike?”
 
“This is how it is, Hamm. Better than a roller coaster, yes?”
 
“If you say so. Not doing this again.”
 
Morgan laughs, “Shark-1 exited course 5. Request RTB.”
 
“Shark-1, Thirteen. You are cleared to Angels five at 114 direct to Bassingbourn.”
 
“Five at 114. Shark-1.”  Morgan loosens his straps a little, “What do you think of my baby?”
 
“She’s gorgeous and well behaved. A true lady. Thank you, Andy.”
 
“You’re very welcome, Spike.”
 




CHAPTER 17

CARGO BAY 2, SS MOROZOV, APPROACHING LA PÉROUSE STRAIT
 
2310, 29 March, 1944
 
Mallory looks around the improvised hide, “If we get through, we’ll not stop until Dutch Harbor. That means, if we’ve stopped the ship, we’re being boarded and captured. If that happens, they will probably send the Russians on their way. Lord knows the Japs are dependent on the Russian minerals. It’ll take the Russians about three days to steam back to Vladivostok. Once they moor, wait till night and make your escape.”
 
The CHENG, Neal Bucklin, “What will happen to you if your captured?”
 
Mallory pauses, “I have to hope that they treat us fairly. We have Japanese prisoners, too.”
 
The Navigator, Leroy Guthrie laughs, “You’re trying to make us feel comfortable with this, sir. We know the Japs mistreat their prisoners.”
 
Mallory smiles, “Yep. Thing is, it’s unlikely that anyone will know we’ve survived except you guys. You need to survive, so that we can.”
 
Guthrie, “You cool with us stealing from the Russians?”
 
Mallory, “I don’t want to know your plans. If I don’t know, I can’t say.”
 
Guthrie, “Yes, sir.”
 
Mallory, “Remember the code of conduct. You are American servicemen.”
 
Bucklin, “I was thinking about the code. Sir, could we fight it out with the Japs?”
 
Mallory, “With four shotguns and six pistols? I had thought about ramming whatever navy ship we meet and running for it. That’s a low survivability tactic. They have radios and a huge air force. Hokkaido, the island south of us, has the base that came back in time. They can easily find us and attack us by air. Stealth is the only option. Once through the strait, we’re better off making a bee line to Dutch Harbor than trying to hide in the Kuril Islands. They are occupied by Japan. Are you seeing something I am not?”
 
They look at each other, “No, sir.”
 
Mallory nods, “I have one more trick. If we’re found out, I’ll radio for help and tap a message on the hull. If there’s an American sub, ship, or aircraft close enough to hear, they will know the fix we’re in. Make sure the Russians know that our leaders know about their little scheme. Jim told me they found a Russian ship doing the same thing with the Germans during their ceasefire. The fact that our leadership knows our fix means the Russians will be held accountable for their actions. It’s protection of a sort.”
 
Mallory shakes the hand of all thirty-six people in the hold. Grasping Guthrie’s hand last, “You’re in charge. Make the best decisions you can, okay?”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
BRIDGE, SS MOROZOV
 
All the lights are off on the Russian cargo ship, including the interior lights. CDR Gary Mallory walks onto the starboard bridge wing. It’s overcast, but some moonlight trickles through, giving him a little visibility. He raises binoculars to his eyes. At this distance, he should be able to see the hills on both sides. They’re armed with naval guns. Slowly scanning ahead, he spots the white splash of a bow wave. To himself, “You look small. What are you?” He continues to scan. To the north, there is another ship. “They’re probably picket destroyers. Should I have attempted this in the daylight? I don’t know. Nothing to do but pray.”
 
Jim Giblin joins him, “Do you think it’s working?”
 
“The pickets haven’t reacted.”
 
“Good. The crew below are tucked in and impossible to find without randomly moving rice bags. They have plenty of food and water to get them to Vladivostok. They have the rubber boats, too. They might be able to sneak off the ship, swim ashore and claim to be cast adrift from another sunk submarine. Maybe then, they won’t be held to keep the secret about the titanium trade.”
 
Mallory, “Yeah. It’s worth a shot.”
 
“We’re overdue for reporting. I really don’t want Anna to get that message.”
 
Mallory shakes his head, “Nor I. This thing has a shortwave. If it looks like we’re going to be taken, we should report.”
 
“Agreed.”
 
“We’re through the narrowest part.”
 
RADAR OPERATOR, HAIKADO SIDE OF STRAIT
 
“Captain, this return and this one, they are our destroyers. However, sir, this return I do not know. It is a strong return. No fishing boat, I think.”
 
“Good. Very good. I will notify our pickets.”
 
DRAGON-1, 20,000 FEET OVER IRISH SEA
 
1710, 29 March, 1944,
 
“Grunt.” Spike rolls into a tight turn. A quarter through the turn, with her wings loaded, she kicks her rudders and idles the left engine. Her jet immediately unloads, reverses the roll, and falls. She ends up nose down. The British F-14, unable to match the maneuver flies past above.
 
TEXAS-1, DOG FIGHTING
 
Wing Commander Richard ‘Mister’ Maugham, “Bloody hell!” He turns, starting a split-S.
 
DRAGON-1
 
Spike goes to zone-5, “Grunt.” She turns her jet, then reverses into a diving scissors. Maugham’s jet fills the forward windshield.
 
Lizard on the radio, “Guns. Guns.” Spike dives away and levels off.
 
Maugham’s RIO, “Acknowledge guns. Good kill.”
 
They return to level flight and turn toward Kenley. Lizard, “Boss, where the hell did you learn that maneuver?”
 
Spike smiles, “There are two things the Tomcat is absolutely best at. One is fooling opponents with your wing position and the other is turn-rate, using flaps and asymmetric thrust. With the spin recovery system, pilots should be practicing putting their birds right to the edge of controlled flight.”
 
“I like it. My chiropractor will hate it, but I like it.”
 
BRIDGE, SS MOROZOV, NORTH EAST OF LA PÉROUSE STRAIT
 
0540, 30 March, 1944
 
The sun is brightening the eastern sky as Mallory, standing on the port bridge wing, studies a Japanese destroyer steaming beside them. It’s a Momi class with a prominent raised bow. It has three five inch deck guns. To himself, “No chance. None. It has better speed, better maneuverability, better firepower, and worst of all, a radio.”
 
Giblin walks in with a hot breakfast, “Please eat, Captain.”
 
BRIDGE, JAPANESE DESTROYER HASU, ALONGSIDE SS MOROZOV
 
“Captain, headquarters reports that the Morozov left Kitakyushu six days ago bound for Vladivostok. Why would it be here, sir?”
 
“I do not know. Prepare a boarding party. I do not trust the Russians.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
The captain, “Mount one, train forward of the ship’s bow. Fire on my order.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
The captain studies the Russian ship. Inside the bridge, he can see someone eating.
 
BRIDGE, SS MOROZOV
 
Mallory, “They could recognize we’re the ship delivering titanium to them and just let us go.”
 
“Where on earth would we be going out in the sea of Okhotsk.”
 
Mallory smiles, “It is a Russian lake.”
 
“Yeah, but none of the ports there have rail heads.”
 
“I know.” He studies the map, “Turn north-east for Magadan. Maybe they’ll assume we’re resupplying the port with the rice.”
 
“That works.”
 
The forward mount on the destroyer fires, hitting the water in front of their bow.
 
Giblin looks at Mallory, “Shit. No misunderstanding that.”
 
Mallory walks out the bridge wing and studies the Japanese destroyer. They are mustering an armed boarding party on deck.
 
Giblin, “If we released the Russians now, they might think they were in cahoots with us and ruin the program.”
 
Mallory, “No. Then they will arrest the Russians too. The guys hiding below will be captured.” To the helm, “All stop.”
 
“All stop ordered and answered, sir.”
 
“Very well.”
 
The Japanese fire another shot across their bow. “Jim, can you fetch the stars and stripes?”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
They coast to a stop. Looking through his glasses, “They look nervous.”
 
ST1SS Ernie Neighbors brings in a cup of coffee, “Sir, who knows when we’ll get our next.”
 
“Agreed. They’re lowering their boat. We’ll not be called pirates or spies. Hoist the stars and stripes, please.”
 
TMCS Holford, “Yes, sir.” He leaves the bridge.
 
Mallory, “ST1, stack our arms where they can see them.”
 
BRIDGE, JAPANESE DESTROYER HASU, ALONGSIDE SS MOROZOV
 
“They hoist an American flag over a Russian ship. What is this?”
 
The XO, “Sir, they stack arms on the aft hatchway.”
 
“I see.”
 
“Is it a trick? Should we sink them?”
 
“There is no hurry. They cannot run and they cannot hide. They have no options remaining except to cooperate. Away the boarding party.”
 
BRIDGE, SS MOROZOV
 
Mallory, “Keep tapping on the hull. Secure the bridge watch. Secure the main Engine and muster off watch personnel on the main deck, forward of the bridge.” He takes a long breath, “Strike the colors.” He walks aft into the radio room, he sets the frequency then reports, “Any allied unit, Gulf Whiskey Tango Lima actual.” He waits, then repeats his call. Three attempts, then, “Any allied unit, Gulf Whiskey Tango Lima broadcasting in the blind. Gulf, Whiskey Tango, Lima actual. Gulf, Whiskey, Tango, Lima is lost. We took control of a Russian cargo ship that was trading titanium with Japan. That ship is being boarded by the Japanese as I speak. Please pass our status to SUBRON-9.”
 
Giblin, “They’re here.”
 
The Japanese used grapnel hooks to board the ship. They point their guns at the twelve Americans and yell at them in Japanese.
 
Mallory grins, “Domo Arigato.” He looks at Giblin, “The only Japanese I know.”
 
“Shall I break out into song?”
 
“It couldn’t make anything worse.”
 
Giblin starts singing Mr. Roboto by Styx. The Japanese sailors laugh. The officer butt strokes him in the gut.
 
OFFICER CLUB, RAF KENLEY
 
1900, 29 March, 1944
 
Byron, “Well, Gloria swapped ends on her Tomcat and nailed the Jap in the spin. She recovered at about ten feet over the waves. A close-run thing.”
 
CDR Pauline “Trollop” Cash, “She was right to turn in her spurs for a while. BS, she’s been flying combat pretty much non-stop since we came back.”
 
“So have you.”
 
“Yeah, pretty much, but I wasn’t always in charge.”
 
Sam, “No rest for the wicked, and we’ve been naughty.”
 
KING’S ESTATE, LAKE COMO, ITALY
 
0645, 30 March, 1944
 
A company of Carabinieri dismount and approach the Germans. The Italians have their machineguns at ready and the men are moving tactically. The Italian leader, Major Nepali, walks down the center of the road.
 
SS-Oberscharführer Bartel, “Form up men. We have our orders.”
 
An enlisted SS soldier, “It would be more fun to shoot them all.”
 
“Yes. Yes, I agree, but we have our orders. Form up.”
 
Carabinieri Major Nepali lifts a finger and points it at Bartel, cocks his thumb, and pulls the imaginary trigger.
 
Bartel smiles.
 
One of the Italians opens fire. The Germans attempt to return fire, but are cut down before they can bring their weapons to bear. All the Germans lay dead. Nepali walks up to the SS officer, spits on him, and walks to his post. His men load the bodies into a truck and they’re hauled away.
 
An hour later, Francis ‘Spooky’ Torrey drives a ramshackle truck loaded with gardening tools toward the estate. There are still patches of blood on the ground. Major Nepali smiles and motions him through. Spooky enters the garden shed and changes into the uniform of a US Army major. He then moves through a carefully planned route so no one sees him enter the house. Once inside, he asks a house cleaner, “Where is the King?”
 
“He is in his office.”
 
“Where is his office?”
 
“In the corner overlooking the lake. Your uniform says U. S. Who are you?”
 
“You’re better not knowing. The Carabinieri know I’m here and why.”
 
“I see. The king is speaking with a German General.”
 
“Okay. I’ll wait.”
 
ITALIAN KING’S OFFICE
 
Generaloberst Eberhard von Mackensen, Commander of the 14th Army slams his fist on the king’s desk, “Your police troops murdered my soldiers.”
 
King Victor Emmanuel III, “Yes. Yes, they did, General. They killed your troops in the same manner those very same troops killed my Carabinieri. It seems to me, at this time, that we are even on that matter. Frankly, I would have preferred that those German troops face Italian justice, but that was not to be.”
 
The General stands upright, “I will be the one to discipline my troops.”
 
“General, there has been rapes in Rome, in Florance, in Naples. Have those troops been disciplined? Have my people found justice from the German war machine?”
 
“It’s being handled.”
 
Emmanuel, “How, General? Are your troops being disciplined or rewarded for their treatment of Italian civilians. We are not the Warsaw Ghetto.”
 
Mackensen, “You are not the Warsaw Ghetto, yet, Majesty. You must continue your support for our alliance. The Prime Minister must remain in office.”
 
“How many troops do you have in my kingdom?”
 
“Three hundred and sixty-five thousand. Your whole army is half that.”
 
Emmanuel, “True. You are here to help defend us against the coming American invasion. How are your preparations proceeding?”
 
“Well. You understand, your majesty, Germany will not tolerate betrayal.”
 
“Yes, of course. General, a leader who would tolerate betrayal would soon die. One must maintain loyalty.”
 
Measuring the monarch with a gaze, Mackensen says, “Very well. Good day, Majesty.”
 
“And you, General.”
 
Mackensen walks to his staff car and is driven away. King Emmanuel turns to the papers on his desk.
 
There is a knock and an aide says, “Majesty, Major Torrey to see you.”
 
“Bring him in.”
 
Torrey walks in and in Italian, “May I have a word, Majesty?”
 
“You are American. Why are you in uniform?”
 
“I thought it best for making contact.”
 
Emmanuel, “Making contact?”
 
“We’ve received word that you are considering dismissing Mussolini and switching sides. We wish to negotiate the details of this plan, if it is a plan.”
 
“It is. Tell me, Major, when will the allies land?”
 
Torrey, “I do not know. I am only a field agent.”
 
“Ah. You cannot reveal what you do not know.”
 
“Exactly, your Majesty.”
 
“But they do come?”
 
“This I do not know as a fact.”
 
Emmanuel, “When your beachhead is secure, the police will arrest Mussolini and the Army will change sides. However, there is three hundred and sixty-five thousand German troops in my kingdom. They are too many for us, alone, to throw off their yoke. We will need aid from your forces.”
 
“I will inform my superiors.”
 
“Good. Tell me, are you one of those time travelers?”
 
Torrey, “No, Majesty, but I’ve met some. I’ve met the one the Germans call the Drakendame.”
 
“Yes. The famous dragon. What is she like?”
 
“I met her in England. She is professional and demanding. Her men follow her with a faith only given to the very best leaders. It is almost a godly reverence. She planned the operation to bring Viche France back into the alliance in Casablanca.”
 
“This I have heard. Do you know where she is?”
 
“I do not, Majesty.”
 
“Well, you tell her what we do. You tell her what we need.”
 
“Yes, Majesty, I will.”
 
DRAGON-1, 20,000 FEET OVER THE COTSWOLDS
 
0716, 30 March, 1944
 
Lizard, “I have them at forty miles at 280 and NOE.”
 
“Good.” She waggles her wings and changes course. “At thirty miles we dive and fire.”
 
“Roger.”
 
“Here we go. Grunt.” She inverts into a dive. The other three Tomcats follow.
 
Lizard, on radio, “Fox-3. Fox-3.” On intercom, “They’ve Houlihan’ed and are notching. “I’m losing them.”
 
“What way?”
 
“I think right. I’d love to be using my camera.”
 
“I know. We’re a German F-15 right now. Air brake out.”
 
“I’ve never been a fan of sour kraut.”
 
“Find them.”
 
“They’re turning back in. I got them dead ahead. They’re climbing.” He keys his radio, “Fox-3. Fox-3.”
 
They hear, “Fox-3. Fox-3.” From the Army Tomcats below.
 
Spike, “Grunt.” She climbs into a notch, fires and rolls to spot the incoming Tomcats. “They’re notching. Grunt.” She turns to close on the Tomcats. They pass left to left, and she keys the radio, “Knock it off. Result is the same as before. We end up at about even energy while the bombers make it safely past. Questions?”
 
Colonel Tom ‘Chuckles’ Roots, “Dragon-1, Viper-1. Can we run it again and have the second layer of Tomcats engage the incoming missiles.”
 
“Chuckles, Spike. We have the fuel. Reset.”
 
Twenty minutes later, Spike’s flying toward Kenley. Lizard, “Should we use the second line?”
 
“I have to look at it. I don’t want to lose the secondary coverage as the bombers continue on. We can catch up, but that costs fuel. We need to run the numbers.”
 
Lizard, “Not a gut reaction?”
 
“Not for this. We will need the numbers to work for us. We have good margins, but we can’t throw them away at the beginning and get into trouble at the end.”
 
WAR DEPARTMENT INTELLEGENCE SHOP, PENTAGON
 
1150, 30 March, 1944
 
Navy Lt. Ryan Hazlitt sits at a cubicle desk, headphones on, listening to radio intercepts. She rewinds the tape a bit and continues listening, translating the German to English and adding notes as to the stress level and emotional color in the voice.
 
A young army lieutenant walks up behind her, “Hey Toots, y’ wanna grab lunch together?”
 
She stops the tape machine and looks up at him, “No, thank you.”
 
“Come on. You’ve been couped up in this cubicle for hours.” He puts his hands on her shoulders.
 
“Lieutenant, remove your meat hooks.”
 
He massages her shoulders, “Come on. I didn’t see a ring. There’s no cause to be a b…grumpy. I’m just being nice.”
 
“Then, be a nice guy.” She stands. The cubicle is so small, turning to face him puts her in his arms.
 
He smiles, pulling her closer.
 
She lets out a breath and reaches behind her back and grabs his left hand with her right. With her left hand, she pushes him back, straightening his arm. Folding his hand at the wrist against his inner arm, she continues to apply pressure as he drops to his knees. The lieutenant screams and people pop out of their cubicles like ground hogs.
 
“I was polite. I was direct. You, Lieutenant, are a slow learner. If you touch me again, I’ll put you in the hospital.” She releases his arm.
 
He stands, nursing his hand, “Fucking bitch.”
 
“Yes, I am. Good day, Lieutenant.” She sits back down, smiling, “I love the SEALs.”
 
RICE HOLD, SS MOROZOV, IN PORT, VLADIVOSTOCK, RUSSIA
 
0815, 31 March, 1944
 
Lt. Leroy Guthrie “They’ve moored. It’s eight hundred. Hopefully they’ll wait until tomorrow to unload. After all, the captain of this ship has a hell of a story to tell.”
 
CAPTAIN’S OFFICE, SS MOROZOV
 
Merchant Captain Novikov, “The Americans were detained and we arrived in good order.”
 
Polkovnik (Colonel) Novak, with the boarder security service, “And you searched your vessel?”
 
“Yes, Polkovnik, I searched my vessel. We searched every compartment aboard. We found no stow aways.”
 
“Search again. Commence unloading immediately. Your cargo is desperately needed.”
 
RICE HOLD, SS MOROZOV, IN PORT, VLADIVOSTOCK, RUSSIA
 
The sailors hear the hatches open and the crane start to work. Guthrie, “Clyde, turn on your flashlight. We need to adjust our eyes. Remember, these assholes are supposed to be our allies. And the captain got word off before he was captured. The US knows we are here. It’s all the shield we have.”
 
The CHENG, Lt. Neal Bucklin, “Will they just shoot us?”
 
“Yep, they might. No helping that. Neal, we got it to do. Gentlemen, do not raise your hands unless I do. We are not surrendering. We are greeting our allies.” He stands, “Are we ready?”
 
“Yes, sir.” They stand and heave the bags of rice away. The workmen unloading the hold start shouting. Guthrie and his sailors climb out of their hiding spot with their gear. Guthrie, in English, “Take me to your leader.” Four soldiers come down the hold ladders, pointing their rifles at them.  Guthrie, using his officer voice, “Stand down, men. Stand down.” He leads his sailors to the ladder, past the soldiers, and they climb up on deck.
 
Topside, more soldiers are waiting. Polkovnik arrives. In English, he asks, “Who are you?”
 
Guthrie, “Oh my God. Russia. We’re saved.”
 
“What?”
 
“When we came aboard our captain us hide in the hold. We’ve been in there for days. He told us he would get out word to our navy that we’re here. Surely, you knew we were coming?”
 
Polkovnik Novak, “I did not.”
 
Guthrie shakes his head, “Governments. I tell you, I’ve no idea which one is more incompetent. Our captain told us to stay hidden until we arrived at Vladivostok. He was afraid that should we report to your captain, and then the Japanese were to board the ship, we would all be in trouble.”
 
Novak, “Then you do not know that your captain Mallory imprisoned our merchant crew?”
 
“Why would he do that? We’re allies.”
 
Novak, “You’ve no questions as to why this ship was in Japan?”
 
Guthrie, “I know why this ship was in Japan. So does my government. It changes nothing. Do we not still send you grain and trucks? Do we not still train your pilots? I recognize the eastern boarders of your nation are problematic. Could you please arrange to send us home via the Barents Sea, Iran, or the Black Sea? This would please our country and emphasize our good relations.”
 
“I see.” He has a rapid-fire conversation with the men around him, then turns back to Guthrie, “You are well informed, Lieutenant Guthrie. The accommodations we have are rough, but adequate. I will seek guidance from Moscow.”
 




CHAPTER 18

COMMODORE’S BARGE, CLYDE ESTUARY
 
0910, 31 March, 1944
 
Commodore Morrison stands beside the coxswain as they motor through the light swell. “Windsor, have you played with the LCACs, yet?”
 
Leading Motor Mechanic Elizabeth Windsor, “Yes, sir. They’re difficult to control. Mostly, they have me working on your barge. I think my chief considers it a safe assignment.”
 
“I see. I’ll talk to your warrant. I’d like you to receive all the training we can offer.”
 
Windsor, “Sir, my training spot should go to someone who’s allowed to go to sea.”
 
Morrison chuckles, “I’m under no such restrictions, Windsor. If I need you at sea, I will send you to sea.”
 
The future queen smiles broadly, “Yes, sir.”
 
CONTROL CENTER, NAS CAPE CANAVERAL, FL
 
0815, 31 March, 1944
 
The second test rocket is fueled and ready. Captain Penelope Severn joins Commodore Scott Richardson, “Our techs missed a valve in the prelaunch check list. The water deluge system is now primed.”
 
“Understood. For future launches, I want a two-man check list like we do line ups and tag outs on a ship.”
 
Goddard, “Understood. May we continue?”
 
Richardson, “Continue.” The countdown recommences from fifty seconds. As they watch, Scott says, “Sam was here for the first one. I wish she were here, now.”
 
Goddard, “Any guesses?”
 
Severn, “This one will get off the pad. Beyond that, I’ve no idea.”
 
“Flame suppression initiated.”
 
Talker, “…four, three, two, one, ignition.” A flash of yellow-white light, and a cloud of smoke envelops the launch pad.
 
Engine Level Controller, “All engines lit. Thrust is good.”
 
Guidance Controller, “Guidance is good.”
 
Flight controller, “Release hold downs.”
 
Ground controller, “Hold downs open.”
 
Flight, “We have lift off.”
 
Guidance, “Positive climb. Guidance good.”
 
Engines, “Thrust good.”
 
The talker counts the seconds as the rocket slowly climbs into the sky.
 
Severn, “She’s flying.”
 
Richardson just nods.
 
Engine, “Burn time fifty seconds. Sixty seconds. Stage one engine shut down. Initiating stage separation.”
 
Flight, “Negative separation. Negative separation.”
 
Guidance, “Rocket is slowing. We’re losing control. She’s tumbling.”
 
Richardson, “Activate flight termination. Command-detonate.”
 
Flight, “Command-detonate, aye. Command-detonate, initiated.”
 
Severn watches the rocket through the reinforced glass. The rocket explodes, igniting the fuel in the second stage. The secondary detonation adds to the conflagration. The debris falls into the Atlantic Ocean. “I was right. We got off the pad.”
 
SHAEF HQ, BECKENHAM, ENGLAND
 
1957, 31 March, 1944
 
Captain Hunt sits silent listening to the brief. The intel officer concludes, “The Germans are slowly pulling units out of France and sending them to their eastern front. The Russian and German line hasn’t moved substantially in several months. They both have extensive fortifications and artillery. It seems likely that the Russians are preparing for a push soon.”
 
Eisenhower, “Kryukov is tired of sending his troops into a meat grinder. He won’t recommence the attack until we land in France.”
 
Intel, “Yes, sir.”
 
Hunt, “What have we learned from our SR-1 overflights of Germany?”
 
Intel, “The AA defenses in Germany are the best in the world. They’re layered, and coordinated. A great deal of their production has gone underground. They’re using a lot of slave labor. We’ve identified the primary concentration camps and POW camps. All their surface warship construction has ended. We think they’re still building submarines, but those yards are within sub pens and well camouflaged. They’ve put civilian populations in and around the areas where we think the pens are.”
 
Eisenhower, “We’ll have to kill them at sea. I want to minimize civilian casualties if we can.”
 
Hunt, “Have we tried bouncing bombs?”
 
Doolittle, “What? What is a bouncing bomb?”
 
Hunt, “Something the British invented in my history for engaging dams and sub pens. It’s a barrel shaped bomb that is dropped with back spin. The back spin allows it to skip across the water. When it hits a solid object, it sinks close to it and then explodes.”
 
Air Chief Marshal Sir Arthur Travers Harris, “It’s a project we considered, but rejected in favor of guided weapons.”
 
Hunt, “Understood. It would also be a touch difficult to apply to jets. Tomahawk missiles would serve wonderfully for this. We can terrain map via SR-1. I’ll send out a message.”
 
Eisenhower, “What’s the Tomahawk missile?”
 
Hunt, “It uses downward looking radar and compares it to a preprogrammed radar map. They were useless when we didn’t have the maps, but with the Blackbird we can create the maps.”
 
Eisenhower, “Put in an order for five thousand. See what Klindt has to say.”
 
“Yes, sir.” She looks at the intel officer, “Do we have any idea how active the Germans are with training?”
 
Doolittle, “They’re flying a lot. We met at least three hundred during the raid and shot down only a handful.”
 
Hunt, “Any idea where they’re getting the titanium?”
 
Eisenhower, “We’re assuming Russia stopped deliveries after they ended their cease fire. We can’t know, though.”
 
Doolittle, “Hunt, how’s your training going?”
 
Hunt, “Making good progress. We’re practicing at NOE. I need every aircrew proficient at fighting from a hole. I don’t have a plan yet.”
 
Eisenhower stands, “I understand. Keep me informed on the Tomahawks. When your plan is ready let me know.”
 
DRAGON CO’S OFFICE
 
2034, 31 March, 1944
 
LCDR Mical ‘Pin Up’ DeGraaff knocks, then opens the door, “Can we talk a bit?”
 
Hammond, “Sure. Coffee?”
 
“I got it.” She pours them both a cup, then sits down, “I heard you married Rita Hayworth.”
 
“Yeah, I did. How about you? Are you married yet?”
 
DeGraaff, “Nope.”
 
“Okay, how can I help you?”
 
“I heard you were with Spike in PI.”
 
Hammond, “Yeah, I was. I know you were flying overwatch. Thank you.”
 
“I didn’t do near enough.”
 
“Pin Up, what is this about?”
 
“Can you tell me what happened to Lieutenant Jackson?”
 
He nods, “You two friends?”
 
“Yeah. We met in Hawaii and kind of bonded over knowing the captain.”
 
“Okay. She was helping Spike on the hill and got shot in the ass. I think it hit her ammo pouch, then the whole mess hit her. She was medevacked. After being patched up, she came back and kept fighting. She survived the whole thing, but got hurt again. Last I heard, she was in Balboa Naval Hospital in San Diego.”
 
“Will she be able to walk?”
 
“She walked off of Hunt’s hill. I think she rode a track to the beach. Have you heard from her?”
 
“Yeah. A letter last week. She seemed distant.”
 
Hammond, “She received two purple hearts, a meritorious service medal with a V, and a Silver Star, and our command awards. She might have PTSD. Lord knows, it was rough on that hill.”
 
Mical looks away, lowering her head, “She said the corpsman blew her off on the hospital ship.”
 
“I heard. Cargo Britches fired a helo squadron commander there.”
 
“Wow.”
 
“Mical, what is the relationship between you and Sheigh?”
 
She smiles and shakes her head, “We’re friends.”
 
Oscar nods, “Friends like Spike and HP or friends like GQ and William?”
 
Mical looks at him, her eyes and mouth wide open.
 
Oscar smiles, “Hey, I’m not an Okie. I’m not blind, either.”
 
“I didn’t know you knew about GQ. Um, and who is William?”
 
“William is GQ’s boyfriend. By now, if they could, they’d be married. I’m glad he’s here. This flying circus we have is like a Black Knight reunion.”
 
Mical, “He was my skipper with the Red Tails. He’s over here before he takes CAG on the Kitty Hawk.”
 
“Why aren’t you with your squadron?”
 
“The Red Tails needed a Black Knight Legacy, I swapped out as XO for Tuskegee, then gave the squadron to her. When I’m done here, I’ll be GQ’s chief of staff.”
 
Oscar, “Don’t you want a squadron?”
 
“Hamm, I’ve already achieved way more than I thought possible. After the war, I’m leaving.”
 
“To do what?”
 
“I’ll get a job at Cessna or Lear, or something. Maybe I’ll go out on the air show circuit. If I keep moving up the chain, I’ll get caught and pilloried. To follow my heart, I can’t follow my career.”
 
Hammond, “Want to be a Hollywood stunt pilot? Hollywood won’t care about your sexuality.”
 
“Yeah. Sure. That would be awesome. Is that something you can do?”
 
“I’m married to Rita Hayworth. She knows people.”
 
“Um. Okay. Wow.”
 
RED ONE, 20,000 FEET, OVER FRANKFURT
 
0900, 1 April, 1944
 
Oberst Hermann ‘Max’ Unger rolls and pulls the stick back, flying a Me-420, “This is a lovely bird. It climbs like nothing else. It turns like it’s on rails. If it only could have sex, I would have no need for a wife. Now we must consider how best to use them.” He inverts and dives, “Like a hawk on a sparrow. The radar is excellent. I love my new bird.”
 
16 MARINE COMBINED ARMS REGIMENT, MANILLA HARBOR, LUZON, PI
 
1121, 2 April, 1944
 
Colonel John Hunt watches his tanks load onto amphibious ships directly from the quay wall. Brigadier General Noble approaches, “You’re heading back to Australia for some R and R. Back to Melbourne. I understand your wife is there.”
 
“She is, and my son. Thank you, sir.”
 
“You did good, Hunt. Damn good. I like the idea of flexible units like yours. I think the corps needs more. While your resting, write up the full TOE and operations manual.”
 
“Will do, sir.”
 
“Good. Carry on.”
 
CLASS ROOM, RAF ABINGDON BOMBER BASE, OXFORDSHIRE
 
1016, 2 April, 1944
 
LCDR Mical ‘Pin Up’ DeGraaff, “Good, time for our scenario. This one is courtesy of Captain Stapleton. Ed.”
 
“Okay, we’re without fighter cover at 100 feet flying at 300 degrees over western Germany. We’ve completed our bombing mission and have two AIM-9C missiles on each bird. We have recombined with all 48 birds. Terrain is rolling. We are jumped by six Eagles. Questions?”
 
One of the squadron commanders, “What is our fuel state?”
 
“We are bingo plus ten for home base with refueling birds over northern France. Any others?” When no one answers, he says, “Begin.”
 
Mical reminds them, “You can only work with your flight crew. Come up with a strategy for this scenario as if you were the flight lead.” She gives them a one-minute warning, then says, “Pens down. Davidson, have your crew come up.”
 
Captain Davidson, “At first, we wanted to order the formation to scatter and make their own way to home base. Then we realized we would lose about a quarter of our force if that was our action. Instead, we had six bombers turn to face the threat, using our AIM-9 missiles. This will break up the German attack. All the other birds should accelerate to best speed. The counterattacking birds may be lost, but their actions will save the others by forcing the Germans to deal with them before pursuing the fleeing bombers.”
 
Mical, “Questions?”
 
The wing commander, “How do we choose the counter attacking birds?”
 
Davidson, “It would be best if we established tiers of birds assigned to counterattack as part of our pre-lift brief. If that didn’t happen, then the flight lead should pick based on the orientation of the attack.”
 
The Wing commander, “I like this. Davidson, write it up. We will draw from the birds closest to the vector of attack. They will match the number attacking. Once their missiles are expended or the attack is broken, the counterattacking birds will make their way home.”
 
After twenty more minutes of discussion, the class breaks up. Cooper is at the door handing each attendee a Spike University patch.
 
AMERICAN CEMETERY, CAMBRIDGE, UK
 
1515, 6 April, 1944
 
CDR Sandy McRae, with her WSO, is reading the wall of fallen; those who were lost in their bird with no body to recover. She keeps an eye on Hunt as she walks among the graves, putting a flower on those lost under her command.
 
Sam takes a knee next to Tabitha Younger’s grave and sets a white rose on the stone. She wipes her eyes, “You are finally together. Mike, they gave you your CMH. I know that’s not why you did it. I know why. Your choice saved hundreds of lives. You know, sometimes, I envy your choice. I can’t. I…I just can’t. I still have work to do.” She puts her hand on the grave stone. “Miss you.” She feels a slight breeze caress her face. The knot in her chest loosens just a little. Sam smiles and stand, walking back to the others.
 
Lt. JG Emmett ‘Maggie’ Sackett, “What was she doing?”
 
“Emmett, a fair number of these graves are for the people who served under her in England. That last one was the grave of Tabitha Younger.”
 
“The one the destroyer was named after?”
 
“Yeah. The one Mike died trying to save.”
 
PROPULSION ENGINEERING SCHOOL, BREMERTON, WA
 
1045, 10 April, 1944
 
Captain Neyhi smiles, “Class 43-12, you have done exceedingly well. Three hundred students started. We still have two hundred and eight. That’s a better completion rate then the last three classes. MM3 Burkhalter, will you please come up. You are the class anchor man, graduating with a GPA of 3.02. You have the lowest GPA of any student in your class who passed. We honor the anchor man, because he is the most likely to excel in the fleet. Can we have a round of applause for your anchor man.” After the applause, he continues, “You’re half way done. Next, you report to Idaho for prototype. Thank you.” He walks off the stage and joins Captain Swedenborg, “You did well, Captain.”
 
Stephan nods, “This school is brutal. Not as bad as learning how to land on the boat during a stormy night, but hard.”
 
Neyhi, “Can I talk you into a beer before you go?”
 
“I’d like that.”
 
HUNT’S QUARTERS, RAF KENLEY
 
1040, 12 April, 1944
 
Arnold Thresher checks the fit of Sam’s dress blue uniform, “You do have a lot of medals, Captain. I trust they are in order.”
 
“Yes, they are.” She’s wearing four rows of five medals from Expert Pistol to her three Navy Crosses.
 
“The crown emblem?”
 
“Yes. I commanded the Black Knights in England. The king granted it royal status. That gives me the crown. The gold star is for commanding at sea. These are my wings and SWO.”
 
“I understand that within the military people can read the medals like a curriculum vitae.”
 
“We do.”
 
“Does this conversation make you uncomfortable?”
 
“No. It’s okay.”
 
“Thank you, ma’am. Your GCB sash and star are on correctly.”
 
“Thank you. What did you do for the King?”
 
“I was the Major Domo at Kensington Palace. When it burned down from a shot down German jet, I was sent to be an assistant at Windsor.”
 
She nods, “I’ve never had a household staff before. It’s much like my staff at sea.”
 
“It would be. Do you have a residence in the United States?”
 
“I do. I have a nice house in San Diego and a wing of the farm house in Tennessee. I’m almost never there.” She grows silent, then adds, “Please understand, I can afford household staff. If you need a place after the war, seek me out, okay.”
 
“I will. I believe you are ready.”
 
REICH BUNKER, BERLIN
 
1202, 12 April, 1944
 
Reichsmarschall Hermann Goering nods to his Fuhrer, “The Americans and British have been expending a great deal of fuel training, mein Fuhrer. They are preparing to attack us soon.”
 
Adolf Hitler, “Will it be a daylight or night attack?”
 
“I can’t know for certain. They have trained both during the day and the night.”
 
“What tactics do they train?”
 
Goering, “I have a report that farmers are complaining about low level flights disturbing their animals.”
 
“Why would they come in at low altitude?”
 
“It allows them to avoid all but a small section of our air defenses. It also exposes them to air attack from our combat air patrols. I would like to double our CAPs.”
 
Hitler, “I would like unlimited fuel. Double the number of pilots on ready alert.”
 
“Yes, mein Fuhrer.”
 
“Good. Next, I will be speaking before the people in Berlin tomorrow. They need to be reminded that we control the skies over our Reich. Fly a group of the new fighters behind us as I speak.”
 
“Yes, mein Fuhrer.”
 
BUCKINGHAM PALACE, LONDON
 
1143, 12 April, 1944
 
A black navy sedan pulls in and Captain Hunt steps out. She is greeted by a footman. He leads her to room, “Captain Samantha Hunt, Majesty.”
 
Hunt bows, then approaches King George VI.
 
He smiles, “Will you join me?”
 
He sits and she joins him for luncheon. “We mourn your loss, Captain. Our kingdom mourns the loss of your husband.”
 
“Thank you, Majesty. I very much appreciate the role I’m in. It keeps me busy.”
 
“I understand. We are quite glad to see you once again among your friends in Britian.”
 
“I love it here. Thank you so much for providing my household staff.”
 
“I trust they’re being helpful?”
 
“Very much so.”
 
He smiles, “Very good. I’ve seen your hovercraft. I’m told our men love them because they put them ashore dry. I understand you’re not only an able military leader, you are also a shrewd business woman. What are your plans for after you leave the service?”
 
“I will help my family run the farm, build my business, and help a friend create a life flight service for quickly getting critically injured or ill patients to hospitals via helicopter.”
 
“Here as well as in America, I hope?”
 
“Yes, also in Canada, Australia, and New Zealand. For those injured in the wilderness, it is often the only means of rescue.”
 
“I can see the value of such a service. Would this include rescues at sea?”
 
“Unless the coast guard wants that role, yes.”
 
They finish eating and the king puts his fork down, “Wonderful. The last time you were here, we didn’t have time for a tour. May I show you around?”
 
“Of course.” They walk the palace and grounds, discussing light topics of family and horses.
 
A footman approaches, bows, and says, “All is in readiness, your Majesty.”
 
“Thank you, Andrew. Samantha, please join me in the throne room.” They walk through the palace to the throne room. The queen, Churchill, several members of Parliament, and Princess Margaret are waiting.
 
Sam, “May I ask what is happening?”
 
King George smiles, “Of course, but first, could you please take a knee.”
 
“Um, yes, Majesty.”
 
She drops to her right knee and an aide hands the King a sword. He gentle taps her shoulders, “Rise, Lady Samantha of the Thistle.”
 
She smiles, “Thank you, your Majesty.” She stands.
 
PRISONER OF WAR CAMP, NORTHERN JAPAN
 
1310, 13 April, 1944
 
CDR Gary Mallory is tied to a chair. A Japanese intelligence major slaps him, “Where is your submarine?”
 
“Fuck you.”
 
Another slap, “Where is your submarine?”
 
Mallory, “You hit like a girl.”
 
The major pulls a knife, “I will slit your throat from ear to ear.”
 
“My name is Commander Gary Mallory. My service number is…”
 
THE MANOR HOUSE PUB, ALCONBURY, ENGLAND
 
1755, 13 February, 1944
 
Captain Samantha Hunt walks into the pub and looks around. Andy McNair, the publican walks up, “Commodore, welcome back to Alconbury.”
 
Lt. JG David ‘Spock’ Hunt looks up from his table, “Samantha!” He gets up. “Over here!”
 
Sam walks to him gives him a hug, “Hi, Uncle David.”
 
“Hi Sam.” He holds her tight, “I…I mean…Jere.”
 
“I know. How are you doing?”
 
He pulls out a handkerchief and wipes his nose, “I’m good. I’m ready. I’ll be the caboose, during the show.”
 
“Who are you flying with?”
 
“Pepper.”
 
Sam reaches down and shakes LCDR Valerie “Pepper” Wendell’s hand, “Didn’t you fly behind Weeds before?”
 
Pepper, “Yes, ma’am.”
 
“I’m not a fan of ma’am, Pepper, and you’re flying behind my uncle. I’m quite okay with Sam, or Spike if you prefer.”
 
“Um, okay, Spike. I’m the XO.”
 
Spike, “That’s why she’s trusting you two to be the caboose.”
 
Pepper, “Yeah. Do you know what we should expect?”
 
Spike nods, “I’ll save most of it for the briefing. We can’t talk about it here. Know they’re competent on the ground and in the air. Don’t underestimate them.”
 
Andy McNair brings her a beer and a meat pie, “It’s so good to see you in here again, Commodore.”
 
Sam smiles, “Good to see you too. You do know I’m a captain now?”
 
“It matters not. You will always be our commodore.”
 
“How did you manage during the invasion, Andy?”
 
“Well, I had to pour out what beer I couldn’t flee with. That was a sad day, I tell you. But, they left our building alone and when it was over, I came back. Terrible thing about your husband. Commodore, do know we here abouts love you, ma’am.”
 
“And I love all of you.”
 
POW CAMP, NORTHERN JAPAN
 
0600, 14 February, 1944
 
A Japanese intelligence captain, “We know the only way you could have survived is that your submarine sank in shallow waters. Where did your submarine sink?”
 
LCDR Jim Giblin, “My service number is 32…”
 
The captain strikes his stomach with a club.
 
“I am a United States service member. My number is…”
 
Another strike to his stomach.
 
Giblin, a boxer, tightens his stomach and refuses to curl up. His lack of reaction angers the captain. He swings against Giblin’s head. Giblin dodges the blow and it just grazes his temple.
 




CHAPTER 19

EISENHOWER’S OFFICE
 
1655, 14 April, 1944
 
Captain Hunt, “Well, sir, that’s our final plan.”
 
Eisenhower, “You have a little over half the force your predecessor had. Will this work?”
 
“We’ll lose some aircraft. I’m estimating about ten percent, however, we will break the back of the Luftwaffe.”
 
“Why are you picking the evening for your attack?”
 
“It will make it harder to aim heatseeking missiles. The missiles will aim at the sun.”
 
He nods, “I’d rather you didn’t fly with the squadrons.”
 
“I know, but I have to go. I have to lead them in.”
 
“Yeah, I recognize that. These will be your last combat flights.”
 
“Sir, if I need to fly, I will fly.”
 
Ike shakes his head, “It would be a tragedy to lose you.”
 
“If my loss saved two others, I would accept that exchange.”
 
“You seem better. Are you?”
 
“Sometimes, but not really, sir. Work is how I cope. It’s what’s getting me through. We’ll see.”
 
“I see. Please, take care. Go get ‘em and God speed.”
 
PILOT READY ROOM, RAF KENLEY, SOUTH OF LONDON
 
1012, 15 April, 1944
 
CDR Sandra ‘Weeds’ McRae looks over the 360 aircrewmen in the room. “That’s the mission. We have our targets. We will each be escorted by two Tomcats on our run in. We go in, engage two targets, then get out for the next bird. We must take out a forty-mile-wide corridor through the defensive belt. We must. By clearing that path, the attack force can penetrate into Germany without losing birds to SAMs. We’ve been practicing this mission. If we each hit two targets, the second wave will have nothing to do but to expand the breach. Two targets, then get yourself back to base to refuel and rearm.”
 
Captain Hunt walks in and McRae says, “Attention on deck.” They assembled crews stand.
 
Spike, “Carry on. Thank you, McRae. It’s good to see you.” She walks to the podium and looks over the air crews, “Do you have any questions for me?”
 
A WSO, “Why just two targets? What if we still have ordinance?”
 
Spike, “It’s timing. If you stay on station too long, it clogs the sky for the next birds in. That is why the exit corridors are so critical. We’ll have hundreds of birds flying at nap of earth. It’s critical that we deconflict to avoid collisions.”
 
“Ma’am, once we hit the radar with a HARM, why will our Tomcat escorts drop napalm?”
 
Spike looks at Weeds, “The radar is separate from the launchers and the MANPAD teams. The napalm will take out these soft targets.”
 
“Why not use cluster munitions?”
 
Spike, “Our army will be on this ground in a few months. Many cluster bomblets fail to detonate and become unmarked mine fields. Napalm will burn and be done.”
 
“Yeah, but the smoke obscures the battlefield for your people coming after.”
 
Spike, “Radar can see through smoke. Any surviving MANPAD teams cannot. Once we punch through, the A-10s will continue to clean up the breach while you RTB.” She points at a pilot in the back, “Yes?”
 
“Ma’am, we’ll be engaging their CAP from a hole. They’ll have the range and energy advantage. How will we overcome that?”
 
Spike, “You’ve been training for that exact scenario. For the entire plan to work, this is unavoidable. Their aerial missiles lack the ability to target jam. We will jam, close, and hopefully fuck them up. There’s a reason why I have dust off helos circling in France. If we see chutes, a SAR team will extract, if at all possible. No plan is perfect. I know this one will cost lives. It will also cripple Germany’s air defenses and hopefully shorten the war. Any more questions?” When no one raises their hand, Spike turns to Weeds, “Thank you, Weeds.” She looks back, “There is no one I trust more to lead this mission than Weeds. She’s the best there is at this job. Carry on.” She walks out.
 
PUB, WHYTELEAFE, SOUTH OF RAF KENLEY
 
1432, 15 April, 1944
 
CDR Byron ‘GQ’ Standley sits at a corner table, drinking a coffee and eating a meal.
 
William Chatham walks in, looks around, then walks to GQ’s table, “May I join you?”
 
GQ stands and offers his hand, “Sure. How have you been, Will?”
 
“I’ve…I’ve been through some times. How about you?”
 
“Well, my letters covered the unclassified bits. I’ve spent more than my share of time in the soup. Why won’t you look at me?”
 
“I…I should get along home, Byron. Um…my wife will be worried. Byron, I almost got caught.”
 
Holding himself rigid, Byron looks down, then, “We mustn’t have that. I wish you the best.”
 
William gets up and walks out. Byron sits contemplating his coffee. To himself, “I need to get him out of my head. Fuck. Just Fuck.”
 
ALL LEADER’S MEETING, GYMNASIUM, RAF KENLEY
 
1602, 15 April, 1944
 
LCDR DeGraaff, “Attention on deck!”
 
Captain Hunt walks to the center of the ball court, “At ease.” She looks over all the squadron, wing, and division commanders for the upcoming mission.
 
“I’ve had a month to train you. We have practiced this mission. We’ve come a long way in a short time. In short, we’re ready. Remember, you are ready. You, and your people know what to do. You will be decisive in the attack and in defense of the bomber streams. We must keep collision avoidance in mind. Our AWAC’s, Skyrider-117 and Skyrider-210 will warn us about the Germans, and more importantly, they will be our traffic cops, providing traffic deconfliction as far into Germany as they can. Questions?”
 
A bomber pilot, “Can Viper take out the German radar plane?”
 
“I have complete confidence in Colonel Roots. I’ve fought beside him and trust him at my back. People, you have far too much to worry about in handling your own missions. Don’t borrow trouble.” She points at another leader.
 
“I’ve put out that a mad dog Fox-1 can be used to break a German fighter formation. They can’t tell if it’s a Phoenix or not.”
 
“I agree. It can be over-used, of course, but it’s useful.”
 
“Ma’am, why aren’t you splitting your navy aces to help us?”
 
“We’re used to working together and I want them at my back. Your people are good. Trust them.” She looks around the room, “I know this will cost us friends. I know it and I hate it, but we must break into Germany and destroy the Luftwaffe. For the coming landings to succeed, we must control the sky. What we do today is hard, extremely hard, but it’s critical to everything that comes after.”
 
The leaders are silent. She takes a breath, “Let us pray. God, we do your work today, blunting the power of evil. Be with all the aircrews that are flying into harm’s way tonight. Amen.” She looks over them, “Gentlemen, we have it to do. Carry on.”
 
FLIGHTLINE, RAF KENLEY
 
1751, 15 April, 1944
 
The seven Navy flyers join Captain Hunt in front of her jet, “Okay, guys. Do we have everything locked down?”
 
CDR Shawn ‘Lizard’ Todd, “I’m good.”
 
Lt Abigail ‘BS’ Jackson, “We’re good.”
 
LCDR Margret ‘PI’ Alcott just nods.
 
CDR Pauline ‘Trollop’ Cash, “We’re good.”
 
CDR Chris ‘Chaos’ Hisakawa, “Yep.”
 
LCDR Mical ‘Pin Up’ DeGraaff, “We’re good.”
 
Captain Byron ‘GQ’ Standley, looking down, realizes he needs to respond and looks up, “I’m ready.”
 
Spike, “Mount up. We follow the Weasels and lead the bombers in.”
 
SPARKY-1, 100 FEET, MACH 0.98, APPROACHING THE GERMAN BORDER
 
1910, 15 April, 1944
 
CDR Sandra ‘Weeds’ McRae, “Maggie, do we have anything?”
 
Lt. JG Emmett ‘Maggie’ Sackett, “I’m getting reflections from a radar to the north. Nothing local.”
 
“Interesting.”
 
“Okay, there’s an airborne radar to our east. It’s about two hundred miles away. Surface search coming up. No jamming. We HARM, then scoot to our next.”
 
“Roger. They’re illuminating.” On radio, “Magnum. Magnum.” Maggie fires two HARM missiles.
 
AIR DEFENSE SECTION 125, GERMAN WEST BOARDER
 
“Schnell! Get me lock! Warn the heat seeker teams!”
 
His technician, “We have lock.”
 
Both HARMs hit the transmitter vehicle, blowing it up. The command truck shakes, then tips over from the blast as the EA-14D streaks by. It’s closely followed by two F/A-14E’s who drop napalm.
 
The men inside the command truck fight with the hatch, struggling to get it open. They see flames growing outside the command truck, “What is this? Damn it. Open!”
 
There’s nothing left of the four-man heat-seeking missile teams but charred lumps.
 
SPARKY-1, 75 FEET
 
Maggie, on radio, “Tango 96 is reduced.” The other crews in the initial wave call in.
 
Weeds, “Second target.”
 
“Got it. SAM launch. Heat seeker.”
 
Weeds, “Houlihan.” She spins inverted while firing chaff and flares, then descends in a minimum distance turn. “Engines idled.”
 
Maggie, “It went for the sun. We’re clear.”
 
The following Tomcats drop napalm.
 
On the radio, “Sparky-1, Python-744. Good secondaries.”
 
Maggie, “Roger, Python. We are RTB.” The 120 Wild Weasels and 240 Tomcats finish clearing a path through the SAM belt.
 
DRAGON-2, 10,000 FEET, APPROACHING ENGLISH CHANNEL
 
Mical, “What’s going on, GQ?”
 
“I’m fine, HP…um…Pin Up.”
 
“No, you’re not fine. What the hell happened?”
 
“It’s William.”
 
“Oh God. He isn’t pregnant, is he?”
 
GQ chuckles, “No. He’s married.”
 
“Oh shit. He didn’t tell you?”
 
“Not something you write to your gay boyfriend when censors read our mail.”
 
“Bull shit. Y’all were operating under the cover of a friendship. Friends tell each other they got married all the time. What a fucking asshole.”
 
“Yeah, I guess. Thing is, I still love him. He ripped my heart out and I still love him. I’m an idiot.”
 
“No, you’re not. You are a kind, brilliant, wonderful person. He’s the idiot.”
 
“But…”
 
“Stow it and listen, my friend. Hearts don’t just change the way a situation does. You still love him because you haven’t processed all of this yet. Give yourself time. Give yourself some grace.”
 
“Yeah. You’re right.”
 
“Damn straight, I’m right. Now, we’re leading the second element. We need to figure out how to get your head in the game, okay.”
 
“You’re right. Mical, you’re a good friend.”
 
“You know, GQ. Maybe someday when you find your forever guy, I can marry him and you can marry Sheigh. We would be perfectly normal couples sharing a house.”
 
“Actually, that’s a good idea.”
 
“Yeah. Okay, we’re feet dry over France. Starting our descent. We have a few minutes before we’re in the shit and I need you. Please get your head straight.”
 
“Roger that.”
 
REICHSTAG, BERLIN
 
1921, 15 April, 1944
 
Goering waits for the Fuhrer in an anteroom with a number of high-ranking German officers, including Himmler. One of his aides rushes in, “The Americans attack the border by air, sir.”
 
“Our defenses will destroy them.” He turns back to his conversation.
 
SPARKY-292
 
Lt. JG David ‘Spock’ Hunt, “Do we have any more targets?”
 
His WSO, LCDR Valorie “Pepper” Wendell, “No.” On radio she, “All Alpha units, Sparky-292. Your path is clear. Weasels, RTB.”
 
DRAGON-1, 200 FEET, APPROACHING GERMAN BOARDER
 
Spike, “Here we go.”
 
Lizard, “We’re in formation. I’m picking up airborne search radar at 095 and about two-hundred miles.”
 
“Do you think they have us?”
 
“Don’t know. An E-2C would have us. How good is their look down radar?”
 
“I don’t know. We’re about to find out.”
 
HA-142 GERMAN RADAR PLANE, 28,000 FEET OVER NUREMBERG
 
Radar operator, “Sir. Sir, I see a massive Doppler shift at the border.”
 
The radar officer, Lieutenant Ernst Ganter, “They are attacking from low altitude. Get me a number. How many?”
 
“I don’t know, sir. At least fifty.”
 
“Understood.” He keys the radio, “Air raid. Air raid. Fifty plus approaching Cologne at NOE. CAP, make your course 285. Descend and engage. Now launch the alert five and alert fifteen.”
 
USAAF A-61 AWAC, 38,000 FEET, OVER CENTRAL FRANCE
 
Air controller, “I see it.” He keys the radio, “Alpha Strike, Skyrider-117. The German CAP over Frankfurt is descending and approaching your position.”
 
DRAGON-1
 
Lizard on radio, “Roger Skyrider. The Dragons have it.”
 
Spike rolls and pulls onto an intercept course. The other three Dragon flight aircraft curve to join her. They’re formation is so tight, they look like one object on radar.
 
GOLD-1, GERMAN ME-420, 12-BIRD CAP CLOSING ON DRAGON
 
Major Ludwig, to himself, “There is a mass of aircraft, with one peeling toward us. Just one?” He transmits, “There are at least two closing us. We focus rightly on the bombers they are covering.”
 
Lieutnant Kaufman, “I will focus on those closing to force them to break their formation. Firing.” He dives to his right and drops two missiles. One tumbles away. The next lights and dives after the closing Dragon. “Hold your doppelganger missiles until they fire. The rest of us fire on the bombers. Fire.”
 
DRAGON-2, ON SPIKE’S LEFT WING
 
Captain Byron ‘GQ’ Standley, “Missile is no factor. He fires an AIM-7C Sparrow that shoots it out of the sky.
 
LCDR Mical ‘Pin Up’ DeGraaff, “Nice shooting. G’s.” She pulls up in a near vertical climb.
 
GQ, “Fox-3, Fox-3.”
 
On the radio, the other three RIOs call Fox three. Eight improved Phoenix missiles climb straight into the sky, blotting out eight ME-420’s.
 
GOLD-1
 
“What the hell?” Instinctually, he climbs and fires countermeasures. Without radar lock, his missiles miss. He inverts, looking for the threat. He spots the ballistic F-14’s under him and pushes his stick back forward to engage.
 
DRAGON-1
 
Closing in Zone-5, Spike says, “Guns. Guns.” The descending Me-420 explodes, a rain of debris falls from the sky.
 
On the radio, they hear Hisakawa, “Guns. Guns. Splash one.”
 
Spike looks for the other three, then, “Grunt.” She idles her engines and pulls back the stick. The big fighter wrenches around into a dive. One of her AIM-9D Sidewinders growls in her ear and she fires, “Fox-2.” The missile twists once and hits the left engine of a German jet. It rolls left into a turn. The pilot counters the roll, then augers in.
 
Spike, “Back to our formation.” She flies toward Shark Squadron. The huge formation splits, flying to their individual targets. Each is assigned a specific airfield. Every twelve bombers has six fighters with them.
 
Lizard, “Now we’re going down town.”
 
Spike, “Not really. The airfields are on the outskirts. Flying over Berlin is a provocation. It’s also where their defenses will be strongest.” They descend at high Mach, slotting into place in their formation of bombers.
 
REICHSTAG, BERLIN
 
1929, 15 April, 1944
 
Adolf Hitler walks up to the podium. Goering is stopped by an aide, “Sir, the raid has penetrated our defenses. Several hundred allied bombers are in western Germany, sir. They’re attacking air fields.”
 
Goering, “Scramble the entire Luftwaffe. We must destroy each and every enemy aircraft. Let none escape.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
“Wait. Are any of the enemy coming east?”
 
“I don’t believe so, Reichsmarschall.”
 
“What do the Russians do?”
 
“Nothing new, Reichsmarschall.”
 
“Very well. Scramble the entire Luftwaffe. Destroy the enemy and please our Fuhrer.”
 
Hitler begins his speech.
 
SCORPION-1
 
Colonel Tom ‘Chuckles’ Roots, “Opry, where is it?”
 
Captain Arnold “Opry” Portnova, “Nine o’clock and very high. It’s covered by four Tigers. Time to pop.”
 
“Grunt.” Chuckles pulls the stick back and pushes the throttle to zone-5. Six Air Force fighters climb toward the German radar plane, their radars off.
 
Opry, “It’s at angels thirty.”
 
“They aren’t rolling to check their belly. They’re fat, dumb, and happy.” He switches his climb to a spiral upward to conserve energy. The pilots select their targets as briefed. When they reach the big radar plane and its escorts from below, they open fire. On intercom, Tom says, “Guns. Guns.” He stitches the radar plane across the wing root and engines.
 
HA-142 GERMAN RADAR PLANE
 
Holes appear in the deck. The HA-142 is pressurized for the radar operators. The entire floor gives way, exploding downward. Three of the four radar operators are sucked out. Lieutenant Ernst Ganter and one radarman cling to their consoles for their lives.
 
The wings fold up like a butterflies as the big propeller driven aircraft falls from the sky. Ganter sees the copilot, his parachute on his back, bail out. The pilot looks Ganter in the eye, then follows his copilot. Ganter left his parachute in a locker near the door. He climbs over hand hold after precious hand hold, and sees the radar operator put on his chute and drop through the hole.
 
Ganter struggles into his chute, fighting the force of the now spinning plane, as the ground grows closer. He checks his straps and pushes himself through the hole. When his parachute opens properly, he bursts into tears.
 
SCORPION-1, APPROACHING FRANKFURT
 
Roots, “We need to get back on deck. Our bombers should be at 080.”
 
“Do you want me to illuminate?”
 
“Nope. We’ll find them.”
 
LUFTWAFFE OPERARTIONS CENTER, BERLIN
 
“Sir. The radar plane is down. We are blind.” The women working the situation table stop pushing the location placards push placards indicating the location of friendly and enemy aircraft.
 
Generalmajor Eckhard Christian points at the table, “Is this accurate? Is this accurate‽”
 
One of the women, “It’s all we have Herr General. Most of our radars are gone.”
 
Another woman, “I have a report that the Kessel field has been destroyed.”
 
Christian, “Destroyed? How is it destroyed?”
 
“Multiple hits on all runways, sir. The fuel tanks are also gone. Sir, the maintenance facilities, as well. It will be off line for some time, sir.”
 
Christian, “I see.”
 
A woman, “Sir, Bielefeld Field has been hit and is off line.”
 
“They attack our air fields. Send out a warning to all fields. The enemy is focusing on our fields in west Germany.”
 
“Sir, do they attack our central fields as well?”
 
“Send out that warning, too. I need accurate information on their location. Get me another radar plane.”
 
VIPER-1, VFA-662, GLAMOROUS GLENNIS, APPROACHING FRANKFURT FIELD
 
Major Chuck ‘Right Stuff’ Yeager levels his wings, “Here we go.” At 100 feet AGL and 600 knots, they arrive before their sound. No warning is given. No sirens sound.
 
The B-46’s they’re escorting drop their bombs, hammering the runway and surrounding infrastructure. As the formation clears the field, they run into a wall of AA fire.
 
“Harry and Cupid are hit. They augured in.”
 
“Grumpy is hit. Grumpy is hit. Still flying.” Grumpy is one of his F/A-14E pilots.
 
Yeager, the squadron CO, “Puppy, stay with Grumpy. We stay in formation. Grumpy, how bad is it?”
 
“I lost my left engine and had my tail feathers burned. Still flying.”
 
Yeager, “Roger. I’ll fall back to help you exfil. Okie, lead the bombers home.”
 
“Yes, sir.”
 
TEXAS-1, APPROACHING HAMBURG FIELD
 
Wing Commander Richard “Mister” Maugham, “Once more into the breach, dear friends.”
 
His RIO, Flying Officer Shannon ‘Tootsie’ Todd, “As I recall, that didn’t work out well for the men in the breach.”
 
“I know.” They blast over the field with the bombers. The runways, taxiways, fuel farm, and infrastructure explode.
 
Tootsie, “Airborne radar at 344, Boss.”
 
“Grunt.” He rolls and keeps it NOE, “We need to stay on the deck. What kind of bird?”
 
“I think they’re Eagles.”
 
“Okay. They seem to have a look down-shoot down. We have to cover the bombers.”
 
Tootsie, on intercom, “Texas notch. Incoming missiles.”
 
“Grunt.” Mister does a Houlihan and notches. Because of the ground clutter, the missiles all miss. “Grunt.” He rolls and pulls toward the enemy.
 
Tootsie, “They’re diving on us.”
 
Mister keys the radio, “Maneuver to deny the strafe, and get them as they pull out.”
 
Tootsie, “They’re going for the bombers.”
 
Mister, “Grunt. Get me lock.” He wrenches his jet onto their six.”
 
Tootsie, on radio, “Fox-1. Fox-1. Fox-1.” Three missiles drop and fire. All three find Eagles. Two auger in.
 
Mister, “Guns. Guns.” He squirts rounds up the spine of an Eagle. It explodes and twists, tumbling into a field.
 
“Brewmaster is hit. Still flying.” Brewmaster is a B-46.
 
Mister, “How’s it flying Brewmaster?”
 
“She’s pulling right. Engines are good.”
 
Mister, “Stay with it. Time to go home.”
 
LUFTWAFFE OPERARTIONS CENTER, BERLIN
 
Generalmajor Eckhard Christian, “What the hell is happening‽”
 
“They’re attacking our airfields, sir.”
 
“Sir, we have four hundred aircraft flying and we’re losing our fields. Where will they land?”
 
Christian, “Here if they must.”
 
SHARK-1, APPROACHING BERLIN-TEMPELHOF AIRFIELD
 
1935, 15 April, 1944
 
Captain James ‘Jay’ Verinis, “Our friends killed the fighters.”
 
COL Robert ‘Andy’ Morgan, yards back the yoke, clearing a church steeple, “This is getting interesting. Climbing to release height.”
 
Captain Charles ‘CB’ Leighton, the Navigator/Bombardier, “Right ten. Setting up. Our field is straight ahead, Andy.”
 
Andy, “Good. We fly the runway and the others hit the auxiliaries. Jammer on.”
 
Jay, “We’re Mach zero point nine. Opening bomb bay. God, I hope this works.”
 
Morgan nods.
 
At nearly Mach one, the field grows from an eye mote to huge in seconds. CB, “Bombs away.”
 
A wall of flak launches into the sky to the east and south of the field. Morgan, “Shit.” He rolls left and pulls. “Jay, what’s the squadron doing?”
 
Jay, his head twisted, “They’re with us, Andy. Are we doubling back?”
 
“No. Going downtown.” He flies north over Berlin.
 




CHAPTER 20

DRAGON-1, OVER BERLIN
 
“Grunt.” Captain Samantha ‘Spike’ Hunt wrenches her bird over, turning north. This puts Trollop and BS in front. “Fuck.”
 
CDR Shawn ‘Lizard’ Todd, “What?”
 
“We’re overflying the Reichstag.” Looking down, she sees a huge crowd.
 
“The what?”
 
DRAGON-2, WITH HUNT
 
Pin Up, “We have a crowd at the Reichstag. Dropping tanks.”
 
GQ, “What?”
 
“They’re mostly empty.”
 
VIEWING STAND ON THE STEPS OF THE REICHSTAG
 
Reichsmarschall Goering spots the fighters and bombers approaching. He runs out on the stage, “Mein Fuhrer!” He points.
 
Hitler looks up and sees the falling tanks. He recognizes what their lack of apparent motion means and turns to run off the stage. The gas tanks strike the stone stairs just below the platform he’s standing on and frag. The spark created by the metal striking the stone, lights the fuel vapors. The flames rise, burning the platform, burning the guards, and burning Hitler’s trousers as he runs up the stairs.
 
DRAGON-2
 
GQ, “What the hell were you thinking?”
 
“Maybe Hitler was there. Maybe we made him shit himself.”
 
“What if you killed him?”
 
“Bully if I did. He’s the enemy.”
 
“Isn’t it assassination?”
 
“No, Captain. Assassination means killing by treachery. This was killing by opportunity. Keep your head in the game.”
 
“Yes, Mical.”
 
DRAGON-1
 
Spike, “All fighters in Berlin, we exit to the north-west, fighters in front and strafe anything that looks like a SAM. Bombers behind the fighters.” All remaining planes acknowledges the order and form up on Dragon flight.
 
REICHSTAG
 
Hitler shakes with fury. Goering slaps at Hitler’s legs trying to put out the flames. An aid rushes in with a blanket and smothers the remaining embers. Hitler, grimacing in pain, points at Goering, “Seize him!” He pushes his air commander away, “You have failed me for the final time.” Hitler’s personal guards grab Goering and carry his bulk away.
 
Goering struggles mightily, his face ashen, “No, mein Fuhrer! NO! Please!” His voice fades as he disappears into the Reichstag.
 
DRAGON-1
 
Spike, “The Reichstag is burning.”
 
Lizard, “What’s the Reichstag?”
 
“It’s their capital building, Lizard. Mical just bombed the German capital.”
 
“We’re formed up.”
 
“Here we go.” They flash over the AA sites. The guns open fire, too late, and the Americans squirt out of Berlin.
 
TEXAS-1, EXITING GERMANY
 
1954, 15 April, 1944
 
Wing Commander Richard “Mister” Maugham, “Send the bombers home, we need to circle back and cover the units still in Germany.”
 
His RIO, Flying Officer Shannon ‘Tootsie’ Todd, “Oklahoma units, Texas-1. RTB and God speed.”
 
“Texas, Oklahoma-1. Fuck them up.”
 
Tootsie, “You already did, Oklahoma.”
 
Mister, “Grunt.”
 
DRAGON-1, NW OF BERLIN
 
Lizard, “Airborne radar. We have Tigers eighty miles to our north west.”
 
Spike, “Grunt.” She rolls left and comes to 261. “For now, we run. Keep an eye on them.”
 
“I know they’re just Tigers, but can you give me a circle now and then?”
 
“Sure, Lizard. Standard procedure when the enemy is at our back.”
 
Lizard, “More airborne radars. About a hundred miles at 285.”
 
“Send Asp after them. We’re staying to the rear. We’ll handle our backsides.”
 
Lizard calls out the order.
 
Spike, “Illuminate. Grunt.” She circles back, easing off the throttles.
 
Lizard, “Got them. Ten at 072, angels fifteen.”
 
Spike keys the radio, “Dragon flight, scatter on the deck and fuck them up.” Her other three Tomcats fly away from her.
 
Lizard, “What’s the plan?”
 
“We make them choose. Then swap like training.”
 
“Got it. Okay, we have four going for BS. Four on Pin Up and Trollop. Two on us. They’re diving.”
 
Spike, “Good.”
 
“Only two. I’m almost insulted.”
 
ORANGE-1, GERMAN TIGERS BEHIND DRAGON
 
Oberstleutnant Lund, on the radio, “Four circled back. They will be fighters. We destroy them and the back door is open. Descend.”
 
DRAGON-1
 
Lizard, “They’re diving through ten K, 25 miles, at our two.”
 
“Grunt.” She turns into them and pulls into a climb.
 
Lizard, on the radio, “Fox-3. We got incoming.”
 
“Grunt.” She does a Houlihan and notches at 100 feet above the deck.
 
Lizard, “Splash one. They missed.”
 
ORANGE-1, GERMAN TIGERS
 
Lund, “Who the hell are these people?” He key’s his mic, “This enemy is very good. Fly precisely and don’t make mistakes.”
 
DRAGON-3, NORTH OF SPIKE
 
PI, on radio, “Fox 3. Notching south.” A Phoenix leaps off the rail, tracking a German Tiger.
 
Lizard, on radio, “Left to left.”
 
Spike and Lizard flash by, left side to left side.
 
PI, on radio, “Splash one.”
 
BS, “Our prey is squirting south. Grunt.”
 
PI, “I got him. Fox-1. Splash One.”
 
DRAGON-2 SOUTH OF SPIKE
 
Pin Up, “G’s. Fox-3” She pickles off a Phoenix.
 
GQ, “He’s notching. Slow right.”
 
Pin Up, “Wilco.” She rolls into a slow turn. Trollop flashes by, cleaning their tail.
 
GQ, “Splash one.”
 
They hear Chaos, on the radio, “Guns. Guns. Splash one.”
 
DRAGON-1, ON ORANGE-1, 300 FEET
 
Spike, “Grunt.” She wiggles the wing right, then pulls left.
 
The Tiger pulls left.
 
Spike, “Flaps down. Guns. Guns.” She stitches across the rear of the Tiger. He levels and ejects.
 
Lizard, “Splash one. Tiger closing at our three and low.”
 
“Grunt.” Spike climbs into a yo-yo. Letting the German pass under them. Dropping out of the yo-yo, she settles on his six, Spike squirts a few rounds to force him to turn. The German turns too violently for his air speed and augers in.
 
Lizard, “Does that count?”
 
Spike, “It counts.”
 
ORANGE-1, PARACHUTE
 
Oberstleutnant Lund comes to, and looks around. Dragon-1 streaks by. He sees the stack of flags and the dragon mouth on the nose, “Who are you? Who the fuck are you? A dragon mouth? Is she here? Is she here? Fuck.”
 
DRAGON-2, SOUTH OF SPIKE
 
GQ, “Right to right, Trollop.” They flash past Cash’s jet.
 
Pin Up, “Guns. Splash one.”
 
On the radio, they hear Chaos, “Splash one. The last one is bugging out.”
 
Spike, on the radio, “Back on defense. Well done, Dragon Flight.”
 
ME-163 STOL SQUADRON, FIELD BY AUTOBAHN, NEAR KASSEL, GERMANY
 
“Schnell!” Major Helmut stands beside his Me-163C.
 
Ground crew, “Sir. We are ready, please mount your aircraft.”
 
“Good.” He sits in the cockpit and the ground crew hooks him up. “Prelaunch check list. Internal power on. Engine ignition to on. Fuel master, on…” In two minutes, he motions that he is ready to launch.
 
MEMPHIS BELLE, APPROACHING KASSEL, GERMANY NEARING THE BORDER
 
Captain James ‘Jay’ Verinis, “What the hell? Are those missiles?”
 
COL Robert ‘Andy’ Morgan, “They’re fighters. Danny, we got trouble.”
 
“Roger. Jammers are up. Ready with countermeasures.”
 
Andy, on radio, “All units, the Krauts have rail launched fighters beside the highway.”
 
Spike, on radio, “If you have ordnance drop it. Exfil at best speed. Dragons, pounce.”
 
DRAGON-2
 
LCDR Mical ‘Pin Up’ DeGraaff, “Whack-a-mole.”
 
GQ, “Yep. One launched. Fox 1.”
 
Pin Up, “Splash One. They’re using rocket assist. G’s.” She rolls left and pulls into a climbing, minimum distance turn to the right.
 
DRAGON-1
 
Spike, “They’re launching. Fox-2. Fox-2.” She fires her two AIM-9D sidewinders at two different targets as they launch.
 
Lizard, on radio, “Splash two.”
 
“Grunt.” She cranks the stick over into a climbing minimum distance turn to the left.
 
DRAGON-3
 
BS, “Guns. Guns. G’s.” A Me-163 is hit as it accelerates into controlled flight. The pilot drops his right wing, hits a tree, and cartwheels into the forest. BS cranks her jet over in a horizontal minimum distance turn to the left.
 
DRAGON-4
 
“Guns. Guns.” Trollop hits a jet that’s still on its catapult. “G’s.” She pulls into a horizontal minimum distance turn to the right.
 
BARACUDA-233, B-46 BOMBER, 600 KNOTS, 300 FEET, NEAR KASSEL
 
The copilot, “He’s on our six! Fuck man. Do something!”
 
The pilot, “Hang on.” He firewalls his engines and pulls back his stick to climb.
 
DRAGON-1
 
Spike on the radio, “Climbing bomber, get back into formation. The Dragons are here. Guns. Guns.” The Me-163 explodes and smashes into the ground.
 
SHARK-1, MEMPHIS BELLE, LEADING FORTY-EIGHT BOMBERS
 
Jay, “Fuck man. Our formation is getting squirrelly.”
 
Morgan, on radio, “Shark-1. Calm down people. Tighten up. In the Dragons we trust.”
 
TEXAS-1, ANGELS-5, APPROACHING DRAGON
 
Flying Officer Shannon ‘Tootsie’ Todd, “Fox-1. Fox-1.” All the Tomcats in his squadron call, “Fox-1. Fox-1.
 
Wing Commander Richard “Mister” Maugham, on the radio, “Dragon, you are clear. You’re the last of them.”
 
DRAGON-1
 
Spike keys the radio, “Thank you, Mister. Much appreciated. All units, RTB. Does anyone know how many we lost?”
 
On radio, “Dragon-1, Skyrider-1. Grand slam. Say again, grand slam. We lost four bombers and two fighters.”
 
Mical, on radio, “Hell yeah. Fucking Hitler. We fucked you up and burned your wienerschnitzel.”
 
Spike grins, “Discipline on the net.” On intercom, “Six out of three hundred. That works.”
 
LUFTWAFFE OPERARTIONS CENTER, BERLIN
 
“Sir. The we’ve lost all our but a few eastern airfields. We have nearly a hundred aircraft in the air. What do we do?”
 
Generalmajor Eckhard Christian sits down, “Have them land on the eastern fields or the autobahn near their airfields.” He wipes his face with a hand, “A fucking disaster. A fucking disaster.”
 
An aide walks in, “Sir, Reichsmarschall Goering has been arrested.”
 
Christian nods, “Yes. He would be.” He looks at his staff, “Get the aircraft onto the autobahn. Then figure out how to return them to the fields. We must repair our fields.” He stands, and walks out of the operations room. To himself, “I have failed the Fuhrer. I must tender my resignation.”
 
HUNT’S QUARTERS, RAF BASE KENLEY
 
1928, 15 April, 1944
 
Captain Hunt gets out of a jeep, thanks her driver, and walks into her house. Arnold Thresher opens the door and follows her up the stairs, “We have your room ready, ma’am. Commander Hammond has your correspondence on your desk. Lieutenant Cooper has gone to the gate to retrieve someone.” He shuts the door, giving her privacy.
 
Hunt strips and showers. She walks out of her en suite shower, a towel wrapped around her torso. Her khaki uniform lays alongside her pajamas on the bed. “This is becoming oddly normal for me.” Underclothes on she pulls up her pants.
 
Cooper knocks on her bedroom door, “I have someone you need to meet with, Captain.”
 
“In my office, Cooper.” She smiles, “He’s priceless. He called me ‘captain’ warning me it’s official. I’m meeting the person here, so he wants it to be discrete. Anyone else would be at my office at Beckham.”
 
She looks at herself in the mirror, “Why am I happy right now?” She runs a comb through her short blond hair, “Because I’ve spent the day flying and dogfighting and most of us survived. Okay, let’s see what the future holds.”
 
Hunt walks into her downstairs office and Captain Torrey, in his army uniform, stands, and salutes, “Captain Torrey, reporting.”
 
She returns the salute, “Have a seat, Captain.” Cooper walks in and serves tea, then leaves. “How can I help the sneaky half of our effort?”
 
“Ma’am, King Emanual the Third of Italy specifically directed me to brief you in on Italy’s plans.”
 
She goes still, thinking, then, “Oh, God. He wants to change sides.” She goes to her door, “James, call Ike. Tell him I need to see him immediately. We need a cover story.”
 
Cooper grins, “You were just complaining that Dragon flight needs to qualify on the Indefatigable. I’ll use that.”
 
Hunt, “That works.”
 
Torrey, “Ma’am, I’ve kept Washington informed of what’s happening over there. Please tell me Ike’s briefed in?”
 
Hunt, “Nope.”
 
Torrey, “Fuck.”
 
Hunt, “Exactly.” Hunt drives and in a few minutes there at Beckham.
 
They’re ushered into Eisenhower’s office. Eisenhower stands, “Who’s this, Captain?”
 
Hunt, “His call sign is Spooky, sir. He’s OSS. I apologize for the ruse, but this is a code word brief and it needs to happen now.”
 
Ike, “Does this impact our coming operation?”
 
Hunt, “Yes, it absolutely does. Explain, Spooky.”
 
Torrey goes over it, concluding, “When you land in Italy, it will change sides. Really, it has to. That whole country is a powder keg.”
 
Ike rubs his chin, “Spooky, are you read into Sovereign?”
 
“No, sir. I understand the timeline is running slower than in the other history due to the invasion of England. Is Sovereign the invasion of Italy?”
 
Ike looks at Hunt, then Torrey, “Spooky, could you please step out. One of my aides will fetch you some coffee.”
 
“Yes, General.”
 
Once he’s gone, Hunt asks, “We’re not landing in Italy. What are we going to do?”
 
Eisenhower, “I need all the forces stacked for our three-prong invasion. It’s like a wound-up spring. We have to let it loose as planned.”
 
“I agree, sir. What do the Germans have in Italy?”
 
“14th Field Army. It’s over three hundred thousand troops. We want them there when we land in southern France.”
 
“What does the Italians have?”
 
“About a third of that. What are you thinking?”
 
“Sir, did you ever study the winter war in Finland?”
 
“No. Is this another history lesson about something that hasn’t happened?”
 
“It has happened, sir. The Russians invaded Finland in ’39. It ended in ’40, then restarted in ’41, paralleled with Barbarossa. When the Russians and Germans signed a ceasefire, Finland accepted their borders and ended the war. As I understand, the Finns used a tactic where they pinned down the Russians and destroyed them in series. We will control the air in the Med. We could help the Italians do the same thing in Italy.”
 
“We’ll need boots on the ground. We will need them and I don’t have them.”
 
Hunt, “The SEALs will be done inspecting all the beaches when we land in France, right?”
 
“They will.”
 
“That gives us a beginning. Maybe the Army has an amphibious…or maybe the Marines have a force we can borrow for Italy.”
 
Ike nods, “Fly to Washington and make it happen.”
 
“Who will be in charge of this operation?”
 
Ike replies, “What should we call it?”
 
Hunt smiles, “Operation Cutlass, sir.”
 
“That works. I want you to plan this. It will be a carrier, special forces, and amphibious operation. I need an American officer to handle it. I don’t want to brief in the Brits yet.”
 
“Will they let us have their carriers?”
 
“We shouldn’t need them. Once we have an airfield in France, I’ll cut lose the Hancock, Lincoln, and Hornet. The Hancock will have three squadrons of A-10s. With all the Tomcats, that should be enough. Fly to Washington and get me an amphibious unit. Army or Marine, I don’t care.”
 
“Sir, who will be in charge?”
 
“You will.”
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NOTES

When starting a novel of this type it is necessary to decide at the outset how to tackle a number of issues.  The Navy uses a great deal of jargon, technical terms, and acronyms in speech.  Eliminating this techno-speak from dialog would remove the character of the whole story. We also recognize that leaving the jargon in could confuse readers not familiar with the military. It was decided to include a glossary and leave the language as it would be spoken with a few exceptions.  When ships communicate over radio each ship has a code name that is used in place of the actual ship’s name.  As this would be confusing, we opted to use the ship’s name.  We simplify many complex procedures to keep the story flowing and reduce confusion.  Aircraft numbers are based on the bureau (serial) number of the plane regardless who the pilot is.  The exception is the commanding officer whose number is always one.  Though this may be confusing, the reader should be able to follow the dialog without the number cue.  Where events occur simultaneously, yet in different time zones the author chose to adopt Greenwich Mean (Zulu) Time for clarity.  In all other sections, local time is used.  A number of other technical details were changed to prevent revealing classified information. 
 
A note on naval rank structure.  In other services an enlisted person is addressed by rank, “Corporal, Sergeant,” etc.  In the Navy sailors are addressed with rate and rank.  An E-6 is not normally addressed as, “Petty Officer First Class.”  He or she is addressed as, “MM1, BT1, BM1” etc.  The rate is the job classification of the sailor, be that machinist mate (engine room equipment operator), or mess specialist (cook).  A more comprehensive list of rates can be found in the glossary or on line.  The rank of enlisted sailors is in three groups of three ranks.  E-1 through E-3 sailors are non-petty officers.  These are new sailors who may or may not yet have a rate.  E-4 through E-6 sailors are petty officers.  These sailors are the technical experts and watch-standers who keep the navy running.  E-4’s are third class, E-5’s are second class, and E-6 are first class petty officers.  E-7 through E-9 sailors are middle managers.  They are Chief, Senior Chief, and Master Chief.  Chiefs are system experts who train, lead and guide instead of operating equipment.  The colloquial for E-7 is, “Chief.”  For E-8’s it is, “Senior.”  No one calls a Master Chief, “Master.”  Calling a senior or master chief, “Chief,” is not an insult.  There are essentially two types of officer.  Line officers can command vessels and aircraft.  Non-line, or limited duty officers are doctors, dentists, chaplains, civil engineer corps, or have other specific duties.




Glossary

16:  VHF channel 16 is the international emergency channel. It is also, the channel used to communicate in the open, or non-encrypted communications.
 
1MC:  General announcing system.  Ship wide loud speaker system.
 
2MC: Engineering announcing system.
 
2nd Lt.:  Second Lieutenant. Army and USMC rank. (O-1)
 
(Number)K:  Fuel state.  K for thousand pounds.
 
AA: Navy rank. Airman Apprentice (E-2).
 
AB:  Navy enlisted rate.  Aviation Boatswain’s Mate. They do many duties on the flight and hanger decks and maintain other aviation equipment. ABAA through ABMC.
 
ABC: Automatic Boiler Controls. A system to control the fire rate on a boiler to meet steam demand by regulating fuel flow and forced combustion fan speed.
 
AD:  Naval aviation rating.  Aviation Machinist. ADAA through ADCM. AD’s maintain aircraft structural components, flight surfaces, and engines.
 
ADM:  Admiral.  Naval Officer rank (O-10).  Also used colloquially for Rear Admirals Lower and Upper, and Vice Admirals (O-7 through 9).
 
AE: Navy rate. Aviation Electrician. They maintain the electrical generation, conversion and distribution systems associated with jet aircraft. AEA through AECM             
 
AGL:  Above Ground Level.
 
Ahead (Bell):  The standard bells, or speeds of a ship are ahead 1/3, ahead 2/3, ahead Standard, Ahead full, and Ahead Flank.  The number is the amount of revolutions per minute of the shaft.
 
Ahead Flank Emergency:  Order to come to the fastest ahead speed as fast as possible.  See Bell.
 
Air Boss:  The ship’s force air department head.  The air boss commands all operations on the flight deck and hanger deck.
 
Air Chief Marshall: Four-star Royal Air Force Officer rank.  Originating from the Royal Air Force. The rank is used by air forces of many countries that have historical British influence. An air chief marshal is equivalent to an Admiral in a navy or a full general in an army or other nations' air forces. The rank of air chief marshal is immediately senior to the rank of air marshal but subordinate to marshal of the air force. Air chief marshals are sometimes generically considered to be air marshals.
 
Air Marshall:  Three-star Royal Air Force Officer rank.  Originating within the Royal Air Force. The rank is used by the air forces of many countries which have historical British influence, including many Commonwealth nations. The rank is three stars, usually equivalent to a vice admiral or a lieutenant general. Air marshal is immediately senior to the rank of air vice-marshal and immediately subordinate to the rank of air chief marshal.
 
Air Vice-Marshall:  Two-star Royal Air Force Officer rank.  Originating in and continues to be used by the Royal Air Force. The rank is also used by the air forces of many countries which have historical British influence and it is sometimes used as the English translation of an equivalent rank in countries which have a non-English air force-specific rank structure. It is equivalent to a rear-admiral in the Royal Navy or a major-general in the British Army or the Royal Marines.
 
Amphenol:  Multi-prong electronic or electrical connection.
 
AN:  Naval Enlisted non-designated aviation rank.  Airman (E-3).
 
AO: Enlisted rate.  Aviation Ordinanceman. AOAA through AOCM. They inspect, care for and handle air delivered ordinance.
 
Arco:  When an aircraft flies as a refueler they are given a special call sign.  Usually the name of a gas station chain.
 
ASROC:  Anti-submarine rocket.  A torpedo mounted on a rocket that is fired from a ship or submarine to extend the reach of the torpedo beyond that of ship launched torpedoes. 
 
ASW:  Anti-submarine warfare.
 
AT: Navy rate. Aviation Electronics Technician. They maintain the complex electronic equipment associated with jet aircraft. ATA through ATCM
 
Auto-gyro:  An emergency landing technique that uses the wind blowing through the helicopter rotors to keep them spinning, then uses the collective to slow the bird’s descent at the last moment. It’s a skill every helicopter pilot must develop and maintain.
 
(AW):  Naval specialist Badge.  Enlisted Air Warfare Specialist. Placed after rate such as AD1(AW). There is a pin or patch worn above the left breast pocket.
 
Back (Bell):  Astern bells for a marine engine. Back 1/3, Back 2/3, and Back Full. 
 
Back Full Emergency:  Maximum astern bell to be answered as fast as possible. 
 
Bandit:  NATO code for enemy aircraft.
 
Barely Trainable: Derogatory nick name for Boiler Technicians. See BT.
 
Battalion: Military formation used in the US Army/USMC and other nation’s ground services. A battalion is a tactical unit smaller than a brigade or regiment but larger than a company. A battalion is the smallest unit designed to function independently. They are typically commanded by a LT Colonel.
 
BDU:  Battle Dress, Utility.  The basic US Army and Marine Corps uniform.
 
Belay Passing Heads: When a course change has been ordered, the helm is required to report each ten-degree heading change until on course. If the Conning Officer or OOD don’t want the calls they order, Belay Passing Heads.
 
Bell:  The speed a ship is traveling at:  Ahead they are Ahead 1/3, Ahead 2/3, Ahead Standard, Ahead Full, and Ahead Flank.  Astern they are Back 1/3, Back 2/3, and Back full.  In an emergency the order given is ahead flank emergency, or back full emergency which is a command to go as fast as possible.
 
Bearing:  Compass bearing or relative bearing in degrees from 0 to 360. Compass bearing is based on true north, not magnetic north. On a ship, the helm is normally ordered to steer a degree course, and once on course will write down and announce the magnetic compass reading. This is to give the ship a means to maintain course if the gyro-compass fails. On modern aircraft, the pilot notes the deviation for their operating area on their knee board or elsewhere before taking off. All aviation bearing calls are from true north. For Relative Bearing see below.
 
Bilge: The bottom of the inside of a ship where water, oil, dirt, and everything else tends to accumulate. It is unpleasant to clean the bilge.
 
Bilge Keel: An extension from the hull of a ship that follows the turn of the bilge under the water. Bilge Keels are normally V shaped to give structural strength. There is normally one on each side and they are meant to slow and limit the roll of a ship.
 
Bilge Turn: Where the hull of a ship changes from mostly horizontal to mostly vertical.
 
Bingo Fuel:  Aviation term. Near the minimum fuel to safely return to base.
 
Binnacle List:  List of people sick or injured.  Every unit and division maintains a Binnacle List and turns it in daily.
 
Blow:  Submarines use ballast tanks to surface or submerge.  By blowing high pressure air into the tanks water can be displaced and the vessel surfaces.
 
Blue Tails:  Nick name for the VAW-122 Griffins.  VAW-122 flies the E-2C Hawkeye radar plane.
 
Blue Water Operations:  Carrier operations beyond reach of alternative air fields.  You land on the carrier or swim.
 
Boatswain’s Mate of the Watch (BMOW):  In charge of all the lookouts, the helm and lee helm.  The BMOW pipes (whistles) required ships announcements. 
 
Bogey:  Aviation term. An unidentified aircraft. 
 
Boiler:  Boilers generate the steam for propulsion, electrical generation, water distillation, and other uses.
 
Bolter:  An aircraft that misses the arresting wires and has to go around. 
 
Bridge:  The ship’s navigational control center.  Where we drive the ship.  The Officer of the Deck (OOD) is in charge except when the CO or XO are present.  The Conning Officer directs the ship’s coarse and speed.  The Boatswains Mate of the Watch (BMOW), Quartermaster of the Watch (QMOW), Helm and Lee Helm are stationed here.
 
Brigade: Army/ Marine Tactical unit smaller than a Division and larger than a Battalion. Sometimes called a Regiment. Commanded by a Colonel or Brigadier General, they are usually armor, infantry, or airborne focused for the Army but contain other units to permit independent operations.
 
Brigadeführer: Paramilitary Nazi rank. It is equivalent to a Generalmajor or American Brigadier General.
 
BTOW:  Boiler Technician of the watch.  Senior watch in a boiler room.
 
BT:  Navy Enlisted rate. Boiler Technician. BTFA through BTCM. Currently the BT rate is merged with the MM rate. Boiler Technicians operate and maintain marine boilers.
 
CAG:  Commander Air Group.  The CAG is in charge of all the air squadrons attached to the ship.  The CAG is the counterpart to the ship’s commanding officer.  The carrier CO is always the senior.
 
CAG-(Number): Hull designation for a heavy cruiser equipped with guided missiles for area air defense.
 
Call the Ball:  The Landing Signal Officer asks the pilot if they can see the Fresnel lens that shows the correct glide slope for landing.
 
Control: In a submarine Control is a room and watch station equivalent to both the bridge and combat control center on a surface ship.
 
Calico:  NATO brevity code for an intruder on the radio net.
 
CAP:  Combat Air Patrol.  A fighter mission to circle an area ready to defend the fleet. 
 
CAPT:  Captain: Army and USMC rank. (O-3)
 
CAPT: Captain:  Naval Officer rank (O-6).
 
CATCC:  Carrier Air Traffic Control Center.  This center controls all aircraft within 50 miles of the ship and manages take offs and landings.
 
CAV or Cavalry: Specialized Army Unit: These are units historically used for reconnaissance for larger units. They can be Armor, Airmobile, or Airborne.  By WW2 the CAV distinctions were somewhat less than in wars past. Today the distinction is more historical than practical. 
 
CDR:  Commander. Naval Officer rank. (O-5).
 
CHENG:  Chief Engineer.  Engineering department head. On nuclear powered carriers, engineering department is in charge of auxiliary steam, water, sewer, power distribution, and damage control divisions and the Reactor Officer is in charge of reactor department, with all power production, distribution, and propulsion divisions. On smaller nuclear ships, the CHENG is in charge of both areas.
 
CMAA:  Chief Master at arms.  A senior cop on a Navy ship.
 
COL:  Colonel. Army and USMC rank. (O-6)
 
Combat:  Sometimes Combat Control Center. Weapons and communications control center on a naval ship.  The CO goes to combat during battle stations (General Quarters).
 
Combat Engineer: Specialized Army or MC person who is trained to support combat operations by destroying obstacles. Structural engineers build things. Combat engineers blow them up.
 
Command Duty Officer (CDO): Watch stander responsible for the duty watch team on a naval vessel when it’s in port. The CDO is generally a senior officer and answers to the CO and XO.
 
Commodore:  USN Officer rank.  Equivalent to current Rear Admiral Lower half or Brigadier General. This rank was reauthorized in 1942 and discontinued after the war. It has been brought back, changed, and discarded since for the rank Rear Admiral Lower Half. If a unit of ships does not have an Admiral in charge the senior or assigned Captain can take the title Commodore to designate they are in charge of the group. This does not involve any change of pay or rank.
 
Company: Army/Marine tactical unit. Commanded by a Captain or Major. They are made up of a number of platoons and are organized into Battalions. Most companies are too small to function independently.
 
CORPS: Army tactical unit. Normally commanded by a Lieutenant General or General. It is a group of divisions and/or other units. Corps are not permanently assigned their divisions but receive and lose units based on need.
 
COTAC:  Copilot Tactical Coordinator.  Antisubmarine duty on S-3 Viking Aircraft.
 
DCA: Damage Control Assistant: The DCA works for the CHENG. He is responsible for the Damage Control (DC) division, Hull Technician (HT) division, Machinery Repair (MR) division, Electrical Repair division, and ship wide divisional Damage Control Petty Officers. He is responsible to the CHENG, XO, and CO for material condition of all damage control gear and training. His office is in DC Central.
 
DCC: Damage Control Central. This is the space where the Damage Control Assistant manages all damage control systems, tank levels, water tight integrity, firefighting, flooding, or other ships emergencies. It is often collocated with the Engineering Control Center ECC, where all propulsion, power plant, and water generation systems are managed.
 
Decimal:  On radio the word ‘Decimal’ is used to indicate tenths.  Thus fuel at 9 decimal 2 is 9.2 thousand or 9,200 pounds.  Fuel is always given as weight.
 
Diesel Dyke: Nickname for women in the engineering fields, regardless of their rating. Obviously, it is not a term of respect and isn’t tolerated in the modern Navy.
 
Division (Army/ USMC):  Army and Marine Corps organizational unit.  Army/USMC Divisions are tactical units commanded by a Brigadier or Lieutenant General that command a number of Brigades and supporting units. They are sometimes armor, infantry, airborne specific but contain all those other units needed to be an independent military unit.
 
Division (Navy):  Naval organizational unit.  Naval units are divided into Departments and Divisions.  Divisions are functionally oriented units with all the enlisted members typically of one rating.
 
ECC: Engineering Control Center: This is the nerve center for the ship’s propulsion plant. On smaller ships it is often the number one plant control room. It’s the GQ station for the CHENG (or RO on a nuclear carrier). DCC is often co-located.
 
Eject:  Order to initiate the ejection sequence for abandoning a doomed aircraft. Once ordered everyone must eject.
 
Electric Boat: Submarine Manufacturing firm based in Groton and other New England towns. In 1952 it merged with General Dynamics. Most US submarines are made by Electric Boat.
 
ELT:  Navy nuclear specific enlisted trade available to qualifying machinist mates.  Those MMs qualified Engineering Laboratory Technician (Nuclear) are chemistry and radiation specialists, though they also stand normal mechanical watches.
 
EM:  Navy Enlisted rate.  Electrician’s Mate. Electricians operate the electrical distribution system on the ship, and also maintain all the electrical equipment. There are nuclear trained EMs and conventional EMs in the navy. EMFN through EMCM.
 
EMP:  Electro-Magnetic Pulse.  A powerful change in the magnetic field.  An EMP could damage or destroy electronic and electric gear.
 
Engine Room:  Space where the main engines, electrical generators, and water distilling unit are located.  This equipment is operated and maintained by Machinist Mates.
 
ENS:  Ensign:  Naval Officer rank (O-1).  Junior most officer.  Sometimes called a butter bar for their rank insignia which is a single gold bar.
 
EOOW:  Engineering Officer Of the Watch.  Watch stander in charge of the propulsion plant.  Normally a Lt. on a nuclear ship.  Sometimes a senior or master chief on conventional powered ships.
 
ETA:  Estimated Time of Arrival.
 
F-14, F/A-14:  The Tomcat.  An all-weather interceptor and fleet defense fighter. In this series, it assumes the dual role of interceptor and attack aircraft. This was a design capability considered and omitted from the actual aircraft.
 
Faking/ Fake:  Laying out a hose or line in parallel lines so the hose can be safely charged or the line let go without jamming.
 
Falling Giant: Fictional radio code phrase to mean an allied unit is in danger of, or is actually being overran. It directs all available artillery assets to provide fire support and all available air assets to provide close air support. This is the equivalent to the “Broken Arrow” call in We Were Soldiers Once and Young.
 
Far CAP:  Combat Air Patrol.  Far CAP is a defensive position away from the fleet.
 
Fire Room:  Location of the boilers in a fossil fueled steam ship.
 
Fire Team:  An Army and USMC tactical unit consisting of two to four people and commanded by a corporal or sergeant. A squad will typically have two to four fire teams.
 
Flight Lieutenant:  Royal Air Force Junior Officer rank.  Originating within the Royal Air Force. The rank is used by the air forces of many countries which have historical British influence, including many Commonwealth nations. A flight lieutenant ranks above flying officer and below a squadron leader and is sometimes used as an English language translation of a similar rank in non-English-speaking countries. Equivalent to Lieutenant Junior Grade (Navy) or First Lieutenant (Army, USMC).
 
Flight Sergeant:  RAF senior enlisted rank.  Originating within the Royal Air Force. The rank is used by the air forces of many countries which have historical British influence, including many Commonwealth nations. It is equivalent to a staff sergeant or colour sergeant in the British Army, a colour sergeant in the Royal Marines, and a chief petty officer in the Royal Navy. In the RAF, flight sergeant ranks above chief technician and below warrant officer.
 
Flying Officer: Royal Air Force junior commissioned officer rank.  The rank is used by the air forces of many countries which have historical British influence, including many Commonwealth nations. It is also sometimes used as the English translation of an equivalent rank in countries which have a non-English air force-specific rank structure. A flying officer usually ranks above pilot officer and immediately below flight lieutenant.
 
FN:  Navy Enlisted rank.  Fireman (E-3).  A non-designated engineering striker.  If designated his rate would precede his rank.
 
FOD Walk Down:  Walking the flight deck looking for FOD (Foreign Object Damage) that could damage aircraft.
 
Fox (number):  Part of NATO brevity code.  It is a call announcing the firing of a missile.  The number designates the type of missile.  1 is short to intermediate range radar guided missile.  2 is a short-range heat seeking missile.  3 is a long-range radar guided missile.
 
Fragged: Aviation term. As fragged means perform mission as briefed.
 
Fuel state:  How much fuel you have on board in thousands of pounds. (10 decimal 1 = 10,100lbs.)
 
‘G’s:  Gravities.  One ‘G’ is equal to normal earth gravity.  Two is twice earth gravity etc.
 
General Quarters:  The call to man battle stations and prepare the vessel to fight.
 
Gertrude:  Nick name for a short-range underwater phone.
 
GMG: Navy Enlisted rate.  Gunners Mate Guns. Gunner’s Mates operate and maintain the weapons on a ship.  The rate is split between Gunner’s Mate Guns (GMG) and Gunner’s Mate Missiles (GMM).  GMGSA through GMGMC.
 
GMM:  Navy Enlisted rate.  Gunners Mate Missiles. Gunner’s Mates operate and maintain the weapons on a ship.  The rate is split between Gunner’s Mate Guns (GMG) and Gunner’s Mate Missiles (GMM).  GMMSA through GMMMC.
 
Gold Eagle: Official nickname of the Carl Vinson. Every Navy ship is given an official nickname. The crews often give an unofficial nickname. In our novel series we sometimes use these as radio call signs. That would not normally be true ship to ship, but is often used in air operations.
 
Group Captain:  Royal Air Force senior officer rank.  The rank is used by the air forces of many countries which have historical British influence, including many Commonwealth nations. It is also sometimes used as the English translation of an equivalent rank in countries which have a non-English air force-specific rank structure. It ranks above wing commander and immediately below air commodore, and is the equivalent of the rank of captain in the navy and of the rank of colonel in other services.
 
GySGT: Gunnery Sergeant. USMC enlisted rank. (E-7) Assigned as assistant company commander or assistant to a higher rank enlisted or officer. As an assistant company commander, they are responsible for training the company commander and all servicemen under them. It is a critical and important job.
 
HT:  Navy Enlisted rate.  Hull Technician.  HT’s are Damage control and repair experts.  They also operate the sewer system on the ship earning them the undesirable nickname “turd chaser”. HTFA through HTMC.
 
HY-80 or 120: Hardened steel used for special applications by the Navy. 3/8” will stop most rifle bullets.
 
ILS:  Instrument Landing system.  An aircraft system that helps pilots line up with a runway they cannot see.
 
Khaki:  Navy slang term for chiefs and officers because they wear khaki-colored uniforms.
 
Knight (number):  Call sign of fighters flying for VFW-154, the Black Knights.
 
Landing Signal Officer:  A pilot positioned near the rear of the carrier to help guide pilots in.  The LSO also grades landings.
 
Law of Continuity of Suckage: Submarine phrase. Once the hatch is shut suckage can neither be created or destroyed. Meaning when one person gets a good deal another gets screwed. This is what happens when you lock a bunch of nukes in a tube for months on end.
 
Laze:  Use a laser to designate where ordinance is to drop.
 
LCDR:  Naval Officer rank.  Lieutenant Commander (O-4).
 
Leutnant zur See: WWII German Kriegsmarine (Navy) rank. Equivalent to Lt.JG.
 
LPO:  Naval enlisted position.  Leading Petty Officer is the “Foreman” for a division. Usually an E-6.
 
Lt: Army and USMC rank. (O-2) Lieutenants are platoon officers or assistants to the commander of a larger unit.
 
Lt.:  Naval officer rank.  Lieutenant (O-3). A Division Officer or head of a small department. In smaller units or vessels, a lieutenant might be a department head, the XO or even CO.
 
Lt. COL: Army and USMC rank. (O-5) Commands a Battalion sized unit or serves as an assistant to the commander of a larger unit.
 
Lt. JG:  Naval Officer rank.  Lieutenant Junior Grade.  (O-2.) A division officer or assistant to a senior officer.
 
MA:  Navy Enlisted rate.  Master at Arms. Similar to Military police MA’s enforce uniform and behavior rules. As such they are generally disliked. MA3 through MACM.
 
Mad Dog: NATO brevity code. Firing a radar guided missile without a specific targeted aircraft. Also, when the firing aircraft breaks radar lock on the targeted aircraft. This is because the missile will engage the first target found, regardless of nationality.
 
Magic (number):  Call sign for an EA-6B Prowler, radar jamming aircraft of VAQ-133 Wizards.
 
MAJ: Major: Army and USMC rank. (O-4) Majors are sometimes company commanders but often serve as assistants to higher rank officers. In the Pentagon you can’t throw a stick without hitting a Major.
 
Marshall of the RAF:  Royal Air Force Officer rank. In peacetime it was granted to RAF officers in the appointment of Chief of the Defense Staff (CDS), and to retired Chiefs of the Air Staff (CAS), who were promoted to it on their last day of service. While surviving Marshals of the RAF retain the rank for life,[2] the highest rank to which officers on active service are promoted is now air chief marshal. Although general promotions to Marshal of the Royal Air Force have been discontinued since the British defense cuts of the 1990s, further promotions to the rank may still be made in wartime, for members of the Royal Family and certain very senior RAF air officers in peacetime at the discretion of the monarch; all such promotions in peacetime are only honorary, however.
 
Master Chief:  Naval Enlisted Rank (E-9).
 
Mini Boss:  The air boss’s assistant.  They divide the observation duties in PRIFLY.
 
MM:  Navy Enlisted rate.  Machinist’s Mate. They operate and maintain the machinery associated with ship’s propulsion, auxiliary gear, and nuclear power systems. MMFA through MMCM.
 
MMOW:  Machinist’s Mate Of the Watch.  Senior watch stander in an engine room. Sometimes called the Engine Room Supervisor. It is a watch station and not a rank.
 
Monkey Mate: Derogatory nick name for Machinist Mates. See MM.
 
MOS: Military Occupational Specialty. It is what a soldier or marine is trained to do. Be that infantry, armor, special forces, supply, radio operator, combat engineer or a myriad of other jobs. It is not used in the way rate is used in the navy. You don’t call a sergeant in the infantry an infantry sergeant. There are some positional title changes for those in special units such as cavalry.
 
NAM:  Navy Achievement Medal.  A medal for individual meritorious accomplishment. When a V device is added, for valor, it signifies the award was for combat actions.
 
NAVSEA 08:  Designation for the leader of the U. S. Navy Nuclear Power Program.
 
Navy Expeditionary Medal:  Medal issued for service in a combat zone designated by congress.
 
NOE:  Nap of earth.  Order to fly as low as safely possible.
 
Notch: An aerial maneuver to defeat an antiaircraft missile. The notching aircraft turns 90 degrees to the missile to eliminate Doppler on the radar return and forcing the missile to turn and bleed off energy.
 
NTDS:  Naval Tactical Data System.  A system that shares sensor data with other ships.
 
Nuke: Nickname for anyone in the nuclear power career field. It is sometime used derisively. It is even said “Fuckingnuke” is one word.
 
Nuclear waste: Nickname for anyone who fails to complete nuclear training or is otherwise removed from the program. It is generally used with respect by nukes.
 
MW:  Megawatt.  One million watts.  1,000,000 watts. Most nuclear power plants are measured in MW.
 
O-2 Plant:  The oxygen generation plant which removes atmospheric oxygen and compresses it into liquid oxygen used by medical and as pilot breathing air.
 
Officer Of the Day (OOD):  In port the OOD is the senior watch stander on the quarterdeck. This could be an officer or senior enlisted person. From the quarterdeck, they are responsible for the safety of the ship. They answer to the Command Duty Officer.
 
Officer Of the Deck (OOD):  Bridge watch in charge of the operation and navigation of the ship underway. 
 
Op-tempo:  Rate of operations over time.
 
OPPE:  Operational Propulsion Plant Exam. Same as ORSE for conventionally powered vessels.
 
ORSE: Operational Reactor Safeguards Exam. Scheduled examination of propulsion plant material condition and operational compliance.  A poor grade on ORSE causes career ventilation. It can be a negative mark on every nuke on board.
 
Passageway:  Navy speak for a hallway.
 
Passing Heads: When a course change has been ordered, the helm is required to report each ten degree heading change until on course.
 
Petty Officer:  Colloquial phrase for an E-4 through E-6.  Generally, it is only used by officers or master at arms who are about to correct the Petty Officer’s behavior. Instead, a sailor will address the Petty Officer with their rate. MM1 instead of PO1.
 
PFC: Private First Class. (E-3) Army and USMC rank.
 
Phoenix:  AIM-54 Long range air to air missile. The F-14 was designed to carry and fire this missile. In reality the USN never actually fired one at an enemy aircraft.
 
Platoon: Army and USMC tactical unit consisting of two to four squads. With armor this is three to four tanks. Platoons are commanded by a Lieutenant or Second Lieutenant and have a Staff Sergeant, called a platoon sergeant, to train the officer and men.
 
Plimsoll mark: The Plimsoll mark is an internationally accepted mark to indicate the maximum load or draft of a ship. It is based on the freeboard or distance from the water to the lowest deck opening and also stability. Being below the Plimsoll means the ship isn’t safe for operations.
 
PQS:  Personal Qualification Standard.  PQS is the system used by the Navy to qualify sailors to do their jobs.
 
Propulsion plant drills:  Engineering or reactor department practical training. The drill observers use understood simulations to indicate casualties so the sailors can practice their exact actions. Continuous training is the reality of sailor’s lives. This is to prepare operators for problems that only occur rarely but have huge consequences if the watch team does not know what they are doing.
 
PRYFLY:  Primary Flight Control.  The highest deck in the island structure where all flight deck operations are managed.
 
QAO:  Quality Assurance Officer. The QAO manages inspection paperwork from repairs and also personally inspects critical repairs. No system, or aircraft can be used as designed until the QAO has approved the work.
 
Quartermaster of the Watch (QMOW):  In charge of providing navigational information to the OOD and Conning Officer.  The QMOW is required to keep the ship’s position updated on paper and electronic charts. 
 
Railroad tracks: Slang for the two connected bars of Navy Lieutenant or Army, Marine captain.
 
Rainbow side boys:  The traditional side boys for a senior visitor, only wearing the various flight deck, colored, jerseys.
 
Reactor Auxiliary Room (RAR):  The RAR is the space where the reactor support and monitoring equipment is located.  It shares most of the same functions that a fire room in a conventional vessel would have. Naval Reactor is in a separate room inside this room.
 
Rear Admiral Lower Half:  Naval Officer rank.  One Star Admiral (O-7). See Commodore for WW2 usage.
 
Rear Admiral Upper Half:  Naval Officer rank.  Two Star Admiral (O-8). Called Rear Admiral in WW2.
 
Relative Bearing: Clocked degrees from the bow (360/0) around clockwise so that 90 degrees is off the starboard beam, 180 degrees is astern, and 270 is off the port beam.
 
REMF: Rear Echelon Mother Fucker. Someone in the rear with the gear. I.E. A servicemember who is never on the front lines and never sees combat.
 
RIM-7: Rail launched intermediate range air to air missile.  Sea Sparrow.
 
RIO:  Radar Intercept Officer.  The RIO operates the radar and weapons system in the back seat of the F-14. They are a critical half of the inflight team for fighting the aircraft.
 
RM:  Navy enlisted rate.  Radioman. They operate the radio communications gear for the Navy. They are secretive because they are forbidden to share anything of what they see and hear.
 
Roger Ball (Number):  Roger ball means the pilot can see the Fresnel lens glide slope indicator.  The number is the total weight of the aircraft in thousands of pounds.
 
Rook (Number): Call sign for aircraft in VFA-155 Royal White Knights.
 
RTB:  Return to Base.
 
Rule of Three: This is from SERE. A person can last three weeks without food, three days without water, three hours without shelter, three minutes without air, and three seconds without hope.
 
Rule of Three: Engineering term. You can get something, good, fast, or cheap. Pick the two you want because you can never have all three.
 
SAM:  Surface to Air Missile. A land or ship launched missile designed to engage aircraft or other missiles.
 
SAR:  Search and Rescue.
 
SERE: Survival, Evasion, Resistance and Escape training. It is survival and code of conduct training every pilot, air crew, and special forces soldier must go through. Every service has similar training and will take students from other services as well as DoD civilians who need the training.
 
SFC: Sergeant First Class. Army rank. (E-7) An assistant company or platoon commander or assistant to a higher rank enlisted or officer. As an assistant company or platoon commander, they are responsible for training the officer and all servicemen under them. It is a critical and important job.
 
SGT: Sergeant. (E-5). Army and USMC Rank. A sergeant is in charge of a tank, squad, or fire team. That or they serve as the assistant to senior enlisted or officers. They are the back bone of any service.
 
SGT MAJ: Army and USMC enlisted rank. (E-9) Sergeant Major is the senior enlisted rank. They serve as senior instructors and advisors to major commands. They may have a staff under them.
 
SIS:  British Secret Intelligence Service.  Now called MI6.
 
SLQ-32:  Called the “slick 32” it is a multi-function radar jammer carried on USN ships.
 
Snap 2:  Early supply computer.
 
SOB:  Son Of a Bitch.  Even cuss words have acronyms.
 
SOPA: Senior Officer Present Afloat. In a port where more than one Navy ship is present, it is the senior officer. If the senior officer is away from his or her command it devolves to the next senior. No matter who is gone, there is always a SOPA, even if it is an ensign.
 
Sparky (Number): Call sign for VAQ-1 Royal Lightning, electronic warfare aircraft.
 
SSGT: Staff sergeant. (E-6) Army and USMC Rank. A staff sergeant is an assistant platoon or company commander or assistant to a higher ranked person. In the role of platoon sergeant they are responsible for training the platoon officer in how to be an effective leader while also training all their subordinate servicemen. It is a vital position.
 
Start the Music:  NATO Code phrase for commencing jamming.
 
Squad: Army and USMC tactical unit. Made up of two to four fire teams and commanded by a Sergeant or staff sergeant. In Armor this is typically one track or vehicle.
 
Squadron Leader:  Royal Air Force senior commissioned officer rank. Also used in the air forces of many countries which have historical British influence. It is also sometimes used as the English translation of an equivalent rank in countries which have a non-English air force-specific rank structure. An air force squadron leader ranks above flight lieutenant and immediately below wing commander and it is the most junior of the senior officer ranks. It’s the equivalent of lieutenant commander or major.
 
Squawked:  Identification, friend or foe (IFF) Code signal.
 
ST:  Navy Enlisted rate.  Sonar Technician. Responsible for operating sonar systems on ships and submarines. STSA through STMC.
 
Switch Gear Room:  Space where the electrical distribution system is operated.  EM’s stand watch in Switch Gear.
 
TACAN:  Radio beacon aircraft use to find the carrier.
 
TARPS: Tactical Airborne Reconnaissance Pod System.  A camera system mounted on a hard point and controlled by the RIO.
 
TG:  Turbine Generator.  An electrical Generator powered by steam.
 
TG/DU:  Turbine Generator and Distilling Unit watch. An Engine room watch stood by an MM.
 
Thwarts ship passageway:  A hall way aligned from side to side rather than forward and aft.
 
Time to Death:  When an aircraft is flying close to the ground margins for error grow smaller. Time to death is how long it takes for a slight mistake to kill you. At 100 feet and Mach 1, time to death is less than a tenth of a second.
 
TLD:  Thermal Luminescent Dosimetry.  A radiation measuring device to monitor crew exposure. The nukes sometimes call it “the little dicky.”
 
VERTREP: Vertical Replenishment. Using a helicopter to sling cargo from one ship to another. The smallish white square with a line through the center painted on some ships is a VERTREP station. Ships with a helo flight deck generally use it for VERTREP.
 
VHF:  Very High Frequency.  A line-of-sight radio.
 
Vice Admiral:  Naval Officer rank.  VADM (O-9).
 
Wave off:  Order to abort a landing and go around.
 
Wing Commander:  Royal Air Force senior officer rank.  Also used in the air forces of many countries which have historical British influence. It is also sometimes used as the English translation of an equivalent rank in countries which have a non-English air force-specific rank structure. A Royal Air Force Wing Commander ranks above squadron leader and immediately below group commander. It’s the equivalent of commander or lieutenant colonel.
 
Yankee Search:  Active sonar search.
 
YN:  Naval Enlisted rate.  Yeoman. Yeomen are the administrative grease that lubricates the functioning of the Navy machine. When an officer has a good yeoman, they guard him or her jealously. It is an unofficial sport to poach one’s yeoman. YNSA through YNMC.
 
XO:  Executive officer.  Second in charge of a vessel or unit. Actual rank varies based on the size of the unit. A patrol craft or air squadron XO could be a Lieutenant. On a frigate, destroyer, or fast attack submarine the XO is a LCDR. On cruisers, battleships and other large ships the XO is a commander. On a super carrier the XO is a Captain.
 
X-Ray:  Material condition X-Ray.  Lowest level of water tight integrity.  Only set during a work day in port.
 
Yoke:  Material condition Yoke.  Middle level of water tight integrity between X-ray (in port on work day) and Zebra (Battle Stations). At sea yoke is checked at least daily.
 
Zebra:  Material condition Zebra.  Highest level of water tight integrity.
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